4321

Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program

19851989 Status Report



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service National Institutes of Health



Dedicated to Dr. C. Everett Koop

"His understanding of science and public health and his integrity and oneness of purpose in leading PHS initiatives to achieve a smoke-free society by the year 2000 are an indelible hallmarkfor the 1980's and unquestionably will be a benchmark in the bisto y of public health in this county."

Joseph W. Cullen, Ph.D.

Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program

19854989 Status Report

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Public Health Service National Institutes of Health National Cancer Institute

NIH Publication No. 90-3107

September 1990

Table of Contents

Foreword
Preface
Acknowledgments
Review of the Scientific Evidence and Program Accomplishments
The Link Between Tobacco Use and Health
Trends in Cigarette and Tobacco Use Rates
Trends in Lung Cancer Incidence and Mortality
Overview of NCI Initiatives to Control Tobacco Use
Adolescent Tobacco Use Prevention
Physician and Dentist Interventions
Self-Help/Minimal Interventions
Mass Media Interventions
Smokeless Tobacco User Interventions
Black Smoker Interventions
Hispanic Smoker Interventions
Women Smoker Interventions
The Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation
Consensus Development and National Dissemination
The American Stop Smoking Intervention Study for Cancer Prevention
Other NCI Smoking Research and Control Activities
Office of Cancer Communications Activities
References
Appendix A: Supplemental Data Tables 73
Appendix B: Project Abstracts
Phase II Studies
Phase III/IV Intervention Trials
Community Intevention Trial for Smoking Cessation
Appendix C: Intervention Materials
Appendix D: STCP Bibliography

Foreword

From the earliest days of this Nation, Americans have been involved in both the growing and consumption of tobacco. However, at the turn of this century cigarettes were such a rare social phenomena that in 1900 only 50 cigarettes were consumed per adult. We were, in short, a nation of smokeless tobacco users, consuming an average of 4 pounds of chewing tobacco and snuff per year for every adult 18 years and older. Yet, in the brief span of one generation we replaced the spittoon with the ashtray. That change in a single personal behavior has altered the health of the Nation in a way that few could have predicted.

As we approach the 21st century-if individuals use tobacco at all-they are more likely to be cigarette smokers than users of all other tobacco products combined. More than 55 million persons currently smoke cigarettes in the United States and they consumed some 533 *billion* cigarettes last year. This translates to an average 3,000 cigarettes per adult, smokers and nonsmokers alike, or 10,000 cigarettes per smoker. A staggering sum when one considers that cigarettes, when consumed as intended by the manufacturer, caused nearly 400,000 premature deaths last year in this country.

This year marks the 40th anniversary of the publication of the first major studies linking cigarette smoking with increased lung cancer mortality. The findings of Wynder and Graham¹ and Levine et al.² appeared in the same issue of *JAMA* in early 1950. Two other studies^{3,4} were published later that same year in the journal *Cancer Research*; all four observed higher lung cancer rates in male smokers compared with nonsmoking controls. These early epidemiologic findings received considerable media and public attention and prompted a flurry of other investigations that both confirmed and extended the earlier results.

By the time the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General issued their now historic report in 1964⁵ more than 6,000 studies existed in the worldwide scientific literature on smoking and health,' including some three dozen prospective and retrospective studies on the relationship between smoking and lung cancer alone. Dozens more documented the correlation between smoking and cancer of other sites or other chronic diseases.

Over the past 30 years, thousands of additional studies have been conducted both in this country and abroad with increasingly more predictable results.' Although these investigations have added to our overall knowledge about the health consequences of smoking, from a practical, public health perspective the majority of the studies were repetitive and unnecessary.

Surely enough information existed on the negative health effects of smoking by the early 1960's that smoking prevention and cessation initiatives and not basic biomedical research should have received priority consideration. Unfortunately, this was not the case. Instead, the majority of Federal resources for smoking during the 1960's through the early 1980's continued to concentrate on the health effects of smoking rather than research on how best to intervene in smoking behavior among existing smokers or prevent initiation among adolescents.

The NCI Strategy for Smoking and Tobacco Use Control

Shortly after I came to the National Cancer Institute (NCI) in 1981 to lead what is now the Division of Cancer Prevention and Control (DCPC), Dr. Joseph Cullen came as deputy director and took charge of the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program. The following year Dr. C. Everett Koop issued his first report as Surgeon General in 1982. This report

was unique in the series on the health consequences of smoking for it was the first to be entirely devoted to a single disease. *The Health Consequences of* Smoking: Cancer-A *Report of the Surgeon General8* established cigarette smoking as the single largest cause of excess cancer mortality for the U.S. population and estimated that 30 percent of all cancer deaths annually were directly related to smoking.

Obviously the role of tobacco in national cancer mortality statistics was so large that an all-out remedial response by this Institute was going to be required if we had any hope of reducing overall cancer deaths and rates. As a result, NCI decided to seriously reconsider the focus and direction of its smoking research program.

Within the division we had already initiated a planning process to develop a national strategy for cancer prevention and control and the control of smoking was now the cornerstone to this effort. The blueprint for this strategy was a model for defining priorities for cancer control research within DCPC.⁹





The model classifies research efforts according to an orderly sequence of five stepwise phases from hypothesis development (phase I) through large-scale demonstration projects (phase V). Between each phase operational criteria are applied to determine if research outcomes warrant proceeding to the next phase. Compared with other areas of cancer control in 1982, sufficient phase I and II studies already existed in smoking to allow the Institute to move immediately into phase III and IV intervention trials.

The priorities for NCI's renewed Smoking, Tobacco and Cancer Program grew from a systematic planning process that utilized state-of-the-art reviews and consensus development involving hundreds of scientists and public health experts. The result was a two-pronged strategy. The first strategy involved the study of intervention methods that were school based, self-help (minimal intervention), physician-dentist delivered interventions, mass media approaches, and community-based interventions. Our second strategy targeted specific populations that were at greatest risk for developing cancer or were amenable to prevention strategies, including youth, minority/ethnic groups, women, heavy smokers, and smokeless tobacco users.

The current STCP status report summarizes the efforts of this Institute to control smoking and tobacco use and covers the period FY 1985 through FY 1989. This program is now the largest smoking and tobacco use control effort in the world. Prevention and cessation trials begun in the mid-1980's have directly involved some 10 million people while millions more have been indirectly affected. By the end of FY 1990 total program costs will approach \$250 million.

National Cancel	Institute Funding for	Smoking,	TODACCO, and Cancer
	(in 000's))	
	1982	10,943	
	1983	9,476	
	1984	16,721	
	1985	21,131	
	1986	27,099	
	1987	37,288	
	1988	39,604	
	1989	40,151	
	1990 (estimate)	41,092	
	Total 1982-1990	\$243,505	

National Cancor Institute Funding for Smoking Tobacco, and Concor

Source: National Cancer Institute.

To a larger extent, however, the control of cigarette smoking cannot be achieved by the Federal sector alone. To achieve the goal of a smoke-free society by the year 2000 will require the cooperation, dedication, and energy of all of us at all levels of society.

In this regard, NCI has launched a major initiative in the fight against tobacco-related cancers with the American Stop Smoking Intervention Study for Cancer Prevention-or ASSIST.*' ASSIST is a large-scale cooperative effort involving not only NCI but the national and local offices of the American Cancer Society, state and local health departments, and individual community organizations and agencies throughout the country. Total Federal and non-Federal fiscal resources will exceed \$100 million and at least 50 million individuals will be affected by the project. Up to 20 ASSIST sites will receive Federal funding starting next year and will continue through mid-1998. ASSIST builds on the NCIdeveloped cessation and prevention technology summarized in this volume and has the potential of substantially altering the smoking behavior of millions of Americans and thus reducing both the number and rate of those cancers most associated with tobacco use, particularly cigarette smoking.

Last, I want to express here my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the countless individuals, both inside and outside of government, who have contributed to NCI's smoking control efforts during the past 5 years. Without their involvement and commitment to these important public health initiatives, the progress made in the fight against the number one cause of preventable cancers would not have been possible.

> Peter G. Greenwald, M.D., Dr. P.H. Director Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, NCI

- Wynder EL, Graham EA. Tobacco smoking as a possible etiologic factor in bronchogenic carcinoma. A study of six hundred and eighty-four cases. JAMA 1950; 143:329-36.
- 2. Levine ML et al. Cancer and tobacco smoking. A preliminary report. JAMA 1950; 143:336-38.
- 3. Mills CA, Porter MM. Tobacco smoking habits and cancer of the mouth and respiratory system. Cancer Res 1950;10:539-42.
- 4. Schrek R et al. Tobacco smoking as an etiologic factor in disease. I. Cancer. Cancer Res 1950; 10:49-58.
- 5. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Smoking and health. Report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, 1964; PHS publication no. 1103.
- 6. Larson P et al. Tobacco. Experimental and clinical studies. Baltimore: William and Wilkins, 1961.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Reducing the health consequences of smoking: 25 years of progress. A report of the Surgeon General. US Department of Health and Human Services, 1989; DHHS publication no. (CDC)89-8411.
- 8. US Department of Health and Human Services. The health consequences of smoking: cancer. A report of the Surgeon General. US Department of Health and Human Services, 1982; DHHS publication no. (PHS) 82-50179.
- 9. Greenwald P, Cullen JW. The scientific approach to cancer control. CA 1984;34:328-32.
- 10. McKenna J, Carbone E. Huge tobacco control project begun by NCI, ACS. JNCI 1989; 81:93-4.

Preface

Cancer incidence and mortality rates in the United States continue to increase. Although a complex of factors underlies this disturbing trend, two facts are clear: If lung cancer were excluded from these cancer statistics, overall cancer rates would actually be decreasing; and lung cancer is almost entirely caused by smoking cigarettes.

In 1982, as part of a major National Cancer Institute (NCI) initiative, an aggressive plan to control tobacco use in the United States was developed. The plan called for a comprehensive research program, initially involving phase III and IV intervention trials testing the efficacy of a variety of intervention strategies in selected populations. Tobacco control trials involving more than 10 million individuals in 33 states and more than 200 North American communities were implemented. Nearly \$250 million has now been allocated to this effort, making the NCI Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program (STCP) the largest program of its kind in the world.

This report summarizes the rationale, thrust, and results to date of the STCP effort. It codifies the importance of health promotion research and testifies to the fact that such research can be done systematically and effectively. The report also reveals that health promotion research needs to be perfected and expanded considerably if mortality rates from tobacco use-related cancers are to be reduced.

The STCP never deviated from its original objectives or the proposed strategies to achieve them. Now, based on the outcome of the trials completed to date and using the phases of cancer control research logic, new steps need to be taken. These steps are operationalized in two community trials, COMMIT (already under way) and ASSIST (just beginning). Both efforts are described and discussed in this report.

As an advocate and willing participant in the National Cancer Program (NCP), I take much of the responsibility as coordinator for the STCP for the large amount of funds allocated to this effort. I assume such responsibility with the full understanding that the monies spent meant that other important NCP activities had to be displaced, because overall resources are finite. I believe that the Institute's sacrifice to carry out a public health research program of this immensity was warranted and will in the next decade prove its usefulness when the application of the findings from these studies contribute to the intended outcome, a reduction in smoking and tobacco use prevalence and ultimately a reduction in cancer mortality.

Many individuals are to be recognized for their independent and interdependent contributions to the planning and implementation of the STCP. They include the investigators who carried out the research and advised NCI staff on the priorities to be undertaken; the STCP staff, which grew from 2 in 1982 to its present contingent of 15; other NCI staff who have been actively involved in program activities; the advisory committees, ad hoc and chartered, with particular gratitude to the members of the Board of Scientific Counselors (BSC); the Division of Cancer Prevention and Control (DCPC), which operated over the span of the events described; other governmental agencies, particularly the Office on Smoking and Health; and NCI leadership, particularly Dr. Vincent DeVita (NCI director, 1980-1988), Dr. Samuel Broder (NCI director, 1988-present), Dr. Peter Greenwald (director and chief architect for all of the DCPC control activities), and Dr. C. Everett Koop (Surgeon General of the U.S. Public Health Service (PHS) 1981-1989) to whom this report is dedicated. His understanding of science and public health and his integrity and oneness of purpose in leading PHS initiatives to achieve a smoke-free society by the year 2000 are an indelible hallmark for the 1980's and unquestionably will be a benchmark in the history of public health in this country.

I would also argue that what has been learned as a result of the **STCP** is not the unfolding of complex and arcane principles of human behavior that hitherto defied understanding or the discovery of unusual technologies to modify ingrained lifestyles. Rather, what was learned was simple, predictable, and rational. For example, physicians can be effective agents to help smokers stop, if and when they take enough interest to identify patients who smoke, advise them not to, and help them through one of several simple, existing support channels. Many other examples are equally as compelling. They involve the determination of simple steps to prevent adolescents from initiating smoking or tobacco use of any kind; use of minimal interventions to reach the largest number of individuals; use media to influence tobacco use; and how to carry out effective, large-scale tobacco control programs in community studies. In all of these efforts, all Americans who use or may use tobacco are targets. But special attention is paid to youth, women, ethnic minorities, and heavy smokers because these subpopulations are now at the greatest risk or will be in time.

When this program began in **1982**, many believed it was premature and that gathering more basic information was a higher priority: information related to the demography of smokers, why they smoked, why they stopped, etc. These points were and still are debatable. But many felt that unless we began to address tobacco use aggressively on a population-wide basis and adhered to the logic of the cancer prevention and control phases, the most important preventable risk factor known to cause cancer, smoking cigarettes, would continue to produce unacceptable morbidity statistics that plague our Nation unnecessarily.

Nearly 800,000 deaths were postponed or averted between 1964 and 1985 because millions of Americans decided to quit or not to start smoking. We believe, therefore, that the actions of the PHS played a major role in this glorious statistic. We also believe, as stated in the most recent Surgeon General's report (1989), that there would be more than 90 million American smokers today instead of some 56 million, if the antismoking campaign begun in 1964 had not occurred. But we also believe that much more can and should be done and that NCI should play and has played a leading and forceful role in serving this Nation by developing an armamentarium of effective intervention strategies. These strategies now must be deployed across the Nation and until they are, the research-to-application cycle will be incomplete.

Joseph W. Cullen, Ph.D. Coordinator Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program 1982-1989

Acknowledgments

The 1985-1989 Status Report of the National Cancer Institute's Smoking, Tobacco and Cancer Program (STCP) was prepared by the staff of the Smoking, Tobacco and Cancer Branch (STCB), Cancer Control Sciences Program, Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, Dr. Terry Pechacek, acting branch chief. Technical and editorial support was provided by Prospect Associates of Rockville, Maryland. Managing editors were Donald R. Shopland, National Cancer Institute (NCI), and Marilyn M. Massey, Prospect Associates.

The STCB staff gratefully acknowledges the cooperation and assistance of the many individuals throughout NCI who contributed to the 1985-1989 status report by submitting abstracts, preparing and verifying data, or assisting in other ways. In particular, we would like to acknowledge the support of Dr. Peter Greenwald, director, Division of 'Cancer Prevention and Control, and Dr. Caludia Baquet, associate director, Cancer Control Sciences Program.

Special thanks are also due:

Kathleen Barry	John Horm, Ph.D.
Leslie Boss, Ph.D.	Katherine Marconi, Ph.D.
Carlos Caban, Ph.D.	Jeff McKenna
Gregory Christenson, Ph.D.	Barry Portnoy, Ph.D.
Brenda Edwards, Ph.D.	Lynn Ries
Jerianne Heimendinger, Ph.D.	Elva Ruiz
Joyce Heinonen	Edward Sondik, Ph.D.

Further, we are indebted to the many distinguished scientists who performed tobacco use control research via STCP-supported grants and contracts. Their contributions in providing abstracts, references, and resource information concerning their research have been the foundation for much of this report. Special recognition is given to Dr. Tom Glynn, who has contributed to the STCP since 1983 and was the key staff person involved in managing the program's intervention research intitiatives and coordinating the consensus development efforts that yielded the results reported herein. Thanks to Elaine Murray, Prospect Associates, for coordinating the input from these individuals and organizing it for presentation in the report.

Finally we would like to acknowledge below the many staff members, past and present, who have contributed to the success of the program during the period covered by this report.

Smoking, Tobacco and Cancer Branch Staff

Kathy Bauman	Zella Lynn
Gayle Boyd, Ph.D.	Sandra Long
Linda Bremmerman	Marc Manley, M.D., M.P.H.
James Callahan, D.P.A.	Margaret Mattson, Ph.D.
Stephanie Carson	Elizabeth Mugge
Joseph Cullen, Ph.D.	Joanne Odenkirchen
Thomas Glynn, Ph.D.	Roselyn Payne-Epps, M.D., M.P.H.
Jessie Gruman, Ph.D.	Terry Pechacek, Ph.D.
Norma Guenterberg	Judy Robinson
Clair Harvey	Eve Scovel
Betty Lee Hawks	Donald Shopland
Vanessa Hooker	Shirley Wimberly
William Lynn	Jing Jie Yu, M.D.

Key Prospect Associates Staff

Sara Banks Judy Beavers Judith Corbett Esther Curtis Charles Darby, M.A. Anita Dunklin Sharon Feldman Anna-Marie Gallart Peter Gustafson Janet Greenblatt, M.P.H. Marianne Haenlein, Ph.D. Kit Hagner Kathleen Isner Karen Jacob Mary Johnson Peggy Johnson Wanna Jones Marilyn Massey, M.P.H. Ruth Mattingly Barbara McChesney Nancy McCormick-Pickett, M.A. Elaine Murray Richard Patrick Cathy (Morris) Prahl Dorritt Silber Aida Teymouri Donna Tharpe Jacqueline Tressler Tim Ware

Preparation and Organization of the Report

Information contained in the report reflects program accomplishments and initiatives funded by the Institute through fiscal year **1989**.

Draft manuscripts were prepared by individual STCB and contractor professional staff. These manuscripts were reviewed internally, edited, and then consolidated into major content areas. Where trial outcome results are reported, these data are based primarily on NCI consensus statements already published or in press. The NCI consensus documents represent public health statements concerning trial findings and recommendations and have been subjected to independent peer review by scientists and experts both in and out of government. Other trial results represent findings extracted from individually published reports and studies or were summarized from existing state-of-the-art reviews, including recent reports of the Surgeon General.

Findings and results summarized in this volume represent the opinion of NCI and do not necessarily reflect the opinions of individual investigators or their institutions.

The 1985-1989 status report is dedicated to the leadership of Dr. C. Everett Koop, Surgeon General, U.S. Public Health Service, **15X31-1989**. It contains a foreword by Dr. Peter Greenwald, director, Division of Cancer Prevention and Control, a preface by Dr. Joseph Cullen, former STCP coordinator and division deputy director, and is organized to review the following major content areas:

- Overview of the health consequences of smoking with emphasis on smoking and cancer.
- Trends in smoking behavior and lung cancer incidence and mortality.
- Summary, findings, and results from STCP intervention trials and studies.
- National dissemination of STCP intervention technology.
- Other smoking research and communications efforts within NCI.
- References and supplemental information on STCP research and products.

Review of the Scientific Evidence and Program Accomplishments

Review of the Scientific Evidence and Program Accomplishments

The Link Between Tobacco Use and Health

At the heart of all strategies to reduce the burden of mortality, morbidity, and disability associated with tobacco use is maintaining an understanding of the substantial and expanding body of scientific knowledge about the health consequences of smoking. Thousands of studies detail the numerous and severe health consequences of tobacco use, and a succession of Surgeons General have reviewed and summarized the health effects associated with smoking and other forms of tobacco use. Highlights of these data are reviewed below.

Tobacco Use as a Cause of Cancer

Knowledge of the relationship between tobacco use and health stems from clinical observations about cancer, the first disease to be linked to tobacco use. Tobacco use has been suspected of increasing the risk for developing cancer for more than 200 years. According to one historian, Dr. John Hill is credited with the first published report linking tobacco use and cancer as early as 1761 in his work *Cautions Against the Immoderate Use of Snuff.*¹

The first major development in the modern history of the effects of smoking on health occurred in 1950 with the publication of four retrospective studies on smoking habits among lung cancer patients and among controls.^{2, 3, 4, 5}Although many researchers accepted the findings of these early retrospective studies as conclusive proof that smoking was etiologically associated with lung cancer, other investigators turned to prospective investigations in which large numbers of healthy individuals were enrolled in studies and followed over time. Facts about their lifestyles (including smoking), occupational history, place of residence, and other characteristics were recorded. Results from these studies clearly documented that smoking not only substantially increased the risk of developing lung cancer but increased the risk of developing cancer of other sites as well as noncancerous diseases?' ^{7, 8} By the time the Surgeon General's Advisory Committee on Smoking and Health was established in 1962, eight major prospective studies were already under way or planned. Studies have now been conducted in the United States, Great Britain, Canada, Japan and Sweden, and collectively represent over 20 million person-years of observation.

The largest of these, the American Cancer Society (ACS) 25 State Study, was initiated in 1959 and involved more than **1** million persons followed prospectively for **12** years. In 1982, the ACS initiated a new study in which more than 1.2 million men and women in all 50 states are being followed every 2 years. The ACS 50 State Study provides important new information concerning the risks of smoking and tobacco use for the individual and the total public health dimension of the disease burden due to tobacco use for the U.S. population. The following information is taken from these two studies. The ACS 50 State Study provides more information for women than for men.^{9,10}

Findings from the new ACS prospective study indicate that for cancers of the respiratory tract-particularly the lung-male smokers experience more than a 2,000-percent greater chance of dying from lung cancer than male nonsmokers; among women who smoke the lung cancer risk is approximately 1,200 percent greater. For each site smokers experience substantially higher mortality risks compared with comparable non-smokers. Mortality risks for former smokers are lower than continuing smokers but higher than those who have never smoked.



Percent Increased Risk of Cancer for Men Who Smoke

Source: ACS 50-State Study.

Percent Increased Risk of Cancer for Women Who Smoke



Source: ACS 50-State Study.

The chances of a premature cancer death among smokers have increased over the past **25** years. This finding reflects that total lifetime smoking exposure among more contemporary cohorts is greater than that observed among older cohorts that formed the basis of published studies in the 1950's and 1960's. To illustrate this finding, mortality ratios of smokers versus nonsmokers for selected sites of cancer from the ACS **25** State Study (initiated in 1959) are presented with those from the current ACS 50 State Study begun in 1982. For lung cancer and a number of other cancer sites associated with smoking behavior, smoker mortality ratios have increased. Among men the lung cancer ratio doubled from approximately 11 to 22 while for women the ratio increased nearly fourfold from about **3** to 12. Lung cancer mortality ratios for women mirror the ratios seen in men two decades earlier. Interestingly, the nonsmoker lung cancer mortality rate has remained virtually unchanged in women during this 26-year period.

Cancer Mortality Ratios for Current Smokers 35 Years and Older at Time of Enrollment by Sex

	Ma	les	Fen	nales
Cancer Site	25-State Study	SO-State Study	25-State Study	SO-State Study
Lung	11.35	22.36	2.69	11.94
Oral	6.33	27.48	1.96	5.59
Esophagus	3.62	7.60	1.94	10.25
Larynx	10.00	10.48	3.81	17.78
Bladder	2.90	2.86	2.87	2.58
Pancreas	2.34	2.14	1.39	2.33
Kidney	1.84	2.95	1.43	1.41

Source: American Cancer Society, 25-State Study and 50-State Study.



Applying national smoking and cancer mortality rates to the new ACS data provides an estimate of the total number of excess cancer deaths attributed to smoking for the U.S. population. For the major smoking-related sites, smoking is responsible for nearly 140,000 cancer deaths annually. Because these estimates do not include other sites that are now thought to be associated with cigarette smoking (i.e., stomach, cervix) or those related to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) exposures in nonsmokers (about 5,000 annually), the total cancer burden due to smoking is probably in excess of 150,000 deaths annually. Overall nearly one-third of all cancer deaths are considered directly related to tobacco use in the United States each year. By far, smoking cigarettes is the single largest cause of excess cancer cases and deaths known to our society.

Smoking as a Cause of Other Diseases

Smoking and tobacco use are not only related to substantial numbers of cancer deaths, but regular use of these products is also associated with deaths from many other diseases and conditions. Although the risk of death for many of these causes is usually lower than those for lung cancer, they represent a significant number of premature deaths because of their total influence on national mortality patterns. Smoking-related coronary

heart disease (CHD) risk, for example, is much smaller than the risk for lung cancer; but because CHD is responsible for more cases and deaths nationally than any other cause, the number of smoking-related CHD deaths is large (approximately 115,000 deaths in 1985 alone).



Source: ACS 25- and 50-State Studies.

The effects of smoking on the leading causes of death related to tobacco use are illustrated below for two time periods 20 years apart. Smoking is responsible for nearly 400,000 deaths annually, representing nearly 1 in every $\bf{6}$ deaths nationally. Increasingly, proportionately more deaths are due to cancer than the other major causes of death.



There is no longer any question that tobacco use, particularly in the form of cigarette smoking, is the Nation's number one cause of premature mortality; the tragedy is that this enormous disease burden is entirely self-inflicted and, therefore, avoidable if appropriate prevention and control measures are defined and applied.

Trends in Cigarette and Tobacco Use Rates

Progress against tobacco use is necessarily measured in several dimensions. In particular, accurate data on trends in tobacco use are needed to estimate the magnitude of the tobacco use problem and its distribution among major socioeconomic groups in the United States, to foretell the future course of tobacco-related disease, and to target public health interventions to those at highest risk of tobacco use and tobacco-related mortality.

Early Historical Perspective

Historically, tobacco use has been part of American culture for more than 400 years, predating the arrival of Columbus and the early settlers. The use of cigarettes, however, is of a relatively recent origin, having gained widespread acceptance only during this century.

Of the 7.43 pounds of tobacco consumed per capita in 1900, manufactured cigarettes accounted for only 0.16 pounds per person or less than 1 percent of total tobacco used. The majority of tobacco consumed at the turn of the century was in the form of smokeless tobacco. Widespread adoption of cigarette smoking began in 1913 with the introduction of the first blended cigarettes. These cigarettes represented an entirely new generation of smoking products that were easily inhaled compared with their earlier counterparts, thus directly exposing the lung and other organs to the dozens of toxic and carcinogenic

Per Capita Consumption of Tobacco Products Unstemmed Processing Weight



Source: U.S. Department of Agriculture.

constituents found in tobacco smoke. By 1921 more pounds of tobacco per capita (expressed as unstemmed processing weight) was being consumed in cigarettes than any other tobacco product category, and as early as 1935 it accounted for more than half of all tobacco consumed.

Peak consumption (in per capita pounds) occurred in 1952 when 12.9 pounds of tobacco was consumed per person; of this amount, 10.4 pounds were consumed in cigarettes. It was during this time that the first public warnings about the dangers of smoking appeared in the regular press, and in response the tobacco industry introduced and widely promoted filter cigarettes in the hope that consumers would view these as "safe." Today cigarettes still account for the vast bulk of all tobacco consumed (5.11 of the 5.85 pounds consumed per capita); however, total pounds of tobacco per capita is now at the lowest level in more than 100 years and total pounds of cigarette tobacco per capita is lower than at any time since World War II.

Use of cigarettes accelerated during and immediately following World War I as the result of aggressive advertising and promotion tactics of the tobacco industry, especially its targeting of the military. When U.S. soldiers returned from the European campaigns, many had become addicted to these newer products while in the service. By the early 1920's a majority of men were estimated to be regular cigarette smokers, having switched from other forms of tobacco use. Smoking by women in the early part of this century was not socially acceptable, and it is widely held that only a very small percentage of women smoked until after World War I-and few of these women would be classified as "regular" smokers in the common use of that term.

When successive age groups of men and women are examined, it is readily apparent that large numbers of men became regular smokers two to three decades earlier than women. Further, smoking behavior among older men and women differed substantially. Until the appearance of more recent age groups (i.e., beginning about 1940) most women did not begin smoking until their late twenties or early thirties, whereas the vast majority of men initiated regular smoking while in their teens. As will be discussed later, the differences in smoking intensity observed between men and women in the various age cohorts have had a profound impact on the pattern of lung cancer in the United States.

The first large-scale national survey to determine smoking prevalence was conducted in **1955** by the National Cancer Institute (NCI) in response to early findings linking



Maximum Smoking Rates of Men and Women by Year of Birth

Source: 1987 National Health Interview Survey.

6



Percent of Smokers Who Began Smoking Before Age 20 by Year of Birth

Source: 1987 National Health Interview Survey.

cigarette smoking to risk for lung cancer.¹¹ Between that time and 1987, the nature of smoking prevalence for men and women has changed dramatically. Following decades of increased cigarette use, smoking prevalence and overall cigarette consumption peaked during the 1960's as a result of the first report of the Surgeon General in 1964, publicity surrounding mandated warning labels, and other measures undertaken to inform the public about the hazards of cigarette smoking.



Source: 1955 Current Population Survey and 1965-87 National Health Interview Survey.

Men responded more quickly than women to these first warnings. Between 1965 and 1976 smoking rates declined by 20 percent among men from 52 to 42 percent, while in women it remained about the same at around 33 percent. Since 1976 smoking has declined in both men and women with each successive survey, a trend that has continued into 1987—the last year for which detailed national data are available.

Current Tobacco Use Prevalence

In 1987 NCI sponsored a supplement to the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) to assess health practices known to affect cancer morbidity, mortality, and survival. Included in this supplement were questions regarding current and former use of various tobacco products and the public's perception of smoking and tobacco use practices on health.

Although it is not the intention of this report to provide a detailed analysis of the **1987** NHIS cancer supplement, several key findings are highlighted below. More detailed information on each of these as well as other data from the 1987 NHIS can be found in appendix A.

Differences by Gender

Smoking among all adults (both men and women 20 years of age and older) was 29 percent in 1987, the lowest reported figure since the Government began collecting information in 1955. Smoking rates remain higher among men compared with women, however, the gap between the sexes is narrowing.¹¹ If present trends continue, women are expected to surpass men in smoking prevalence by the mid-1990's.





Source: Pierce et al. JAMA 1989.

Overall, 1987 rates for men are probably lower than at any time except before World War I. Compared with women, men also report smoking more cigarettes per day, and among both men and women the percent of smokers classified as heavy smokers has increased in recent years. This may reflect either a change in the numbers of cigarettes consumed daily per smoker or that proportionately more light-to-moderate than heavy smokers have been successful in giving up smoking.

Racial/Ethnic Smoking Prevalence

Detailed information on smoking behavior among various racial and ethnic groups indicates that black males have the highest reported current cigarette use rates (39 percent) and Hispanic females the lowest (18 percent). Both white and black females report identical smoking rates of 28 percent, a pattern that has been consistently observed for nearly

Cigarette Smoking Among Racial Ethnic Groups (Percent)	
by Race and Sex, Persons 18 Years of Age or Older	

		Smoking Status	
Race/Sex	Never Smoker	Former Smoker	Current Smoker
Whites (non-Hispanic)			
Males and Females	46.2	24.8	29.0
Males	38.2	31.2	30.6
Females	53.5	19.0	27.5
Blacks (non-Hispanic)			
Males and Females	52.3	14.8	32.9
Males	42.3	18.9	38.9
Females	60.3	11.5	28.2
Hispanics			
Males and Females	60.3	16.1	23.6
Males	49.3	20.7	30.0
Females	70.0	12.1	18.0

Source: National Health Interview Survey, 1987.

two decades. Among all major race and ethnic groups, highest use rates are generally seen in the middle age groups, after which smoking declines. Whites of both sexes consume more cigarettes per day compared to other groups and are observed to have higher rates of heavy smoking (greater than 25 cigarettes daily).

Pattern of Cigarette Use Among Various Groups in the U.S. Population

Number of Cigarettes Smoked per Day

Race/Sex	1-14	15-24	25+	Any Amount
All Races	9.1	11.8	7.6	28.8
Males	8.6	12.2	10.2	31.2
Females	9.6	11.5	5.2	26.5
Whites (non-Hispanic)	7.3	12.6	8.9	29.0
Males	6.3	12.4	11.8	30.6
Females	8.3	12.8	6.2	27.5
Blacks (non-Hispanic)	19.8	10.0	2.5	32.9
Males	21.2	13.7	3.4	38.9
Females	18.7	7.1	1.8	28.2
Hispanics	13.3	7.3	2.8	23.6
Males	16.4	8.9	4.3	30.0
Females	10.6	5.8	1.5	18.0

Source: National Health Interview Survey, 1987.

Teenage Cigarette Smoking

Periodic and systematic surveys to assess smoking among teens have not been conducted. The last national survey of smoking behavior among teens occurred in **1979**. Data from other surveys that include significant numbers of teens or high school students, however, provide considerable insight into current adolescent cigarette use. For example, the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) High School Seniors Survey clearly shows that smoking by seniors has remained nearly constant since **1980** after several years of decline. The 1985 NIDA Household Survey on Drug Abuse supports this finding, with 16 percent of teenagers, 12 to 17 years of age, reporting having used cigarettes in the past month. This figure is lower than reported in **1977** but represents virtually no change from that reported 3 years earlier.



Prevalence of Daily Cigarette Smoking by High School Seniors

Source: NIDA High School Seniors Survey.

Quitting Behavior

Quitting patterns among various age groups of men and women have produced a population of former smokers that currently totals nearly half of the adults who have ever smoked. Reductions in smoking that have occurred over the past quarter century are already having a measurable impact on lung cancer incidence and mortality rates, especially among men.

In the 1987 NHIS current smokers were asked whether they had ever tried to quit and if they had attempted to quit during the previous 12 months. Two-thirds of smokers reported making at least one serious quit attempt, and approximately one out of three had tried to quit during the past year. Little difference exists between men and women in reported quit attempts. Among both men and women proportionately more light than moderate or heavy smokers reported making a recent attempt. These and other data on quitting can be found in appendix A.

Percent of Current and Former Smokers Among Various Age Cohorts



Source: 1987 National Health Interview Survey.

Other Forms of Tobacco Use

Several questions concerning other forms of tobacco use were included on the 1987 NHIS. Use of these products is primarily a male phenomenon; fewer than 1 percent of all women use these forms of tobacco. Slightly more than 6 percent of males regularly used some form of smokeless tobacco (i.e., snuff and/or chewing tobacco) in 1987; more than 3 percent used pipes and more than 5 percent smoked cigars.

Use of smokeless tobacco products by young adolescent males appears to be a growing problem at a time when their use of cigarettes has been declining. Teenage boys 16 to 19 years of age reported a 300-percent increase in the use of snuff and a 250-percent increase in the use of chewing tobacco from 1970 to 1985. A similar pattern of increased use occurred among younger age adult males (20 through 29 years of age) during this same period; 1987 NHIS data indicate continued high levels of smokeless tobacco use among younger age males.

Prevalence of Smokeless Tobacco Use (Snuff and/or Chewing Tobacco) Among U.S. Males by Age

Age	S	Smokeless Tobacco U	se
	Never User	Former User	Current U se i
18+	84. 1	9.8	6.1
18-24	79.8	11.3	8.9
25-34	84. 9	9.1	6.0
35-44	87.6	7.7	4.7
45-64	85.9	9.1	4.9
65+	79.6	13.6	6. 9

Source: National Health Interview Survey, 1987.

State and Regional Differences in Cigarette and Smokeless Tobacco Use

The 1985 Current Population Survey by the U.S. Census Bureau was the first survey to permit cigarette and smokeless tobacco use estimates for all **50** states and the District of Columbia.^{12,13} Among men only states in the southeast (East South Central Division) consistently dominated the high rankings for both cigarette and smokeless tobacco use.

Percent Current Cigarette Smokers 16 Years of Age and Older* by Region, Division, and Sex

	Male	Female	Total.
Area	Percent	Percent	Percent
Total United States	31.3	25.0	28.0
Northeast Region	29.7	25.2	27.3
New England Division	29.4	25.9	28.1
Mid-Atlantic Division	29.9	24.6	27.1
North Central Region	30.8	26.3	28.5
East North Central Division	31.5	27.5	29.5
West North Central Region	29. 1	23. 6	26.2
South Region	34.5	25.1	29. 5
South Atlantic Division	34.4	25.3	29. 5
East South Central Division	35.8	25.2	30. 1
West South Central Division	33.9	24.7	29. 0
West Region	28.0	22.7	25.2
Mountain Division	28.6	23.5	26. 0
Pacific Division	27.7	22.4	25. 0

*Total adult sample (≥ 16 years of age) N = 114,342.

Source: Marcus et al. JNCI 1989.

These states can be characterized as having low cigarette excise taxes, an absence or lack of state or local laws restricting smoking in public places, and state economies that depend more heavily on tobacco than other states. The West had the lowest smoking prevalence for both men and women. (See appendix A for prevalence on individual states.)

Area	Snuff	Chewing Tobacco	Any Smokeless
Total United States	1.9	3.9	5.5
Northeast Region	1.0	1.4	2.3
New England Division	0.4	0.8	1.2
Mid-Atlantic Division	1.2	1.6	2.7
North Central Region	2.1	3.4	5.3
East North Central Division	1.8	2.9	4.4
West North Central Division	2.9	4.7	7.5
SouthtRegiantic Division East South Central Division West South Central Division	1.8 2.7 4.0	6.9 9.4 5.5	8.3 6.7 11.6 9.1
West Region	1.4	3.3	4.5
Mountain Division	2.3	5.4	7.5
Pacific Divison	1.0	2.6	3.4

Percent Current Users of Snuff and Chewing Tobacco by Region and Division, Males 16 Years and Older

Source: Marcus et al. NCI Monogr 1989.

public Knowledge About Smoking and Cancer

The 1989 report of the Surgeon General provided information from a variety of surveys regarding the public's knowledge or perception of the relationship between smoking and cancer. Overall, the public overwhelmingly agrees that smoking causes lung cancer. The proportion of all adults who agree that smoking causes cancer of the lung has increased steadily since 1954 when questions concerning this relationship first appeared on national surveys. Even most current smokers agree that smoking causes lung cancer; in the 1987 NHIS cancer supplement 83 percent of current smokers thought cigarette smoking caused lung cancer. Recent data from the 1987 NHIS, however, indicate that only 19 percent agree that smoking causes most lung cancer deaths, reflecting knowledge of a risk but not its magnitude.

The public's perception of the relationship between smoking and cancer of other organ sites is also very high. Data reported from a number of national surveys dating from 1977 have observed high percentages of adults agreeing that smoking is associated with a number of other cancer sites. Although use of different terms to describe various cancer sites makes comparisons difficult, the data do indicate a high degree of acceptance of the relationship between smoking and these cancers.

Slightly greater than one-third **(36** percent) of the public thinks cigarette smoking either definitely or probably increases a person's chance of developing bladder cancer.

Trends in Public Knowledge About Smoking and Lung Cancer C

		(P	Cigarette Sm ercentage Wl	oking Causes 10 Agree by S	Lung Cancer Smoking Status)	
Survey	Year	Current Smokers	Former Smokers	Never Smokers	Au Nonsmokers	All Adults
Gallup	1954					41
Gallup	1957					50
Gallup	1958					44
AUTS ^a	1964	53	75	75	75	66
AUTS ^a	1966	57	79	70	72	66
Gallup	1969					71
Gallup	1971					71
Gallup	1977					81
Gallup	1978	72			87	81
Gallup	1981	69			91	83
NHIS ^â	1985	92	96	96	96	95
AUTS	1986	85	94	95	95	92
Gallup	1987	75	90		94	87
NHIS	1987	83	92	92		89

^aPercentages including those who believe that smoking "definitely" or "probably" increases the risk

AUTS = Adult Use of Tobacco Survey NHIS = National Health Interview Survey

Source: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. A Report of the Surgeon General, 1989.

Trends in Public Knowledge About Smoking and Cancer of the Mouth/Throat/Larynx/Esophagus

Survey	Year	Cigarette Smoking Causes Mouth/Throat/ Larynx/Esophagus Cancer (Percentage Who Agree by Smoking Status)				
		Current Smokers	Former Smokers	Never Smokers	All Nonsmokers	All Adults
Gallup	1977				79	
Gallup	1978	73			82	79
Gallup	1981	69		87	81	
NHIS	1985	83	90	90	90	88
NHIS	1985	75	83	82	82	80
AUTS	1986	82	91	91	91	88
NHIS	1987	73	85	83		80

Source: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. A Report of the Surgeon General, 1989.

Trends in Lung Cancer Incidence and Mortality

Lung cancer did not become a medical problem in the United States until 25 to 30 years after widespread adoption of cigarettes by American society. As was discussed earlier, cigarette smoking among men began to increase after the turn of the century and accelerated before and during World War I. By the beginning of the 1920's a majority of men had not only become regular cigarette smokers but a significant proportion of them had been smoking for many years. Lung cancer was considered such a rare medical occurrence during the early part of the 20th century that it was not listed as a cause of death in the International Classification of Disease (ICD) system until 1930.



Source: U.S. Department of Agriculture; National Center for Health Statistics.

Lung Cancer Mortality Pattern, 1950 to 1987

Between 1930 and 1950 lung cancer increased significantly in the United States, and by 1950 it accounted for fully 14 percent of all cancer deaths among men. Among women lung cancer was only beginning to emerge as a problem, reflecting the difference in late onset of smoking behavior in women compared with men. In 1950 there were approximately 14,000 lung cancer deaths in men and 3,000 in women. By 1987 these figures had increased to 87,200 and 42,700, respectively; of these, 115,000 occurred among whites and 14,000 in blacks. More than 2 million lung cancer deaths occurred in the United States between 1950 and 1986; an estimated 90 percent were directly caused by cigarette smoking.

Mortality rates have increased among both men and women for the period 1950 to 1987 although men experienced much higher rates compared with women. During the 1960's lung cancer mortality in black men had surpassed that of whites, and by 1987 blacks were experiencing mortality rates 36 percent higher than whites (99.9 versus 73.2 deaths per 100,000). Among white and black women no significant difference in their lung cancer mortality rates has been observed over the past four decades.

Although men experience substantially higher lung cancer mortality rates than women, this finding masks a significant change occurring in the lung cancer trend between the sexes. The age-adjusted lung cancer rate for white men appears to be plateauing, whereas in white women it is increasing.



Source: National Center for Health Statistics. Note: Data prior to 1973 are rates for "nonwhites,"

The lung cancer death rate over the 14-year period 1973 to 1986 increased 17 percent among men but 94 percent in women; on an annual basis men increased 1.3 percent compared with 5.7 percent among women.

	Average		
Sex/Age	1973-1974	1985-1986	Percent Change
Males	63.3	74.0	+17.0
o-54	12.4	11.0	-11.3
15-34	0.5	0.3	-26.3
35-44	15.0	10.5	-29.8
45-54	72.0	66.8	-7.2
55-64	198.8	215.2	+8.3
65-74	350.5	417.9	+19.2
75+	360.8	527.0	+46.1
Females	13.8	26.7	+93.9
o-54	4.5	5.8	+30.6
15-34	0.3	0.2	-19.5
35-44	6.5	6.1	-5.7
45-54	24.4	34.6	+41.9
55-64	48.5	89.6	+84.7
65-74	57.1	145.2	+154.1
75+	59.8	131.6	+120.2

Change in Age-Specific Lung Cancer Mortality Between 1973 and 1986

*Rates are per 100,000 population and are age-adjusted to the 1970 U.S. standard population. Source: NCI, Cancer Statistics Review, 1973-86, May 1989.

When age-specific lung cancer death rates are examined, younger age males (younger than 55) demonstrate a decline in lung cancer mortality by 1986 (11.3-percent decrease) compared with the average during 1973 to 1974, whereas among women younger than 55 the lung cancer death rate increased by more than 30 percent. These

changes are consistent with observed changes in smoking behavior among males and females during the past 25-year period.

SEER Lung Cancer Incidence Rates

Information obtained from NCI's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program from 1973 through 1986 provides additional evidence that changes in smoking behavior are beginning to have a positive impact on lung cancer occurrence. Although the age-adjusted cancer mortality rate among all major demographic groups is still increasing, data from SEER show a significant decline in the white male lung cancer incidence rate. In 1986 the white male rate was 80.3 per 100,000 or approximately the same rate reported in **1979.** A decline in the white male lung cancer incidence rate has now been recorded for 3 out of the past 4 years. Similar declines in other groups have not been consistently observed, however, a decline in the incidence rate among black men appears likely.





A sustained decline in lung cancer incidence should predate a decline in the national lung cancer mortality pattern. Thus, it appears probable that a decline in the white male lung cancer mortality rate will occur in the near future; this should be followed by a decline in the black male rate if the present trend continues.

Impact of Smoking Behavior Change on Lung Cancer Rates

When smoking and lung cancer rates are compared over time between whites and blacks and between males and females, it becomes clear that changes observed in smoking behavior parallel the observed trends in their respective lung cancer experiences approximately two decades later. For example:

- 1. Smoking historically has been much higher among men than women, and male lung cancer experience has also been significantly greater.
- 2. Smoking behavior in men declined sharply in the 1960's and continued to decline through the 1980's; smoking among women, however, did not begin to decline

until well into the 1970's, and the rate of decline has been slower than that observed among men. By 1987 smoking prevalence in men was almost 40 percent lower than in 1965 but only 18 percent lower in women. Consequently by the 1980's lung cancer mortality rates in men had leveled off and incidence rates were actually declining. No such pattern in women is yet evident.

- 3. Smoking by black men has traditionally been higher than among other groups, including white males-a pattern that appears to predate the 1960's (black men also tend to smoke cigarettes with higher tar and nicotine levels). As a result black male lung cancer mortality and incidence rates exceed those of all other demographic groups in the United States.
- 4. Differences in smoking behavior between black and white women over the past quarter century are not evident, and no difference is observed in their lung cancer mortality experience over this period.

Thus, observed differences in total smoking behavior over time is quite coherent with the lung cancer morbidity and mortality pattern observed in the U.S. population during this century.

Because cigarette smoking plays such a dominant role in lung cancer etiology (90 percent of all lung cancers are directly related to cigarette smoking), any reduction in prevalence can have a strong positive effect on lung cancer incidence and mortality? Although some reduction in lung cancer risk in the population may occur by altering the level of exposure to tar and other constituents or by reducing the number of cigarettes consumed, significant reductions will only be achieved by substantial reductions in the rate of smoking initiation among adolescents and by accelerations in the rate of cessation.

NCI Year 2000 Goal

To achieve its goal of significantly reducing cancer mortality rates by the year 2000, NCI must achieve a sizable reduction in cigarette smoking over the next decade. Several initiatives toward this effort were initiated by the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program (STCP) in 1982; more recently several large-scale initiatives, including COMMIT (Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation) and ASSIST (American Stop Smoking Intervention Study), are now being implemented (see "Applications of Research Findings" sections for an overview of these and other national impact projects). Such efforts are especially designed to accelerate the reduction in national smoking rates and thereby reduce both the rate and number of lung and other cancers associated with tobacco use.

How much of a reduction is attainable in the national lung cancer death rate by the turn of the century is dependent on both the magnitude of the reduction in smoking prevalence and how quickly this reduction can occur, especially among those smokers most at risk. Although few data exist that would allow an accurate prediction of the magnitude of smoking reduction needed to produce an effect, it is clear that reducing smoking to its lowest possible level will result in a reduction in the lung cancer incidence and mortality rate.

Historical understanding of the lag time between large-scale adoption of smoking and increased lung cancer rates observed earlier in this century would indicate that the same two- to three-decade period will be required before we see a reduction in the overall national lung cancer death rate.

A good example of what is achievable in the long term can be seen by examining the smoking and lung cancer experience in the State of Utah.

Utah has a large Mormon population (about 70 percent of the state) whose religious tenets proscribe the use of tobacco in any form. This factor contributes substantially to

Utah's historically lower use of cigarettes compared with the U.S. general population which in turn contributes substantially to their lower lung cancer mortality rate. For example, per capita cigarette consumption in Utah has been nearly half that of the United States since 1950. Consequently, the lung cancer mortality rate in Utah is the lowest in the Nation. Among Utah males the lung cancer rate is almost half the rate of males in the general U.S. population, and among females the rate is nearly 2.5 times lower. Not surprising, smoking prevalence rates for Utah males and females reflect differences of about the same order of magnitude as their U.S. counterparts. (See table 7 in appendix A.) Although smoking prevalence information is not available for the State of Utah over the 40-year period, per capita consumption figures indicate prevalence is or has always been relatively low in Utah compared with the United States during this time.



Source: Surveillance Program, NCI; Public use tape, U.S. Mortality 1986, NCHS, CDC.

The Year 2000 and Beyond

Any immediate change in smoking prevalence will not result in an immediate change in lung cancer mortality because of total smoking exposure that has already occurred in those age groups most at risk. Also smoking cessation and initiation rates are distributed unevenly throughout the population, and the degree of excess lung cancer risk experienced by former smokers is strongly dependent on their total lifetime exposure to cigarettes, the number of years of smoking, and health status at the time of cessation. However, 25 years of epidemiological research shows that simultaneously reducing the prevalence of adult smoking and the rate of smoking initiation among younger cohorts will reduce future lung cancer rates

Already, as a result of changes in smoking behavior that have occurred during the previous three decades, a sizable impact on national lung cancer mortality experience is now becoming evident. If the trends in smoking behavior and lung cancer mortality that were observed in previous decades had continued, the present rate of lung cancer in the United States would be substantially higher.

The 1989 Surgeon General's report estimated that due to the reductions that have occurred in smoking prevalence since 1965, nearly 800,000 deaths had been postponed by 1985 and that the number of deaths averted or postponed was increasing rapidly in recent years. This finding reflects the cumulative public health benefit of quitting on total mortality that has occurred in the United States since the early 1960's.

The **1989** Surgeon General's report also estimated that between **1986** and the year 2000 an additional 2.1 million smoking-related deaths will be avoided or postponed, including 112,000 in 1985 alone. If only a quarter are cancer deaths (probably an underestimation given the proportion of total smoking deaths that are now attributed to cancer), this translates to more than one-half million individuals that will be spared an early cancer mortality between now and the end of the century because they gave up smoking.

Overview of NCI Initiatives to Control Tobacco Use

Of all the Public Health Service (PHS) agencies, the National Cancer Institute (NCI) has the longest history in the battle against smoking. As a result of the first developments linking smoking with lung cancer in the early 1950's, NCI quickly included smoking as part of its research agenda. Since then NCI has established a comprehensive cancer prevention strategy that includes the prevention and control of tobacco use as a top priority in the reduction of cancer incidence and mortality.

Evolution of the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program

In **1955** the Institute undertook the first large-scale examination of smoking and tobacco use in the United States by sponsoring a special supplement to the Current Population Survey (CPS) administered by the U.S. Census Bureau. ¹⁴ In **1956** NCI was part of Surgeon General Leroy Burney's PHS Study Group on Smoking and Health, which issued the first official PHS statement on smoking and lung cancer. ¹⁵ When the Surgeon General's Advisory Committee on Smoking and Health was formed in October **1962**, NCI provided staff and expertise in development of the landmark report on the health consequences of smoking. ¹⁶

During the 1960's the Institute continued its basic biomedical research program on smoking and tobacco use, expanding its efforts to include studies not only in epidemiology but also the chemistry, toxicology, and pharmacology of tobacco smoke and animal. experimentation studies. In the early 1970's NCI initiated a large-scale effort to identify hazardous elements in tobacco and tobacco smoke and ways to reduce or eliminate these agents as a means of reducing the smoking population's exposure to them and thereby reduce their disease risk.¹⁷ As a result of these efforts, a new generation of cigarettes ap peared on the market with markedly lower yields of tar, nicotine, carbon monoxide, and other smoke constituents ¹⁸ that appear to lower the smoker's risk of lung and possibly other cancers.^{19,20,21} The NCI smoking and health effort changed again in the late 1970's to place more emphasis on why people smoke and related behavioral issues.

In 1982, following the publication of the first Surgeon General's report that focused entirely on cancer caused by the use of tobacco and coincident with NCI's new thrust in cancer prevention and control, the Institute undertook a major planning effort to reduce tobacco use prevalence in the United States. Although the medical and scientific communities had reached closure on the link between smoking and lung cancer, there was no consensus on how best to persuade people to give up the habit or not to begin smoking at all. Because of the uncertainties surrounding the effectiveness of specific smoking control approaches, NCI initiated a major effort that placed emphasis on human interventions. This initiative marked the beginning of the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program as it is known today.

The STCP is the focal point for NCI's disease prevention and health promotion research activities related to tobacco use and cancer. The goal of this program is to decrease the incidence and mortality of cancers caused by or related to smoking and the use of



Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program

other tobacco products. It incorporates a range of activities that cover the full spectrum of disease prevention and control. These activities may be summarized within four broad categories:

- **Basic Research.** The NCI continues to carry out limited and selective etiologic research relating tobacco use to cancer and sociobehavioral aspects of tobacco use.
- **Intervention Research.** The primary thrust of STCP activity involves the development of intervention activities to reduce the incidence and/or prevalence of smoking and tobacco use. It includes research to determine the best intervention strategies to reduce smoking and tobacco use and research on diffusion methods to implement these strategies efficiently, particularly on a wide-scale population basis in order to achieve a broad public health impact. Also included is research that focuses on identifying and intervening with target populations in which the greatest tobacco-related cancer prevention and control gains can be expected. Included are those populations with (1) higher incidence and/or prevalence of smoking and tobacco use, (2) higher prevalence of combined exposure to tobacco-related cancers (currently or potentially).
- Research Applications and Information Dissemination. The development, synthesis, and communication of information concerning the cancer risk of tobacco use and means of reducing that risk are important components of the STCP strategy. Program efforts include: (1) synthesizing available information on smoking prevention and cessation; (2) developing messages and materials specifically designed to encourage smoking prevention and cessation among individuals at risk for cancer; and (3) communicating through public, professional, and patient
channels specific smoking control messages and materials as well as the progress being made to reduce cigarette smoking.

• Surveillance. A key aspect of STCP activities is the capability to monitor and assess patterns and trends of tobacco use and progress in preventing and controlling such use. Emphasis is placed on: (1) identifying target populations for intervention, (2) obtaining information from national/regional surveys on smoking to determine patterns and trends in tobacco use, (3) monitoring intervention research studies for their readiness in cancer control phases IV and V, and (4) measuring achievements of goals and objectives.

The Intervention Research Component

The main strategy for attaining the STCP goal is to develop and apply effective interventions to reduce the prevalence of tobacco use. The program's specific objectives are to reduce the proportion of adults and youth who smoke to 15 percent or less by the year 2000.

Cancer Control Objectives: Smoking

Action: Cancer prevention.

Target: Smoking prevention and cessation.

Rationale: The causal relationship between smoking and cancer has been scientifically established.

Year 2000 Objectives: Reduce the percentage of adults who smoke from **34** percent (in **1983)** to 15 percent or less.

Reduce the percentage of youths who smoke by age 20 from **36** percent (1983) to 15 percent or less.

The priorities for the STCP intervention research effort grew from a systematic planning process that involved state-of-the-art reviews and consensus development involving hundreds of scientists and public health experts. The result was a two-pronged strategy. The first strategy involved the study of intervention methods that were school-based, selfhelp techniques, physician/dentist-delivered interventions, mass media approaches, and community-based interventions. The second strategy targeted specific populations that were at greater risk for developing cancer and/or were amenable to prevention strategies: youth, minority ethnic groups, women, smokeless tobacco users, and heavy smokers.

This effort has now become the largest of its kind in the world. Prevention and cessation trials were begun in the early to mideighties that have affected more than 10 million people in **33** states and eastern Canada and in more than 200 North American communities. The cost of this program for the years 1982 to **1990** will be \$250 million.

As with all of NCI's prevention and control efforts, the logic of the cancer control phases was used to determine the nature of study readiness. This logic comprises five sequential phases that emphasize a progression of activity from basic investigations to broad applications in target populations. Between each phase there is a "decision point" with operational criteria to determine if research outcomes warrant proceeding to the next phase. Brief descriptions of the phases follow.

- Phase I: Hypothesis Development. In phase I studies, available scientific evidence from basic laboratory, clinical, epidemiologic, or behavioral research is assessed to determine the opportunity for formulating a testable hypothesis.
- **Phase II: Methods Development.** Phase II studies are designed to characterize the variables to be controlled or monitored in subsequent intervention studies and to ensure that accurate and valid procedures are available before the study is implemented.
- **Phase III: Controlled Intervention Trials.** Phase III trials test the hypotheses developed in phase I using the methods validated in phase II. These trials test hypotheses in groups that enable the efficacy of the intervention to be determined.
- **Phase IV: Defined Population Studies.** Phase IV studies are designed to quantify the impact of an effective intervention in a large sample representative of a large target population.
- Phase V: Demonstration and Implementation Studies. Phase V demonstrations apply the proven interventions from phase IV in large communities and,, measure their public health impact.

State Distribution of STCP Intervention Research Sites

From **1984** to **1989** STCP's smoking control intervention research emphasized phases III and IV. The results of these efforts are already yielding sufficient data from which to enter phase V demonstration and implementation studies by **1990**. Using the results of these trials, NCI and ACS recently joined forces to launch the world's largest demonstration project for tobacco control and health promotion ever conducted. Called ASSIST-for

National Cancer Institute	Funding for Sm	oking, Tobacco,	and Cancer
	(in 000's)		
1982 1983 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988 1989		10,943 9,476 16,721 21, 131 27, 099 37, 288 39, 604 40, 151	
1990	(estimate)	41,092	
Total	1982-1990 \$	\$243,505	

1: ſ C 1.1 T. . 1. 1 0

Source: National Cancer Institute.

Cancer Control Phases Applied to Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program



the American Stop Smoking Intervention Study for Cancer Prevention-this project is the latest initiative in a series of efforts by NCI and ACS to accelerate reductions in the prevalence of cigarette smoking and tobacco use by both adults and youth by the turn of the century. Its results should produce a major contribution to the reduction of smoking and other tobacco use prevalence in this last decade of this century and, therefore, a reduction in the attendant tobacco-related cancers. A more complete description of ASSIST can be found later in this volume.

Research Progress Toward Year 2000 Goal, 1984



Descriptions of the STCP intervention efforts are presented in the remaining sections of this report. These descriptions emphasize the results to date of the major intervention research projects that were started by the STCP between 1984 and 1985. They represent primarily phase III and IV intervention trials; however, a few of them involve phase II study components that preceded the development and testing of the specific intervention methods. Abstracts of the intervention trials appear in appendix B. Appendixes C and D reflect the products and publications that have resulted from the trials.







STCP Trials: Project Period Timeline (continued)

Adolescent Tobacco Use Prevention

More than 3,000 adolescents begin smoking in the United States every day, and nearly 750 of them will die prematurely from a smoking-related disease. Without a reduction in this smoking initiation rate, it will be difficult to reduce U.S. smoking prevalence rates. Therefore, a significant portion of the research activity supported by the STCP is aimed at adolescents. Since *1984* the STCP has supported 24 intervention trials in adolescents involving, directly or indirectly, approximately 1 million youth. Seven of these trials focus on smokeless tobacco use (discussed on pages 44-46). One trial uses media techniques to

Objective:	To develop curricula to prevent the onset of habitual tobacco use among adolescents.
Number of Trials:	24
Cancer Control Phase(s):	III/IV
Methods Tested:	 Skills training Schoolwide support activities Peer involvement Parental family involvement Teacher training Booster sessions Combined media and school-based approaches Statewide campaigns Multicomponent school health education Prevention curricula in nonschool settings
Channels Involved:	 Schools Youth groups Athletic clubs Health and dental health facilities Worksites Community at large (media) Community/volunteer agencies Ethnic minority organizations
Trial Sites:	Vermont, New York, Montana, Washington, New Jersey, Minnesota, California, Connecticut, Wisconsin, Massachusetts, Oregon, Missouri, Texas, Idaho, North Dakota, South Dakota, Colorado, Oklahoma, Canada
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	978,000
Primary Study Periods:	1984-1994
Status of Consensus Development Process:	 Held consensus meeting (December 1987). Developed recommendations on essential elements of smoking prevention curricula. Published <i>Essential Elements of School-Based Smoking Prevention Programs</i> and School <i>Programs to Prevent Smoking: The National Cancer Institute Guide to Strategies That Succeed.</i>

Profile of Adolescent School-Based Tobacco Use Prevention

reach youth; the remaining 15 focus either partially or entirely on prevention of adolescent smoking through school-based programs. These 15 trials may be categorized into three broad types:

- Trials developing new curricula or techniques for smoking prevention (8 trials).
- Trials adapting existing curricula for smoking prevention to more current approaches or special populations **(5** trials).
- Trials conducting long-term followup of youth who were exposed to smoking prevention programs in schools as long as 10 years ago (2 trials).

Trial Results

To date only four of these trials have been completed. The results summarized below, therefore, are based on the final results of the completed trials and preliminary information from ongoing ones.

Major Trial Results: Adolescent School-Based Tobacco Use Prevention

- The onset of tobacco use among youth is delayed in 20 to 50 percent of seventh or eighth grade students after program exposure.
- Successful program delivery is influenced by several factors, including program focus, content, and length; age at intervention; peer involvement; teacher training; and program implementation.

Modest but consistent program effects demonstrate that the onset of smoking among seventh or eighth grade adolescents can be delayed for several years in 20 to 50 percent of the students compared with controls. Although experimental-control differences as high as 80 percent have been reported 1 year after program exposure, composite data based on preliminary information from these trials suggest that these effects decay over time, thus emphasizing the need for followup booster sessions and high school reexposure. Nevertheless, even if the effects diminish after several years, delaying onset and reduction in exposure is an important outcome. Booster sessions, as suggested by composite, preliminary data, can help reduce physiological exposure to tobacco smoke during early adolescence, improve the potential for quitting in late adolescence or adulthood, and result in lower incidence of morbidity and mortality.

In addition to the behavioral outcomes, several factors may influence the successful delivery of school-based prevention programs:

- Program Focus. School-based smoking prevention programs that have a smoking-only focus and those that are part of a multicomponent health education program are equally effective. More important is the preference of the school administration for one approach or the other and the subsequent likelihood of program adoption.
- Program **Content.** The key curriculum elements for maximum effect are (1) information about social consequences and short-term physiological effects of tobacco use; (2) information about social influences on tobacco use, especially peer,

parent, and media influences; and (3) training in refusal skills, including modeling and practice of resistance skills.

- **Program Length.** Two five-session blocks of smoking prevention program delivery in separate school years between grades 6 and 9 is the minimal exposure for which differential effects could be found and decay of effects postponed. Programs beginning earlier than grade 6 and continuing past grade 9, although few, produced results suggesting that such prevention programs should be delivered as early as kindergarten and continue through grade 12 if possible. It was strongly recommended that booster sessions be included for any prevention program that does not continue beyond grade 9.
- Age at Intervention. The transition year in which adolescents move from elementary to middle school or from middle school to junior high school is the time when they are most likely to begin use of tobacco and, thus, the most appropriate time to introduce a smoking prevention program, unless it was possible to offer one before the transition year.
- **Peer Involvement.** Peer involvement in the delivery of school-based programs can enhance program efficacy. The most effective involvement uses a peer leader and a trained teacher.
- **Teacher Training.** Thorough teacher training is essential. Especially important is the inclusion of experiential activities (e.g., role playing, refusal skills training, interaction with peer assistants) and training in maintaining adherence to the curriculum.
- Program **Implementation**. The most successful programs, both in terms of smoking reduction and acceptance by the school, were those that carefully considered. community norms and needs, the interests of the entire educational community (including teachers, principals, students, parents, administrators, and board members), current school smoking policies, costs of the program, needs of the existing curriculum, and in particular the ease with which teachers could implement the program.





Source: Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program, NCI.

Delay of Onset Curve—Estimated Effect of 7th Grade Exposure Plus 10th Grade Booster



Source: Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program, NCI.

Adolescent School-Based Tobacco Use Prevention Programs: Key Curriculum Elements

- Information on:
 -Social consequences
 -Short-term physiological effects
 -Social influences
- Training in refusal skills

Application of Research Results

These recommendations for school-based smoking prevention programs are being made available to every school district in the United States in a document entitled School *Programs to Prevent Smoking: The National Cancer Institute Guide to Strategies That Succeed* They represent the consensus of an expert advisory panel that was convened by NCI in December 1987.

To facilitate effective implementation and institutionalization of smoking prevention programs in school systems, NCI is also supporting two studies in diffusion research.

Research Needs

The panel that defined the essential elements of school-based prevention programs also identified several areas in which additional research is necessary.

- School-based smoking prevention programs have had the least success with highrisk youth (e.g., dropouts, students with smoking parent(s), low SES). Greater efforts must be undertaken to identify successful means of reaching these youth.
- Similarly, special efforts should be undertaken among adolescent smokers who are black, Hispanic, rural, low SES, and low achievers. These groups are not only at

higher risk to start smoking, they also have had few specific programs targeted to them.

- Some studies (such as those being supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute), including some of the ongoing NCI studies, should follow their cohorts through and beyond high school to determine the natural history of these prevention programs on regular smoking.
- Efforts aimed at prevention programs for youth below grade 6 and above grade 9 should be encouraged. For older groups, additional consideration should be given to incorporating cessation programs into the senior high school curriculum because nearly 20 percent of adolescents are already smokers and it is already too late for prevention.
- Consideration should be given to maintaining fidelity to the details of a given
 prevention program whenever feasible and compatible with local norms. Research
 on how to adopt prevention programs in nonresearch school settings as well as research to determine what aspects of these programs must be delivered to optimize
 outcomes should be encouraged.
- Although current data suggest that parental involvement is not an essential component in program success, parents are an untapped resource, and methods to involve them in adolescent smoking prevention need to be explored.
- Given the demonstrated success of several of prevention interventions in adolescents, diffusion research to broadly disseminate such programs remains a high priority.
- Research to employ channels other than schools to prevent smoking among youth needs to be carried out. Examples include economic and legislative methods as well as use of other community resources.

Physician and Dentist Interventions

The approximately 500,000 physicians and 135,000 dentists in the United States are in a unique position to influence patients to quit smoking. An estimated 70 percent of all adults in the country see a physician at least once a year and about 60 percent see a dentist. Thus, involving health professionals in the delivery of cessation counseling can have a significant effect on reducing smoking prevalence.

Since 1984 the STCP has supported 12 major intervention trials involving physicians and dentists in the cessation of tobacco use. The objective of these trials is to develop brief, structured training and intervention protocols for physicians, dentists, and their staffs to use in assisting patients to stop smoking. These trials directly or indirectly affect more than 100,000 patients and 6,000 physicians and dentists; they will end by 1994.

Although many trials have already been conducted exploring the effectiveness of physicians in the delivery of smoking cessation counseling, the unique aspects of the STCP trials are that (1) they involve large numbers of patients and physicians and simulate as closely as possible conditions characteristic of a nonresearch environment; (2) they aim to determine whether physicians can effectively deliver smoking cessation counseling and how they might best do so; and (3) they allow a sufficient followup period to test the durability of the interventions. Additionally, the evaluation procedures being used in these trials are particularly stringent and conservative in order to best judge their applicability to medical practice. The unit of randomization is the physician's practice, not

Objective:	To develop brief, structured training and interven- tion protocols for physicians and dentists to reduce patient smoking prevalence.
Number of Trials:	12
Cancer Control Phases:	III/IV
Methods Tested:	 Nicotine gum use Training Support and reminder systems Relapse prevention Self-help Protocol compliance Social support
Channels Involved:	 Private practices Public clinics Health maintenance organizations Residency training programs
Trial Sites:	Massachusetts, Minnesota, North Carolina, Ontario, Canada, California, Indiana, Rhode Island, Vermont, Oregon
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	109,000 patients 6,100 physicians and dentists
Primary Study Period:	1984-1994
Status of Consensus Development Process:	 Held consensus meetings (December 1986, March 1987). Developed recommendations on essential elements. Published <i>How to Help Your Patients Stop</i> <i>Smoking, How to Help Your Patients Stop Smoking:</i> Trainer's <i>Guide,</i> and <i>Quit for Good: A</i> <i>Practitioner's Stop Smoking Guide.</i> Developed physician training program. Developing similar materials and training program for dentists.

Profile of Physician and Dentist Interventions

the patient. The experimental group of physicians is trained in treating smoking cessation; the control group of physicians is not. *All* smokers seen in a practice are followed (and included in the denominator when cessation rates are calculated), even though some of them never are treated for smoking cessation. These trials test the input of physician training on the smoking cessation rate of the *entire* practice, not just those patients who received treatment. In short, these were studies of the effectiveness, not the efficacy, of treating nicotine dependence.

The settings or channels for these trials are diverse (e.g., private practices, public clinics, health maintenance organizations (HMO'S), and residency training programs). The training protocols developed are also diverse. The techniques employed make full use of findings from previous trials involving nicotine gum, role playing, use of videotapes, relapse prevention techniques, development of office-based reminder systems, training

for office staff, self-help strategies and booklets, and efforts to increase the compliance of physicians and dentists in using the cessation protocols. The amount of time required to train physicians and office staff in use of the protocols ranges from 2 hours to 2 days.

Although the STCP-supported trials are designed to simulate as closely as possible a nonresearch environment, they also are carefully controlled, randomized studies with sophisticated experimental designs that will enable investigators to make predictions about the effectiveness of these techniques in actual physician and dental practices.

Trial Results

Consistent, patient smoking cessation rates ranged from 2 to more than 15 percent, or up to six times the success rates of control patients.^{22,23,24} These rates are for all patients, not just self-selected, motivated, or counseled patients. The most consistent, positive effects resulted in offices and practices where physicians and office staff routinely performed four tasks: ASKED about patient smoking status at each visit; ADVISED against smoking; ASSISTED patients in stopping smoking by setting quit dates, providing self-help material, and prescribing nicotine gum as appropriate; and ARRANGED followup visits to discuss maintenance and relapse.



Source: NCI Physician Trials.

Brief Physician and Dentist Protocol for Patient Smoking Cessation

- 1. ASK about smoking at every opportunity.
- 2. ADVISE all smokers to stop.
- 3. **ASSIST** patients with stopping by setting a quit date, providing self-help materials, and prescribing nicotine gum as appropriate.
- 4. ARRANGE followup visits to foster maintenance and prevent relapse.

Training physicians to give advice about smoking produced positive changes in physician activities related to patient smoking cessation. These changes included more time devoted to smoking cessation advice, increased use of chart reminders, increased prescription of nicotine gum, increased use of patient referrals to outside smoking programs, increased followup appointments devoted partially or wholly to smoking, more frequent distribution of self-help material, and more frequent establishment of patient quit smoking dates.



Source: NCI Physician Trials; Wilson et al. JAMA 1988.

In addition to the benefit of training, physicians were more effective and efficient at cessation if they involved a support team of selected office staff members, including receptionists and nurses, and systematized the process. Most important, the selection of a member of the staff to implement and monitor simple office procedures is necessary. Additionally, developing a smoke-free office, identifying smokers, reminding the physician of patients' smoking status (simple chart stickers), and reviewing information on cessation and withdrawal with the physician all have a positive effect. Finally, the staff must ensure that followup letters and return visits are arranged.

Brief Office Protocol for Patient Smoking Cessation

- 1. Select an office smoking cessation coordinator.
- 2. Create a smoke-free office.
- 3. Identify all smoking patients.
- **4.** Develop patient smoking cessation plans.
- 5. Provide followup support.

Patient success rates were greatly increased under three conditions:

- When comprehensive office systems to remind support staff and physicians to provide advice about smoking were in place.
- When only patients who were motivated to stop smoking were the focus of the intervention.²⁵ Screening patients to determine their level of motivation and focusing on them is a better use of staff and physician time than counseling **all** patients with the same level of intensity.
- When program intensity was increased. Followup visits that are devoted partially or wholly to smoking cessation can modestly increase patient quit rates (for example, as demonstrated in the one trial in Canada where physicians were able to be reimbursed for such followup visits and patients did not incur the cost of the followup visit); nicotine gum prescription is also effective provided the gum is used correctly.







Source: Kottke et al. JAMA 1988.

Other noteworthy findings from the physician intervention programs include:

- Advice about smoking cessation was more cost effective than many other valuable preventive medical interventions, including hypertension and hypercholesterolemia interventions. The cost was estimated at \$748 per year of life saved.
- Involvement and encouragement from their professional organizations increase physician participation in organized efforts to routinely deliver smoking cessation advice.
- Integration and long-term maintenance of simple, officewide smoking cessation procedures are more effective than an intense but brief program.
- Adopting the program to the reality of medical practice, thereby allowing for a long-term intervention, is more effective.

Application of Research Results

Physicians

The above recommendations are now codified in the NCI manual *How To Help Your Patients Stop Smoking.* The manual outlines the practical steps physicians and other health professionals can take to implement smoking cessation services as a routine part of office practice.

Another document, the *Quit for Good* kit for physicians is a more abbreviated application of the STCP trials results. It contains a brief booklet of information for physicians, chart stickers, and copies of self-help and waiting room materials.

In planning to disseminate this information to physicians throughout the Nation, initial priority has been given to training practicing physicians. When an effective program to train practicing physicians has been established, attention will be given to resident training and medical school curricula.

Three levels of training are now planned for practicing physicians. The first is a simple "grand rounds" presentation, lasting 45 to 60 minutes. The second is a longer workshop, lasting about 3 hours. This format is much preferred to the shorter session, given the variety of skills that physicians need to learn to treat smokers effectively, but reality and feasibility will dictate the preferred approaches.

The third level of training is paramount to the STCP training strategy: the training of trainers. Physicians are recruited and trained to conduct the 1- and 3-hour sessions. These physicians are recruited from organizations that have a commitment to the prevention of cancer and also have the ability to reach large numbers of practicing physicians. Recruitment and training efforts involve collaboration with medical professional groups, health voluntaries, and large health maintenance organizations.

A prototype train-the-trainers session was held in conjunction with the Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT) project in April 1989. Physicians from the **11** COMMIT intervention sites received 1 full day of training. They then returned to their communities to conduct their own training of physicians, supported by local organizations that were mobilized by COMMIT staff. A trainer's guide, slides, and videotape were developed to support the training sessions.

A second train-the-trainers session was conducted in August **1989** for ACS divisions. Professional education staff and volunteers from each division will be trained and/or receive instruction in the promotion and support of smoking cessation training. Additional sessions in collaboration with the following organizations have been conducted or

planned: American Medical Women's Association, California Medical Society, District of Columbia Medical Society, and the Society of Teachers of Family Medicine.

Dentists

Data from those STCP trials that included dentists suggest that dentists also can have a significant impact on smoking rates among their patients. Based on these data, a national program has been outlined to promote participation by dental professionals in smoking control. A key component of this program is the acceptance by the profession that smoking cessation is a legitimate aspect of dental practice. The STCP is working closely with national dental organizations to accomplish this task. In this program dental professionals will be trained in smoking cessation techniques using a modified version of the physician training materials. The following manuals and training programs will be available by early 1990: a clinic guide, *Tobacco Related Oral Health Effects*, a dental office reference, *How to Help Your Patients Stop Using Tobacco: A NCI Manual for the Oral Health Team;* and *How to Help Your Patients Stop Using Tobacco: Trainer's Guide*.

Self-Help/Minimal Interventions

The development of self-help or minimal intervention approaches (i.e., exposure only to public health messages or minimal contact with health providers) to smoking cessation is viewed as a cornerstone of the STCP. Nearly all types of cessation interventions those carried out entirely by the individual or delivered by physicians and other health professionals through the media, group programs, worksite programs—depend at least in part on the use of self-guided materials or strategies. Indeed, most people who quit smoking do so using their own personal resources.

The self-help/minimal intervention component of the STCP has two objectives: (1) to develop *prima y* self-help materials and strategies for individuals who wish to quit smoking on their own and (2) to provide *supplementa y* materials for use in programs that require interaction with trained individuals but that also depend to some extent on self-help interventions. The STCP was guided by the knowledge that as many as 90 percent of all smokers who quit do so on their own (i.e., without the continued assistance of health professionals, trained leaders, or organizations). Development of the program was further guided by Schwartz's ²⁶ definition of the three modes of self-help in smoking cessation: (1) devising one's own way of quitting; (2) receiving brief instructions or advice on how to stop and then doing it; and (3) using an aid or a self-help guide to quitting (e.g., stop-smoking book, instructional manual or record, over-the-counter preparations or aids).

Between 1984 and 1989, 13 self-help/minimal intervention trials involving, directly or indirectly, approximately 3.5 million individuals were begun. These trials function in settings such as hospitals, voluntary associations, worksites, and HMO's, as well as in settings that require no face-to-face interaction. Several other STCP-supported trials that are not technically classified as self-help/minimal intervention trials (because their primary aim is not the development of self-help interventions) are developing supplementary self-help/minimal intervention materials and approaches as part of their goals. Some of these materials and approaches are aimed at special populations (e.g., blacks, Hispanics, pregnant and nonpregnant women) and others at the general population of smokers.

Profile of Self-Help/Minimal Interventions

Objectives:	1) To develop primary self-help materials and strategies for individuals who wish to quit on their own.
	2) To provide supplementary materials for use in programs that require continuing interactions between the smoker and program staff.
Number of Trials:	13
Cancer Control Phases:	III/IV
Methods Tested:	 Individual approaches Group support approaches Organization and nonsmoking policy approaches Behavioral self-management principles Psychosocial support approaches Relapse prevention materials Nicotine gum use Telephone hotline/minimal counseling Correspondence approaches Motivational materials Self-change models and materials Existing cessation manuals/materials Media-based approaches
Channels Involved:	 Health facilities Health departments Worksites Community/voluntary agencies Media
Trial Sites:	Pennsylvania, New York, California, Rhode Island, Illinois, Washington
Primary Study Period:	1984-1994
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	3,475,000
Status of Consensus Development Process:	 Held consensus meeting (June 1988). Developed recommendations on essential elements. Publication of <i>Essential Elements of Self-Help/Minimal Intervention Strategies for Smoking Cessation</i> and <i>Self-Guided Programs for Smoking</i> Cessation: <i>Strategies That Succeed</i> planned in early 1990.

Trial Results

An expert advisory panel convened by NCI in June 1988 to identify the essential elements of self-help/minimal intervention smoking cessation programs developed the following recommendations based on existing data and trial experiences.

Major Trial Results: Self-Help/Minimal Interventions

- Trial results showed little need to devote resources to changing or improving existing materials and programs. Rather efforts should be concentrated on using existing cessation approaches and materials more effectively, particularly in motivating far greater numbers of smokers to make serious attempts to stop.
- The most effective self-help/minimal intervention strategies do the following:

-Motivate more smokers to stop.

-Include a variety of program delivery modes.

-Target programs to smoking cessation stages and specific populations.

-Include content on basic smoking information and cessation/maintenance exercises.

-Make programs widely available.

-Use adjunctive activities and procedures.

- **Motivating Smokers To Quit.** More widespread reduction of smoking prevalence was obtained by motivating smokers to make quit attempts and using existing programs than by increasing individual self-help/minimal intervention programs' success rates.
- Program **Delivery Modes.** The more successful programs were those that tried to be comprehensive, including not only the traditional target of smokers who seek help but also a range of efforts directed toward all smokers in a variety of settings, to increase motivation, opportunity, and the likelihood of stopping smoking in the population at large.
- **Targeting Programs to Smoking Cessation Stages.** Intervention success can be increased by matching specific self-help/minimal intervention programs to the special needs of smokers in each stage of the cessation process (i.e., precontemplation, contemplation, action, and maintenance or relapse).
- **Targeting Programs to Specific Populations.** Self-help/minimal intervention programs specifically targeted at populations that have had less access to cessation advice and services-thnic minorities and economically disadvantaged-produce increased quit rates.
- Program Content. The more successful self-help/minimal intervention programs included, at a minimum, the following elements: (a) information about the health and social consequences of smoking; (b) specific strategies and exercises for

quitting; and (c) specific strategies and exercises for maintenance of nonsmoking or relapse avoidance.

- Program **Design**. Subtle variations in self-help/minimal intervention programs did not greatly affect quit rates. Rather, existing programs were most effectively used by promoting their distribution and use rather than "fine tuning" their content.
- **Program Adjuncts.** Although most self-help/minimal intervention programs are designed to stand on their own, some adjunctive activities or procedures increase their success (e.g., personalized counselor telephone calls, personalized computer-generated progress reports, or use of nicotine gum).

Application of Research Results

The above recommendations are being codified for dissemination to a broad target audience, including individuals, institutions, and community organizations. This document, being developed under the auspices of the NCI Office of Cancer Communications and entitled **Self-Guided Programs for Smoking Cessation: Strategies That Succeed**, will include the consensus recommendations and a wide-ranging list of materials appropriate for use in a self-help or minimal intervention cessation program.

Research Needs

The most important area for further research relates to motivating smokers to move from a precontemplation or contemplation stage to an action stage in the quitting process, that is, to motivate smokers who express no interest in quitting to consider the possibility and, finally, to make a serious quit attempt; or to move large numbers of smokers who say that they would like to quit to a serious quit attempt. These issues are crucial in the field of smoking control. Although it is possible that effective strategies already exist to carry them out (e.g., "persistent and inescapable" negative cues in the environment, ready availability of cessation materials and programs), there may be other programmatic elements that can accelerate the motivation and cessation process so that, with limited resources, we can apply as broadly as possible what is already known,

Several related marketing issues also exist, including resource availability and strategies on how to reach a desired audience. For example, what materials and programs can be disseminated after pretesting but before full-scale evaluation; what are the advantages and disadvantages of producing high-quality materials that are attractive but expensive; can voluntary, state, and Federal health agencies successfully distribute their programs or are professional marketers necessary; how are access groups engaged (e.g., professional medical societies, worksites, nonhealth-related voluntary organizations)? Because these issues involve "selling" health promotion and healthy behaviors rather than a concrete product, many of these issues are new to the health field and require exploration.

The use of adjunctive strategies in self-help/minimal intervention programs is relatively unexplored. Some of the approaches (e.g., use of nicotine gum, counselor telephone calls) are discussed above, but many others have been suggested and their effectiveness remains to be tested. Examples for consideration include use of other pharmacological agents, expanded use of the telephone to include social support and relapse prevention, "simple" computer programs, policies restricting smoking in public settings, and adjuncts to existing materials for special populations.

The issue of gaining access to smokers in specific populations or in particular stages of cessation requires further exploration, Although preliminary studies suggest that it is appropriate to target material and strategies to specific populations or stages, more research is necessary to determine the most appropriate strategies for the successful delivery of programs to these smokers.

An aspect of self-help/minimal intervention programs that seldom has been studied concerns the cost-effectiveness of these approaches. There is an assumption that these approaches are less costly, but this has seldom been documented.

Mass Media Interventions

The use of mass media in tobacco control programs has the potential to reach many thousands of individuals at one time, deliver prevention and cessation messages to individuals in all walks of life, including those with limited literacy, offer a convenient and relatively inexpensive means for obtaining assistance with quitting, deliver antitobacco messages to young people who do not attend school, and contribute to the development of a social climate that discourages tobacco use. For these reasons the STCP supported intervention trials to develop and evaluate the long-term effectiveness of programs incorporating electronic and print media to encourage cessation and prevent tobacco use initiation.

Profile of Mass Media Interventions		
Objective:	To develop and evaluate the long- term effective- ness of programs incorporating electronic and print media to encourage cessation and prevent tobacco use initiation.	
Number of Trials:	6	
Cancer Control Phases:	III/IV	
Methods Tested:	Radio and TV public service announcements for smoking preventionSelf-help TV programs	
Channels Involved:	 Media Health departments Community/voluntary agencies Schools Health facilities Worksites 	
Trial Sites:	California, Texas, New York, Vermont, Montana, Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware, Alabama, Virginia, Georgia, North Carolina	
Primary Study Period:	1984-1990	
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	27,351,000	
Status of Consensus Development Process:	 Held consensus meeting (October 1989). Guidelines document under development. 	

Trial Results

Three of these trials are still in progress and final results are not yet available. However, the following basic principles have emerged from the regular collaborative meetings held with the investigators and NCI staff.

- Television and radio are cost-effective ways to reach large numbers of individuals with antitobacco messages.
- Formative research is essential for the development of effective messages that will be positively received by the target audience.
- The appropriate placement of media messages is critical for reaching the target audience. Radio should be given strong consideration in reaching youth rather than relying on television alone. Both the medium chosen and message effective-ness vary with age, gender, and general level of risk for becoming a smoker.
- Behavior change is most likely when media campaigns are broad and sustained rather than short and intense and are linked to other antismoking activities in the community, although the linkage need not always be made explicit to the target audience.
- Purchase of media time is preferable to dependence on donated time, particularly if specific audience segments are to be targeted.
- Although nonsmoking media messages can at times be combined with other issues (e.g., drug use, diet modification, exercise), nonsmoking messages appear to be most effective when exposed alone.
- Media gatekeepers are more likely to provide more desirable and frequent public service announcement time when time is also purchased for antitobacco use messages.

Application of Research Results

A media advocacy consensus workshop was conducted in January 1988, cosponsored by NCI and the Advocacy Institute of Washington, D.C. This workshop brought together media experts, especially from the news media, in smoking control. The principal product of the workshop is a document entitled *Media Strategies for Smoking Control: Guidelines From a Consensus Workshop.* This monograph was published in **1989** and will be distributed principally to health promotion directors and media personnel for community organizations/businesses.

A second consensus meeting, this one of media researchers and practitioners, was held in late 1989 to make recommendations based on the NCI trials and related research. The document from this meeting, to be published in 1990, will complement the guidelines from the earlier media advocacy workshop.

In response to the decline in allotments for public service announcements as competition for their air time increases, the STCP will publish *Guidelines for Use of Paid Media* in early 1990 to help tobacco control advocates decide whether they should purchase media, and if so, how and on what basis. A series of consensus meetings involving experts in media and tobacco use control provide the basis for these guidelines.

smokeless Tobacco User Interventions

Before the mid-1970's use of chewing tobacco and snuff (smokeless tobacco) in the United States was primarily the practice of older persons, residents of rural areas, and certain occupational groups where smoking is not allowed. Prevalence was lowest among the youngest age groups. At present, however, use of chewing tobacco and snuff has become most common among younger age groups. Both national and local/regional surveys indicate that adolescent and preteen boys are adopting this practice in large numbers. Estimates from the 1987 NHIS of adults indicate that males ages 18 to **24** are more likely to use snuff or chewing tobacco (8.9 percent) than any other age group. Of the approximately **5.5** million adults who use some form of smokeless tobacco, more than 1 million are males between the ages of 18 and 24.





Source: 1970 National Health Interview Survey and 1985 Current Population Survey.



Source: National Health Interview Survey, 1987. Includes both chewing and snuff use.

Reports of increased use of smokeless tobacco by youth have coincided with new evidence regarding health hazards. These risks were reviewed in the **1986** report of the Surgeon General, The **Health Consequences of Using Smokeless Tobacco**, with the following conclusions:

- The scientific evidence is strong that the use of snuff can cause cancer in humans. The evidence for causality is strongest for cancer of the oral cavity, wherein cancer may occur several times more frequently in snuff dippers compared with nontobacco users. The excess risk of cancer of the cheek and gum may reach nearly fiftyfold among long-term snuff users.
- Smokeless tobacco use can lead to the development of oral leukoplakias (white patches or plaques of the oral mucosa), particularly at the site of tobacco placement. Based on evidence from several studies, some leukoplakias can undergo transformation to dysplasia and further to cancer.
- · Gingival recession is a commonly reported outcome of smokeless tobacco use.
- Because nicotine levels in the body resulting from smokeless tobacco use are similar in magnitude to nicotine levels from cigarette smoking, it is concluded that smokeless tobacco use also can be addictive.
- Some evidence suggests that nicotine may play a contributory or supportive role in the pathogenesis of coronary artery and peripheral vascular disease, hypertension, peptic ulcers, and fetal mortality and morbidity.

In response to this emerging health risk behavior, NCI funded nine research grants to develop interventions to prevent the initiation of smokeless tobacco use and/or promote and assist cessation. Most of these projects focus on school-based prevention and cessation interventions. Three are developing prevention curricula for youth in nonschool settings-4-H clubs, Little League Baseball clubs, and Native American community centers. One project is developing a cessation intervention for adults and older teenagers that will be delivered through a dental HMO.

Objective:	1) To identify the patterns and major factors that influence the use of smokeless tobacco.
	2) To develop interventions that will prevent the initiation of smokeless tobacco use and/or promote and assist cessation.
Number of Trials:	9
Cancer Control Phases:	II/III/IV
Methods Tested:	 Integrated behavioral/educational approaches School health curricula Curricula for community and athletic youth organizations Community and family support Booster sessions Recruitment and teacher training protocols Behavioral techniques
Channels Involved:	 Schools Education departments Community/voluntary agencies Youth groups Athletic organizations Ethnic minority organizations Dental health facilities Worksites
Trial Sites:	Missouri, California, Connecticut, Texas, Idaho, Montana, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Oregon, Washington, Colorado, North Dakota, South Dakota
Primary Study Period:	1987-1993
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	38,000
Status of Consensus Development Process:	Pending Completion of Trials

Profile of Smokeless Tobacco User Interventions

Nearly all of these programs are in their first or second year of funding. Thus, outcome data are not yet available. However, several preliminary observations and principles have emerged:

- Prevention curricula should address all forms of tobacco use; smokeless tobacco and cigarette smoking programs should be integrated so that youth will understand there is no safe form of tobacco use.
- Interventions should be sensitive to the prevailing norms and attitudes toward smokeless tobacco. There is more regional variation in smokeless tobacco use than in cigarette smoking. (See tables 5 and 6.)
- Due to the potential for nicotine addiction from smokeless tobacco use, many young users, as well as adults, may be in need of cessation information and assistance, about which little knowledge and few programs are available.

Black Smoker Interventions

The prevalence of cigarette smoking and tobacco-related cancers (especially those of the lung, esophagus, and larynx) is higher among blacks than among other US. sub-populations or among whites.

Although smoking prevalence rates among black adults have begun to decline, overall rates remain higher than for whites; this is particularly true for black males. Limited efforts to reduce smoking rates of black Americans have been undertaken a number of times in the past 20 years, but few have approached this problem in a culturally relevant manner. Therefore, between **1985** and **1986** NCI began supporting smoking intervention trials aimed at black Americans with the objective to develop, implement, and evaluate programs aimed at reducing smoking prevalance.

Existing research suggests both that the health needs of many blacks may be more efficiently met through targeted interventions and that many blacks also have a strong desire to quit smoking. Yet because there has been little systematic research conducted concerning black smoking behavior or smoking control, little has been done to address these needs.

Profile of Black Smoker Interventions		
Objectives:	1) To develop a better understanding of the smok- ing knowledge, attitudes, and behavior of black smokers and ex-smokers.	
	2) To develop cost-effective smoking prevention and cessation programs specifically oriented to the needs of black smokers or those at risk to begin smoking.	
Number of Trials:	8	
Cancer Control Phases:	II/III/IV	
Methods Tested:	 Self-help cessation programs Community-based approaches Skills training prevention approaches Motivational approaches Recruitment procedures Social support groups Physician intervention Nicotine gum use Media programs 	
Channels Involved:	 Health facilities Media Worksites Community/voluntary agencies Schools 	
Trial Sites:	California, Illinois, New Jersey, North Carolina, South Carolina, Michigan, Massachusetts	
Primary Study Period:	1986-1991	
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	153,000	
Status of Consensus Development Process:	Pending Completion of Trials	

To date, eight trials aimed at the prevention and cessation of smoking among blacks have been supported by the STCP. These trials are being conducted in geographically diverse regions and in a variety of settings, including schools, community health clinics, businesses, community action programs and, in several instances, in entire communities. The first objective of these trials is to develop a better understanding of the smoking habits, smoking knowledge, quitting motivation, quit attempts, and quitting experiences of black smokers and ex-smokers (phase II studies). The second objective is to develop cost-effective smoking prevention and cessation programs specifically oriented toward the needs and concerns of black smokers or blacks at risk to begin smoking (phase III intervention research).

Because these trials began recently, there are few intervention results to report. In addition, these trials by necessity had to begin with an analysis of black smoking behavior, about which very little was known. The following are interim results:

- Smoking Behavior. It has been further confirmed that although smoking prevalence among blacks is greater than among whites, black smokers smoke fewer cigarettes per day than whites and report high nicotine dependency. On the other hand, blacks show relatively high quitting motivation and awareness of health risks from smoking.
- **Self-Help Intervention.** Effective self-help programs aimed at black smokers can be developed and disseminated, if culturally appropriate material is used and if disseminated by an organization or group respected by the black community.
- Intervention Channels. Black smokers make more quit attempts and adolescents delay onset of smoking if appropriate outreach programs are employed. The types of outreach found to be most appropriate involve communications using channels such as churches, black-oriented media, fraternal organizations, health clinics serving the black community, neighborhood and civic associations, community-based organizations such as Head Start, and local business, community, and political leaders. Initial results strongly suggest that it is the interaction of these approaches, rather than the success of any one of them, that leads to program success.

Changes in Smoking Prevalence in the U.S. by Race and Sex, 1965-1987



Source: National Health Interview Survey.

Hispanic Smoker Interventions

For many years there has been an assumption that because smoking prevalence and lung cancer rates were lower among Hispanic Americans that this issue was not one that required special attention. Recent data indicate, however, that this is no longer the case. If a sharp increase in tobacco-related cancers among Hispanics is to be avoided, the issue of tobacco use must be addressed swiftly and strongly.

Hispanic males now smoke at rates comparable to white males, and smoking among Hispanic females, although not as prevalent as among white females, also has risen. Smoking among Hispanic adolescents, both male and female, closely parallels that of the general adolescent population, and therefore one can predict that tobacco-related cancer rates among Hispanics in the next century will be little different from those of Anglos.



Prevalence of Current Cigarette Smoking Among Whites and Hispanics (Percent) by Sex

In response to this profile, the STCP began supporting large intervention trials aimed at the prevention and cessation of tobacco use among Hispanic Americans. Recognizing the special cultural and language needs of this group, these trials involve several Hispanic subgroups, use Spanish-language material appropriate to the different Hispanic groups represented in the trials, and use a variety of channels (including Spanish-language media, community outreach, and Hispanic organizations) to reach this population.

Because these trials began more recently than other STCP-supported trials and required preliminary research (phase II studies) to ascertain details about Hispanic smoking behaviors, intervention results are incomplete. The following findings provide only preliminary results pertinent to intervention in these populations:

- **Smoking Behavior.** As expected, Hispanic smokers smoke less than the general population, with many being only occasional smokers.
- Accessibility to Services. Hispanics are often not aware of where or how to obtain services to help them quit smoking and do not have services available to them in Spanish.
- Knowledge and Attitudes. Hispanics report culturally specific reasons for not smoking, including avoiding being a bad example to children, concern that smoking damages relationships with others, and that smoking is esthetically undesirable.

Source: National Health Interview Survey, 1987.

- Level of Acculturation. More highly acculturated Hispanics smoke more cigarettes per day than those who are less acculturated.
- Intervention Channels. A community-wide approach to the reduction of Hispanic smoking is not only feasible but may be more appropriate than single-channel approaches. A variety of culturally relevant activities are necessary for out:reach to Hispanic smokers and adolescents at risk for smoking (e.g., use of role models, Spanish-language media, after- and outside-school activities, and use of the "central reference points" often found in Hispanic communities such as community agencies, stores, churches, or other institutions).
- Single Versus Multiprogram Focus. Reductions in Hispanic smoking may better be approached from a health promotion point of view rather than focusing on reduction of tobacco use alone. This suggests that a health promotion campaign, with reduction of tobacco use as a primary but not single theme, may appeal to the Hispanic community more than a tobacco-only approach.
- **Prevention Intervention.** With the addition of some culturally relevant material and involvement of the family, existing curricula for smoking prevention may be appropriate for use among Hispanic adolescents.

Objectives:	 To develop a better understanding of the smok- ing knowledge, attitudes, and behavior of Hispanic smokers and ex-smokers.
	 To develop cost-effective smoking prevention and cessation programs specifically oriented to the needs of Hispanic smokers or those at risk to begin smoking.
Number of Trials:	4
Cancer Control Phases:	II/III/IV
Methods Tested:	 Skills training for smoking prevention Community-based programs Media approaches School health curricula
Channels Involved:	 Schools Health facilities Media Community/voluntary agencies Worksites Health departments
Trial Sites:	California, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Texas, New York
Primary Study Period:	1985-1990
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	314,000
Status of Consensus Development Process:	Pending Completion of Trials

Profile of Hispanic Smoker Interventions

Women Smoker Interventions

In 1987 27 percent of the U.S. female population were smokers. This represents a 21percent decrease since 1965 when female smoking rates reached their highest level at 34 percent. This decline, although encouraging, stands in sharp contrast to the 40-percent reduction in male smoking rates seen over the same period. Thus, although female smoking rates never attained the same magnitude as those of males, the slower rate of decline in women compared with men is of concern. The toll of the dramatic increase in women's smoking since World War II is reflected in the death rates for female lung cancer, which now surpasses breast cancer as the leading cause of cancer deaths in women.

Survey and experimental data suggest that women may have greater difficulty in quitting cigarettes than men. Various social, psychological, and behavioral explanations of this problem have been suggested such as fear of postcessation weight gain, dependence on social support as an aid to quitting, and smoking as a response to the multiple role stress experienced by today's woman.

Since 1985 the STCP has funded eight projects focusing solely on cessation among women, although roughly half of the population reached by the program's remaining intervention trials are females. The difference in the projects supported as a result of the women and smoking initiative is their focus on either a particular population of female smokers or the targeting of specific needs and concerns related to cessation that are unique to women, or in some cases, both of these.



Death Rates for Lung Cancer Compared With Breast Cancer, 1950-1986

Source: National Center for Health Statistics, 1989. Age-Adjusted to 1970 Population

The themes of the women smoker intervention trials can be summarized as follows:

- Examining why women quitting in formal cessation classes appear to have poorer outcomes.
- Achieving cessation during pregnancy and maintaining abstinence through l-year postdelivery.
- Developing programs for female quitters with expressed concern about weight gain.
- Testing the role of peer support and competence training in treating smoking behavior among women.
- Promoting smoking prevention and cessation among nurses. Women make up **98** percent of the profession and smoke at a rate that exceeds that of other health professionals.
- Achieving smoking cessation and maintenance for low-income, predominantly black pregnant smokers.

Objective:	To develop interventions that target the specific needs and concerns related to smoking cessation that are unique to women.
Number of Trials:	8
Cancer Control Phases:	
Methods Tested:	 Self-help cessation manuals Skills training programs Peer group and other social support approaches Nursing school-based intervention Relapse prevention techniques Stress management techniques Behavioral and pharmacologic weight gain prevention strategies Clinic reinforcement services
Channels Involved:	 Schools Health facilities/professionals Community/voluntary agencies Worksites
Trial Sites:	Alabama, Missouri, California, Illinois, New York, Minnesota
Primary Study Period:	1985-1991
Estimated Number of Subjects Affected:	7,600
Status of Consensus Development Process:	Pending Completion of Trials

Profile of Women Smoker Interventions

These women smoker interventions required the completion of phase II studies prior to the development and testing of interventions; they are in varying stages of completion. Interim findings from recruitment efforts, materials development, and early followups will be available in the future.

The Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation

The Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT) is the largest smoking intervention trial in the world, involving directly or indirectly more than 6 million people in the testing of a community-based intervention protocol that can be disseminated nationwide to meet NCI's year 2000 objective to reduce smoking prevalence. Heavy smokers (25 or more cigarettes a day) are emphasized due to their greater cancer risk and their difficulty in quitting. These heavy smokers represent only one-quarter of all smokers, but they account for nearly half of all the lung and smoking-related cancers among smokers.

Objectives and Description

The trial design includes **11** pairs of communities in North America that were matched in size, demographics, and location. Pairs of communities are located in western Washington, western Oregon, northern California, New Mexico, Iowa, North Carolina, upstate New York, metropolitan New York, New Jersey, and Massachusetts in the United States and in western Ontario in Canada. Following the baseline survey, one community from each pair was selected randomly in May **1988** as the intervention site.



Location of COMMIT Research Institutions and Community Pairs

The baseline survey was conducted between January and May 1988 to determine overall prevalence of cigarette smoking in each of the 22 communities and to recruit and describe cohorts of heavy and light-to-moderate smokers. The primary trial endpoint is the smoking cessation rate in each community as observed annually in randomly selected cohorts of heavy smokers and cohorts of light-to-moderate smokers (n = 500 in each cohort in all 22 sites). The intervention effort will be blind to cohort identity and will be directed at all smokers in intervention sites. An additional cohort of smokers and nonsmokers will assess community smoking attitudes and behaviors at the beginning, middle, and end of the intervention period. Changes in community smoking prevalence and adolescent smoking rates will be monitored by cross-sectional surveys at the beginning and end of the trial. The evaluation plan also includes a variety of program evaluation and monitoring activities in all 22 communities to track the level of cessation program activity, health professionals' advice to stop smoking, worksite smoking cessation programs, smoke-free policy changes, and local participation in local and national smoking control efforts. These multiple sources of data will be used both to monitor program implementation and to provide interim feedback to community leaders and participating organizations.

The primary hypothesis being tested is that the implementation of a defined intervention protocol, delivered through multiple community groups and organizations and using limited external resources, will result in a quit rate in heavy smokers that is at least 10 percentage points greater (e.g., 25 percent versus 15 percent) than that observed in the comparison communities. The COMMIT interventions will build on, coordinate, and facilitate community smoking control activities. The overall intervention goals of the trial are to:

- Increase the priority of smoking as a public health issue.
- Improve the community's ability to modify smoking behavior.
- Increase the influence of existing policy and economic factors that discourage smoking.
- · Increase social norms and values that support nonsmoking.

Results from the STCP trials have defined numerous strategies for inclusion in COM-MIT. Trial investigators evaluated the STCP trial results, scientific literature, and other data sources to define the protocol of 40 required interventions. The most promising strategies include interventions offered through physicians and dentists, mass media, worksites, community organizations, and telephone hotlines. These interventions are organized into several areas: health care providers, worksites and organizations, smoking cessation resources and services, public education, and schools. Goals and objectives were defined for these intervention areas, and quantifiable process objectives were set for each of the 40 protocol-defined intervention activities. This detailed protocol was developed to maintain standardization across sites while accommodating differing structures and capabilities in the communities.

As a community trial, COMMIT requires the implementation of a complex intervention protocol in partnership with diverse community organizations and groups. To effectively form this community partnership, the protocol required the formation of a community board and task forces in all intervention sites. Following randomization in May 1988, the process of community mobilization was started so that the community boards could assume the responsibility for planning and managing the protocol implementation in early 1989. In the 11 sites, the 4-year intervention effort will involve more than 1,000 doctors, 700 dentists, 1,400 worksites, 1,000 community organizations, 250 media outlets, 400 schools, and 60 cessation service providers.

Example COMMIT. Intervention	Activities :	Trial	Interventions
-------------------------------------	---------------------	-------	---------------

Intervention Task Force	Public Education	Community Activities	Policy/Economic Activities
Health Care	Motivate smokers to seek cessation assis- tance from providers.	Physician/dentist/phar- macist training. Expand cessation programs.	Seminars/consultation to promote no-smoking policies.
Worksites	Promote worksite smok- ing behavior changes (presentations, posters, newsletters).	Support worksite cessa- tion programs (self-help manuals, A/V materials, incentives).	Develop smoke-free worksite policies.
Organiza- tions	Presentations at meet- ings and in organization- al media.	Promote community ces- sation resources, large organization self-help programs.	Promote smoke-free meetings, organization competitions ("magnet events">.
Cessation Resources/ Services	Oral/written informa- tion on health conse- quences, quit resources, maintenance, passive smoking.	Counseling, self-help materials, referral to cessation programs through telephone hotline.	Refer to community resources to change policies. Information on regional/national smoke-free policies.
	Newsletter for smokers/families with information on quit resources through net- work.	Promote self-help, cessa- tion resources, social support through net- work ("buddy system").	Publicize local smoking policy changes.
Public Education (Media)	"Kickoff" event to publicize other ac- tivities; media training for local advocates; local amplification of na- tional events.	Self-help information, referrals to cessation resources, including hotline.	Publicize policy changes in local institu- tions, passive smoking issue.
schools	School curricula; stu- dent/parent materials; teacher training.	Promote parental cessa- tion through youth, combined parent-cessa- tion/adolescent-preven- tion programs.	Promote smoke-free school policies, sports, other public events. Reduce tobacco sales to teenagers.

Results of the Baseline Survey

In the COMMIT baseline survey, more than 355,000 randomly selected telephone numbers were used to identify the cohorts of 500 heavy smokers and 500 light-to-moderate smokers in each of the 22 communities. Cigarette smoking prevalence was determined by interviewing a household member 18 years of age or older who provided smoking status information on all members of the household. Based on information provided in these 125,355 household screening interviews, more detailed interviews were conducted on 35,197 smokers ages 25 to **64** and 5,157 recent quitters ages 18 to 64. The combined demographics of the 22 sites match closely with national averages. Overall rates of smoking in the targeted populations (ages 25 to 64) within the COMMIT sites also are consistent with national estimates from the 1987 NHIS. Using these prevalence rates and local census data, it is possible to derive the estimated number of adults in the 22 sites by smoking status. The baseline survey also provides data regarding intervention feasibility and baseline levels of cessation program participation.

		COMMIT Sites	Nationally	
Race				
White Black Hispanic		84.4 9.7 7.2	79.9 12.7 5.6	
Sex	Age			
Male	25-34 35-44 45-64	18.1 15.8 16.2	18.6 15.4 17.9	
Female	25-34 35-44 45-64	18.1 15.0 16.9	17.7 13.1 17.3	

Race, Ethnicity, and Sex of Smokers (Percent)

Sources: National Health Interview Survey, 1987. COMMIT Baseline Survey, 1988.

aseline Smoking Prevalence and Quit Rates in the COMMIT Study				
Community Pair ¹	Prevalence of Smoking	Quit Rates ²		
1A	26.2	27.5		
1B	26.7	28.0		
2A	30.9	25.6		
2B	33.2	22.9		
3A	27.0	28.2		
3B	24.2	30.1		
4A	30.6	26.1		
4B	27.9	27.6		
5A	30.9	21.9		
5B	28.1	20.5		
6A	20.4	31.7		
6B	22.6	34.9		
7A	26.8	28.5		
7B	27.2	28.0		
8A	27.2	26.5		
8B	28.4	26.8		
9A	27.1	26.6		
9B	23.2	29.6		
10A	19.7	29.8		
10B	21.9	30.9		
11A	26.2	28.7		
11B	21.3	32.8		

Baseline Smoking	g Prevalence	and Quit	Rates in	the	COMMIT	Study
------------------	--------------	----------	----------	-----	--------	-------

 ${}^{2}\! Denotes$ intervention and comparison communities. ${}^{2}\! Percentage$ of smokers quitting over the past 5 years. Source: COMMIT Baseline Survey, 1988.

COMMIT Intervention Feasibility
 Health care received in the community -86 percent of heavy smokers -84 percent of light-to-moderate smokers
 Workplace located in the community -71 percent of employed heavy smokers -71 percent of employed light-to-moderate smokers
 Methods used by ex-smokers to quit -10 percent used professional help 4.4 percent used a health agency -2.2 percent used a work program -13.8 percent used TV advice -7.1 percent used a community event

Source: COMMIT Baseline Survey, 1988.

Baseline smoking quit rates in the 22 COMMIT sites were estimated based on the retrospective quitting information from surveyed ex-smokers. Statistical analysis to evaluate the primary trial hypothesis will emphasize mean community pair differences in quit rates observed among both the heavy and light-to-moderate smoker cohorts during annual followup surveys. Using communities as the unit of analysis, the sample of 11 pairs of communities were included so that the study will have greater than 90-percent power to detect a lo-percent mean paired difference (e.g., 25 percent versus **15** percent) in cohort quit rate at a one-sided p < 0.05 level of significance. Similar analyses will be conducted on mean paired differences in smoking prevalence and adolescent smoking rates.



Source: COMMIT Baseline Survey, 1988.
Implications for Broader Application

Major national efforts to deal with the smoking problem in the United States will be continuing on multiple fronts. The social acceptability and public attitudes toward smoking and tobacco use behaviors are changing rapidly. Schools are adopting more effective prevention curricula; worksites are changing policies and encouraging cessation; the health care system is taking a more active role in smoking cessation; and the general public is urging public policy changes related to smoking and tobacco use. As these

Available COMMIT Materials				
Title	Content			
Protocol Summary	Comprehensive summary of the COMMIT study protocol, includ- ing the rationale, trial design, community analysis, and mobiliza- tion methods, intervention strategies, evaluation overview, and sample size considerations.			
Organizing for Community Health Promotion: A Handbook	Handbook to assist both field staff and community leaders in their efforts to mobilize community resources and citizen energy for community-wide health promotion. Includes four sections: com- munity-wide change-theory and practice issues; community analysis and citizen activation; community-wide intervention strategies; and program maintenance and diffusion of innovations. Provides multiple appendix materials and case studies.			
COMMIT Video	7-minute video in the form of a "commercial" for COMMIT, profes- sionally narrated with accompanying visuals. Used to introduce community members to the COMMIT study and encourage them to join in the effort.			
Manual for Train- ing Health Care "Influentials"	Handbook to guide COMMIT staff during meetings with local health care providers. Contains an introduction to COMMIT and sections on the health care channel goals, mobilization of health care providers, working as a change agent in health facilities, and health providers as community change agents.			
Physician Level I Level II Training Materials	NCI protocol packaged in a document entitled <i>How to Help Your Patients Stop Smoking</i> , which guides a trainer through a 3-hour workshop on smoking cessation techniques. Also contains an appendix with suggestions for physicians to use to prepare a 45-minute presentation on smoking cessation.			
Using the Medical Office to Prevent and Treat Nicotine Dependence	Creative and inexpensive suggestions for medical and dental of- fices to use to promote tobacco-free living in waiting rooms and other office space.			
Incentive Programs Workbook	A workbook to be used by worksites and community organizations in organizing and implementing incentive programs to motivate individuals to quit smoking.			
Working With Unions to Reduce Cigarette Smoking	"How-to" work with unions guide. Part I addresses the issues re- lated to the involvement of unions in workplace smoking policies and programs; Part II provides concrete suggestions for working with unions and involving unions in smoking issues.			

changing social trends motivate community leaders to take actions, appropriate resources, materials, and expertise will be needed to maximize these local efforts. **COMMIT** will serve as a major laboratory for the study of community-wide smoking cessation and for the evaluation of specific strategies to meet these needs. Therefore, the results of this trial should be an important element in NCI's multiple efforts to accelerate national trends toward a smoke-free society. On completion of the trial numerous materials and resources will be available for widespread dissemination and use.

Available COMMIT Materials (continued)

<i>What Can</i> You Do Brochure	Six-panel, easy-to-read 8 1/2" x 11" brochure that offers helpful hints on helping smokers quit, combating the tobacco industry, and promoting a smoke-free environment.
COMMIT Guide to Running a Workshop on Workplace Smok- ing Policy	Guide designed for COMMIT field directors and other staff to pro- vide basic information needed to plan and implement a workshop on workplace smoking policies for local businesses.
Guidelines for Establishing Wo rksite S moking Policy Network	General directions for establishing a network among worksites so they may share information on the design, implementation, and evaluation of worksite smoking policies.
COMMIT Guide to Nonsmoking Policies for Small Businesses	Guide to help small businesses (10-200 employees) design and implement workplace nonsmoking policies.
Handbook for Developing the COMMIT Cessa- tion Resources Guide	Handbook to aid COMMIT sites with the production of a com- munity-specific Cessation Resource Guide. Includes an introduc- tion, provider chart, "other" cessation aids chart, list of local resources for advice, and sample prototype.
Smokers Network Getting Started	Brief summary of ideas for recruiting smokers into a "Smokers Net- work" that will provide useful information and support to smokers interested in quitting.
Planning and Producing a Small Newsletter	Guidelines for producing a successful newsletter, including tips on planning, selecting content and format, and estimating costs. In- cludes appendixes on newsletter mockups, examples of format ele- ments, and a sample timeline.
How to Use the EC50 Carbon Monoxide Monitor	Description of process for preparing EC50 monitor for use, testing subjects, disassembling monitor, and performing calibration checks. Also contains guidelines and a sample log sheet.
COMMIT: Public Education Resource Kit	Guide for creating COMMIT graphics such as logos, letterhead, business cards, envelopes, and press releases for use in magnet and promotional events. Includes specifications for typesetting, sample graphics, media factsheets on smoking-related topics, and a list of sources for media pieces.

Consensus Development and National Dissemination

One of the major barriers in the effort to control smoking behavior in the U.S. population over the past 25 years has been the lack of a systematic plan to make practical use of available smoking control technology. During this period, a substantial body of intervention research has emerged from the published literature. As reflected in the preceding discussions, in several research areas enough data are presently available to allow the STCP to proceed to phase V demonstrations and implementation. This process first involves assessing and synthesizing the results of current research to define the essential elements of proven intervention strategies to reduce smoking and other forms of tobacco use. To this end, consensus meetings involving the principal investigators of the STCP trials and other experts in the intervention area of interest are held; the findings of these meetings are translated into guidelines and appropriately packaged for widespread dissemination to targeted audiences.

Model for STCP's Research to Applications of Research Sequence



In addition to application efforts emanating directly from the intervention trials, the STCP has developed for national dissemination other consensus products that cut across the various intervention areas. Major efforts are highlighted below.

Comprehensive Smoking Prevention and Control Standards

The *NCI Standards for Comprehensive Smoking Prevention and Control* has been developed which represents a consensus of smoking control experts about the essential activities that comprise a comprehensive smoking prevention and control program. These standards are based on the findings and strategies developed through the STCP research trials, other smoking research, and the expertise of countless public health professionals and activists. Together, they represent the current state of the art of smoking prevention and control intervention. The standards will be widely distributed to encourage smoking prevention and control efforts across the country.

State Tobacco Prevention and Control Plans

In collaboration with the Association of State and Territorial Health Officials (ASTHO), STCP developed the *Guide to Public Health Practice: State Health Agency Tobacco Prevention* and *Control Plans.* The guide was written by tobacco control specialists in state and Federal government who have had experience in planning and carrying out programs to reduce the use of tobacco. It is designed to help state health agencies mobilize existing public and private resources to further reduce tobacco use and its resultant death and disability. It describes a process that has been used successfully for other public health problems and that require the involvement of citizens as well as business, education, government, and health organizations. The guide has been distributed to the governor, state health officer, and state tobacco coordinator in each state. Plans are under way to produce additional copies of the guide for wider distribution.

Smoking and Tobacco Use Control Monographs

One of the primary mechanisms being developed to aid in the national dissemination of STCP trials results will be a series of monographs on smoking and tobacco use control. The STCP has awarded a 5-year contract that calls for the development and publication of up to three monographs per year. Each monograph will consist of several elements:

- A detailed analysis of smoking and tobacco use trends by target group or population that is the focus of the monograph.
- Analysis of national cancer incidence and mortality patterns within the target group or population discussed.
- Review and synthesis of relevant published literature pertaining to intervention and prevention approaches by target population or intervention channel.
- STCP trial results, including analysis of pooled results where practical.
- Identification of gaps in scientific understanding of effective smoking and tobacco control technology.
- Recommendations of public health action steps that can be taken by various agencies and organizations, including new directions in research, control activities, or social and public health policy changes.

The first monograph in the series will focus broadly on overall NCI-sponsored intervention initiatives and how the widespread application of these will contribute to NCI year 2000 goals for reducing cancer mortality. Subsequent monographs will examine in detail individual trial areas or other pertinent topics.

Network Development

To facilitate broader dissemination of information on effective tobacco use intervention technology, STCP has initiated the organization of several target group networks: one of women's organizations and leaders and one of state tobacco contacts in each state. Once established, networks such as these will serve as primary conduits of information and resources concerning tobacco use control strategies to key target audiences.

The American Stop Smoking Intervention Study for Cancer Prevention

With the adoption of the American Stop Smoking Intervention Study for Cancer Prevention (ASSIST), NCI has further committed the resources necessary to ensure the dissemination of smoking control technology to effect large-scale change. In 1987 NCI program officials recognized that as large and as comprehensive as the STCP trials were, they would have little impact on smoking behavior and even less on cancer mortality rates unless their resulting technology was applied on a national scale. Thus, in April 1987 NCI convened a 3-day meeting of more than 250 of the world's most knowledgeable smoking experts to plan the next step in the continuum to reduce smoking prevalence and cancers related to smoking. It was the group's consensus that many of the STCP strategies being tested were proved effective and were ready to be implemented in phase V cancer control research efforts.

Based on this consensus, the STCP staff initiated a series of meetings and discussions with experts both inside and outside the program to develop and plan the approach necessary to affect sufficient numbers of U.S. citizens to achieve the tobacco control objectives of the NCI year 2000 goal. The expert consultants strongly recommended that community-based tobacco control coalitions be established in entire states or in large metropolitan areas and that 50 million Americans be affected. This recommendation served as the basis for the development of the concept for ASSIST, a large-scale demonstration project that will widely apply tested strategies.

Project Organization

ASSIST will involve entire states and large metropolitan areas. Any state, regardless of population, is eligible as an ASSIST site, as are selected major metropolitan areas that meet certain statistical considerations. An ASSIST site is required to form community-based tobacco control coalitions that will be responsible for developing comprehensive tobacco prevention and control plans and implementing these plans in a coordinated fashion throughout the demonstration site. State and local health departments, because of their overall responsibility for the public's health, will serve as the fiscal agent for the coalitions.

American Stop Smoking Intervention Study (ASSIST) for Cancer Prevention: Sample Model



As project development began, NCI and ACS discussed their respective roles. Because of its long history in smoking and health at the national and local levels and its extensive network of local volunteers, ACS is a complementary partner whose participation is critical to the success of this project.

In keeping with established ACS policy, ACS will receive no project funds. However, because of ACS's historic commitment to tobacco control and strong local presence, it will maintain a high level of community involvement and undertake a significant share of the local intervention burden.

The ACS agreed to contribute to the effort with a commitment of several million dollars in the form of in-kind resources to the project nationally as well as to' those sites approved for NCI project funding.

The organization of ASSIST is based on the coalition model. The strength of the AS-SIST coalition model is the ability of member agencies to expand smoking control activities in existing systems of contact with targeted smokers, to institutionalize smoking interventions, and to initiate and support comprehensive smoking control policies such as increasing restrictions on smoking in public places to protect nonsmokers and limiting access to tobacco by minors via sales and promotions.

Membership in coalitions will include organizations, agencies, groups, or institutions that:

- Provide health or social services to target groups.
- Have memberships that include target group members,
- Bring a high level of visibility and credibility to the project.

In addition, coalition members will have an institutional agenda that is consistent with smoking control, a network of organization members throughout the demonstration site, an established means of communication, and a structure (or the flexibility to create one) that will support smoking control activities.

Project Implementation

ASSIST will be implemented in two phases. Phase I, the planning period, will start in mid-1991 and last 24 months. Phase II, the implementation period, will begin in 1993 and continue for 5 years.

During phase I, each funded coalition will perform a comprehensive site analysis by thoroughly surveying its region to determine the current status of tobacco control and to assess needs. Each coalition will develop a comprehensive tobacco prevention and control plan that not only reflects the unique needs of the ASSIST site but also meets NCI project standards.

Phase II will involve carrying out the detailed action steps developed during the planning process in keeping with NCI project standards, The NCI standards will set minimum levels of emphasis in different program areas, including the health care system; workplaces; schools; civic, social, and religious organizations; the media; and the social policy arena. Phase II activities will include training health care professionals to deliver cessation services and counseling, provision of targeted cessation interventions in various community locations (particularly worksites), implementation of tobacco use prevention curricula in schools, and activation of print and electronic media to more aggressively cover the smoking and health issue.

A major emphasis of the project will be the targeting of interventions to population groups of particular concern. Ethnic and racial minorities, because their rates of smoking are stable or increasing and/or their access to and use of smoking prevention and cessation services are limited, will be priority target groups.

Evaluation

Demonstration sites will be evaluated using the CPS conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau. Three surveys are currently planned: a baseline, a midproject, and a postimplementation phase survey. The endpoint of the project is the smoking and tobacco use prevalence in demonstration sites compared with those rates in the United States exclusive of ASSIST sites. In addition to the CPS, a number of process and other evaluation studies will be conducted throughout the project. All evaluations will be done centrally by NCI project staff.

Other NCI Smoking Research and Control Activities

Phase II Methods Development Studies

Although the vast majority of STCP projects are phase III and IV efforts as discussed in the preceding sections, there are a number of areas where phase II studies are warranted to characterize variables that must be controlled or monitored in subsequent intervention studies and/or to ensure that accurate and valid procedures are available before comparative studies are begun. The STCP has supported several projects related to such issues as smoking control policies, physician intervention in special patient populations, smokeless tobacco use in targeted groups, and measurement techniques and tools for smoking behavior. Abstracts of these projects are contained in appendix B.

Worksite Intervention

Smoking control efforts are the most prevalent worksite health promotion activity. Worksites are an important channel for smoking control because they represent a setting in which large numbers of smokers may be reached and in which smoking control activities may be promoted, cessation programs offered, and cessation attempts encouraged and supported. They also are attractive targets for they involve nonsmokers in smoking control efforts, particularly through the promotion of nonsmoking policies. Several worksite intervention projects are supported by the STCP. As described more specifically in the project abstracts of appendix B, these efforts test interventions for both individual self-change as well as organizational change such as incentives, competitions, and policy.

Other Intervention Research Projects

As the results of research efforts suggest needs and opportunities for new or modified smoking control interventions, the STCP has undertaken projects to explore some of the most promising leads identified. For example, there is some evidence that adolescent smoking cessation programs are efficacious, however, the results are far from conclusive. While the role of physicians as smoking control interventionists has been clearly established, smoking control programs that involve other health professionals such as pharmacists and nurses to whom patients can turn with their health problems present promising alternatives for reaching large numbers of smokers. Other studies aimed at decreasing the incidence of lung cancer in high-risk populations focus on testing the efficacy of using certain chemopreventive agents such as retinol and beta-carotene. Abstracts of such projects are found in appendix B.

Tobacco Products Liability Reporter, Inc.

In 1986 the Small Business Innovative Research Program (SBIR) of the National Can cer Institute funded the Tobacco Products Liability Reporter, Inc. to develop a method to help legal professionals involved with product liability cases evaluate the adverse health effects attributed to tobacco use. The methodology developed consisted of (I) documenting the chronological history of scientific knowledge of the causal relationship between tobacco use and disease incidence, (2) having scientific experts review and evaluate the current epidemiological evidence, and (3) developing a quantitative procedure to estimate the likelihood that tobacco users who develop diseases that are causally associated with tobacco use would not have developed those diseases had they not used tobacco. The calculations involved the use of Assigned Share Theory developed and published by the National Academy of Sciences. The Assigned Share Theory has not previously been applied to the many smoking-related diseases. In phase I only two of the many well-documented diseases are explored-lung cancer and coronary heart disease. In phase II the methodology developed will be tested, refined, and applied. *Calculations of Relative Risk and Assigned Share: Cigarette Smoking and Lung Cancer* and *Cigarette Smoking* and *Coronary Heart Disease: A Chronological Review of the Scientific Evidence of Their Association* were developed during Phase I. Phase II funding of this SBIR project is under consideration.

Review and Evaluation of Smoking Cessation Methods

In recognition of the many agents and channels through which to influence the reduction of tobacco use in this country, the STCP addressed the need for information on what intervention strategies will work and how best to implement such strategies by commissioning a comprehensive review and evaluation of smoking cessation methods in the United States and Canada for the years 1978 to 1984. This review updated a similar review that was formerly carried out under the auspices of the Centers for Disease Control for the vears 1969 to 1977. The monograph evaluates nonprofit, commercial, community, and research programs, as well as self-care approaches and practitioner methods. Special sections on worksite control programs and long-term maintenance are provided. Also addressed are important methodological issues affecting the reliability of results and variation across studies as well as evaluative and interpretive commentary regarding the cessation methods identified. This monograph brings together the highly diverse smoking cessation literature into a single volume. As such it serves as an extremely valuable and almost encyclopedic resource. The extended reference listing is itself a major contribution to those either working in smoking cessation or desiring to learn more about the field. Also guite useful is the appended listing of doctoral dissertations.

Tobacco Carcinogenesis and Epidemiologic Studies

NCI's Division of Cancer Etiology (DCE) conducts tobacco-related research in two areas: tobacco carcinogenesis and the role of tobacco in cancer epidemiology. Current activities in tobacco carcinogenesis include studies of the mutagenic and carcinogenic effects of various tobacco products and their constituents, the chemical analysis of tobacco, and the identification and analysis of the effects of nontobacco compounds found in tobacco products (such as flavor additives). Several of these studies focus on chewing tobacco and snuff.

In response to increasing evidence that Environmental Tobacco Smoke (ETS) is hazardous to the health of nonsmokers, DCE supports a variety of epidemiologic research focusing on this important area. Research is being conducted on reliable techniques for detecting ETS exposure levels, methods for measuring the components of ETS and their concentration in natural environments such as homes, the association of ETS and lung cancer and cervical cancer in nonsmokers, and the effects of ETS on the uptake and retention of domestic radon daughters.

Epidemiologic studies of the combined effects of tobacco and alcohol consumption, the biological and behavioral effects of smoking cigarettes with different nicotine yields, and the risk of smoking cigarettes containing low yields of tar and nicotine are also under way.

State Health Department Initiatives

Four states have received support for health department cancer prevention and control programs containing major smoking prevention and control components.

In California, the Los Angeles County Health Services Department, one of the largest local health departments in the Nation, is translating cancer control technology into primary and secondary prevention programming for its staff and service population. In addition to breast and cervix cancer screening, a major project is a smoking cessation training program for departmental staff targeting both employees and patients.

The Colorado State Department of Health is working with community groups and agencies to develop and obtain funding for cancer control efforts focusing on smoking prevention and cessation programs as well as breast and cervical cancer screening activities.

The Michigan State Department of Health is planning, implementing, and evaluating population-based cancer prevention and control programs targeted at smoking cessation and prevention, early cervical cancer detection, and early breast cancer detection.

The Minnesota State Department of Health is analyzing state-supported community antismoking coalitions to develop model cancer control programs that will increase the department's technical capacity to make cancer control funding decisions. The initial area of analysis will focus on statewide nonsmoking efforts.

Smoking Cessation Among Blue-Collar Workers

Blue-collar workers in trades exposed to asbestos generally smoke more cigarettes than other members of the work force. This project evaluated the effect of a physician-led health team's concerted effort to motivate a change in smoking behavior among workers exposed to asbestos. An intensive personally focused intervention was conducted on 2,627 men that repeatedly emphasized the established and observable effects of smoking on each individual and its relationship to present and future health problems.

The study targeted two groups, boilermakers and pipefitters, who had worked at many worksites for relatively short periods-seldom more than 1 year-and had therefore been left out of previous worksite-based smoking intervention trials.

The evaluation found that the intervention had helped to motivate changes in smoking behavior among these individuals. An explanatory letter and questionnaire sent to each worker 6 to 25 months after the screening study revealed that out of 504 respondents 29.8 percent had quit smoking and 35.9 percent had reduced their smoking from 28 to 13.3 cigarettes per day. Of the remaining 32.7 percent who reported that they continued to smoke as before, 90 percent stated that they were still trying to quit. Virtually all of the respondents had previously been chronic heavy smokers.

These results suggest that this "blitz strategy," aimed at motivation but not providing a method for quitting, can have a significant impact on smoking behavior.

Resource on Tobacco Advertising and Promotion

This project established a data bank on cigarette advertising and other forms of tobacco promotion for analytic use and to provide information of interest to the media, voluntary agencies, and policymakers.

The data bank consists of a database on the nature and extent of cigarette promotions; marketing information on demographic characteristics of the readerships of individual publications (available through subscription to various services); current smoking prevalence data by age, race, sex, and socioeconomic status; and computerized bibliographic and text indexing services for magazines and newspapers. The data bank was used to analyze recent time trends in the extent of magazine advertising, changes in magazines that did not carry cigarette advertising between early **1985** and late **1986**, and the characteristics of magazines that carry smokeless tobacco advertising. The resource was also used to compare magazines that carry cigarette advertising with those that do not and to examine the relation between the extent of cigarette advertising in magazines and readership characteristics.

Study of the Health and Economic Impact of Tobacco Consumption in Developing Countries

The health and economic impact of tobacco consumption was assessed in three developing countries (Egypt, Brazil, and Thailand) in an effort to increase awareness within these nations of the long-term costs of tobacco production and consumption. The study identified, compiled, and analyzed information on the prevalence and epidemiology of tobacco use behavior; the health economics of tobacco use; and the economics of tobacco production within each of the three nations.

Study of Involuntary Smoke Exposure Aboard Aircraft

In-flight exposure to nicotine, urinary cotinine levels, and symptom self-reports were assessed in a study of five passengers and four flight attendants on four routine commercial flights of approximately $\mathbf{4}$ hours' duration each. Urine samples were collected for 72 hours following each flight.

As reported in the *Journal of the American Medical Association* (January 1989), **ex**posures to nicotine measured during the flights using personal exposure monitors were found to be variable, with some nonsmoking areas attaining levels comparable to those in smoking sections. The results showed that attendants assigned to work in nonsmoking areas were not protected from smoke exposure. In addition, the type of aircraft ventilation used was important to resultant in-flight nicotine exposure levels.

The ETS levels that occurred produced measurable levels of cotinine, a major metabolite of nicotine, in the urine of passengers and attendants. Passengers who experienced the greatest smoke exposure had the highest levels of urinary cotinine. Changes in eye and nose symptoms between the beginning and end of the flights were significantly related both to nicotine exposure during the flight and to the subsequent urinary excretion of cotinine. In addition, subjects' perceptions of annoyance and smokiness in the airplane cabin were also related to in-flight nicotine exposure and urinary excretion measures.

Conference on Tobacco Use Among Blacks and Hispanics

The Conference on Tobacco Use Among Blacks and Hispanics was held March 28-29, 1988, at which participants reviewed the state of knowledge concerning tobacco use prevalence, adverse health consequences, and current and potential intervention strategies in black and Hispanic populations; identified crucial policy and research issues concerning tobacco use control and intervention in these populations; and recommended actions to address the policy and research issues identified. Conference recommendations identified applications opportunities, research needs, and priority target groups; publication of the proceedings is planned for a special issue of the *Journal of the National Medical Association* in the spring of 1990.

Office of Cancer Communications Activities

Although research has always been the primary mission of NCI, in the mid-1970's NCI began developing broad public and professional information programs on smoking

through its Office of Cancer Communications (OCC). A number of the products from these programs have been identified in the preceding discussions on applications of research results related to the intervention trial areas. Additional efforts are described herein.

General Self-Help Information

Cancer *Prevention Brief: Tobacco* presents an overview of the science relating tobacco use to cancer and other health problems. It also summarizes recent trends in the use of tobacco and outlines key strategies for prevention. It includes a selected bibliography.

An updated version of Clearing *the Air*, a self-help smoking cessation booklet, was produced in 1987. This booklet is among the most popular produced by OCC and through the OCC supermarket distribution program. Since the booklet was first produced in 1977, approximately 7 million copies have been distributed. The revised version is a compilation of methods and techniques for giving up cigarettes, including information on fighting withdrawal symptoms and handling relapse.

An OCC publication developed especially for Hispanics, Guia *Para Dejar de Fumar*, became available in late 1988. This four-color self-help smoking cessation booklet was prepared for Spanish-speaking Americans through an STCP grant. It is being promoted through public service announcements on Spanish-speaking radio and television stations and through Hispanic and health organizations.

Health Professional Intervention Materials

The OCC has historically tried to increase the involvement of health professionals in counseling patients about cessation of tobacco use through such products as a speaker's kit for use by physicians and local organizations to present a community-based smoking education program, a cessation kit for use by physicians to help their patients stop smoking, and a similar kit adapted for use by dentists and dental professionals.

Based on the evaluation results of these earlier physician and dentist kits, *Quit for Good* was developed in *1982*. It featured a health professional guide, waiting room materials, and 50 sets of two patient booklets, *Quit It*, a redesigned version of Clearing *the Air*, and a new piece, *For Good*, which focused on maintenance of nonsmoking rather than initial cessation. The "Quit for Good" kit was promoted beginning in 1984 by direct mail to 120,000 dentists, cardiologists, chest physicians, community health physicians, and black physicians and through print advertisements, editorial mention in professional journals, and exhibits at major medical meetings. About 60,000 kits have been distributed to date.

In collaboration with ACS, the physician component of the *Quit for Good* kit was revised and is called *Quit for Good: A Practitioner's Stop-Smoking Guide*. The guide became available in April 1989 and is being promoted separately by both NCI and ACS, with each organization packaging it with supporting materials, including self-help booklets. The revised guide, which was pretested during development, is based on the protocol that has resulted from the STCP physician and dentist intervention trials. This new protocol includes involvement of the entire office support staff in identifying smokers and encouraging and supporting their quit attempts. The new kits include waiting room materials and chart reminders to focus the physician, office staff, and patients on smoking cessation.

The *Pharmacist's Helping Smokers Quit* kit, similar to the physician and dentist kits, was developed in 1986 in collaboration with the American Pharmaceutical Association (APhA). The distinctive feature of this program is its focus on drug interactions in smoking. The kit contains a pharmacist's guide, counter cards, posters, and sets of take-home materials for 25 patients. In addition, OCC and APhA worked with a private vendor to

produce a special patient education label for containers that warn of possible adverse smoking-drug interactions. The program, launched in June 1986 at a national news conference, was promoted in succeeding months by direct mail to 25,000 members of the association, a special mailing to chain drugstore owners, and print advertisements and editorial mention in pharmaceutical journals. A second wave of direct mail promotions was conducted during summer 1987 targeting the Nation's 67,000 retail and hospital pharmacies. The kit was promoted in 1988 to APhA's student chapters. Response to the direct mail promotions has been about 15 percent, with about 15,000 kits distributed. Total distribution of the kits reached 40,000 by 1989. The OCC has conducted two focus groups of pharmacists, and APhA conducted a survey of kit users to evaluate kit materials and to learn more about pharmacist opportunities for smoking cessation counseling. Based on this evaluation, OCC plans to work with APhA to revise kit materials in late 1989 before a new wave of promotion to pharmacists,

Smoking Policy and Worksite Information

Smoking Policy: Questions & **Answers (Q&A) was** developed by NCI and the Smoking Policy Institute. It is a series of 10 interviews with experts in areas related to smoking and the workplace. Topics covered in one-page discussions are the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke, implementation of smoking policies, strategies for selecting smoking cessation programs, costs and benefits of smoking restrictions in the workplace, smoking policies and the unions, smoking policies in health care institutions, smoking and the female work force, smoking and the blue-collar work force, and smoking in the workplace, with factsheets on both ventilation and legal issues. The Q&A sheets are to be made available to health departments, employers, and others who need information on smoking policy.

Smokeless Tobacco Materials

Chew or Snuff Is Real Bad Stuff is a brochure designed for adolescent boys. The brochure, developed to be graphically appealing to the target audience, highlights the adverse health and social effects of using smokeless tobacco.

A Guide to Make Young People Aware of the Dangers of Using Smokeless Tobacco was developed by NCI and the American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Inc. It is an aide for teachers in providing adolescent boys (ages 10 to 18) with information in a nonjudgmental manner about the social influences and health consequences of using smokeless tobacco. Both the guide and the brochure include a foldout color poster. The NCI and the academy have promoted the materials to school-related organizations and through media attention during the AAO-sponsored *Through With Chew* held in February 1989. The day marks the anniversary of the death of Sean Marsee, a youth who died of oral cancer related to his use of smokeless tobacco.

Resources for Smokeless Tobacco Education provides descriptions of and ordering information for a variety of print and audiovisual materials related to smokeless tobacco that have been developed by both public and private organizations.

The Cancer Information Service

In 1976, NCI established the Cancer Information Service (CIS), a toll-free telephone public inquiry system providing information about cancer. CIS offices are located near major cancer research centers across the United States. In addition to providing telephone assistance, CIS offers free printed materials on subjects ranging from types of cancer and treatments to smoking cessation. Many of the materials developed by OCC are distributed through the CIS network. The CIS receives approximately 80,000 calls from smokers

annually. In summer **1986**, OCC collaborated with NCI's Division of Cancer Prevention and Control (DCPC) to develop a slide training program for CIS staff to help them better counsel patients who smoke on how to stop. This represented the first formal training effort for CIS staff on the topic of smoking since the service was launched.

The OCC has collaborated with the Office on Smoking and Health to develop four television public service campaigns that refer viewers to OCC materials or the CIS toll-free number. The most recent campaign, launched in January **1989**, encourages smokers to keep on trying to quit, even if they have failed before, and to call the CIS for tips and support.

Through the CIS, DCPC is supporting two cancer communications research projects focused on smoking. In Seattle, researchers are studying the effectiveness of a smoking, cessation hotline service for blue-collar workers. In New York State and Pennsylvania, investigators are testing the effectiveness of television public service advertisements and self-help materials tailored to specific audiences.

References

- 1. Redmond DE Jr. Tobacco and cancer: the first clinical report, **1761**. New Engl J Med 1970;282(1):18-23.
- Schrek R, Baker LA, Ballard GP, Dolgoff S. Tobacco smoking an etiologic factor in disease. I. Cancer. Cancer Res 1950;10:49-58.
- Mills CA, Porter MM. Tobacco smoking habits and cancer of the mouth and respiratory system. Cancer Res 1950;10:539-542.
- Levin ML, Goldstein H, Gerhardt PR. Cancer and tobacco smoking. A preliminary report. JAMA 1950;143:336-338.
- Wynder EL, Graham EA. Tobacco smoking as a possible etiologic factor in bronchiogenic carcinoma. A study of six hundred and eighty-four proved cases. JAMA 1950;143:329-336.
- Hammond EC, Horn D. Smoking and death rates-report on forty-four months of follow-up of 187,783 men. II. Death rates by cause. JAMA 1958;166(11):1294-1308.
- 7. Doll R, Hill AB. The mortality of doctors in relation to their smoking habits; a preliminary report. Br Med J 1954;1(4877):1451-1455.
- Dorn HF. The mortality of smokers and nonsmokers. Proceedings of the Social Statistics Section of the American Statistical Association. Chicago: American Statistical Association, 1959:34-71.
- Garfinkel L, Stellman SD. Smoking and lung cancer in women: Findings in a prospective study. Cancer Res 1988:6951-6955.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Reducing the health consequences of smoking-25 years of progress. A Report of the Surgeon General, 1989. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, DHHS publication no. (CDC) 89-8411.
- Pierce JP, Fiore MC, Novotny TE, Hatziandreu EJ, Davis RM. Trends in cigarette smoking in the United States. Projections to the year 2000. JAMA 1989;261:61-65.
- Marcus AC, Shopland DR, Crane LA, Lynn WR. Prevalence of cigarette smoking in the United States. Estimates from the 1985 Current Population Survey. JNCI 1989;81(6):409-414.
- Marcus AC, Crane L, Shopland DR, Lynn WR. Use of smokeless tobacco in the U.S. Findings from the 1985 Current Population Survey. National, regional, and state estimates. NCI Monogr 1989;17-23.
- Haenszel W, Shimkin MB, Miller HP. Tobacco smoking patterns in the United States. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, November 1956; PHS publication no. 463.
- Burney LE. Smoking and lung cancer: a statement of the Public Health Service. JAMA 1959;171:1829-1837.
- 16. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Smoking and health. A report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General of the Public Health Service. US Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service, 1964; PHS publication no. 1103.

- 17. National Cancer Institute; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Smoking and health. A program to reduce the risk of disease in smokers. Status report. National Institutes of Health, December 1978.
- 18. US Department of Health and Human Services. The health consequences of smoking: the changing cigarette. A report of the Surgeon General. Office on Smoking and Health, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, US Department of Health and Human Services, 1981.
- 19. Hammond EC, Garfinkel L, Saidman H, Lew EA. "Tar" and nicotine content of cigarette smoke in relation to death rates. Environ Res 1976;12(3):263-274.
- Kunze M, Vutuc C. Threshold of tar exposure: analysis of smoking history of male lung cancer cases and controls. In: Gori GB, Bock FG (eds). Banbury Report 3, A Safe Cigarette? Cold Spring Harbor, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1980:251-260.
- 21. Wynder EL, Stellmann SD. Impact of long-term filter cigarette usage on lung and larynx cancer risk: a case-control study. JNCI 1979;62(3):471-477.
- 22. Cohen SJ, Stookey K, Katz BP, Drook CA, Smith DM. Encouraging primary care physicians to help smokers quit: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1989;110(8):5.
- Cummings SR, Richard RJ, Duncan CL, Hansen B, Vander Martin R, Gerbert B, et al. Training physicians about smoking cessation: a controlled trial in private practices. J Gen Int Med 1989;4(6):8.
- Wilson DMC, Taylor DW, Gilbert JR, Best JA, Lindsay EA, Willms DG, et al. A randomized trial of a family physician intervention for smoking cessation. JAMA 1988;260(11):33.
- 25. Kottke TE, Brekke ML, Solberg LI, Hughes JR. A randomized trial to increase smoking intervention by physicians: Doctors Helping Smokers, Round 1. JAMA 1989;261(14):18.
- 26. Schwartz JL. Review and evaluation of smoking cessation methods: the United States and Canada, 1978-1985. National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, 198;⁴.

Appendix A: Supplemental Data Tables

This appendix contains several additional tables of data on the prevalence and patterns of smoking and other forms of tobacco use. The data are derived from the two most recent and comprehensive sources of this data: the I987 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) and the U.S. Census Bureau's 1985 Current Population Survey (CPS).

TABLE I.-Cigarette Smoking Among the U.S. Population (Percent)by Sex and Age, All Races

		Smoking	Status						
	Current Smoker								
Sex/Age	Never Smoked	Former Smoker	Ciga 1-14	rettes Per 15-24	Day 25+ P	Total revalence*			
Males and Females									
18+	48.4	22.8	9.1	11.8	7.6	28.8			
Males:									
18+	39.9	28.9	8.6	12.2	10.2	31.2			
18-19	74.2	4.3	9.3	10.1	2.2	21.6			
20-24	61.1	7.8	12.5	13.8	4.8	31.1			
25-34	47.8	17.4	10.9	13.6	10.0	34.8			
35-44	35.3	28.1	8.0	13.4	14.9	36.6			
45-64	26.4	40.1	7.0	12.6	13.8	33.5			
65+	29.4	53.4	5.6	7.0	4.4	17.2			
Females:									
18+	56.0	17.4	9.6	11.5	5.2	26.5			
18-19	73.4	5.7	11.2	8.5	1.1	20.9			
20-24	61.5	10.5	13.3	11.1	3.5	28.1			
25-34	52.6	15.6	11.5	13.7	6.5	31.8			
35-44	51.1	19.4	9.5	13.0	6.7	29.6			
45-64	50.7	20.7	8.8	12.9	6.6	28.6			
65+	66.5	19.8	5.8	5.7	2.1	13.7			

*Includes unknown amount.

	Smoking Status					
Race/Sex/Age	Never Smoked	Former Smoker	Current Smoker			
Whites (non-Hispanic)						
Males and Females:	46.2	24.8	29.0			
Males	38.2	31.2	30.6			
18-24	62.7	73	29.9			
25-34	47.5	18.2	34.3			
35-44	34.0	29.7	36.3			
45-64	2j.6	42.1	32.3			
65+	28.7	55.6	15.7			
Females:	53.5	19.0	27.5			
18-24	59.9	10.9	29.2			
25-34	49.4	17.5	33.2			
35-44	48.8	21.1	30.1			
45-64	48.1	22.0	30.0			
65+	65.6	20.3	14.1			
Blacks (non-Hispanic)						
Males and Females:	52.3	14.8	32.9			
Males:	42.3	18.9	38.9			
18-24	73.0	3.4	23.6			
25-34	42.4	12.4	45.2			
35-44	36.4	19.1	44.5			
45-64	26.9	29.5	43.6			
65+	31.1	37.8	31.1			
Females:	60.3	11.5	28.2			
18-24	76.3	3.5	20.2			
25-34	56.4	7.9	35.7			
35-44	51.8	12.5	35.8			
45-64	53.0	18.4	28.6			
65+	72.2	15.9	11.8			
Hispanics						
Males and Females:	60.3	16.1	23.6			
Males:	49.3	20.7	30.0			
18-24	68.4	7.0	24.6			
25-34	54.8	16.7	28.6			
35-44	39.6	24.5	35.9			
45-64	31.3	33.0	35.8			
65+	39.7	39.0	21.3			
Females:	70.0	12.1	18.0			
18-24	75.1	6.6	18 3			
25-34	66.0	12.6	21.4			
35-44	66.5	14.8	18.7			
45-64	71.3	12.9	15.8			
65+	72.8	17.2	10.0			

TABLE 2.—Cigarette Smoking Among Racial/Ethnic Groups (Percent) by Race, Sex, and Age

TABLE 3.—Quit Attempts by Current Smokers:The Percent of Smokers Who Have Tried to Quitby Sex and Amount of Cigarettes Smoked Per Day

Sex/Amount Smoked	Ever Tried	More Than Once	Within Past Year
Males:			
1-14/day	64.6	43.4	36.6
15-24/day	67.4	43.7	34.4
25+/day	66.2	39.8	24.6
Any amount/day'	65.7	41.9	31.4
Females:			
1-14/day	67.7	45.8	40.1
15-24/day	66.7	43.7	31.7
25+/day	65.0	39.4	27.9
Any amount/day'	66.6	43.5	33.8

'Including unknown.

Source: 1987 National Health Interview Survey.

TABLE 4.-Prevalence of Smokeless Tobacco Use (Snuff and/or Chew)Among the U.S. Population by Sex and Age

	Smokeless Tobacco Use					
Sex/Age	Never Used	Former User	Current User			
Males:						
18+	84.1	9.8	6.1			
18-24	79.8	11.3	8.9			
25-34	84.9	9.1	6.0			
35-44	87.6	7.7	4.7			
45-64	85.9	9.1	4.9			
65+	79.6	13.6	6.9			
Females:						
18+	98.8	0.5	0.6			

	Pipe	Smoking S	Status	Cigar Smoking Status		
Sex/Age	Never Smoked	Former Smoker	Current Smoker	Never Smoked	Former Smoker	Current Smoker
Males:						
18+	81.4	15.2	3.4	81.4	13.3	5.3
18-44	90.3	7.4	2.3	88.6	6.7	4.8
45+	67.9	27.2	4.9	70.5	23.3	6.2
Females:						
18+	99.7	0.3	0.0	99.6	0.3	0.1

TABLE 5.—Prevalence of Pipe and Cigar Smoking Among the U.S. Population by Age and Sex

Source: 1987 National Health Interview Survey.

TABLE 6.-Responses to Selected Attitude/Knowledge Questions by Smoking Status and by Sex

Percent of Population Who Strongly Agree With Statement

	Smoking Status			Sex		
	Never Smoked	Former Smoker	Current Smoker	Males and Females	Males	Females
Cigarette smoking is related to lung cancer.	85.2	83.6	68.7	79.6	78.8	80.2
Most deaths from lung cancer are caused by cigarette smoking.	23.5	21.7	11.3	19.3	18.9	19.8
The smoke from someone else's cigarette is harmful to you.	34.3	25.8	10.6	2j.5	23.0	27.7

Percent Current Users of Snuff and Chewing Tobacco by Region, Division, and State: ≥16-Year-Old Males (continued)

West North Central	2.9	1.0	4.7	1.3	7.5	1.6
Minnesota	3.5	2.5	2.8	2.2	6.1	3.2
Iowa	1.8	1.9	4.6	2.9	6.4	3.4
Missouri	3.1	2.1	3.6	2.2	6.7	3.0
North Dakota	6.1	3.1	5.1	2.9	10.7	4.0
South Dakota	1.9	1.7	6.1	2.0 3.0	79	3.4
Nebraska	1.4	1.6	6.8	34	8.0	3.6
Kansas	3.3	2.5	8.6	3.9	11.7	4.4
South	2.7	0.5	6.0	0.7	8.3	0.8
South Atlantic	1.8	0.5	5.2	0.9	6.7	1.0
Delaware	0.6	1.2	2.4	2.3	3.0	2.6
Maryland	0.4	0.8	2.1	1.8	2.4	1.9
District of Columbia	0.0	0.0	0.4	1.0	0.4	1.0
Virginia	2.3	1.9	6.2	3.1	7.8	3.5
West Virginia	11.5	4.4	13.5	4.8	23.1	5.9
North Carolina	1.8	1.0	8.6	2.1	9.8	2.2
South Carolina	0.7	1.1	5.3	3.0	6.1	3.2
Georgia	1.4	1.6	7.3	3.4	8.7	3.7
Florida	1.1	0.7	1.9	0.9	2.9	1.1
East South Central	2.7	1.1	9.4	1.9	11.6	2.1
Kentucky	3.2	2.4	11.2	4.4	13.6	4.7
Tennessee	1.7	1.8	9.3	4.1	10.3	4.2
Alabama	1.7	2.0	6.6	3.9	8.3	4.3
Mississippi	5.7	3.3	11.4	4.5	16.5	5.3
West South Central	4.0	1.0	5.5	1.1	9.1	1.4
Arkansas	6.0	3.4	9.5	4.2	14.7	5.1
Louisiana	2.5	2.2	5.8	3.2	8.0	3.8
Oklahoma	4.8	2.9	6.7	3.4	11.0	4.2
Texas	4.0	1.4	4.6	1.5	8.2	2.0
West	1.4	0.4	3.3	016	4.5	0.8
Mountain	2.3	1.1	5.4	1.6	7.5	1.9
Montana	5.5	3.1	8.3	3.7	13.7	4.7
Idaho	2.3	2.1	6.7	3.5	8.7	3.9
Wyoming	3.4	2.8	13.0	5.2	15.8	5.7
Colorado	1.2	1.6	6.4	3.6	7.5	3.9
New Mexico	5.3	3.0	5.2	3.0	10.2	4.1
Arizona	2.0	2.1	3.8	2.8	5.4	3.4
Utah	0.9	1.3	3.0	2.4	3.7	2.7
Nevada	1.5	2.0	2.8	2.7	4.3	3.3
Pacific	1.0	0.4	2.6	0.7	3.4	0.8
Washington	1.8	1.9	6.1	3.5	7.1	3.7
Oregon	2.7	2.5	5.4	3.4	7.6	4.0
California	0.7	0.5	1.7	0.7	2.3	0.8
Alaska	2.5	2.2	6.3	3.4	8.8	4.0
Hawaii	0.2	0.7	0.4	0.9	0.7	1.2

Source: Marcus et al. NCI Monogr 1989.

Appendix B: Project Abstracts

This appendix contains abstracts of the various intervention research projects supported by the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program during the period 1985 to 1990. They are grouped as follows:

- Phase II Studies
- Phase III/IV Intervention Trials
- Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation

Within each grouping, the abstracts are organized alphabetically by the name of each project's principal investigator. Project Abstracts: Phase II Studies

Cigarette Taxation, Addiction, and Smoking Control

Principal Investigator: Frank Joseph Chaloupka IV, Ph.D. **Performing** Organization: National Bureau of Economic Research

The specific aim of this project is to examine empirically the effects of using cigarette excise taxes to discourage cigarette smoking. Also of interest is the impact of clean indoor air laws on cigarette smoking behavior. An empirical framework was developed from a theoretical model of rational addictive behavior that resulted in cigarette demand equations and smoking decision equations that are quite different from those used in the past.

The predictions of the model concerning the direction magnitude of past, current, and future cigarette prices and past and future cigarette consumption, as well as the magnitude of the long-run price elasticity of demand, will be tested empirically using cycle I of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey and its followup. The combination of these surveys yields a longitudinal data set with a unique quantity of information on lifetime cigarette smoking patterns.

Some specific questions that will be addressed are: Is cigarette smoking an addictive behavior? Do smokers behave myopically or rationally? How responsive are cigarette smokers to changes in the price of cigarettes? What do these estimates suggest about the magnitude of the response of cigarette smoking to changes in the Federal excise tax rate on cigarettes? Are the effects limited to infrequent smokers or, as the model suggests, do heavy smokers respond more to price changes in the long run than light smokers? Are the price-induced changes in smoking limited to reductions in the number of cigarettes consumed or do they lead to smoking cessation as well? How are smoking initiation and cessation affected by changes in the price of cigarettes? Are there differential price effects across sexes and/or races?

Using epidemiological studies from the 1970's and 1980's, the results obtained from the estimated demand equations will be used to predict the health consequences of the reductions in smoking provoked by increases in the Federal excise tax rate on cigarettes, particularly the reductions in the smoking-related cancers induced by changes in taxes.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-48360 **Project** Period: 8/1/88-1/31/90

Smoking Cessation and Relapse Prevention: A Community Intervention Project

Principal Investigator: Susan Goldstein Curry, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

The overall purpose of this developmental project was to lay the foundation for a controlled investigation of the effectiveness of mass communication of a recently developed Relapse Prevention Program for smoking cessation. The long-range goals were to: (1) develop an effective method of applying relapse prevention procedures on a community-wide basis, and (2) demonstrate the effectiveness of these procedures in a comparison study involving experimental and control communities in the State of Washington. The specific goals of the developmental project were to: (1) select and

develop liaison with target communities, (2) develop existing relapse prevention materials for community-wide dissemination, and (3) develop outcome assessment strategies.

This project surveyed existing databases and research literature for information relevant to the selection of target communities, developed relapse prevention program materials for mass dissemination, and prepared a phase IV defined population study grant proposal for implementation of the study at the conclusion of the developmental project. Specific tasks included: (1) reviewing census and other population data for potential target communities, (2) preparing profiles of potential target communities and rank ordering their desirability (e.g., in terms of potential travel distance and comparability of community organizations), (3) reviewing existing mass media smoking cessation and other health care promotion programs, (4) assessing the cost of different program delivery formats, and (5) assessing the cost and feasibility of different outcome assessment strategies (e.g., per capita cigarette sales, thiocyanate testing).

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P50-CA-34847 (Subproject D1) Project Period: 7/83-6/85

Multiple Measures of Reducing Passive Smoke Exposure in the Workplace

Principal Investigator: Karen M. Emmons, M.A. **Performing Organization:** Brown University Medical School

This study is designed to validate methodologies for detecting low levels of smoke constituents found in nonsmokers and to evaluate the impact of a total worksite smoking ban on passive smoke exposure. Before, and 6 months following implementation of a smoking ban in the experimental worksite, the following measurements of passive smoke exposure will be taken: (1) saliva cotinine; (2) active sampling of nicotine and respirable particulate matter (RSP); (3) passive sampling of nicotine, cadmium, and RSP; (4) indoor sampling of ambient air quality; and (5) self-monitoring of exposure. In addition, spirometric measurements of lung function will be taken before and following the ban to further assess its health impact.

The goal of this project is to determine which of these assessment methods provides the most sensitive and specific measurement of passive smoke exposure and to determine the reduction in exposure produced by a worksite smoking ban. This study has implications for smoking policy development in the workplace and for the development of worksite health promotion programs.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-48437 Project Period: 9/30/88-9/29/90

Pediatricians' Role in Smoking Prevention and Cessation

Principal Investigator: Barbara L. Frankowski, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Vermont

Pediatricians have frequent interactions with the parents of infants and young children who would not otherwise have contact with the medical profession. The major goal of this project is the initial development of effective methods for providing smoking prevention and smoking cessation advice in pediatricians' offices.

The specific aims are to: (1) identify the current attitudes and activities of pediatricians as these relate to providing smoking prevention and smoking cessation advice to both parents and children; (2) identify the current attitudes, perceived needs, and smoking behavior of parents visiting their child's pediatricians as these relate to their pediatrician providing them with smoking prevention or smoking cessation advice; and (3) develop protocols for pediatricians to use in their offices to help prevent the onset of smoking and to reduce the prevalence of smoking among both parents and children.

These specific aims will be achieved by: (1) surveying all pediatricians (n=90) in Vermont by mail and telephone, using a questionnaire we have pretested among pediatricians in Maine; (2) interviewing 20 pediatricians in depth concerning their smoking prevention and smoking cessation activities in practices randomly selected from those of the pediatricians responding to the survey; and (3) interviewing 600 parents visiting their child's pediatrician in 12 practices randomly selected from those of the respondent pediatricians.

The results of the survey of pediatricians, the indepth interviews with pediatricians, and the interviews with parents will be used to devise the educational objectives and content of a smoking cessation intervention for pediatricians to use in their offices targeting the parents of the children they treat.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R03-CA-48364 **Project Period:** 9/1/88-9/30/90

Identification of Biochemical Markers in Smokers' Breath

Principal Investigator: Sydney M. Gordon, Ph.D Performing Organization: IIT Research Institute

Cessation of smoking substantially decreases the risk of lung cancer among smokers, but the benefit of programs aimed at reducing smoking are sometimes difficult to assess. As self-reported smoking behavior is often unreliable, independent biochemical verification is necessary to validate survey data and monitor compliance.

The ultimate objective of this research program was to develop a noninvasive detector to validate compliance with smoking intervention strategies using volatile organic constituents in expired air. The basic hypothesis was that the exhaled breath of smokers contains volatile organic compounds (VOC) that can be used to determine smoker status. An earlier study found that benzene concentration in the exhaled breath of smokers was substantially higher than that of nonsmokers. The data were generated as part of the TEAM (Total Exposure Assessment Methodology) study that measured human exposure to VOC's in the breath of a group of subjects in New Jersey. Although data were obtained on 100-200 volatile constituents in the breath of each participant, the TEAM study focused on only 20 preselected compounds (including benzene) and ignored the remaining measured volatiles. A subset of the complete database (69 samples) was evaluated to test the hypothesis.

The raw GC/MS data were first conditioned using a set of special computer algorithms. Thereafter, all the variables (GC/MS peaks) were screened both individually and in combination for statistical significance using one-way analysis of variance and stepwise discriminant function analysis.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-43959 Project Period: 8/1/86-7/31/88

Cigarette Smoking Cessation and Relapse

Principal Investigator: Jeffrey E. Harris, M.D., Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Massachusetts Institute of Technology

This research sought to determine the most significant predictors of cigarette smoking cessation and relapse in large, nationally representative, computerized data samples. The main goal of the project was to identify successful "self-help" cessation strategies for the general population.

The analysis focused on the determinants of making quit attempts, the probability of long-term abstinence, and the duration of unsuccessful quit attempts. Special attention was given to the behavior of continuing smokers after a failed attempt, particularly the likelihood of a renewed attempt to quit smoking. Both cross-sectional and longitudinal panels, retrospective and prospective, were studied by means of advanced statistical techniques specifically designed by biological and social scientists for such data bases.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-41117 Project Period: 8/1/85-7/31/86

Conditioned Craving for Cigarettes and Related Phenomena

Principal Investigator: Nancy C. Hemmes, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Queens College, City University of New York

This project investigated the basic behavioral factors underlying persistent smoking behavior. The project tested predictions of the Pavlovian conditioning model, particularly in regard to known deterrents to abstinence from smoking. The goal of the proposed research was to demonstrate conditioned control of cigarette craving (through both objective and subjective indices) and related behavioral and physiological phenomena.

In experiment 1, dependent measures sensitive to cigarette deprivation in experienced smokers were sought. These measures included stated intensity of cigarette craving, rate of smoking, performance on a cognitive task, and heart rate. In experiment 2, experienced smokers were exposed to a Pavlovian conditioning procedure in which one cue was paired with smoking while another cue was paired with abstinence from smoking. Probe sessions and a random control group were used to confirm the associative status of observed behavioral and physiological effects.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-46698 Project Period: 8/15/87-7/31/89

A Study of Black Physicians and Smoking Intervention Strategies

Principal Investigator: Gary King, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Westat, Inc.

The objective of this project was to conduct a baseline study of the characteristics, use, and views of black physicians, in direct patient care, toward smoking intervention strategies for their patients.

The study entailed a nationwide random sampling of black physicians in training and in medical practice. A mail questionnaire was sent to selected physicians to obtain data about five primary areas related to smoking intervention stategies. These areas included: the professional characteristics of the respondents, the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of their patients, the incidence of smoking among their patients, the present use and effectiveness of smoking intervention strategies, their opinions about various smoking intervention strategies, and their suggestions and recommendations for the use of intervention strategies designed to stop cigarette smoking among their black patients. Two focus groups comprised of black doctors and patients and a smoking intervention specialist discussed various phases of the study.

Because the majority of black physicians have clienteles that are predominately black, this study provided reliable and previously unavailable data about the present use and potential of provider-directed smoking cessation strategies for minority groups.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-42696 Project Period: 9/20/85-2/18/88

Development of Methods for Study of the Effects of Worksite Smoking Policies

Principal Investigator: Susan Kinne, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

Worksite smoking policies may encourage smoking cessation, but there is currently little evidence of their impact. This project will provide two kinds of information to aid in the evaluation of the impact of worksite smoking policies on employee smoking cessation. First, a telephone survey of a population of manufacturing worksites in Seattle, Washington, will provide data on smoking policy prevalence and restrictiveness. This will create a directory of worksites for future study and worksite interventions.

Second, analysis of detailed information on organizational variables from a stratified sample of these worksites will suggest factors that may confound any apparent relation between policy restrictiveness and smoking cessation. These variables may then be controlled or matched in future studies evaluating the effect of worksite smoking policies.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0l-CA-34847 (Project I 4) Project Period: 7/88-6/90

Parametric Survival Analysis for Smoking Cessation Data

Principal Investigator: Kenneth J. Koehler, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Iowa State University

Optimal statistical data analysis techniques have not been developed for smoking cessation studies with smoking out (abstinence versus smoking) as the response variable. This project developed and evaluated statistical methods for modeling and analyzing correlated survival data, methods needed for studies where there is interaction among respondents that causes the survival times of some respondents to be affected by the other respondents' results. This occurs in comparative smoking cessation studies where subjects are treated in groups of about 8 to **12** people. Individuals in the same group interact, some are spouses or acquaintances, and the length of time that an individual remains abstinent (the survival time) can be affected by the performance of other members of the same group. Furthermore, some subjects may remain permanently abstinent, so a limited. failure population (LFP) model was constructed to provide a means of estimating the proportion of subjects that will never fail (return to smoking). This could be viewed as a cure rate for other types of human health studies.

The procedures developed are quite general and have been shown to make appropriate adjustments for correlations among responses, The approach is semiparametric, using the two-parameter Weibull distribution for the survival time of the subjects that eventually fail, which also contained a third parameter representing the proportion of subjects that will not fail (the cure rate). Instead of directly modeling the correlations, the approach used resampling techniques, such as the bootstrap or jackknife procedures, to adjust standard errors of the estimates of the parameters in the LFP model and related confidence intervals for the correlations. These techniques were evaluated with an extensive simulation study, and it was found that they generally provide very reliable estimates of parameters, standard errors, and confidence intervals. Application of our procedures to the analysis of data from two smoking cessation studies also indicated that it effectively accounts for correlations among responses.

The simulation study showed that: (1) terminating the study too early can substantially reduce the precision of parameter estimates, especially the estimate of the proportion that will never fail (the cure rate); and (2) the study should be continued until the time at which at least 80 percent of the subjects that will eventually fail have been observed to fail. For smoking cessation studies, this is typically no longer than 6 to 12 months. In smoking cessation programs, the size of the treatment groups may influence the effective-ness of the program, and this must also be considered in selecting group sizes. The

simulation study also indicated that the bootstrap procedure is superior to the jackknife procedure in most situations.

To summarize, the semiparametric procedures developed through this project have been shown to be very effective and reliable in dealing with correlated survival data, and a FORTRAN program has been developed for implementing these procedures.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-44020 Project Period: 9/1/86-5/17/88

Cognitive and Social Support Mediators of Response to a Televised Smoking Cessation Intervention

Principal Investigator: Frederick J. Kviz, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Illinois at Chicago

This project was a prospective, longitudinal study of the role of cognitive and social support factors as mediators of participation and behavior outcomes for an intensive smoking cessation intervention (televised program, self-help manual, and maintenance procedures). These relationships were studied at the individual level and by considering the intervention experience as a process consisting of registration, participation, and repeated response episodes. The project elaborated on the process of participating in a television-based smoking cessation clinic to enhance understanding of factors that influence participant self-selection, nature and extent of participation, and behavioral outcomes and expectations.

Specifically, this project addressed the following aims: (1) to identify configurations of factors that predispose individuals to register in the program; (2) to examine the ability to predict the nature and extent of program participation from the predisposing factors; (3) to examine the ability to predict the change in cognitive and social support factors during the intervention from predisposing factors and program participation; (4) to examine the ability to predict short-term (within 3 months), intermediate (within 12 months), and long-term (24- and 36-month) behavior outcomes from the predisposing factors, change in cognitive and social support factors, and program participation; (5) to identify natural social support resources available to and used by program participants according to the predisposing factors and behavior outcomes; (6) to examine the relationships among social support and cognitive mediators of response to the intervention; (7) to examine differences in use and perceived helpfulness of maintenance procedures; and (8) to identify a parsimonious, longitudinal model of the smoking cessation process.

The analysis focused on repeated measures (pretest, posttest, and followups at 3, 12, 24, and 36 months) collected by telephone interviews with program participants and a one-shot, cross-sectional survey of a sample from the target population at the pretest.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P0I-CA-42760 (**Project** 2) **Project Period:** 7/86-6/89

Psychosocial Aspects of Response to a Televised Smoking Cessation Intervention

Principal Investigator: Frederick J. Kviz, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Illinois at Chicago

This is an ongoing, prospective longitudinal study of the role of psychosocial factors in the smoking cessation process for registrants in a televised, community-based intervention program. The project is designed to enhance our understanding of the dynamic influence of psychosocial factors in the smoking cessation process. The goal of this project is to identify psychosocial factors that influence registration for a televised smoking cessation program, the nature and extent of program participation, and behavioral outcomes over time.

Relationships between program participation and behavioral outcomes will be examined with cognitive structure and social environment variables. The smoking cessation process is viewed as extending beyond the initial program cycle to incorporate subsequent cycles that include maintenance, relapse, late quitting, and recycling. The main analytical focus is on specifying and testing structural models of the smoking cessation process within a conceptual framework that incorporates the health belief model and selfefficacy theory along with aspects of social support and attribution of causation.

The project will study two independent random samples of registrants in a televised smoking cessation intervention conducted in 1987. A pre-post panel has been interviewed by telephone at preintervention and at four postintervention followup points (at the end of the program and at 3 months, 6 months, and 12 months postintervention); a post-only panel has been interviewed at the postintervention followup points. A 24-month followup will be conducted near the end of the current project year, and a final followup interview is proposed at 36 months, for a total of six postintervention followups.

Analyses will be conducted of data collected, analytical ideas will be pursued as insights emerge, and 36-month followup data will be collected and analyzed to assess the long-term smoking cessation process over a 3-year period.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: POI-CA-42760 (Project 2) Project Period: 7/89-12/91

Measurement of Smoking Cessation Interventions

Principal Investigator: Laura Catalin Leviton, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Pittsburgh

This project developed and tested an instrument to measure variation in treatments and setting for smoking cessation interventions.

Twenty sites were studied: five behavioral interventions at worksites, five behavioral interventions at churches or other community organizations, five public service interventions at worksites, and five public service interventions at community organizations.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-41207 Project Period: 9/01/85-8/31/87

Smokeless Tobacco Use Among Ky Youth: A Feasibility Study

Principal Investigator: Melody P. Noland, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Kentucky

This project was a feasibility study that: (1) tested the efficacy of a survey designed to identify various characteristics associated with smokeless tobacco use, (2) tested the practicality of implementing a smokeless tobacco intervention program at the eighth grade level, and (3) field tested the procedures for measuring changes in the use of smokeless tobacco.

The survey was administered to 1,067 students in grades 7-12 in one metropolitan and one nonmetropolitan county in Kentucky. The nonmetropolitan county was a highproduction area for tobacco. Saliva samples were collected from all subjects just before the administration of the survey, and 471 of these samples were later submitted for biochemical testing. In phase one of the study, saliva cotinine was used to distinguish selfreported tobacco users from nonusers and a combination of saliva cotinine and thiocyanate (SCN) tests was used to distinguish smokeless from cigarette users. The combination of cotinine and SCN was effective in distinguishing smokers from smokeless users but was not effective in distinguishing mixed use from the other two types of use. In the second phase of the study, 85 eighth graders in the metropolitan county were exposed to a three-session (55 minutes each) educational intervention program designed to prevent smokeless tobacco use. The primary features of the intervention included a peer teaching component, emphasis on the short-term effects of smokeless tobacco use, and student practice of resistance to persuasive appeals.

Analysis of survey data demonstrated that students' tobacco usage increased dramatically as the degree of personal involvement in raising tobacco increased. Of senior high school boys who had household involvement in tobacco, 100 percent had tried snuff and 42 percent had used it in the past 6 days; 80 percent had tried cigarettes and 53 percent had used them in the past 6 days. Compared with studies summarized by Boyd that used biochemical validation, the usage rates of the nonmetropolitan males in this study exceeded rates reported in all other studies.

The project also found that: (1) use of snuff was more popular than chewing tobacco; (2) a large number of male smokeless users also reported cigarette use; (3) of the nonmetropolitan high school boys who used snuff, 44 percent said they dipped during classes at school; (4) 80 percent of the students felt cigarette smoking was very harmful while only 28 percent believed smokeless tobacco use was very harmful; and (5) nonmetropolitan boys listed "free samples" as a significant factor influencing them to use smokeless tobacco.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R03-CA-44004 **Project Period:** 9/01/86-3/31/88

Analysis of Laws Restricting Smoking in Public Places

Principal Investigator: Nancy A. Rigotti, M.D. **Performing Organization:** Harvard University

Reducing the prevalence of cigarette smoking is an essential component of cancer control efforts. Public policies are social interventions that have the potential to reduce the prevalence of smoking by encouraging current smokers to quit and discouraging potential smokers from adopting the habit. Over the past decade, a growing number of states and communities have passed laws, often called Clean Indoor Air Acts, that restrict smoking in public places and workplaces. This legislation has the potential for widespread impact on both nonsmokers' involuntary smoke exposure and the prevalence of smoking. Both effects would contribute to reducing the incidence of cancer.

The goal of this project was to describe the prevalence and analyze the content of state and community legislation restricting smoking in public places for the eventual study of its impact on smoking behavior. To accomplish these ends, the project:

- Identified and collected all state laws enacted as of July 1, **1988**, which restricted smoking in public places and/or workplaces.
- In a stratified random sample of U.S. cities, identified and collected local ordinances enacted as of July 1, **1988**, which restricted smoking in public places and/or workplaces.
- Analyzed this information to estimate the prevalence of state and local clean indoor air laws, summarize the variability in their contents, and describe geographic and temporal trends in prevalence and content.
- Developed an index to qualify the degree of restrictiveness or comprehensiveness of these laws and used it to analyze geographic and temporal patterns in the strength of state and community clean indoor air laws.

The products of the study included: a current data base of state and local clean indoor air laws, methodology useful for future monitoring of the trend, analysis of the current status of these laws, and an index of policy strength for future evaluations of the impact of these laws.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-48386 Project Period: 8/1/88-7/31/89

Types and Timing of Relapse in Cigarette Smoking

Principal Investigator: Thomas C. Schelling, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** John F. Kennedy School of Government

This study described patterns in the types and timing of the return to smoking by **186** men and women who resumed smoking within 3 months of a quit attempt. In contrast to studies that seek to differentiate subjects who maintain abstinence from those who return. to smoking, this study focused exclusively on the experience of relapse. The sample was drawn from a larger prospective study of smoking cessation conducted by Arthur J.Garvey, Ph.D., of the Veterans Administration.

Data confirmed the existence of substantial variation in patterns of return to smoking. The majority of subjects did *not* immediately return to their new maximum level of regular consumption on smoking their first cigarette; rather, just over one-quarter, 27 percent, of the sample returned "immediately" after their first postcessation cigarette. Forty-two percent returned "gradually," with uninterrupted increased consumption. Thirty percent returned in an "interrupted" pattern, with intermediate periods of abstinence lasting more than 1 day. Detailed descriptive data on other behavioral and cognitive characteristics of the relapse and of prior smoking and quitting history were also reported.

The existence of a transitional period, sometimes protracted and sometimes incorporating intermediate attempts at renewed abstinence, suggests heterogeneity in processes of relapse and also the potential for interventions aimed at this time. Greater baseline motivation and optimism about the quit attempt and greater experience with quitting were associated with a greater likelihood of the more complex and protracted patterns of return to smoking after the first cigarette. Smokers with higher baseline motivation and quitting experience may thus be the best targets for direct relapse prevention efforts.

The baseline correlates of the more complex and protracted returns are consistent with a positive model of cumulative experience and confidence in quitting. However, correlations of characteristics of relapse with variables bearing on outlook for future cessation suggest that the number of days of sustained abstinence before the first postcessation cigarette, and not the length or complexity of the subsequent return to smoking, is related to the attitudes the individual holds toward future quit attempts.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-41121 Project Period: 8/1/85-11/30/86

Tobacco Use and Attitudes Among Rural Youth

Principal Investigator: Kenneth J. Simon Performing Organization: West Virginia University

This study was a survey of smokeless tobacco attitudes and practices among 4,230 West Virginia public school students in grades 5-12 selected by stratified random sampling procedures. The survey also included items on cigarette use. The primary goals of the project were to gather data that would facilitate the development of smokeless tobacco prevention and cessation programs for this population and to support the development of a more detailed phase III-V study in which the effectiveness of such intervention programs could be evaluated.

West Virginia residents have the highest per capita consumption of smokeless tobacco products of any state. West Virginia also has socioeconomic, cultural, and geographical characteristics that make it an excellent setting for studying smokeless tobacco use. The state is rural, yet industrial, with one of the lowest per capita incomes in the Nation and with a population that is poorly educated by national standards.

A detailed questionnaire was teacher-administered in schools selected through a sampling process. Data collection took place during a regular class period utilizing a standard administration protocol. Reliability estimates were adequate for all grade levels. Smokeless tobacco use was confirmed to be rather prevalent among this population. A majority of males had tried smokeless tobacco-54 percent in grades 5-6, 73 percent in grades 7-9, and 82 percent in grades 10-12. Corresponding figures for females were 17, 21, and 20 percent, respectively. The mean age for first use was around 10 years, and about 90 percent of those who had tried it had done so by age 13. Of importance was the finding that the younger the age of first use, the greater the chance of reporting current use.

Current smokeless tobacco users accounted for 16 percent of the total sample. Former users accounted for 10 percent, while 74 percent were never regular users. There were pronounced differences by gender: 17 percent of males in grades 5-6 were users, climbing to 29 percent in grades 7-9, and 39 percent by grades 10-12. Corresponding values for females were 3 percent, 1 percent, and 1 percent, respectively. There were also marked differences in beliefs by user status. Users tended to agree more often than nonusers that smokeless tobacco helps people relax, helps athletes play better, helps people think better, can be a fun thing to do, and is safer than smoking; they less often agreed that smokeless tobacco is harmful to health. A majority of males reporting current use were daily users whereas only 20 percent of females were daily users. It is noteworthy that 20 percent of users reported a parent or older relative as the usual source for their smokeless tobacco. This underscores the cultural support that will need to be addressed in any program that hopes to reduce use.

The results of this project point out the importance of developing a multifaceted approach to smokeless tobacco use among young people, an approach that should be designed to reach families, community members, teachers, and coaches as well as youth themselves.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-46477 Project Period: 9/1/87-7/30/89

A Televised Self-Help Program for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Richard B. Warnecke, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Illinois at Chicago

The purpose of this project is to identify how a televised self-help smoking cessation program reaches various segments of the smoking population and who among this group elects to participate.

Behavior changes in a population of smokers who watch the evening news will be modeled and compared with the behavior of a population who registered for the televised self-help intervention. In addition to assessing the long-term patterns of behavior with survival analyses, regression will be used to assess the incremental impact of various elements of the intervention, including the televised program, the manual, the maintenance condition, and social influence. Finally, the mediating processes that link the intervention to behavior will be modeled using covariance structure modeling techniques.

Existing data will be analyzed to answer questions about selection, competing perturbations, and the intervention. These analyses will be conducted on panels of the population and registrants who have been interviewed through 2 years' postintervention. Additional data will be collected at 36 months to expand the timeframe and to examine new hypotheses generated by the ongoing analyses. A new sample of the population will also be collected to determine measurement effects and to test hypotheses on a new sample of smokers.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: POI-CA-42760 (Project 1) Project Period: 7/89-12/91

Cigarette Advertising and Cancer Control

Principal Investigator: Kenneth E. Warner, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Michigan

The objectives of this project were to assess the mechanisms by which the promotion of tobacco encourages use of tobacco and thereby contributes to related mortality and to examine the policy issues surrounding a national ban on tobacco promotion.

Traditional concern about the influence of tobacco promotion has focused on the impact of cigarette advertising on the direct enticement of young people to initiate smoking habits and for existing smokers to continue to smoke. An often-cited related influence is in advertising's contributing to a social environment in which smoking is deemed acceptable and even desirable. A second indirect mechanism is the impact of the media's dependence on cigarette advertising revenues. The threat of loss of essential revenues, it is argued, has encouraged editors and publishers to restrict coverage of smoking and health, to avoid it when possible, and to "tone it down" when not.

The critics of the media's self-censorship occasionally have alluded to the health implications of the resultant lack of coverage. No one, however, has effectively combined understanding of this self-censorship phenomenon with scientific understanding of the determinants of smoking and health knowledge and its impact on smoking behavior. Through a careful review and interpretation of the literature, this study traced and integrated the impact of advertising on media coverage; the effect of media coverage on consumer knowledge and attitudes; the effect of knowledge and attitudes on behavior change; and the impact of behavior change on health.

Regarding a national ban on tobacco promotion, the research examined the historical context, both within and outside the United States; the diverse political, economic, legal, and philosophical issues; and the likely effects on tobacco use and hence disease. Consideration of the issues included vigorous assessment of the empirical, largely philosophical examination of quantitative issues (e.g., freedom of expression through advertising versus the public's right-to-know).

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-39106 Project Period: 9/1/84-8/31/85
Project Abstracts:Phase III/IV Intervention Trials

Accelerating Worksite Smoking Control Programs

Principal Investigator: David B. Abrams, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Brown University/University of Rhode Island

Worksite smoking control programs can help reduce smoking prevalence and hence smoking-related cancers. Worksites provide access to all smokers regardless of their motivation to change and can reach high-risk subgroups such as blue-collar workers. Previous research conducted at 12 worksites (3,823 individuals; response rates **63** to 80 percent) confirms that, in terms of motivation to change, 7.5 percent of all smokers are ready for action, 20 percent and **61.3** percent are in contemplation or precontemplation stages, respectively, and 11.1 percent are not motivated at all.

This project extends to defined populations, the center's prior and current research in development of measures, and in controlled intervention trials. The aim is to recruit a representative sample of worksites within a geographic area. Of 106 worksites to be contacted, an estimated 74 (70 percent) will refuse entry and 32 (30 percent) will accept. A social marketing companion study of the refusals will be conducted to better understand the barriers to entry.

The 32 worksites that accept entry will be randomized into one of two conditions (n=16). The objective is to evaluate the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of a comprehensive organizational approach in comparison to a usual care (control> condition. The comprehensive organizational intervention will be sustained for 1 year to maximize diffusion within each workforce and includes interventions for both individual self-change as well as organizational change such as incentives, competitions, and policy. For efficiency of effort and cost, the interventions will be disseminated through a worksite resource center.

Outcome evaluation will be accomplished by means of three surveys of the workforce conducted at baseline and then repeated at 1 and 2 years. A focus will be on intermediate outcome evaluation (program, process, and mediating mechanisms). A cost-effectiveness analysis will be conducted. Final outcome will consist of 7-day and con-tinuous abstinence rates, using saliva cotinine validation postintervention, at 1 year and at 12-month followup (2 years).

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: Pol-CA-50087 (Project 2) Project Period: 9/89-8/94

Self-Help Smoking Cessation at the Worksite

Principal Investigator: David B. Abrams, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Miriam Hospital/Brown University

This 5-year program of research provided a controlled evaluation of the short- and long-term effectiveness of self-help smoking cessation programs at the worksite.

In phase I, three worksites participated in a randomized trial to compare individual self-help to two forms of group self-help (support and brief behavioral skills training). Results indicated that individual self-help was more cost-effective than group self-help (\$196 versus \$450 and \$700 per quitter) using 12-month cotinine-validated followup data. Furthermore, there were no significant differences between conditions on overall

outcomes (20 percent; 11 percent; 10 percent) 7 day point prevalence abstinence although the trend was in the direction of the individual condition.

In phase II, four worksites were assigned to a comprehensive organizational intervention versus a more traditional "one-shot" individual approach. The focus here was on all the smokers in the workplace rather than simply those motivated to quit. Multiple, sustained, and serial interventions, including incentives, competitions, and a variety of treatment programs, were offered over an 8-month intervention. Preliminary results revealed that contact was made with more than 25 percent of the population of smokers as opposed to less than 10 percent of those ready to quit in traditional one-shot programs. Reductions in overall prevalence were in the range of 14 percent for the organizational approach versus 7.5 percent for the comparison minimal treatment condition.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38309 Project Period: 9/20/84-8/31/90

High-Risk Adolescent Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Dennis V. Ary, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Oregon Research Institute/Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

This is an experimental evaluation of a program to reduce smoking among adolescent members of an HMO. Affecting adolescent smoking through contacts with health care providers offers a promising complement to school-based and other attempts to affect teenagers' smoking.

The program consists of office-based screening and intervention, followup contacts. contacts with significant others, provision of additional cessation services, and outreach activities. The intervention is built around an expanded nursing role supported by HMO-wide program resources and will continue over a 2-year period.

Study subjects will consist of 700 adolescents ages 14 and 15 who self-report smoking one or more cigarettes in the week before screening. They will be identified through a process of questionnaire and telephone surveys of all HMO subscribers in the target age category. Those reporting smoking will be assessed in their homes, and data will also be collected from the mother. Brief questionnaire data and expired air carbon monoxide will be obtained from both the mother and the adolescent, Saliva samples will be obtained from the adolescents for later analysis of cotinine.

Following the pretreatment assessment, subjects will be randomly assigned to either receive the treatment or to be in a nontreatment control condition. Subjects will be assessed again at 1- and 2-year followup visits.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0I-CA-44648 (Project 4) Project Period: 4/87-3/90

Mass Media and Prevention of Adolescent Smoking

Principal Investigator: Karl E. Bauman, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Three mass media campaigns were designed, implemented, and evaluated to assess their impact on the initiation of cigarette smoking by adolescents.

The campaigns were based on behavioral science theory and extensive formative research, and they were designed to be capable of ready distribution throughout the United States. The campaigns featured different combinations of 30- and 60-second radio and television messages on the expected consequence of smoking. Two campaigns included a peer-involvement component to stimulate young people to personally encourage others their age not to smoke cigarettes.

Ten Standard Metropolitan Statistical Areas in the southeast United States were in the research design; six areas received campaigns and four served as controls. Baseline data were gathered in the homes of adolescents and mothers. The campaigns were implemented during a 6-month period. Followup data were gathered 2 years after baseline.

The findings suggest that the consequences expected from smoking and the perception of friend approval of smoking were influenced as much by the least expensive radio campaign as by the more expensive campaigns that involved television and the peer-involvement component, that the peer-involvement component was not effective, and that the detection of effects for smoking was precluded by unexpectedly large variance within treatment conditions.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38392 Project Period: 7/1 1/84-5/31/90

Compliance With Nicotine-Bearing Chewing Gum

Principal Investigators: J. Allan Best, Ph.D., Douglas M.C. Wilson, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Waterloo

Two randomized trials of physician-initiated smoking interventions were completed. Initial results appeared in the *Journal of the American Medical Association* (1988, 260(11):1570-4) and in the *Journal of Family Practice* (1989, 128(1):49-55).

The first study involved 83 physicians in 70 practices. The 70 practices were randomly allocated to one of three treatments: usual care (UC), gum only (GO), or gum plus (GP). Patients arriving at the physician's office for regularly scheduled visits were approached for study participation by the office receptionist. UC physicians were told to treat patients who were smokers in their usual manner. They were not alerted as to which patients had been enrolled in the trial by the receptionist. GO physicians were told to advise smokers to quit and to offer a prescription of nicotine gum. These physicians were alerted by the receptionist when a patient was recruited for the study. The GP physicians were given a 4-hour training session that dealt with the elements of a smoking cessation intervention. They were taught how to approach and advise patients about smoking cessation, to offer a prescription for nicotine gum and explain its appropriate use, to contract a quit date with the patient, and to make an offer of a quit date visit and four additional followups.

A total of 1,942 patients was recruited by the study physicians. The primary endpoint in the study was saliva/cotinine-validated smoking cessation at 1 year in addition to selfreported abstinence of at least 3 months. The results showed that GP physicians attained higher quit rates than the GO and UC groups, which did not differ from one another. The cessation rates, adjusted for differences in baseline covariates, were 8.8 percent, 6.1 percent, and 4.4 percent in GP, GO, and UC groups, respectively. Although the benefit of the GP intervention was not absolutely large, its impact on a population level is potentially very important.

The second study involved a comparison of two interventions. All physicians in this study received a training session similar to that received by GP physicians in the first study. Patients were recruited by office receptionists when they arrived at physician offices for regularly scheduled visits. Patients were randomly allocated to receive an intervention involving advice, self-help literature, contract for a quit date, and offer of followup support or a similar intervention with the added offer of a prescription of nicotine gum. The objective of this study was to determine whether the offer of gum had an effect on outcome when added to a relatively intensive intervention in a primary care setting.

A total of 223 patients was recruited to the study. The primary endpoint was saliva/cotinine-validated cessation at 1 year in addition to self-reported abstinence of at least 3 months. No difference between treatments was observed, but the confidence interval on the difference was sufficiently large that a meaningful benefit of gum could not be excluded. The absence of a gum effect is consistent with other findings on the effect of nicotine gum in primary care.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38334 Project Period: 9/30/84-8/31/87

A Comprehensive Approach to the Prevention of Smoking

Principal Investigator: Anthony Biglan, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Oregon Research Institute

The purpose of this project was to develop and experimentally evaluate the effects of a comprehensive school-based smoking prevention program. The research had three major aims: (1) to compare the effects of the program with a no-treatment control condition at the end of 1, 2, 3, and 4 years of intervention; (2) to experimentally test whether deterrence is increased by a greater number of years of intervention; and (3) to determine whether smoking prevention effects are stronger when the program is targeted in middle schools or high schools.

The prevention program focused on teaching young people skills for dealing with social pressures to smoke. The program was presented in grades 6 through **12**, and all students in a given school receive the program. The in-class elements of the curriculum were supplemented by a schoolwide component and by features that increased parental influences not to smoke. Video instructional programs were developed for grades 6 through 12. Schoolwide activities were implemented in high schools.

The study was designed so that high schools and junior high schools that fed into it were randomly assigned to treatment or control. A total of 37 schools in Lane County and Portland, Oregon, participated in the study.

The project is completing its final year of data collection in 1989. Those data will be analyzed and the results presented in manuscripts for publication, The curriculum program will be printed and disseminated to all schools that participated in the study.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38273 **Project Period:** 8/1/84-8/31/90

Cancer Risk Reduction Through Smoking Prevention

Principal Investigator: Gilbert J. Botvin, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Cornell University Medical College

This study was designed to extend previous research conducted with a promising smoking prevention approach called life skills training (LST). The LST approach attempts to reduce students' susceptibility to social influences to smoke and to enhance their general coping skills. This study tested the effectiveness of the LST prevention strategy both alone and in combination with schoolwide support activities in a heterogeneous population, including a mix of urban and suburban students.

Schools were randomly assigned to one of the three conditions after first blocking on variables associated with smoking onset. The final research sample consisted of 3,963 students from 20 schools in the New York City area who were assessed at the beginning of the seventh grade (pretest) and at the end of the seventh grade (posttest). A total of nine schools (1,438 students) were in suburban areas, and 11 schools (2,525 students) were in urban areas. The sample was 58 percent white, 20 percent black, and the remaining 22 percent were from other ethnic groups. Followup data were collected at the end of both the eighth and ninth grades.

Significant program effects were found for cigarette smoking at the initial posttest and again at the 2-year followup using individual-level data. Significant reduction in cigarette smoking was also obtained for the school-level analysis at the 2-year followup. These findings are of particular interest because program effects were determined with respect to daily smoking, which is the most significant with respect to cancer risk reduction. However, although the results were in the predicted direction for both treatment conditions, significant effects were only obtained for the individuals receiving both the classroombased LST program and the schoolwide antismoking support activities. Significant intervention effects in the predicted direction were also evident for several mediating variables. Implementation evaluation data, along with the pattern of results concerning the mediating variables, suggest the presence of implementation difficulties in the urban schools. The presence of such difficulties, as well as the rather high truancy evident among urban students, suggests that effective implementation of smoking prevention programs in urban schools may be difficult to achieve. Additional research is needed to identify and overcome obstacles to effective implementation to affect high-risk populations that may be difficult to reach.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R18-CA-33917 **Project Period:** 8/1/83-7/31/86

Primary Prevention (Smoking) of Cancer for Black Populations

Principal Investigator: Gilbert J. Botvin, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Cornell University Medical College

This study is designed to evaluate the effectiveness of a promising smoking prevention approach with black youth in grades seven through nine. The skills-based prevention approach will be evaluated using a combination of behavioral self-report items concerning cigarette smoking and hypothesized mediating variables.

Data collection instruments and project protocols have been completed and given approval by OMB. A pilot study designed to test the feasibility and acceptability of this prevention approach has been completed. The data from 900 seventh graders from nine schools have been collected and analyzed. A pilot test report was completed in June 1989, and the full-scale study involving 30 schools and approximately 4,000 students began in September 1989. Half of the 30 schools are assigned to the experimental condition and half to the control condition.

Project Officer: Gregory M. Christenson, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN-65006 Project Period: 9/30/86-9/29/91

Smoking Prevention Among New York Hispanic Youth

Principal Investigator: Gilbert J. Botvin, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Cornell University Medical College

This study is evaluating the long-term effectiveness of the Life Skills Training Program in preventing onset of cigarette smoking among urban Hispanic students. Instruments and curriculum materials were reviewed and, where necessary, revisions were made to ensure a high degree of cultural sensitivity and acceptability. The results of a pilot study (n = 471) provided evidence of the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of this prevention approach for reducing cigarette smoking in this population. In addition, this study indicated that Hispanic students who were more acculturated and had smokers as friends were more likely to smoke.

Following the conclusion of the pilot study, a large-scale prevention study was initiated with predominantly Hispanic, urban, minority students from 47 New York City public and parochial schools. Schools were randomly assigned to experimental and control conditions after blocking on school type, ethnic composition, and smoking prevalence. Students were pretested and posttested by questionnaire, and carbon monoxide samples were collected. First-year data from **3**, **153** seventh graders revealed significant program effects, using school as the unit of analysis, for cigarette smoking and several hypothesized mediating variables. These results extend the findings of previous research and demonstrate the generalizability of this approach to predominantly Hispanic, urban minority students attending public and parochial schools. Followup data will be collected during the eighth and ninth grades to determine the durability of these effects.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R18-CA-39280 **Project Period:** 7/1/85-6/30/90

Motivating and Mobilizing the Confirmed Smoker

Principal Investigator: Dee Burton, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Illinois at Chicago

A strikingly high percentage (about 30 percent) of smokers in the population panel of a previous study have never tried to quit smoking. This group of "confirmed smokers" cuts across all socioeconomic and ethnic groups. Although clinical literature has reported a rich amount of data describing smokers who are motivated to quit, there is no comparable body of literature describing unmotivated or confirmed smokers.

The confirmed smoker appears to be an average-amount smoker who is unconcerned about smoking from the standpoint of health, social influences, or personal mastery; smokes for pleasure; enjoys stronger cigarettes; is fatalistic about causality as it relates to smoking; and is less likely than other smokers to have confidence in his/her ability to quit if he/she were to try to do so.

This project will conduct a series of assessments aimed at identifying factors with potential for motivating the confirmed smoker to want to quit smoking and mobilizing the confirmed smoker to participate in a televised self-help smoking cessation program. This set of assessments will take place in five phases. Phase one will consist of focus groups and structured interviews aimed at obtaining relatively in-depth qualitative information about potential motivators and mobilizers. Phase two will analyze data comparing confirmed smokers with other smokers from a new cross-sectional population telephone survey of 1,200 subjects. Phase three will analyze selected data from three projects, including smokers who are attempting to quit for the first time. Phase four will consist of a small laboratory experiment comparing three sets of motivational materials based on information gathered in the first three phases. Data analyses and report writing will comprise phase five.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: POI-CA-42760 (Project 6) Project Period: 7/89-12/91

Smoking Prevention in Hispanic Adolescents

Principal Investigators: Emilio Carrillo, M.D., M.P.H., 9/85-7/89, Sarah A. McGraw, M.A., 8/89-8/90

Performing Organization: New England Research Institute

This is a 5-year project to develop, implement, and evaluate a program aimed at smoking prevention in Puerto Rican adolescents in Boston, Massachusetts.

A baseline survey of 1,242 households that contain at least one eligible adolescent in both Boston, Massachusetts, and Hartford, Connecticut, was carried out during 1986-1987. The data from this survey, along with data from a behavior analytic study, provided necessary information for program development and content. The program consisted of multichanneled interventions designed to provide individual adolescents with the skills to resist both peer and media pressure to smoke and to create an environment in the adolescents' communities that is supportive of nonsmoking behaviors. The program was presented in schools, community festivals, the Hispanic media, family households, street corners, and health centers. To date, 3,703 individuals are documented as having had contact with the intervention program.

The outcome evaluation will consist of a followup interview with the adolescents who were initially surveyed in Hartford and Boston. Hartford will serve as a comparison site for the Boston intervention.

The program was implemented and is being evaluated using a pretest and posttest design in the intervention (Boston) and comparison (Hartford) communities. The cohort of adolescents identified in the baseline (1986-87) survey of both cities will be reinterviewed following the intervention. Pretest and posttest measures were also obtained on the intervention program participants as part of the process evaluation. Analyses will focus on comparisons of pretest and posttest changes in smoking behavior between subjects in the intervention and the comparison communities.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R18-CA-39304 Project Period: 9/1/85-8/31/90

Physician Counseling for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigators: Thomas J. Coates, Ph.D., Steven R. Cummings, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of California at San Francisco

This program, involving 200 private practice and HMO physicians and more than 17,000 patients, included a seminar to teach physicians about smoking cessation and several brief office-based procedures, the provision of specific cessation materials, instructions on the use of nicotine gum, and techniques for establishing a quit date. Particular attention was given to minimizing patient relapse and maximizing physician compliance.

Physicians could help many people quit smoking, but they receive little training about counseling smokers. An intensive program ("Quit for Life") was developed to teach physicians strategies for helping smokers quit: ask if patients smoke, motivate smokers to quit, plan quit dates, schedule followup appointments, and give smokers self-help pamphlets. To test the efficacy of this program, 40 internists in Kaiser-Permanente Medical Centers were randomly assigned to receive the training while 41 other internists served as controls. Internists enrolled in the program discussed smoking with more patients who smoked, spent more time counseling them about smoking, helped more patients set dates to quit smoking, gave out more self-help booklets, and made more followup appointments to discuss smoking than internists in the control group. One year later, the rate of biochemically confirmed, long-term (9 months) abstinence from smoking was 1 percent higher among all patients of trained internists than among patients of controls (95-percent confidence interval: -0.2 percent to +2.2 percent) and 2.3 percent (+0.2 percent to +4.3 percent) higher among the trained internists' patients who most wanted to quit smoking.

In another test of the program, physicians in private practice were recruited into a randomized trial. Physicians who received the experimental program counseled more of their smokers (64 percent) than did physicians in the control group (44 percent), spent more time counseling (7.5 vs. 5.2 minutes), set more dates to quit (29 percent vs. 5 percent of those counseled), scheduled more followup appointments about smoking (19 percent vs. 11 percent of those counseled), and gave more self-help pamphlets (37 percent vs. 9 percent). Despite these differences in counseling, no significant differences were found in long-term biochemically validated rates of smoking cessation between patients in the experimental (3.2 percent) and control groups (2.5 percent, 95-percent confidence interval for the difference: -1.7 percent to +3.1 percent).

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38374 **Project Period:** 7/1/84-11/30/89

Stress and Social Support in the Self-Quitting of Smoking

Principal Investigators: Sheldon Cohen, Ph.D., Edward Lichtenstein, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Carnegie-Mellon University

This research studied the influence of psychosocial factors, including stress and social support, on maintenance or relapse in persons attempting to quit smoking with little or no formal support. One outcome of prototypical ways by which smokers try to quit was also evaluated. Subjects were recruited from participants in the American Cancer Society Fresh Start programs, individuals who requested self-help materials from the Christmas Seal League (American Lung Association) and persons who quit without assistance as a New Year's resolution.

Strong evidence was found for a relation between decreases in stress and quitting and for increases in stress and relapse. Although causal inferences cannot be made from the data, arguments are made that smoking is stressful for persons wanting to quit and that quitting reduces stress. Social support from spouses and partners was found to relate to successful quitting. The *proportion* of positive (cooperation and reinforcement for quitting) to negative (policing and nagging) behaviors delivered by a spouse or partner was an excellent predictor of long-term maintenance of abstinence. The frequencies of positive and negative behaviors (alone or combined) were associated with short-term abstinence, but only the ratio of these behaviors was associated with long-term abstinence.

Project **Officer:** Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38243 **Project Period:** 9/1/84-8/31/88

Physician/Dentist Interventions for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigators: Stuart Cohen, Ed.D., George Stookey, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Indiana University School of Medicine and Indiana University School of Dentistry

The goal of this research program was to develop and validate practical methods that help physicians and dentists encourage their patients to stop smoking cigarettes. In parallel studies, 116 primary care physicians and 50 dentists in private practice and their entire panel of patients who smoked were randomly assigned to receive either fluorescent reminders attached to the charts of all smokers, free access to nicotine gum, neither, or both. To determine the amount and nature of the smoking counseling, research assistants interviewed smokers immediately after their regularly scheduled office visit. During the exit interview, patients were asked about their current smoking status and were tested for breath carbon monoxide.

For physicians, the use of chart reminders or the availability of nicotine gum significantly increased the amount of time they spent counseling patients about smoking and resulted in a twofold to sixfold increase in validated patient quit rates 1 year later (Ann Intern Med 1989;110[8]:648-52). For dentists, only the nicotine gum conditions produced such results (J Am Dent Assoc 1989;118:41-5).

Stage I results showed that the interventions were efficacious when the implementation of the reminder stickers was done by the research assistants and the nicotine gum was provided at no cost. A second set of studies was designed to test the effectiveness of these interventions when implemented by the regular office staff. A new cohort of 36 primary care physicians from a large-staff model HMO and 38 dentists in private practice and their patients who smoke were randomly assigned to either an educational control group, to the best stage I intervention implemented by the "research staff," or the best stage I intervention implemented by their own office staff. For the office staff condition. offices were provided with a weekly list of names of their patients who were smokers and a supply of chart reminders and nicotine gum instruction sheets. In addition, nicotine gum prescriptions were the financial responsibility of the patients. Preliminary results were based on assessment of the office conditions and interviews with 1,168 medical patients and 1,036 dental patients. For placing stickers on charts of smokers and attaching nicotine gum instruction sheets to the charts, the office support in the dental offices appeared to be considerably better than in the medical offices. The behavior of the office staff in following the smoking program protocol was associated with the nature and amount of counseling that physicians and dentists gave to their patients who smoke.

It appears that the success of office-based smoking cessation efforts depends on changing the nature of the practice system and not just the counseling skills of the practitioners. The factors that expedite or inhibit the change of office systems to foster preventive care remain to be determined.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38337 Project Period: 8/1/84-11/30/89

Cancer Control by Self-Help Smoking Interventions

Principal Investigator: K. Michael Cummings, Ph.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** Roswell Park Memorial Institute

This experimental study was designed to evaluate the effects of two features of selfhelp smoking cessation booklets: format (i.e., day-by-day plan for quitting versus a lessstructured menu format) and quitting instructions (i.e., "cold turkey" versus gradual reduction) on smoking cessation.

Four separate self-help booklets were developed for comparison in this study. Each varied on a combination of the two study factors but were similar in content, length, style, and readability. The four booklets provided similar advice on how to quit smoking, emphasizing behavioral self-management principles. In addition to the experimental booklets, a fifth control booklet provided general information about smoking and its adverse effects but no specific advice on quitting.

Study subjects included 1,534 adult cigarette smokers who called a stop-smoking hotline in Buffalo, New York, seeking information on how to quit. Subjects were followed up by phone 1 month and 6 months after enrollment to assess changes in smoking behavior.

Overall, 18 percent of subjects reported being off cigarettes for at least 1 week at the time of the 6-month followup interview. The format of the booklet and quitting instructions had no effect on smoking cessation rates. In addition, the four booklets emphasizing behavioral self-management skills were no more effective than the control booklet (6-month nonsmoking prevalence rate: 17 percent versus 19 percent). It is recommended that future self-help, quit-smoking booklets include information aimed at motivating cessation and focus less attention on teaching strategies for quitting.

Project **Officer:** Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-36265 **Project Period:** 2/1/84-1/31/86

Effectiveness of Targeted Antismoking Communications

Principal Investigator: K. Michael Cummings, Ph.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** Roswell Park Memorial Institute

The aim of this research is to develop and test targeted communication strategies designed to motivate and assist cigarette smokers to stop smoking. This study will involve the collaborative efforts of investigators at two cancer centers: Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) in Buffalo, New York, and the Fox Chase Cancer Center (FCCC) in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

The theory underlying the proposed research is that communications tailored to specific population segments will be more effective than communications that are not targeted. Women cigarette smokers with children (under the age of 6) are the target population for this research. The proposed research involves two separate but theoretically related and coordinated experiments.

The first experiment involves the testing of a targeted mass media campaign designed to motivate smokers to call the Cancer Information Service (CIS) for information on quitting. The campaign will use a mix of professionally produced Tv and radio spots and print material executed in two 3-month waves over a 12-month period. The campaign will be tailored to appeal to the interests and media use habits of the target population, although response to the campaign from other smokers will be assessed. The campaign will be implemented in 7 of 14 media markets located in New York State, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware. Response to the campaign will be assessed by monitoring the number of calls to the CIS offices at FCCC and RPMI from smokers residing in the experimental and control market areas.

The second experiment involves a comparison of the effectiveness of three self-help smoking cessation booklets. The study population will include women smokers with preschool-age children who call CIS seeking information on how to stop smoking. Study subjects will be randomly assigned to one of three groups. Group 1, the targeted group, will receive a booklet entitled "Quitting Times," which was written specifically for women with preschool-age children. Smokers assigned to group 2 will receive the American Lung Association's recently revised quit-smoking booklet "Freedom From Smoking for You and Your Family." A third group will receive "Clearing the Air," a self-help booklet developed by NCI. Subjects enrolled in the booklet study will be followed up by telephone 6 months after calling CIS to assess changes in smoking behavior.

Project Officer: Barry Portnoy, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-45930 Project Period: 9/30/87-8/31/90

Curtailing the Use of Smokeless Tobacco Through 4-H ("Project 4-Health")

Principal Investigator: Carol D'Onofrio, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of California at Berkeley School of Public Health

Project 4-health is a 5-year research and education project aimed at curtailing the use of smokeless tobacco and cigarettes by young people participating in California's 4-H Youth Program. Patterns of tobacco use and factors related to this behavior were identified through an initial period of exploratory research followed by a formal survey of 2,600 4-H members belonging to 77 community clubs in 25 California counties. Results guided the development of an interactive tobacco education program designed for costeffective delivery in out-of-school youth organizations by volunteer leaders. The program emphasizes the development of personal and family policies about tobacco use as well as the development of youth leadership to curtail tobacco use by friends in the school and community. Parent participation is encouraged.

To evaluate the program, 78 4-H community clubs from 26 California counties were matched for size and geographic proximity. Baseline data were collected from 2,023 club members ages 10 to 14; clubs in each matched pair were randomly assigned to a program or control condition. Trained leaders delivered the five-session program to designated clubs, and a followup survey of young people in both treatment and control conditions was conducted. A final followup survey will be conducted in spring 1990 to test long-term program effects. In addition, the cost-effectiveness and feasibility of delivering tobacco intervention programs through 4-H and other out-of-school youth organizations will be assessed through extensive process evaluation.

This project is being conducted within the University of California through collaboration between the School of Public Health at Berkeley and the 4-H Youth Program of the University of California Cooperative Extension.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-41733 **Project Period:** 9/30/85-9/29/90

Primary Prevention (Smoking) of Cancer in Black Populations

Principal Investigator: William Darity, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Massachusetts at Amherst

This project is designed to test the effectiveness of a community intervention to reduce smoking among low- and middle-income blacks. Matched experimental and control communities from four geographical areas of the northeastern and southeastern sections of the United States are participating in the project.

A pilot test of the procedures, methods, and intervention was completed during the summer of and the full trial began in the fall of 1989. A complex sampling methodology is being used to identify household units where in-home personal interviews will be conducted. It is anticipated that approximately 3,600 individuals will participate in the study.

Project **Officer:** Gregory M. Christenson, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** N01-CN-65006 **Project Period:** 9/30/86-9/29/91

Prevention of Smokeless Tobacco Use During Adolescence

Principal Investigator: Thomas M. DiLorenzo, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Missouri

The major objective of this study was to assess the prevalence and characteristics of tobacco use among 5th,8th, and 12th grade students in the State of Missouri. Self-report information was obtained from a representative sample of 5,431 students in 78 schools throughout the State of Missouri. An 87-item student questionnaire was utilized that provided information designed to assess the following variables: cigarette use, smokeless tobacco use, marijuana use, alcohol and other drug use (including past use, present use, expected future use, and quitting attempts); parental, sibling, and significant other substance use; and psychosocial issues important in the initiation and continuation of tobacco and drug use. A seven-item school personnel questionnaire was utilized to obtain information concerning the assessment of the current use of tobacco, marijuana, alcohol, and other drug use of the children/adolescents involved in the school.

Findings indicated that both cigarette smoking and smokeless tobacco use were more common among males than females for each grade level except the 12th grade, where 30 percent of females and 28 percent of males had smoked during the previous week. Smoking prevalence was considerably lower in blacks than in whites. Smokeless tobacco use was rare among both blacks and females. Smokeless tobacco use was more common than cigarette smoking in rural areas, among whom 17 percent of 8th graders and 33 percent of 12th graders had used smokeless tobacco during the previous week. The mean age of first use of cigarettes was slightly lower in the rural area than in the urban area, whereas the mean age of initial smokeless tobacco use was more than a year earlier in the rural area. Data regarding the perceived difficulty of quitting smoking and quit rates suggested that adolescent females have more difficulty quitting smoking than males. Male smokeless tobacco users appear to be more addicted than male cigarette smokers. The preferred

brand of smokeless tobacco by grade level indicated that users may switch to progressively stronger types of smokeless tobacco as a nicotine tolerance is developed.

These findings support the conclusion that tobacco use is a serious problem with Missouri adolescents. In addition, the results indicate that for prevention programs to be optimally effective (i.e., to be presented before adoption of weekly use) intervention should occur between the fifth and eighth grades.

Project **Officer:** Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-45576 **Project Period:** 9/30/87-3/31/89

Project SHOUT_: Smokeless Tobacco Prevention in Public schools

Principal Investigator: John Elder, Ph.D. Performing Organization: San Diego State University

Project SHOUT (Students Helping Others Understand Tobacco) is a 5-year program designed to evaluate the effectiveness of a refusal skills training approach for preventing both cigarette and smokeless tobacco use among adolescents. During the pilot year, two classrooms from 16 junior high schools were randomly assigned to one of three conditions: intervention, incentive only, or control. Intervention students received 10 hours of instruction over two semesters, including lessons on health and social consequences of tobacco use, tobacco industry advertising techniques, and social skills training to resist peer pressure. Students earned tokens for participating in the program. Tokens were reimbursed for prizes donated by local businesses at the end of the program. Teams of volunteer undergraduate students received 20 hours of training before implementing the 10 lessons.

Incentive-only students were not exposed to the intervention package. Instead, these students received three spot-check visits during which students anonymously provided tobacco use prevalence rates. Three volunteers per classroom per visit were then asked to verify their reported nonuse via a carbon monoxide breath exam. Nonusers received nominal prizes on the spot for being tobacco free. Control students received no education other than "usual care." Students from intervention and control conditions completed a written and physiological assessment (saliva for cotinine). Analysis of this short pilot program yielded positive results that approached statistical significance.

Evaluators also developed and pilot-tested a behavioral skills test. Students from four randomly selected intervention and control schools (N = 78) were selected for measurement. Students listened to 20 tape-recorded situations and were asked to respond aloud to the tobacco offers. Responses were recorded and analyzed for length and content. Results indicated no significant differences between conditions on response length. Content analysis revealed that intervention students used significantly higher quality responses.

The volunteer health facilitators were observed and rated on their performance by evaluators during class presentations. Facilitators rated themselves on personality characteristics. Staff members also rated facilitator "manageability" in terms of their ability to cooperate, be responsible, etc. Results indicated that the most effective facilitators were more difficult to manage and were more extroverted.

During the second year of research, we recruited 23 new junior high schools throughout San Diego County (approximately 4,000 students). These students will be followed during their 7th, 8th, and 9th grade years. Following distribution of either passive or active consent forms, evaluators administered a pretest survey to all students. Schools were then randomly assigned to either the intervention or control condition after matching the schools' tobacco use prevalence rates and size. Again, intervention students received 10 hours of instruction but also participated in the Fresh Mouth Contest (breath test procedure). Tokens were again distributed and reimbursed for prizes.

Evaluators replicated the behavioral skills tests with some modifications. Four hundred students determined at pretest to be at high risk for future tobacco use were selected for testing and responded to **14** tobacco situations. Students from both conditions completed a posttest survey and submitted another saliva sample. Results from these assessments are pending.

During the second year of main phase intervention, students will continue rehearsing refusal skills. They will also be working on six community action projects designed to motivate students to spread their antitobacco message to others in the community. Parents will be invited to a teen/parent communication workshop and will be recruited to join a student-sponsored smoking cessation contest.

The final year of implementation will consist of behavioral reminders and the written survey, distributed through the mail.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-44921 Project Period: 7/1/87-6/30/92

The Effect of Pharmacists' Advice on Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Allan Ellsworth, Pharm.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Washington

Clear-cut, unambiguous, simple physician advice to patients on the importance of smoking cessation has a significant impact on quit rates, Pharmacists are perceived as health professionals to whom patients can turn with their health problems. Patients have easy accessibility to pharmacists and consistently rate them highly in terms of professional honesty and ethical standards. The objective of the proposed study is to determine whether pharmacists' advice and patient education against smoking during routine prescription dispensing can have an impact on the quit rates of smoking patients. If such a relationship exists, a collective patient education effort mounted by practicing pharmacists during routine dispensing could yield large numbers of exsmokers.

The proposed study will involve a consortium of practicing pharmacists and test interventions that can realistically be fit into day-to-day pharmacy practice. Following a uniform, concentrated review of tobacco abuse and smoking cessation strategies, these pharmacists will randomly perform one of the following four study interventions on consenting patients requesting prescription service during a l-month study period: (1) administer nonintervention control questionnaires; (2) administer smoking-related control questionnaires; (3) administer smoking-related questionnaires, advise patients to stop smoking, and provide patients with printed material from the Pharmacists' "Helping Smokers Quit" Kit (American Pharmaceutical Association and National Cancer Institute); (4) same as group 3 with the addition of a Nicorette® prescription and scheduled followup visits for patients without contraindications to the drug.

Followup questionnaires will be sent to patients at 3 months and 1 year for self-reported outcome, and biochemical validation will be attempted at 1 year in self-reported quitters.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-48607 Project Period: 9/1/88-2/28/90

WorkWell—Cancer Prevention for Rural Energy Workers

Principal Investigator: Michael P. Eriksen, Sc.D. **Performing Organization:** The University of Texas, M.D. Anderson Cancer Center

The purpose of this study is to develop, implement, and evaluate a comprehensive health promotion/cancer prevention program called "WorkWell" designed specifically for rural, blue-collar energy transmission workers. Matched worksites will be randomized to receive either a comprehensive or a minimal intervention. Changes in the tobacco and nutrition behaviors of the "WorkWell" sites will be compared with matched comparison sites using an experimental design with the worksite serving as the unit of analysis. Six organizations (five natural gas pipeline companies and the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association) are participating in the study, comprising a total of 73 worksites.

The intervention will seek to reduce tobacco use and improve dietary behaviors and is directed at three components of each worksite: (1) the organizational and administrative characteristics of the employer, (2) the immediate work environment, and (3) the individual worker and his family. Diffusion theory, social learning theory, and the transtheoretical model provide the conceptual foundation for the interventions. This integrated approach will serve the needs of individuals in all stages of the change process from those who are intransigent about their behavior to those who have entered the action stage. Measurement and evaluation procedures will determine: (1) a reduction in the use of tobacco products and fat consumption and an increase in dietary fiber, (2) change from baseline in organizational policies and practices, (3) environmental incentives and support, and (4) the extent of program implementation.

It is expected that this study will result in a program and process that will be generalizable for use in all worksites, especially for those with blue-collar, hard-to-reach workers. The findings of the study will contribute to applied social science, both to the theoretical foundations of individual change and also to an understanding of organizations and environments that promote and enable positive health behavior change, particularly in blue-collar populations.

Project Officer: Jerianne Heimendinger, Ph.D Identification Number: U01-CA-51671 Project Period: 9/30/89-8/31/94

Late Adolescent Smoking: Process Analysis and Deterrence

Principal Investigator: Richard I. Evans, Ph.D. **Performing** Organization: University of Houston

Based on a preintervention cross-sectional survey of a representative sample of 9th-, 10th-, and llth-grade students (n = 4,150), the cognitive-psychosocial-behavioral processes related to adolescent smoking were assessed. This information has been used to develop, implement, and evaluate a specially designed health promotion program (which includes smoking deterrence) in seven high schools in six school districts (n = 1,000).

This program is providing information and strategies for coping with pressures to engage in health-threatening behaviors, including cigarette smoking, through a curriculum that includes personal involvement techniques, audiovisual presentations, and feedback. Expanded multisubstance measures and intervention materials are allowing the project to address issues of synergism related to multiple substance use in addition to the primary focus of deterring the acceleration of smoking from early experimentation to addiction over the high school years. Program presentation under curriculum conditions has increased measurement efficiency for research staff and has substantially reduced problems related to tracking over time and attrition due to complex informed consent procedures. Such a "natural-setting" approach has increased the cooperation of school personnel who perceive it as less intrusive. Designing teacher training sessions to meet the guidelines of the state education agency's continuing education program, which allows participating classroom teachers to gain professional credit for the training program, has served as a well-received incentive to school personnel. A smoking-only study in a seventh school district (n = 500) will allow comparisons to assess the effects of a singlefocus versus a multisubstance focus.

Information is being obtained concerning psychosocial-behavioral processes, smoking abstinence and infrequent smoking, and acceleration of smoking through the high school years. Similar data are being collected on other addictive substances, including alcohol. Effectiveness of program delivery by teachers with or without special training provided by the project and by research staff is being evaluated.

The scope of the project has been expanded through the award of a Minority Investigator Supplement to the parent project. The appointment of Dr. Linda A. Jackson as a research associate has provided the project with a more sophisticated and indepth approach to important issues emanating from a triethnic population. In addition to her substantial involvement with the parent project, she is planning and implementing a pilot program for increasing self-esteem among black students as a contributing factor to decreased health-threatening behaviors.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R0I-CA-41471 Project Period: 6/1/86-5/31/91

Teenage Smokeless Tobacco Use: Process/Prevention

Principal Investigator: Richard I. Evans, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Houston

This 5-year investigation involves three stages: (1) assessment of the psychosocialbehavioral processes involved in the initiation and use of smokeless tobacco among young males, (2) development of a prevention-deterrence program based on the theoryguided assessment of the target population, and (3) implementation and evaluation of this program in a 3-year longitudinal study using little league baseball players as the study population. Players with major league baseball teams (Houston Astros, Texas Rangers) are involved in various facets of this investigation, capitalizing on their obvious influence as role models for little league players.

The implementation and evaluation of the intervention program include randomized block assignment of 250 little league baseball teams with players ages 9 to 12 (n = 2,500) and 250 senior league baseball teams with players ages 13 to 15 (n = 2,500). Teams will be assigned to one intervention and two control groups in an experimental, repeated-measures design. Dependent measures will include "pipeline"-influenced self-reports reflecting cognitive and behavioral components of intention and behavior related to smokeless tobacco use as well as chemical assays (saliva thiocyanate and cotinine). The results are expected to provide information concerning the determinants of smokeless tobacco use and a program that can be used to deter its use among what is apparently a high-risk group.

A major component of the first phase of the project has been completed, involving access to the study population through a series of steps designed to gain the cooperation of Little League Baseball, Inc., from the national level through the local team level. Cooperation at the upper administrative level of Little League Baseball, Inc. (national, state, and district) continues to be excellent. An assessment of incentives to agree to participate and maintain participation over time has resulted in the development of an incentives package that is perceived as highly attractive by coaches and players and well within the scope of the project to supply. A subject pool has been established that should allow the project to implement the program with little league and senior league players so that developmental factors may be evaluated in subjects ranging from ages 8 through 15. The interest and cooperation of little league district administrators in areas adjacent to Harris County allow the project a subject pool for instrument and program material development and refinement without drawing on the originally projected study population in the greater Houston area.

Data analyses of the results of the proposed cross-sectional psycho-social-behavioral process survey undertaken in the first phase of the study are continuing. A series of followup focused interviews with a sample of survey respondents is in the process of being completed. Program development for the intervention (designated as the Smokeless Tobacco Education Program or STEP) is well under way. The first draft of the initial intervention program has been designed and pretested, including the development of signature cartoon characters and other communication devices to be used in a number of ways throughout the intervention program.

Based on the successful implementation of a Minority Investigator Supplement (MIS) with another NCI-funded parent program, this project has been awarded an additional MIS to expand the investigation with a particular emphasis on a number of Hispanic subjects available in the present study population. Dr. Jose Saavedra has been appointed as a research associate. He is in the process of developing a pilot program to be carried out with a subsample of subjects identified by the parent project.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-41772 Project Period: 9/30/87-9/29/92

Effect of Competence and Peer Support on Women's Smoking

Principal Investigator: Edwin B. Fisher, Ph.D. Performing Organizations: Washington University University of Missouri at Columbia Missouri Department of Health

This project is developing and implementing a series of smoking cessation and maintenance programs designed specifically for women. In the first study, subjects participated in cessation and maintenance programs modeled after the American Lung Association group cessation clinics with emphasis placed on peer support and competence training. The second study will include two surveys of self-quitters to assess salient procedures in their continued abstinence. The first survey focused on social support for smoking cessation. The second survey will include assessment of social support as well as competence and self-management skills.

Data from the first two studies will be analyzed to identify social support and competence factors that may be useful in revising smoking cessation procedures aimed at women or in disseminating and promoting the use of existing smoking cessation procedures among women. Such revisions will be field tested through: (1) a predominantly female work force within a worksite smoking cessation program; (2) professional or civic organizations that may serve as avenues for reaching high-priority groups such as black nurses; (3) women subscribers to an HMO; or (4) participants in outpatient activities (e.g., women's wellness centers) aimed at women.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D.
Identification Number: R01-CA-41703
Project Period: 7/1/86-6/30/91

Five- and Six-Year Followup of the Waterloo Study

Principal Investigator: Brian R. Flay, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Southern California

The long-term effect of the Waterloo Smoking Prevention Program (WSPP) was tested among youth in grades 11 and 12 who were first exposed to the program when they were in grade 6. The WSPP consisted of six 1-hour sessions that focused on the provision of information, skills development, decisionmaking, and public commitment. This study offered one of the few opportunities to gauge the long-term effectiveness of a smoking prevention program that has already proven to be effective in the short term.

Ninety percent of study students were located, and data were obtained from more than 80 percent of them 6 years after the beginning of the intervention. However, lack of cooperation from one of the two school districts prevented complete tracking or data collection. Thus, many analyses were limited to data collected up to grade 8.

An important finding, reported in Flay et al. *Am J Public Health* 1989, was that subjects who had left school before grade 12 were smoking at more than twice the rate (68 percent) of subjects still in school (28 percent).

Overall long-term program effects were assessed using a linear logit model that revealed that, by grades 11 and 12, there was no longer a significant overall program effect. Significant effects observed at grades 7 and 8 had totally decayed. Similarly, no program effects were found on the smoking behaviors of parents, siblings, or friends of students at grades 11 and 12. Both pretest smoking and pretest social risk were significant predictors of whether subjects were smoking 6 years later.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38268 **Project Period:** 9/30/84-11/30/87

Tests of Approaches of Comprehensive Smoking Prevention

Principal Investigator: Brian R. Flay, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Southern California

This study involved the analysis of short-term data and the collection and analysis of long-term followup data for a media/school smoking prevention program aimed at school-age children and their parents, The media portion of the intervention involved five 5-minute commercial TV segments during 1 week in conjunction with the nightly news. The school portion involved five corresponding 45- to 60-minute classroom sessions that were delivered to junior high school health education classes by the classroom teachers during the same week.

This television and school-based smoking prevention program used the social influences approach, focusing on peer, family, and media influences on adolescents to become smokers and providing grade 7 students (ages 12 to 13) with the knowledge and skills to resist them. The evaluation allowed for assessments of (1) the value of coordinated television programming in increasing school, student, and parent availability and acceptance of the program; (2) the effects of program context (whether all or half of a grade cohort received the program in school) on participation and subsequent smoking behavior; and (3) the effects of parental participation in prevention activities on subsequent student smoking.

Strong effects of television programming and context on availability, acceptance, and participation were found. Significant associations were also found between each television viewing and parental involvement and subsequent student smoking, but a lack of overall program effects on smoking outcomes limits their interpretation.

Constraints on programming and research design suggest (1) possible limitations to program effects we might reasonably expect in real-world applications of the social influences approach and (2) the need for future true experimental efficacy trials to determine exactly what level of programming will be needed to achieve significant real-world effects.

Project **Officer:** Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-34622 **Project Period:** 9/15/83-9/14/86

A Study of Self-Help Smoking Cessation and Maintenance

Principal Investigator: Stephen P. Fortmann, M.D. Performing **Organization:** Stanford University

This research sought to develop a powerful self-administered maintenance program for nonsmoking; assess the relative effectiveness of nicotine gum, placebo gum, or no gum in promoting long-term abstinence; compare the relative efficacy of ad lib versus continuous nicotine gum use regimens; assess the effects of a psychological self-help maintenance program; compare the relative effectiveness of different strategies for administering the psychological maintenance program; and provide biochemical validation of subjects' smoking status for 2 years following cessation. Two-year followup of all participants was completed in June 1989. Results to date are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Nicotine polacrilex combined with a minimal-contact psychological intervention is significantly more effective in preventing relapse 6 months following a 4% hour self-directed quit than psychological treatment given either with placebo gum or alone.

The data strongly suggest that heavy smokers (25 or more cigarettes per day) are more dependent on cigarettes compared with light smokers (15 or fewer cigarettes per day). Heavy smokers reported greater difficulty quitting, were more troubled by withdrawal symptoms, experienced stronger urges and cravings, and had higher scores on a modified version of the Fagerstrom tolerance questionnaire. Contrary to expectation, heavy smokers were more obese as measured by body mass index.

Participants' weight at baseline and at 2-month followup was compared. Abstainers gained more than four times the weight gained by relapsers. Sixty percent of abstainers gained more than 1 kilogram with most (39.4 percent) gaining between 1.1 and 3 kilograms. About **31** percent of the abstainers maintained their weight, and about 9 percent lost more than 1 kilogram. Users of nicotine polacrilex gained significantly less weight than nonusers, although the difference was small. A dose-response relationship was observed between the number of cigarettes per day and weight gain.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38303 Project Period: 9/1/84-8/31/90

A Collaborative HMO and Workplace Approach to Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Russell E. Glasgow, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Oregon Research Institute/Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

This project will investigate the effects of monetary incentives and HMO-based lowintensity interventions on worksite smoking cessation. It will evaluate a model for collaboration between HMO's and large employers (such as state governments) in addressing a significant public health problem. Employees who work for the State of Oregon in each of 12 worksites containing at least 250 staff members will serve as subjects. Worksites will be randomly assigned to receive or not receive the financial incentive program. Kaiser Permanente HMO members within each worksite will be randomly assigned to receive or not receive the HMO-based smoking cessation materials and mailings. Incentive procedures involving contributions from the employee, the employer, and the program project will be used to provide both monthly individual awards and longer term group competition prizes. The HMO will coordinate, through a clearinghouse/resource center and a monthly newsletter, an integrated program of low-intensity intervention options.

Carbon monoxide and saliva cotinine will be used to verify self-reports of abstinence and data will be collected to evaluate both short-term and longer term program effects. Outcome measures will include the percentage of all baseline smokers in the worksite who quit smoking, the cost-effectiveness of the different interventions, absenteeism, and employee attitudes toward smoking. Analyses will also be conducted of both the extent of participation and predictors of participation in various intervention activities.

This study will lay the groundwork for the establishment of comprehensive and collaborative HMO-employer programs for smoking cessation and provide the foundation for future research on the linkage between employee smoking cessation interventions and both health status and economic productivity.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P0I-CA-44648 (Project 1) **Project Period:** 4/87-3/91

Accelerating Physicians' Adoption of Smoking Protocols

Principal Investigator: Michael G. Goldstein, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Rhode Island

This project is a phase IV trial to assess the efficacy of a multicomponent intervention to increase the degree to which physicians adopt, implement, and maintain smoking cessation interventions with their patients.

All primary care physicians in a distinct Rhode Island geographic area will serve as untreated contiguous controls. After **15** months, a crossover feature will be implemented and a second area will be targeted for intervention while physicians in the third area will remain untreated for the entire S-year period.

The intervention will be designed to maximize diffusion of smoking cessation interventions into the general medical care sector by matching existing resources to the physician's initial stage of adoption. The investigators will enlist the aid of intermediary organizations to recruit physicians into the study, provide them with available resources, and maintain their involvement in smoking cessation practices. Resources will include educational materials for physicians and their office staff, smoker identification and tracking systems, physician self-instructional manuals, and formal counseling skills workshops. Through repeated contact, it is hypothesized that physicians will become more likely to adopt and implement smoking cessation interventions, resulting in greater success in treating smoking patients.

Efficacy of the intervention will be assessed by: (1) measuring changes in physician knowledge, attitudes, and behavior regarding smoking cessation interventions and (2) patient smoking outcome measures. It is hypothesized that, after 3 years, physicians who receive the intervention will have significantly increased their knowledge about smoking

and smoking cessation, increased the frequency and intensity of their smoking cessationrelated practices, and developed more positive attitudes about smoking cessation. Moreover, this will result in a significant reduction in the proportion of patients who smoke in target intervention versus control areas.

The results of this study will have important implications for understanding the dissemination and diffusion of smoking cessation practices into the medical sector. This knowledge can then be used to guide large-scale public health initiatives to prevent smoking-related cancers.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0I-CA-50087 (Project 3) Project Period: 9/89-8/94

Self-Help Smoking Cessation and Nicotine Dependence

Principal Investigator: Michael G. Goldstein, M.D. Performing Organization: The Miriam Hospital

This project was designed to determine whether the effectiveness of a self-help smoking cessation treatment can be improved by matching cigarette smokers, on the basis of nicotine dependence, to programs that differ in their inclusion of nicotine chewing gum, a pharmacologic nicotine dependence-based treatment.

A sample of 200 smokers, referred by physicians, was screened to determine their degree of tobacco dependence utilizing the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire (FTQ). An equal number of high (FTQ \geq 7) and low (FTQ \leq 6) nicotine-dependent subjects were randomly assigned to a self-help treatment, with or without nicotine gum. This yielded a fourfold classification, with **50** subjects per cell.

The 3-week self-help treatment was based on materials available from the American Lung Association. For subjects receiving nicotine gum, a 4-month prescription was provided. Self-reported smoking outcomes, verified biochemically, were assessed 6 and 12 months after treatment.

The project found that:

- Cigarette smokers who are matched, on the basis of the level of their nicotine dependence, to treatment programs that differ in their inclusion of nicotine chewing gum (nicotine resin complex) have significantly better short-term quit rates than smokers who are mismatched.
- Smokers with high levels of nicotine dependence who are treated with a combination of nicotine gum, a self-help manual, and brief counseling have higher shortterm quit rates than those treated with the same intervention but without nicotine gum.
- Smokers with low levels of nicotine dependence who are treated with a self-help manual and brief counseling have higher short-term quit rates than those treated with the same intervention plus nicotine gum.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-44022 Project Period: 8/1/86-7/31/88

Adherence to Smoking Cessation in Head and Neck Cancer Patients

Principal Investigator: Ellen R. Gritz, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA)/Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center

The goal of this 5-year study is to develop, implement, and evaluate a providerdelivered intervention that will substantially improve adherence to advice to stop smoking and remain abstinent for patients with squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck, which have been causally associated with smoking tobacco. Although the health care team (medical and dental) routinely delivers strong advice to quit smoking because rates of second primary cancers are linked to continued smoking, rates of adherence to such advice are less than desired.

This research provides an opportunity to study the adherence behavior of both patients and providers (physicians, dentists) to an intervention designed to be integrated into the standard course of diagnosis, treatment, and followup, and, therefore, generalizable to the health care system nationwide. The intervention will consist of standardized, strong advice to quit smoking reinforced by targeted written self-help and social support materials for the patient and spouse/family member and a contracted quit date, followed by booster advice sessions.

This study will utilize a randomized controlled trial design. Patients (N=360) at UCLA and the Veterans Administration Medical Center West Los Angeles who currently smoke or who have recently stopped smoking and who have a life expectancy of more than 1 year will be recruited into the study. Patient adherence to smoking cessation recommendations will be measured by self-report as well as objectively validated by saliva cotinine analysis. Health care provider adherence to the protocol will be monitored by tape recorder and by patient exit interviews. Profiles of patient as well as provider adherence will be developed. Exploratory analyses of biomedical outcomes, including disease-free interval, recurrence, and/or diagnosis of second primary cancer, will be performed.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** POI-CA-43461 (Subproject) **Project Period:** 7/87-6/92

Smoking Cessation for Women in an HMO Population

Principal Investigator: Ellen R. Gritz, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of California

This study is evaluating the impact of a self-help smoking cessation program on a population of women cigarette smokers who have not volunteered for treatment.

A randomly selected sample of 1,410 adult women cigarette smokers who are members of the Maxicare HMO in Southern California received from Maxicare either a mailed, unsolicited self-help smoking cessation program designed to address the specific needs and concerns of women smokers or usual Maxicare services. All experimental subjects receiving the intervention were asked to complete an assessment of the intervention materials. All impaneled women in the "preventive health behavior" study will provide baseline and followup information (1, 6, 12, and 18 months postintervention) regarding smoking behavior and attitudes, cessation attempts, and current motivation to quit embedded in an assessment of a variety of preventive health behaviors such as seat belt use, nutrition, weight control, and exercise.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-41616 Project Period: 12/1/85-11/30/90

Smoking Cessation in Registered Nurses

Principal Investigator: Ellen R. Gritz, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of California at Los Angeles/Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center

This project studied the effectiveness of a smoking cessation "blitz" program in lowering smoking rates among registered nurses, a largely female health care profession lagging far behind the predominantly male health professions (e.g., physicians) in smoking cessation. Because of their role in direct patient care, exemplar status, and teaching function, reducing smoking prevalence among nurses has great public health significance in addition to serving as a primary prevention cancer control measure.

The major component of this study was a phase III controlled trial to test the efficacy of a relatively low-cost intervention in this population, preceded by a phase II questionnaire study that further defined the precise control measures used. Accordingly, a phase II questionnaire study of 1,000 randomly selected registered nurses in the State of California was conducted using mail-back questionnaires. The phase III intervention, a smoking cessation "blitz" program specially tailored for nurses, was then implemented and evaluated in a controlled experimental design in the greater Los Angeles area. Half of the selected hospitals (experimental group) were randomly assigned to an intervention consisting of self-help smoking cessation aids drawn from available packages and supplemented with materials specific to the needs of nurses (e.g., stress management techniques, buddy system in the workplace). The remaining hospitals served as nonintervention controls but received later treatment.

The effect of the intervention in promoting immediate and maintained cessation was measured by comparing quit rates in experimental and control groups, using both selfreport and objective validation of smoking status.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: POI-CA-34609 (Subproject) Project Period: 7/84-6/87

Social Support in Smoking Cessation and Maintenance

Principal Investigator: Charles L. Gruder, Ph.D. Performing **Organization:** University of Illinois at Chicago

To enhance the maintenance of abstinence from cigarette smoking achieved through a televised self-help cessation program, participants in this project were instructed in the use of social support and, following the conclusion of the television program, in techniques to prevent and minimize the adverse effects of relapse.

The design of the study involved three conditions. In the first two, social support training plus continued contact and attention control, subjects attended three weekly group meetings during the course of the television program, "Freedom From Smoking in 20 Days." In the third, a baseline no-contact control condition, subjects did not attend. Smokers in all three conditions expressed interest in participating and agreed to have a nonsmoking "buddy" take part as support person. Buddies themselves attended a training session.

This design tested the effectiveness of:

- Attending small group meetings that took place weekly at HMO health centers and community hospitals that were led by trained health care professionals.
- Having a self-selected, nonsmoking "buddy" who is trained to provide effective social support.
- Receiving continued contact from the group leader via telephone in the 3 months following the end of the program period. Data relevant to the processes through which social support influences smoking cessation and maintenance were also gathered. These processes included direct support for quitting and the availability of general support.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification** Number: POI-CA-42760 (Project 4) **Project Period:** 7/86-6/89

Social Support in Smoking Cessation and Maintenance

Principal Investigator: Charles L. Gruder, Ph.D. **Performing** Organization: University of Illinois at Chicago

The primary goals of this project are to develop and evaluate a brief, group-based intervention that focuses on social support and relapse prevention as a supplement to a televised self-help cessation and maintenance program.

The design of the study comprises three conditions: (1) experimental (group meetings providing training in social support and relapse prevention and including continued telephone contact), (2) attention control (group meetings providing review of "Freedorn From Smoking" and including telephone contact), and (3) no-contact control.

The results through the 6-month followup show that the two group conditions had higher abstinence rates than the no-contact control and that the experimental condition was superior to the attention control. Four models of social influence processes in cessation and maintenance have been examined and evidence that different processes operate at different stages in cessation and maintenance has been found. Further followup data are needed to examine the long-term effects of the experimental intervention and to elaborate the role of the different support processes in maintenance.

The results thus far indicate that long-term abstinence rates can be improved by making the following changes: using a self-help manual that is easier to read and offers more flexibility, using counselor-initiated telephone calls instead of group meetings, and focusing on enhancing recycling efforts following a failed quit attempt or relapse.

Developmental research will be conducted to evaluate an experimental treatment targeted at smokers who either fail to quit or who relapse. The design will comprise two conditions (N=120 in each), each of which will receive the new American Lung Association (ALA) self-help manual "Freedom From Smoking for You and Your Family" and telephone contacts. In the recycling condition, the telephone contacts will build on the content of the experimental condition in the current project with the important addition of instruction and encouragement for recycling. In the control condition, the content of the telephone contacts will be nondirective and provide encouragement for the quit attempt, using the new ALA manual as a guide.

Compared with the control condition, it is hypothesized that the recycling condition will result in higher abstinence rates at 12 months, more successful recycling attempts, and shorter latencies to the first recycling attempt.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: Pol-CA-42760 (Project 4) Project Period: 7/89-12/91

Practical Of&e-Based Smoking Intervention

Principal Investigator: Jack F. Hollis, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

The potential of medical offices nationwide to reduce smoking among patients is not being realized. What is needed are practical, effective intervention packages that require minimal physician time and effort but that enhance the motivation, skills, and support that smokers need to achieve abstinence.

This is a project to develop, evaluate, and organize for widespread dissemination sophisticated physician-nurse team approaches to patient counseling. The interventions include brief physician advice but largely rely on office support staff to utilize the "teachable moment" to stimulate, guide, and support cessation attempts. Motivation will be enhanced by carbon monoxide feedback, self-help materials, and l-month telephone support. In addition, patients will either view a short video program describing and modeling effective cessation strategies or be exposed to systematic and repeated efforts to recruit them into an effective group stop-smoking program.

Comparisons of the approaches in terms of long-term cessation and cost-effectiveness will be undertaken.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P0I-CA-44648 (Project 2) **Project Period:** 4/87-3/91

School- and Family-Oriented Cancer Prevention Program

Principal Investigator: C. Anderson Johnson, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Southern California

Two studies were carried out to assess the effectiveness of specific cancer risk reduction programs: (1) a school program at the seventh grade level and (2) a communitybased program for parents of children at the junior high school level.

Study 1 tested the effectiveness of a social resistance skill training program for preventing cigarette smoking and alcohol and other drug use and promoting reductions in dietary fat intake and increased levels of voluntary aerobic exercise. Schools were stratified by socioeconomic data and randomly assigned from within strata to treatment and control conditions. At 1-year followup, students in program schools were observed to have lower levels of cigarette smoking, dietary fat intake, and total caloric intake and higher levels of aerobic fitness (PWC170/kg) than students in control schools. The program had no measurable effect on alcohol and marijuana consumption.

Study 2 tested the effectiveness of a community-based program designed to teach parents skills in dietary fat reduction, aerobic exercise, and obesity control. At 3- and 10-month followup measures, adults in the experimental program evidenced greater reductions in dietary fat intake, body weight, percent body fat, and serum cholesterol and a greater increase in aerobic fitness (V02 max) than those in the control condition. Significant correlations between student and parent behaviors were observed for smoking, drinking, dietary fat intake, caloric intake, and exercise,

Project Officers: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D./Barry Portnoy, Ph.D. Identification Number: R18-CA-35596 Project Period: 1/1/84-12/31/88

Primary Prevention (Smoking) of Cancer in Black Populations

Principal Investigator: Regnal Jones, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Illinois Institute of Technology

A three-part smoking cessation and motivational education program for mothers of Head Start children is being tested. A pilot test of the research procedures, methods, and intervention material was completed during the summer of 1989. The full study began in the fall of 1989.

The effect of this program on the proportion of mothers who quit smoking and the reduction of tobacco consumption among those who have not quit is being evaluated. Self-report and expired air carbon monoxide data are collected. Three hundred participating mothers from 40 schools compose an experimental group, and 300 mothers from an additional 40 schools compose the control group. Approximately 100 women have refused the program. The intervention program consists of eight 2-hour group sessions.

Project Officer: Gregory M. Christenson, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN-65006 Project Period: 9/30/86-9/29/91

Decreasing Adolescent Use of Smokeless Tobacco

Principal Investigator: S. Stephen Kegeles, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Connecticut/Yale University

This study began with a series of group discussions in which male adolescents talked about the history and reasons for their use of smokeless tobacco. An extensive selfadministered questionnaire was developed from a content analysis of these discussions and given to all male and female junior and senior high school students in participating Connecticut schools. This questionnaire established baseline rates of use of smokeless tobacco as well as demographic, behavioral, social, structural, and attributional correlates of its use.

Using the knowledge gained from the group discussions and the questionnaire, the study implemented different interventions to be used for groups of male junior high and high school students within their health class curriculum. Each of the three interventions used a different behavioral technique for inducing reduction, cessation, and/or prevention of the use of smokeless tobacco.

The change in attitudinal, intentional, and behavioral measures among subjects in each of the three interventions was contrasted with measures of subjects in two control groups: a no-information and an information-only control. Before and after the interventions, students produced a saliva sample and were told of its high reliability in assessing nicotine levels. Subsequent self-report of nicotine use by students was presumably more accurate due to the bogus pipeline inducement.

Written feedback from students and teachers was used to assess the effectiveness of the interventions throughout. A subsequent intervention stage was built on the first to refine the best techniques for use in a factorial design and allow for analyses of the additive and cumulative effects of the various interventions.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0l-CA-42101 (Project 3) **Project Period:** 4/86-3/88

Smoking Cessation Delivered in Physicians' Offices

Principal Investigator: Thomas E. Kottke, M.D. Performing Organization: University of Minnesota

The goal of Doctors Helping Smokers was to help physicians deliver routine smoking intervention services while providing comprehensive service to their patients. Doctors Helping Smokers consisted of three rounds of trials.

In the first round, **66** physicians were randomized to one of three categories: (1) a workshop plus patient education materials, (2) patient education materials alone, or (3) a control group. This trial demonstrated that patient education materials and a workshop could increase physician involvement and that, over a l-year period of followup, approximately 40 percent of patients would attempt to quit smoking. A physician or physician advice to quit smoking was associated with a 15-percent increase in cessation attempts and a 4-percent increase in sustained cessation, but the relapse rates were very

high. This suggested that physicians should not only focus on asking their patients to quit but must include reinforcement of cessation attempts.

In the second round of Doctors Helping Smokers, 40 internists were randomized to the same three groups with the same effect.

The third round of Doctors Helping Smokers emphasized providing an office system to support the physician to provide advice and to reinforce the patient for stopping smoking. The trial was carried out in 31 clinic locations, and more than 10,000 smokers were identified in the 18 months of the trial. The data demonstrate that the intervention technique is compatible with the day-to-day operation of a primary care office and is acceptable to both patients and physicians. Sustained cessation rates in the development site, Nokomis Clinic, demonstrate that the probability of cessation increases from 22 percent for patients with two visits to more than 30 percent for patients with more than 12 visits to the physician. These data suggest that with a support organization, the physician in primary care can effectively increase sustained cessation by his or her patients.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38361 **Project Period:** 7/1/84-11/30/89

Self-Efficacy and Coping With Risk in Quitting Smoking

Principal Investigator: Laura Catalin Leviton, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Pittsburgh

This project is examining physician advice to stop smoking as a risk communication that may represent a health threat, especially to smokers at high risk of cancer. The project seeks to determine whether this threat exists, whether it impedes progress toward cessation for some smokers, and whether counseling and followup can overcome any negative impact of this threat. Two groups of smokers are receiving physician advice: smokers at high risk of bladder cancer and smokers who are at relatively low risk of smoking-related diseases. A randomly assigned one-half of smokers are receiving nurseeducator counseling designed to increase self-efficacy to quitting smoking. The control group is receiving an attention placebo. The study is testing the impact of such advice on several stages of smoking cessation: contemplation of quitting, short-term quitting, and long-term quitting. Behavioral measures include smokers' actions to seek additional information and requests for aids in smoking cessation.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R29-CA-47093 Project Period: 9/30/88-9/29/91

Smoking Relapse Prevention for Pregnant Women

Principal Investigator: John B. Lowe, Dr.P.H. **Performing Organization:** University of Alabama at Birmingham

During the past decade, numerous reports have confirmed the detrimental effects of smoking during pregnancy on the health of the fetus, newborn infant, and mother. More recently, efforts are being made to increase awareness and to inform both mother and the physician about the effects of smoking during pregnancy. These public information campaigns and warnings appeared to be motivating some women to attempt to quit smoking once becoming pregnant (approximately 20-25 percent). It is apparent from early work, however, that a significant problem exists in the resumption of smoking following successful cessation. Efforts need to be directed toward providing these motivated women with experiences to encourage continued success during pregnancy.

The purpose of this project is to develop a multicomponent intervention to prevent smoking relapse among pregnant women in public health maternity clinics. The effectiveness of an intervention composed of three principal components will be evaluated: (1) a lo-minute standardized relapse prevention skill training session, (2) social support, and (3) clinic reinforcement. A randomized, prospective pretest/posttest group design will be employed to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention. A total of 110 recent quitters will be randomized into two groups and followed until the end of pregnancy. Self-reports of abstinence will be verified using saliva thiocyanate testing.

New, critical information in this formative evaluation is being sought on: (1) what type of program will fit into a busy prenatal care clinic (feasibility) and (2) the level of effectiveness of these methods (behavioral impact).

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-48326 Project Period: 9/1/88-8/31/90

Cancer Prevention Strategies Among Urban Low-SES Black Women

Principal Investigator: Clara Manfredi, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Illinois at Chicago

The objective of the study was to evaluate intervention strategies to reduce smoking among urban black women of low socioeconomic status (SES). The project had three main goals.

The first goal was to compare the results of the televised intervention obtained from the study population with those obtained from other populations. Comparison was between low-SES urban black women and women from the general population categorized by income and race subgroups.

Second, a quasi-experimental design was used to determine whether the effectiveness of the mass media program could be increased by concomitant interpersonal interventions geared specifically to this target audience: Conditions in the quasi-experiment were spontaneous exposure to the televised smoking cessation program and accompanying self-help manual; exposure to the televised smoking cessation program and accompanying self-help manual following recruitment and with prompting to watch; and exposure to the televised program, accompanying self-help manual, and participation in classes conducted by local lay health educators. The outcome of the intervention was evaluated by the degree to which subjects reduced smoking, measured in an immediate posttest and 6-, 12-, 24-, and 36-month followups.

Third, the effectiveness of classes conducted without the televised intervention but using videotapes of the same was conducted. Because this intervention could be continued at any time beyond the period of the mass media program, its development could be observed over time.

Program process outcomes and local community commitment to the maintenance of the program was observed and recorded during years 2, 3, and 4 of the project.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P0I-CA-42760 (Project 5) **project Period:** 7/86-6/89

Cancer Prevention Strategies Among Urban Low-SES Black Women

Principal Investigator: Clara Manfredi, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Illinois at Chicago

The purpose of this project is to evaluate intervention strategies to reduce smoking among urban black women of low socioeconomic status. The study compares the responses of young black women living in subsidized public housing in Chicago and of women in the general population to a basic televised smoking cessation intervention. In addition, the study assesses the effectiveness in the target population of local, interpersonal interventions implemented concomitant to the TV intervention and at later times.

This project has three major goals. The first is to complete the analysis of previously collected data and follow leads that have emerged from it. The second goal is to further explore, through focus groups, factors that lead to the motivation to quit and to the will-ingness to participate in structured smoking cessation programs. Our experience with the project indicates that these two variables are crucial and problematic for interventions aimed at the target population. The third goal is to validate findings from the current data and from the focus groups on a new sample of women in the target population and low-income black and white women in the general population.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P01-CA-42760 (Project 5) **Project Period:** 7/89-6/91

Media/Community Demonstration: Programa a su Salud

Principal Investigator: Alfred L. McAlister, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston

Mass media and community organization are being used to reduce cigarette smoking in low-income Hispanic populations near the Mexican border in south Texas and in one border community in Mexico. Comparisons are being made of the effectiveness of the media, community organization, and social support for stress coping. Random household interviews are being used to assess smoking and related variables.

Three levels of health promotion intervention were evaluated during the first 3 years of the 3-year community study of smoking cessation: regional media campaigns, media campaigns combined with community participation, or media campaigns combined with community participation and individual and family counseling.

A rate of 13.6 percent verified cessation of smoking has been observed in a panel of 192 moderate-to-heavy smokers in the more intensively treated community compared with 2.4 percent in the media-only region.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38347 Project Period: 1/1/85-12/31/90

Longitudinal Evaluation of School-Based Smoking Prevention

Principal Investigator: David Murray, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Minnesota

The long-term effects of a seventh grade smoking prevention program were evaluated by following program participants through the age of 21. These programs included a peer-led social influences program, a peer-led social influences program with a video component, an adult-led social influences program with a video component, and an adult-led general health consequences program. Smoking behavior and environmental and psychosocial variables were assessed.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38275 Project Period: 7/1/84-6/30/90

A Statewide Approach to Adolescent Tobacco Use Prevention

Principal Investigator: David Murray, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Minnesota

This project seeks to evaluate the effect of a 2-year, \$4 million statewide initiative to promote smoking prevention and cessation among adolescents through school programs,

community activities, and statewide campaigns. Representative schools from Wisconsin and Minnesota will be surveyed annually for 5 years to test for any divergence in prevalence trends. A randomized trial in Minnesota will provide additional evidence on the causal linkage between the Minnesota Nonsmoking Initiative and adolescent prevalence rates.

The preliminary results of the study are encouraging. The Minnesota program, if effective, could provide a model to other states for the large-scale prevention of tobacco use by adolescents.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-43323 Project Period: 7/1/86-6/30/91

Primary Prevention (Smoking) of Cancer in Black Populations

Principal Investigator: Albert Niden, M.D. **Performing Organization:** Charles Drew Postgraduate Medical School

This program is designed to test the effectiveness of a primary care physician counseling program to reduce or stop smoking behavior in adult black smokers. Approximately 2,000 English-speaking black smokers, 18 years and older, who have no evidence of lifethreatening illness will be assigned to experimental and control groups.

The project is designed to evaluate the effects of the counseling program on both short- and long-term patient quit behavior as well as physician compliance with the smoking cessation counseling protocol. Chemical validation will be taken from those who report quitting at 6 and 12 months.

Project Officer: Gregory M. Christenson, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN-65006 Project Period: 9/30/86-9/29/91

Evaluation of Physician/Dentist Interventions for Smoking Prevention and Cessation

Principal Investigator: Judith K. Ockene, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Massachusetts Medical School

This randomized clinical trial was designed to test the effect of six different combinations of physician smoking interventions and followup by ancillary staff on patients' smoking behavior. All interventions were designed to fit easily into the context of outpatient medical practice. There were 1,649 adult patients who were seen by general medicine or family practice residents participating in the project.

The interventions tested involved three physician-delivered smoking interventions: (1) the provision of brief advice to quit smoking, (2) counseling the patient regarding his or her smoking behavior using a "patient-centered" technique, and (3) counseling plus the prescription of nicotine gum, either combined or not combined with followup letters

and telephone followup counseling by health counselors. All patients were followed for a period of 2 years.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38360 **Project Period:** 9/26/84-8/31/89

Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial (CARET)

Principal Investigator: Gilbert S. Omenn, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

The Carotene and Retinol Efficacy Trial (CARET) is a phase IV study of the safety and efficacy of vitamin A and beta-carotene in decreasing the incidence of lung cancer in persons at high risk for the disease. CARET is funded by the National Cancer Institute through the Division of Cancer Prevention and Control.

The goal of CARET is to recruit and randomize 17,000 high-risk participants. The highrisk participants comprise two groups: 13,000 heavy smokers and 4,000 asbestos-exposed workers, These participants will be recruited over a 5-year period and followed for an additional 3 years. Half will be randomly chosen to receive 30 mg per day of beta-carotene and 25,000 IU per day of vitamin A (as retinyl palmitate), while the other half will receive placebos daily. Participants will take their study vitamins for 5 to 8 years.

Study activities are performed at five study centers around the country, under the direction of the CARET Coordinating Center, located in Seattle, Washington. The participating centers are selected on their ability to recruit and randomize individuals in one of the two high-risk populations. The five study centers and date of entry into the study are:

Study Center	Entry Year	Principal Investigator
Baltimore	1988	Dr. James Keogh
New Haven	1988	Dr. Mark Cullen
Portland	1988	Dr. Barbara Valanis
San Francisco	1988	Dr. James Cone
Seattle	1983	Dr. Gary Goodman

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P01-CA-34847 (Project 2) project Period: 7/1/88-6/30/93

Worksite Smoking Cessation and Relapse Prevention

Principal Investigator: Gilbert S. Omenn, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

This investigation was concerned with the development and evaluation of effective, mass-distributable programs for smoking cessation. The objective was to assess the efficacy of different versions of a self-help correspondence program for smoking cessation
developed in previous research. The research design capitalized on the availability of computer facilities for generating prepackaged, personalized treatment materials.

A secondary goal was the development of a computerized data base for providing program participants with therapeutic feedback during the course of treatment. The amount of feedback included in the program (none, nonpersonalized) was varied to generate three correspondence treatment programs.

Subjects (N=440) were randomly assigned to receive one of these programs; a fourth, the control group, was also included. Subjects in the three experimental conditions were required to mail in progress reports; the control group received a no-feedback program without being required to mail in any progress reports. All subjects were followed for 1 year.

Program efficacy was assessed from the following perspectives: (1) number of subjects completing the program, (2) number of cessation attempts, (3) initial posttreatment abstinence rates, (4) long-term abstinence rates, and (5) cost per cessation and cost per long-term success.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P50-CA-34847 (Subproject 5) **Project Period:** 7/83-6/87

Prevention and Cessation of Smoking by Nursing Students

Principal Investigator: Mario A. Orlandi, Ph.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** American Health Foundation

This study is evaluating a smoking control intervention for nursing students that focuses on both smoking prevention and smoking cessation. The long-term goals are (1) to increase the number of nurses who counsel people to stop smoking, (2) to encourage nurses to act as advocates for smoke-free policies, and (3) to reduce smoking among student and graduate nurses while they are in nursing school.

The primary component is an intervention designed to teach nurses how to help others stop smoking and ways to resist or stop smoking themselves. Other components include a health information and consultation service for students interested in health promotion, a health marketing campaign targeted at nursing students, and various activities designed to stimulate faculty-initiated smoking control initiatives. Twelve nursing schools were pair matched and then randomly assigned to intervention and control groups. In the fall of their final year in nursing school, students in the intervention schools received a specially designed workshop and other intervention activities; control schools did not receive the intervention. Two cohorts of students graduating from diploma, associate degree, and B.S.N. nursing schools were administered pretest baseline surveys and posttest surveys immediately after the intervention and at 1-year followup after entering the work force.

The primary outcome evaluation will focus on (1) reductions in the onset of smoking among nonsmoking students, (2) increases in smoking cessation behavior among smoking students, (3) the implementation of smoking control practices by nurses with their patients, and (4) the promotion of smoking control policies by nurses in their work settings.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-41621 Project Period: 5/1/86-4/30/90

Smoking Prevention: The Youth Health Promotion Project

Principal Investigator: Mario A. Orlandi, Ph.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** American Health Foundation

This project was a 5-year longitudinal study to examine the effects of a school-based intervention designed to prevent cigarette smoking among a multiethnic sample of adolescents.

Twenty-six participating schools within each of three New York City community school districts were randomly assigned to one of three experimental conditions: (1) a multiple component health promotion intervention that included smoking prevention, (2) a single-component intervention (smoking prevention only), or (3) a no-treatment control group. Starting in sixth grade, a survey was administered twice each year to all students in the study cohort. The multiple-component intervention was based on the Know Your Body Health Promotion Program, and the single-component intervention was the smoking prevention component of the Know Your Body program.

Primary evaluation endpoints focused on posttest knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to tobacco use. Secondary endpoints included environmental, psychosocial, attitudinal, cognitive, and behavioral factors known to be related to tobacco use initiation. In addition, a comprehensive process evaluation was carried out to identify other factors related to program success.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38219 **Project Period:** 9/1/84-8/31/90

Clear Horizons: Adherence to a Smoking Cessation Program for Adults 50 to 74 Years of Age

Principal Investigator: C. Tracy Orleans, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Fox Chase Cancer Center

Older Americans, especially those ages 50 to 74 years, can achieve significant health benefits from smoking cessation. Yet, in the past, smoking cessation programs have not been directed at older smokers. Moreover, there is recent evidence that, in the absence of a smoking-related illness, physicians do not routinely offer a strong cessation message to older smokers.

This project will: (1) identify the extent of and correlates of smoking and cessation of older adults (phase I); (2) test the efficacy of two cost-effective strategies, mailed and telephone reinforcements, for promoting adherence to a self-help quitting regimen among older adults accrued through community and worksite settings (phase II); and (3) assess the impact of the most effective regimen in combination with a strong physician cessation message (phase III) from primary physicians practicing in an IPA-model HMO.

The evaluation is based on randomized research designs that will permit an assessment of the impact of more intensive interventions for both phases on quitting behavior and health status correlates of cessation. Data will be collected through self-administered questionnaires at baseline and telephone followups at 3, 6, 12, and 24 months for phase II and 6, 12, and 18 months for phase III with the most important outcome being self-reported quitting status. Measures of process, impact, and outcome will be obtained, and a sample of self-reports will be biochemically verified.

Study collaborators include Mathematica Policy Research (MPR), US Healthcare, the American Lung Association (ALA), ACORN (a large employee assistance program), and the American Association of Retired Persons (AARP).

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: POI-CA-34856 (Project 1) Project Period: 7/88-6/93

Self-Help Strategies in Long-Term Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Deborah J. Ossip-Klein, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Rochester

The relative effectiveness of three smoking relapse prevention strategies was evaluated among individuals who use a smoking cessation telephone hotline. A second study focused on the effectiveness of a hotline when used in conjunction with standard self-help materials. In both studies, hotline counseling sessions were analyzed for predictors of successful maintenance or relapse.

Data collection is complete, and data are currently being coded and entered for final analyses. Preliminary results show a small, nonsignificant increase in long-term abstinence rates in hotline compared with control counties. Controlling for method of en rollment, a significant hotline effect on long-term abstinence was found for subjects who enrolled in person; no hotline effect was demonstrated for subjects who enrolled by mail or phone. These results suggest that there may be a subpopulation for whom the hotline is effective.

Project Officer: Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38238 Project Period: 8/1/84-7/31/89

Smoking Cessation Intervention in Hispanics

Principal Investigator: Eliseo Perez-Stable, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of California at San Francisco, School of Medicine

The effectiveness of a community-wide, culturally appropriate smoking cessation intervention for Hispanics is being evaluated in a census-tract-based target area in the counties of San Francisco and San Mateo.

A needs assessment to compare the subjective culture of smoking between 263 Hispanic and 150 non-Hispanic white (Anglo) smokers has been completed. Cultural differences were found in three areas among Hispanics: Social smoking has a greater significance; concerns for the effects of smoking on the family are greater; and the bad smell of cigarettes is viewed more negatively.

These findings have been incorporated into a multicomponent antismoking campaign using electronic and printed media, community meetings, contests, and health care providers to deliver the intervention. A culturally appropriate Spanish-language smoking cessation guide (Guía Para Dejar de Fumar) was developed and is being used as the principal intervention component. Cessation groups or consultations are provided in person or by telephone.

The major outcome variables are smoking prevalence, information about the adverse effects of smoking, and awareness of available smoking cessation services. Two baseline telephone surveys were conducted using random digit dialing techniques before the onset of the intervention, Preliminary results indicate an increase in information and awareness, especially among the less acculturated Hispanics. The Guía, groups, and contest are also being evaluated in self-selected samples with biochemical validation of quit status among self-reported nonsmokers.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-39260 Project Period: 6/1/85-5/31/90

Hutchinson Smoking Prevention Project

Principal Investigator: Arthur V. Peterson, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

The Hutchinson Smoking Prevention Project is an ongoing, statewide phase IV cancer prevention randomized controlled trial. Its long-term objective is to evaluate the effectiveness of a school-based smoking prevention intervention in reducing smoking prevalence among elementary and junior high school children and maintaining that reduction throughout and beyondhigh school. The multicomponent, grade 3-10 intervention will be tested rigorously, in a realistic setting, for both effectiveness and practicality. Costeffectiveness analyses will contribute to the assessment of practicality. The intervention includes components aimed at the early preparatory stage of smoking onset and is sustained throughout the entire period of adolescent smoking onset.

The study population is 8,402 children in 40 geographically and demographically diverse school districts in the State of Washington. With the school district as the unit of intervention, two consecutive cohorts in each of 20 experimental and 20 control school districts are being followed for endpoint determination throughout elementary, junior high, and high school and 2 years beyond high school.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-38269 Project Period: 9/1/84-8/31/94

Prevention of Smokeless Tobacco Use in Children

Principal Investigator: Arthur V. Peterson, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

This project is a phase IV prevention study with the long-term objectives of testing the effectiveness of an integrated school-based smokeless tobacco prevention intervention in deterring smokeless tobacco use in children and characterizing the onset process for smokeless tobacco use among children.

The specific aims of this project are to: (1) integrate realistic and behaviorally and educationally sound school-based tobacco prevention components with an existing school-based smoking prevention curriculum for grades 6 and 7; (2) implement the integrated smokeless tobacco prevention intervention in a realistic fashion; (3) using a randomized controlled design, evaluate the extent to which the integrated tobacco prevention intervention can reduce the prevalence through and beyond high school; (4) evaluate the cost and cost-effectiveness of the intervention; and (5) characterize the smokeless tobacco use onset process among children. The integrated nature of the smokeless tobacco prevention intervention, which responds to educators' need for interventions that are comprehensive and can fit into a crowded school curriculum, is designed to enhance the likelihood of subsequent successful dissemination.

The excellent existing collaborative relationship between the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center and 40 school districts in the State of Washington and the ongoing randomized controlled trial in school-based smoking prevention will be used as timely and cost-efficient vehicles for the school-based implementation and long-term evaluation of the smokeless tobacco prevention intervention.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0l-CA-34847 (Project 9) Project Period: 7/88-6/93

Enhancing Smoking Cessation by Weight Gain Prevention

Principal Investigator: Phyllis Pirie, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Minnesota

This project has enrolled 417 women smokers, ages 20 to **64** with an expressed concern about postcessation weight gain, in a randomized clinical trial of four smoking cessation programs. The goal of the research is to study the efficacy of behavioral and pharmacological weight gain prevention strategies in smoking cessation and maintenance.

The treatment conditions are (1) a small group smoking cessation program (the American Lung Association's Freedom From Smoking program), (2) the smoking cessation program plus nicotine chewing gum, (3) the smoking cessation program plus a behavioral weight maintenance treatment, and (4) the smoking cessation program plus both nicotine chewing gum and a behavioral weight maintenance treatment. The behavioral weight maintenance treatment focuses on minimizing weight gain and enhancing acceptance of small but common postcessation weight gains. Followup assessment is planned at 6 and 12 months posttreatment.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-41647 **Project Period:** 5/1/87-4/30/90

Cancer Prevention Research Unit

Principal Investigator: James 0. Prochaska, Ph.D. Performing **Organization:** University of Rhode Island

The goal of this project is to establish a multidisciplinary program of research designed to accelerate the process of change in factors that result in the prevention of cancer. The research program includes five interrelated projects to evaluate the treatment effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of replicable strategies for accelerating progress through each stage of changing lifestyle factors that can prevent cancer in high-risk populations.

The strength and synergism of the project is enhanced by such elements as: (1) a common stages of change model for accelerating progress in cancer prevention; (2) the use of provocative recruitment procedures; (3) the sharing of a representative phase IV sample of people at risk for cancer; (4) a similar set of intervention principles that includes motivational and educational strategies for people in the precontemplation and contemplation stages of change, action and relapse prevention strategies for people ready for action and in action, and recycling approaches for people who regress to high-risk patterns; and (5) the use of core instruments and common classes of constructs so that the projects' intakes will be greater than the sum of their parts. The projects are as follows:

- Project 1: Self-Help Programs for Accelerating Smoking Cessation.
- Project 2: Accelerating Worksite Smoking Control Programs.
- Project 3: Accelerating Physicians' Adoption of Smoking Protocols.
- Project 4: Accelerating Screening Mammography Rates in Rhode Island.

These projects are supported by two cores: leadership and evaluation. The phase IV cancer prevention research projects test interventions that will accelerate the process of contemplating, acting on, and maintaining proven cancer prevention regimens. The interventions are potentially cost effective, can be applied in a variety of settings, and can be adopted for use with phase V high-risk populations.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0I-CA-50087 Project Period: 9/89-8/94

Self-Help Models and Materials for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: James 0. Prochaska, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Rhode Island

Effective self-help models and materials for smoking cessation are being developed. An enhanced transtheoretical model is used that involves 10 change processes that receive differential use during four stages of change: precontemplation, contemplation, action, and maintenance. Longitudinal phase III experiments are comparing four self-help programs: (1) a package of the leading self-help manuals available; (2) individualized manuals for each stage of change; (3) individualized manuals plus interactive computer-generated progress reports; and (4) individualized manuals, interactive computer-generated reports, and personalized counselor calls.

Results at l-year followup favor the two programs that include interactive interventions. Longer term followups are currently in progress as are process-to-outcome analyses to detect which change processes are affected by which self-help interventions.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-27821 Project Period: 5/1/80-6/30/90

Self-Help Programs for Accelerating Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: James 0. Prochaska, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Rhode Island

Although smoking is the most preventable cause of cancer, 50 million Americans continue to smoke. Most smokers report that they would not attend formalized treatment programs but would use self-help materials. This phase IV study will build on 7 years of retrospective, cross-sectional, longitudinal, causal modeling and intervention studies of self-change and self-help approaches to smoking cessation.

These studies have enhanced a transtheoretical model that involves 10 change processes receiving differential use during four stages of change: precontemplation, contemplation, action, and maintenance. Self-help programs based on this model have been found to be effective in current phase III research.

The proposed study will test the most promising phase III self-help interventions on a more representative phase IV sample of 3,840 smokers. The vast majority of these smokers can be expected not to be ready to take action. Unlike most prevention programs, the self-help programs that will be tested are not designed just for smokers who are ready for action. These programs are matched to smokers in each stage of change.

By randomizing the sample of smokers into treatment and control conditions, the treatment effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the phase IV self-help programs can be evaluated.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0I-CA-50087 (Project 1) Project Period: 9/89-8/94

Preventing Tobacco Use Among Native American Adolescents

Principal Investigator: Steven P. Schinke, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Columbia University

In a randomized 2 X 2 design, this 5-year study is testing personal and environmental interventions to prevent smokeless and smoked tobacco use among American Indian (Native American) youth in Colorado, Idaho, Oklahoma, and North and South Dakota.

The personal intervention, delivered to groups of Native youth, covers ethnic pride and values, health, and self-image content and problemsolving, coping, and communication skills. The environmental intervention, delivered to Native youths, families, and peers, develops social and situational supports to prevent tobacco use. Subjects are approximately 3,500 Native American females and males, 11 to 13 years old at time of initial involvement. Recruited from 28 sites, consenting subjects have been pretested and, by site, randomly divided into four conditions. Subjects in three conditions are receiving either personal intervention or environmental intervention or both interventions; subjects in one condition receive no intervention. All subjects will be posttested, then followed every 6 months. Semiannually, intervention condition subjects will receive pairs of booster sessions. To check within-condition reliability, process measures are being taken of both interventions. Outcome measures will quantify subjects' smokeless and smoked tobacco use and will assess variables associated with tobacco use. Saliva collections, subsequently assayed for thiocyanate and cotinine, will precede subjects' tobacco use reports. Community surveys with random subsets of households will occur at each collaborating site. Data analyses will describe the study sample, inferentially test condition differences, and partition influences on Native vouths' tobacco use. The study is supported by Native tribal, reservation, and public schools in the states involved.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-44903 **Project Period:** 5/1/88-4/30/93

Smoking Prevention Training for High-Risk Youth

Principal Investigator: Steven P. Schinke, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Columbia University School of Social Work

This investigation extends the smoking prevention approach to tobacco use among adolescents at above-average risk for smoking. The school-based study focuses primarily on youth in districts selected based on such criteria as percent of families receiving Aid to Families with Dependent Children and percent of youth receiving free or reduced-cost school meals. The study, revised as a result of suggestions arising from a site visit, currently is engaged with two cohorts of youth from fourth through ninth grades. At completion in June 1991, data will have been amassed on more than 4,100 youth in grades 4 through 11.

The revised study has five major aims:

- Development and validation through extensive pilot testing of an instrument battery capable of identifying youth at the extreme upper bound of the risk continuum for tobacco use.
- Complete revision of selective interventions targeted specifically at the cognitive, behavioral, and situational characteristics revealed by the instrument to be predictive of high-risk tobacco use among lower socioeconomic status adolescents and early adolescents.
- Use of the instrument battery to recruit panel 2 and delivery of the interventions to this cohort, along with continued delivery of revised assessment instruments and booster curriculums to panel 1, originally recruited in 1985.

137

- Evaluation of both the instrument for its selective properties and the interventions for their preventive potential.
- · Rigorous tracking of both panels and differential assessment of study attrition,

Outcome measures will cover demographic information, biochemical samples, and self-reports of tobacco use as well as self-reported health behavior, locus of control, selfreinforcement, problem-solving, interpersonal coping, assertiveness, social networks, and self-efficacy. Followup batteries will measure contagion relative to prevention curriculums. Drawing from recent advances in prevention technology, the current study places particular emphasis on social support networks and development of communication skills necessary to best draw upon them.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-29640 Project Period: 4/1/85-8/31/90

A Self-Help Quit Smoking Program for Black Americans

Principal Investigators: Victor J. Schoenbach, Ph.D., C. Tracy Orleans, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

A mediated, self-help smoking cessation intervention oriented toward black smokers has been developed and its effectiveness tested among 2,000 policyholders of North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Company, the largest black insurance company in the United States. The intervention features a new, well-illustrated, easy-to-read quit-smoking manual developed by the American Lung Association and tipsheets and other materials to increase adherence. The quitting packet was presented by N.C. Mutual sales agents following video-based training. Brief telephone counseling calls were made to half of the intervention subjects. Preliminary results indicate increased reported quitting among smokers receiving the intervention, with the highest quitting rates among those receiving telephone calls.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R18-CA-39279 Project Period: 7/1/85-6/30/90

Effectiveness of Self-Help Smoking Cessation Strategies

Principal Investigators: Victor J. Schoenbach, Ph.D., C. Tracy Orleans, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Three promising self-help approaches to smoking cessation, developed during the first year of the project, were evaluated in a randomized controlled trial among 2,000 smokers enrolled in Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound, a large consumer-managed HMO in western Washington state. Results indicate that a minimal contact intervention (several brief telephone calls from a counselor) can increase cotinine-verified, 16-month nonsmoking prevalence among recipients of a mailed self-help quitting packet.

Further analyses are under way. These results demonstrate an effective approach for disseminating smoking cessation assistance.

Project **Officer:** Gayle Boyd, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38223 **Project Period:** 8/1/84-6/30/89

Smoking Prevention Through Mass Media and School Programs

Principal Investigator: Roger H. Seeker-Walker, M.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Vermont

The combined effectiveness of a media campaign and a school-based intervention was compared with a school program only in preventing the onset of adolescent smoking. It was hypothesized that a program modifying perceptions and attitudes and conveying cigarette refusal skills through a series of television and radio messages would provide a significant complement to a school-based prevention program. A longitudinal cohort of fifth through seventh graders with a focus on high-risk youth is being followed through grades 8 to 10.

Project **Officer:** Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R01-CA-38395 **Project Period:** 9/1/84-8/31/90

Smokeless Tobacco Cessation for Adults in a Dental HMO

Principal Investigator: Herbert Severson, Ph.D., Victor J. Stevens, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Oregon Research Institute; Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research

The objective of this research project is to assess the use of smokeless tobacco among adults who are regular users and develop and assess a dental office-based intervention program designed to assist users in quitting.

During the first 12 months of this project, the patterns of smokeless tobacco use among adult males was assessed. Additionally, a survey of dentists, hygienists, and patients was done to assess the perceptions and practices with regard to advising patients to quit their use of tobacco products. Video and self-help intervention materials and an oral health examination protocol were also developed, and a feasibility trial of the intervention was conducted.

In the second phase, 750 dental patients who are regular users of smokeless tobacco will be randomly **assigned to one of two conditions:** (1) **usual care and** (2) quit advice from their dentist plus an office-based intervention conducted by a dental hygienist that involves viewing a video, a self-help quit manual, and one followup telephone call. Subjects will be followed for 2 years. At l-year followup, an oral exam will be conducted, and self-reported tobacco cessation will be biochemically verified.

The study will provide an assessment of a low-intensity, easily disseminable, officebased smokeless tobacco cessation program. Economic analysis and cost-effectiveness analysis will provide a further assessment of the feasibility of disseminating the intervention.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P01-CA-44648 (Project 3) **Project Period:** 4/87-3/91

A Smoking Cessation Program for Low-Income Pregnant Women

Principal Investigator: Robert A. Simmons, M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** American Lung Association of Los Angeles County

This project assessed the effectiveness of a smoking cessation and maintenance intervention for low-income, predominantly black, pregnant women who currently smoked cigarettes or who had quit because of pregnancy. The search was conducted in 10 pairmatched sites of the women, infants, and children (WIC) federally funded supplemental nutrition program. Sites were matched by smoking prevalence of clients, race/ethnic&y of clients, monthly enrollment, geographic proximity, and WIC administrative organization. More than 500 pregnant women were assigned to treatment and control groups by virtue of the WIC clinic they attended.

In the intervention condition, the smoking cessation and maintenance program, STOP SMOKING AND TAKE CHARGE FOR YOU AND YOUR BABY, extended from prenatal intake to 3 months postpartum. During monthly visits to WIC centers to receive free food vouchers, the trained WIC staff provided brief individual smoking cessation counseling, two specially designed cessation booklets, three illustrated reminder postcards, a congratulatory certificate, and a baby bib with a reinforcing smoking cessa-, tion message.

Baseline interviews by trained data collectors determined participants' smoking history and current smoking behavior, motivation and intention to quit, perceived health risk to themselves and their babies, self-efficacy, social support, and perinatal history. A similar interview was conducted at the visit before delivery and at 6 months and 12 months postpartum. Self-reports of abstinence were validated via expired carbon monoxide analysis. WIC providers' smoking-related attitudes and behavior, factors important to client outcomes, were also assessed. The effectiveness of the smoking cessation and maintenance program was evaluated both during pregnancy and in the postpartum periods as well as key independent variables and their effect on the outcome measure of smoking behavior.

Given several limitations of the study, such as the low motivation of the study population to quit smoking and the limited intervention opportunities in a public health setting, it can be concluded that the intervention had a positive impact on antismoking attitudes and may likely have affected smoking behavior had the sample been larger. Improved client motivation, screening for readiness to quit smoking, increased health care provider training, increased access for prenatal care, reimbursement for smoking cessation services, and political and social antitobacco action in low-income communities were recommended.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-46578 Project Period: 9/15/87-4/30/89

Worksite Cancer Prevention Project

Principal Investigator: Glorian C. Sorensen, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Massachusetts Medical School

The primary aim of this project is to implement and evaluate the effects of a comprehensive worksite cancer prevention model that integrates messages about nutrition, smoking, and occupational health. Occupational health and health promotion have rarely been integrated in a single program. This project proposes to develop and test an innovative interdisciplinary model that addresses broad health concerns of workers and worksites. Using a randomized controlled study design, this study will assess the impact of a standardized intervention protocol on individual behavior change, including intake of fat and fiber and smoking cessation, and on the worksite environment, including the availability of low-fat, high-fiber foods in worksite cafeterias and vending machines, exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and exposure to occupational carcinogens. Major aims of the proposed intervention are (1) to address the objectives of both health promotion and occupational health and safety programs in a single coordinated effort and (2) to develop a model that can be readily incorporated into a statewide system by collaborating with the Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Twenty-four worksites already recruited to the study will be matched and randomized to intervention and comparison conditions. Comparison sites will receive intervention assistance from the Massachusetts Department of Public Health at the conclusion of the study.

The intervention model is based on principles of community organization and social marketing and includes the following steps: (1) mobilize workers to promote program activities and risk factor messages through participation in an employee advisory board in each worksite; (2) tailor intervention programming to individual worksites based on recommendations from these boards; (3) implement intervention programming aimed at individual workers that will have maximum penetration worksite-wide to increase readiness to change health behaviors and that will build skills among those ready to make behavior changes; (4) promote environmental changes supportive of risk reduction, including cafeteria and vending machine modifications, implementation of effective nonsmoking policies, and reduction of exposures to occupational carcinogens; and (5) plan for incorporation of the program in participating worksites and statewide beyond the study period. Process objectives have been established for each phase.

Components of the evaluation include assessment of the effects of the intervention on the defined impact objectives; achievement of the process objectives; the quality of the intervention delivery; potential competing explanations for observed changes; and the cost-effectiveness of the intervention. Products of the study will include a tested model of a worksite intervention program that integrates nutrition, smoking cessation, and occupational health, including an implementation manual with program materials for use in other worksites; a system of dissemination of the model through state health departments, implemented on a pilot basis through the Massachusetts Department of Public Health; a tested food service food frequency questionnaire to assess the availability of low-fat, high-fiber foods in cafeterias and vending machines; a tested method and protocol for quantitative, specific assessment of changes in environmental tobacco smoke as a result of **worksite** smoking policies; and an assessment of the cost-effectiveness of the tested model.

Project **Officer:** Jerianne Heimendinger, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** U01-CA-51686 **Project Period:** 9/30/89-8/31/94

HMO Smoking Ban: Effects on Employees and Hospitalized Patients

Principal Investigator: Victor J. Stevens, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

This project will study the direct and indirect effects of a stringent organization-wide no-smoking policy being implemented in a large HMO. The project will be conducted in two phases.

Component one will evaluate the effects of the smoking ban on more than 4,600 employees in 30 different worksites. The HMO has been regularly collecting data on employee attitudes and smoking behavior for the past 10 years. The ban is being instituted at different points in time in the various facilities, which results in a quasi-experimental interrupted time series with a switching replications design. The effects of the smoking ban on baseline smokers and a number of employee attitudes will be investigated.

The second component of the study will research the effects of the organization-wide smoking policy on hospitalized patients. The short- and long-term cessation rates of smokers in three experimental conditions will be contrasted: a quasi-experimental group of patients hospitalized before the ban is instituted will be compared with subjects randomly assigned to two true experimental groups, patients exposed to the smoking ban, and patients receiving an innovative low-intensity relapse prevention program.

This study has significant policy implications and will result in cost-effective interventions that can be disseminated.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0l-CA-44648 (Project 5) Project Period: 4/87-3/91

Physician Smoking Cessation Counseling: Patient Outcomes

Principal Investigator: Victor Strecher, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Antismoking efforts by physicians appear to have great potential in getting patients to quit or reduce their smoking. However, despite the fact that most physicians believe it is their responsibility to encourage their patients who smoke to stop, most do not feel well prepared to counsel patients about the quitting process.

This project was an extension of an ongoing randomized controlled trial of two interventions to increase and improve smoking cessation counseling by physicians by adding an evaluation of the effect of counseling on patient behavior. The two interventions were a physician tutorial and an intake/promoting system. This study biochemically verified the claims of patients who reported having quit smoking 12 months following the interventions and collected and analyzed data collected from this 12-month followup.

This study was developed in conjunction with the researchers who conducted the randomized trial. The trial involved nine sites across North Carolina with 250 resident physicians and approximately 2,000 patients.

The primary outcome of the trial was change in physician counseling behavior. This project also evaluated more important (but more expensive-to-collect) l-year changes in patient smoking behavior.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** R03-CA-43994 **Project Period:** 9/1/86-2/28/89

Smokeless Tobacco: Onset, Prevention, and Cessation

Principal Investigator: Steve Sussman, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Southern California

This is a school-based prevention and cessation program that is taking place in 50 rural and urban junior high schools in the Los Angeles and southern California areas and in 24 rural and urban high schools in southern California and Illinois.

During the first 2 years, predictors and parameters of smokeless tobacco use have been assessed, and four tobacco use prevention curriculums have been developed and tested. In addition, two tobacco use cessation recruitment strategies have been tested.

The prevention intervention will begin in the third year with a 2-year followup. Fifty junior high schools will be randomly assigned to four different prevention curriculum conditions or a no-intervention control condition, The cessation intervention will begin in the fourth year with a 1-year followup. Twenty-four high schools will be randomly assigned to two cessation clinic conditions or a no-intervention control condition.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-44907 Project Period: 7/1/87-6/30/92

Community Mobilization for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Leonard Syme, Ph.D., 9/85-8/88, Enid M. Hunkeler, M.A., 9/88-8/90 Performing Organization: Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

An intensive community-based smoking cessation and prevention campaign with an emphasis on the black population will be developed, implemented, and evaluated in Richmond, California. An intensive intervention program involving key community organizations is planned that includes community-wide "Quit Nights" employing the latest motion picture and videotape technology and printed media. The prevalence of cigarette smoking in the community will be assessed before and after the intervention. A second prevalence study will be performed, and analyses will be conducted to measure and evaluate the reduction in prevalence of cigarette smoking among blacks and non-blacks in Richmond compared with similar populations that have not been exposed to the intervention.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R18-CA-39262 Project Period: 9/30/85-8/31/90

A Stepped Approach to Smoking Reduction

Principal Investigator: Beti Thompson, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

The objective of this study is to assess the feasibility, effectiveness, and costs of a stepped approach to increasing long-term smoking cessation rates in the defined population of a worksite. Key features of this study include: (1) identifying all smokers at the worksite; (2) providing ongoing active encouragement to each smoker to participate in smoking cessation activities; (3) offering each smoker increasingly intensive assistance in quitting smoking; (4) offering each smoker who achieves initial cessation a series of increasingly intensive aids to maintain cessation; (5) recycling those who fail to achieve initial cessation, or who relapse, through the increasingly intensive cessation activities; and (6) estimating the costs of this approach per worksite smoker and per long-term quitter.

This stepped approach model is consistent with the medical model in which increasingly intensive and/or expensive therapies are successively tried until a cure is achieved. The participating employer in this study is King County. King County employs 5,000 workers, including both white-collar and blue-collar employees, in 32 separate work units. Half of the work units will be randomized to the intervention arm and half to usual care.

The procedures for this study include: (1) a recruitment sequence, (2) a cessation sequence, and (3) a relapse prevention sequence. In the recruitment sequence, all smokers will be contacted and invited to participate in the study. In the cessation and relapse prevention sequences, four steps (ordered from least to most intensive) are possible: (1) hotline counseling, (2) self-help materials, (3) group-help sessions, and (4) referral to smoker's physician for more intensive therapy.

There are two primary outcomes of this study: (1) long-term smoking cessation rates (continuous abstinence from cigarettes for at least 6 months at the time of the final assessment), and (2) costs of the stepped approach per long-term quitter. This comprehensive, stepped approach, if successful and cost effective, can easily be exported to other worksites and settings.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P0I-CA-34847 (Project 10) **Project Period:** 7/88-6/91

Tobacco Reduction and Cancer Control (TRACC)

Principal Investigator: Thomas Vogt, M.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research

This program project focuses on the integration of cancer control activities into the medical care setting of a 350,000-member health maintenance organization (HMO). The current program models the general approach using five projects designed to reduce tobacco use by HMO members.

The projects deal with approaches the HMO can use to boost smoking cessation rates within the workplace of State of Oregon workers, with consistent, comprehensive, and low-cost interventions aimed at the medical office, the dental office, hospitalized persons, and adolescent members who are smoking. Each project incorporates into its approach specific advantages provided by the individual setting. For example, the hospital intervention study involves patients who have been required to temporarily quit smoking because the practice is banned in the hospital. This situation, combined with the existence of disease requiring hospitalization, provides a uniquely teachable moment. The dental office project focuses on reducing the use of smokeless tobacco; the other four projects concentrate on reducing cigarette smoking.

The approaches being tested are all generalizable to other cancer control interventions and to settings outside the HMO.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P01-CA-44648 **Project Period:** 5/87-4/91

Prompting Smoking Cessation in Family Practice

Principal Investigator: William Wadland, M.D. Performing Organization: University of Vermont

The objective of this study was to test whether a prescription for nicotine gum aids physician advice against smoking cessation when given to all smokers in the primary practice setting where patients pay for physician visits and prescriptions. Intervention was a randomized clinical trial comparing physician advice and followup visit plus nicotine gum in terms of quit attempts and long-term smoking cessation outcomes.

Six hundred adult smokers were recruited from two rural Vermont family practices during routine office visits. Measurements of quit attempts and smoking cessation were made by various methods, including followup physician visits at 1-2 weeks, mailed questionnaires to patients and family observers at 2 weeks and 6 months, telephone followup in nonresponders, and biochemical verification for claimed quitters.

The protocol for brief physician advice against smoking (10 minutes) had been developed and tested in two previous studies, and the prescription for nicotine gum was accompanied by explicit instructions on its use.

The project found that there were no significant differences between sites concerning' socioeconomic status, rates of quitting, or quit attempts. Six-month followup showed no difference between the nicotine gum and no gum groups in quit attempts and actual

smoking cessation. The study also found that private practices may have greater potential for subject recruitment than academic sites, the use of study personnel improves recruitment, and having study personnel actively involved in informed consent does not improve recruitment.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: R03-CA-43987 Project Period: 9/30/86-9/29/88

Community Interventions for Cancer Prevention

Principal Investigator: Richard B. Warnecke, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Illinois Cancer Center

This program project evaluated a community-based strategy organized around an accessible intervention for enhancing smoking cessation in a large urban area. The components were designed to test various public health strategies, each of which were intended to reach large numbers of the population and to foster collaboration with organizational sites that have a commitment to health promotion and disease prevention.

The basic televised intervention was aimed at smoking cessation with a self-help orientation. Additional components addressed maintenance and various forms of social support. The evaluation of the televised self-help intervention and maintenance was the focus of project 1. Project 2 examined cognitive and social support mediators of response associated with behavioral changes in project 1. The remaining projects evaluated specific interventions and followup maintenance procedures related to the televised intervention. Project 4 was a study involving social support, and project 5 was a study of strategies to promote smoking cessation among black women in public housing developments.

The interventions were evaluated using a common longitudinal design and a shared set of instruments. On July 1, 1989, the program was reviewed to allow completion of the evaluation of the results and planning for the next generation of intervention.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** P01-CA-42760 **Project Period:** 7/1/86-6/30/89

Community Interventions for Cancer Prevention

Principal Investigator: Richard B. Wamecke, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Illinois at Chicago

The underlying objective of this program project is to continue the evaluation of a community-based strategy organized around an accessible intervention for enhancing smoking cessation in a large urban area. The components are designed to test various public health strategies designed to reach large numbers of the population.

The basic televised intervention, conducted between March 22 and April 10, 1987, was aimed at smoking cessation with a self-help orientation. Additional components have addressed maintenance and various forms of social support.

The evaluation of the televised self-help intervention and maintenance has been the focus of project 1. Project 2 has examined and will continue to focus on the cognitive and social support mediators of response associated with the behavioral changes in project 1. Project 4's focus has been on social support, and project 5 has studied strategies to promote smoking cessation among black women in public housing developments.

The interventions have been executed using a common longitudinal design and a shared set of instruments, The investigators will collect a fifth wave of postintervention data, conduct a tracking effort to ascertain the smoking status of respondents who have fallen out of the panel, utilize a series of focus groups with selected groups of respondents to explore **indepth** ways to motivate and mobilize continuing smokers to participate in cessation programs, and select a new cross-sectional sample from the general population of smokers to examine the changing composition of smokers in the general population and test results from the focus groups.

Two pilot studies will be conducted. Project $\mathbf{4}$ will test variations of a new intervention using the American Lung Association's new manual, "Freedom From Smoking for You and Your Family," to encourage those smokers who have not achieved abstinence to try again. Project $\mathbf{6}$ is designed to evaluate new materials that address the problem of motivating and mobilizing the confirmed smoker to consider cessation.

Project **Officer:** Carlos Caban, Ph.D. **Identification Number: POI-CA-42760 Project Period:** 7/89-12/91

Televised Self-Help Program for Smoking Cessation

Principal Investigator: Richard B. Warnecke, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Illinois at Chicago

This project examined the effectiveness of a televised smoking cessation program in reaching target populations in an urban setting who are at risk for cancer due to smoking. The study contained two components. The first, a population-based analysis, focused on issues of selection, maturation, and the process of behavior change. The second addressed change in individual behavior resulting from the televised intervention and self-help manual and a maintenance intervention following the televised portion on a sample of those who requested the self-help manual.

The dependent variable was smoking cessation or modification. The independent variables were extent and type of exposure to the televised clinic and self-help manual and to the subsequent maintenance condition plus social support, motivation to quit, prior smoking history, history of attempts to quit, and demographics.

The project tested the theory that participation in a public health smoking cessation program results from initial motivation to quit at some level of intensity. The televised program created an opportunity to act on the motivation by viewing the program, requesting the manual, or taking some combination of actions. Once this action is taken, a response occurs that can be reinforced by maintenance and/or social support.

There were seven data collection points in the population-based component: two preintervention and five postintervention telephone interviews. In the requester component, there were five postintervention telephone interviews with the preintervention data obtained from the registration form. Analysis included efforts to model the sequence of behavior change resulting from the intervention.

Project Officer: Carlos Caban, Ph.D. Identification Number: P0l-CA-42760 (Project 1) Project **Period:** 7/86-6/89

Smoking Cessation Intervention Trial for Pregnant Women

Principal Investigator: Richard Windsor, Ph.D. Performing Organ+ization: University of Alabama at Birmingham

The purpose of this trial is to develop and evaluate the impact on the cessation and reduction rates of a multicomponent smoking cessation intervention among pregnant women. A total of 800 pregnant smokers, 400 randomly assigned to the intervention and 400 randomly assigned to the control group, will be tested.

This trial is adapting and revising existing methods found successful in motivating pregnant smokers in maternity clinics to quit smoking or to reduce cigarette consumption. Behavioral reports and saliva thiocyanate and cotinine samples are being collected at baseline, midpregnancy, end of pregnancy, and 6 weeks, 6 months, and 12 months postdelivery. This trial will apply a three-component intervention program consisting of a self-help smoking cessation guide and skills training to enhance cessation (component 1). Systematic reinforcement by chart reminder (component 2) and encouragement and systematic application of social support (component 3) will also be applied.

Project Officer: Thomas Glynn, Ph.D. Identification Number: R01-CA-41648 Project **Period:** 7/1/86-6/30/91

Project Abstracts: Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation

The Community Intervention Trial for Smoking Cessation (COMMIT) was initiated in September 1986 to establish a nationwide cooperative intervention program in 22 communities in the United States and Canada. Following a 2-year planning and protocol development phase, the most promising intervention methodologies from all other ongoing STCP research trials were selected for use in this trial. Interventions have been designed for use in health care settings, worksites, community organizations, and schools; through the media; and through community smoking cessation programs. The protocol will be tested during a 4-year intervention period, and the impact will be monitored among both heavy and light-to-moderate smokers. The primary endpoint of the trial will be the smoking cessation rate among cohorts of heavy smokers in intervention and comparison communities. Smoking prevalence in each community will also be monitored, as well as a variety of other variables measured in surveys of special populations. The intervention protocol and trial results will provide a model to communities around the Nation who want to establish effective community-wide smoking control programs. Thus, the results of the trial will be a central element in nationwide efforts to expand communitybased smoking control efforts. Because each site will deliver similar interventions throughout the community, this section's abstracts represent a description of the intervention community's population and the channels through which specific interventions will be delivered to the community.

Community Pair: Brantford and Peterborough, Ontario, Canada

Principal Investigator: J. Allan Best, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Waterloo/McMaster University

The intervention site, Brantford, has a population of 90,520 and is located approximately 60 miles west of Toronto. Although the city is close to several medium-size cities, the agricultural use of the surrounding land and lack of urban sprawl serve to maintain Brantford's identity as a separate community. The demise of the small farm and the movement of industry and population to major metropolitan areas since 1950 have caused Brantford to become an economically depressed area; however, the recent location of new retail and business establishments in the downtown area has caused the economy to be on the upswing. The Massey Combines Corporation, which had approximately 1,000 employees, has recently ceased operations and withdrawn from the community. However, capital incentives are available from the provincial government, and the city's division of economic development is working to attract new industry. The presence of tobacco farming in the rural area surrounding Brantford may negatively affect the development of a clear antitobacco norm. However, despite their large capital investments in equipment and land, tobacco farmers are generally making a transition to other crops. The two major health providers are Brantford General Hospital and St. Joseph's Hospital. Two local radio stations provide regional information and news, but most television coverage is from major centers in southern Ontario. The *Expositor* is a daily newspaper distributed within Brant County and provides municipal, national, and international news. A community weekly, the Brant News, provides primarily local news and information. Public schools and local legislation promote and encourage nonsmoking, but at the same time public support and enforcement of a comprehensive city bylaw restricting smoking in public places are lacking.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4093 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Utica and Binghamton/Johnson City, New York

Principal Investigator: K. Michael Cummings, Ph.D., M.P.H. Performing Organization: Roswell Park Memorial Institute

The intervention site, Utica, with a 1980 population of 85, 490, is the county seat and the largest city between Syracuse and Albany. It is surrounded by a sparsely populated rural area. An economic foundation in industrial manufacturing plants has been replaced within the past 15 years by lower paying service, clerical, and retail jobs as many of these plants have experienced severe cutbacks or have closed down. Eighty-two percent of employed residents work either in the city or in one of the two suburbs. Two relatively new large shopping malls in Utica's immediate suburbs have brought many new retail outlets to the area, and building construction rates are rising. The population is largely of

Italian, Polish, German, and Irish descent, with a substantial Lebanese segment as well. Black and Hispanic segments are small. Utica's ethnic background is reflected in its conservative values and resistance to change. Most of the neighborhoods have distinctive ethnic characteristics, but the residents as a whole tend to look to government, rather than self-help, to solve community problems. The city has three hospitals (combined total of **719** beds) and three HMO's (combined membership of 17,000). Hospital consolidation is a major community controversy, and turf issues need to be considered in dealing with the hospitals. One daily newspaper, the *Observer-Dispatch*,14 radio stations, two local network television carriers, and a local PBS affiliate station make up the media services in Utica. Business and government leaders are influential in directing the city's agenda, and local offices of national voluntaries such as the American Lung Association offer community services.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4098 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Raleigh and Greensboro, North Carolina

Principal Investigator: Tyler D. Hartwell, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Research Triangle Institute

The intervention site, Raleigh, is the state capital and is located in the state's most rapidly growing metropolitan area. With a population estimated at more than 200,000, it is the second largest city in North Carolina and the largest city in the eastern part of the state, functioning as the retailing hub for the region and as the county seat. The major employer is the state government, and the economic climate is favorable, with an unemployment rate of only 2.5 percent. Most jobs are found in the technical sector (37 percent), with 34 percent in management, **12 percent in service**, and 9 percent in labor sectors. Only about 16 percent of Raleigh's families are below the poverty level. As of 1980, more than 70 percent of the population was white, 27 percent black, and 9 percent of Spanish origin. Three hospitals are located in Raleigh, and five active HMO's have a combined physician membership of more than 2,000. Although the health care community is enthusiastically receptive to smoking-related issues, tobacco interests are not to be ignored in the city. Large companies have been reluctant to participate visibly in antismoking initiatives, and although the city and state governmental units endorse wellness efforts for employees, they do not offer cessation as a part of those programs. All of the four television stations (three network affiliates and a cable station) are active in local community affairs. Radio and print media are also well represented in Raleigh, with two daily newspapers, a wide assortment of community weeklies, and many radio stations. The Tobacco News Network is dedicated to distributing tobacco news throughout the state. Raleigh neighborhoods have served as the grassroots origins for many community initiatives relating to education and schools, road improvements, etc. Coalition-forming and networking between and among groups and local/state agencies are common.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4096 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Bellingham and Longview/Kelso, Washington

Principal Investigator: Maureen M. Henderson, M.D. **Performing Organization:** Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

The intervention site, Bellingham, is located in the northwest corner of Washington state, 90 miles north of Seattle. Originally settled as a port and lumbering town, those industries remain important today. Bellingham is also the center of a fertile agricultural and dairy region, and Western Washington University is an important part of the community. It is an economically strong city. The population of Bellingham is relatively well educated, with a median family income of \$19,572. The workforce is almost evenly divided between white- and blue-collar occupations. Caucasians make up 95.5 percent of the population. Political leaders are drawn from all sectors of the community and from diverse backgrounds. Bellingham is served by two hospitals whose rivalry is an important issue in the community despite some areas of cooperation. The local newspaper, the Bellingham Herald, is read by 84 percent of residents and plays an important role in defining local issues. There are also five other publications ranging from 5 days/week to monthlies. One local television station and six local radio stations carry local news. There is an established pattern of public participation in Bellingham from members of all community sectors such as business, industry, health, local government, and religious groups. Many sectors of the community are involved in smoking issues, and municipal regulations extend beyond the state regulations by prohibiting almost all smoking in public buildings.

Project **Officer:** Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** N01-CN6-4100 **Project Period:** 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Paterson and Trenton, New Jersey

Principal Investigator: Norman Hymowitz, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey

The intervention site, Paterson, with a mixed ethnic population of approximately 138,300, is located in northern New Jersey about midway between Newark and New York City. Historically, Paterson has been known for its silk mills, and 60 mills are still located in the district today. The population, relatively young, reflects the urban inner-city nature of the community, and 36 percent of the inhabitants earn under \$15,000/year. Although the city is undergoing revitalization and growth, there is much poverty and many people depend on social security, unemployment, or welfare assistance. Two major hospitals serve the community, for a combined patient flow of about 32,500 per year. There is a full array of electronic and print media, many of which come from nearby New York City. Local newspapers include the *Herald & News* and the *Bergen Record*, as well as three Chamber of Commerce publications. In addition to the New York stations, there are two local television stations, a Spanish-language station, and cable television, as well as many radio stations, both local and from New York. Grassroots movements have come together to fight social ills, as observed in the mobilization of the entire community in response to

a "crack for sex" ring involving 12-year-old children in prostitution. Although there are many different community groups and leaders, they do not seem to hesitate in joining together to better their community.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4099 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Medford/Ashland and Albany/Corvallis, Oregon

Principal Investigator: Edward Lichtenstein, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Oregon Research Institute

The intervention site, Medford/Ashland, is a community of two neighboring cities with a combined population of approximately 58,000 located near the Oregon-California border. Ashland is seen as an educational and cultural center, and Medford, the county seat, is known as the industrial, trade, and service center of the region. These characteristics capture the essence of the differences between the two towns while suggesting the basis for their interdependence. Lumber, agriculture, manufacturing, health care, retail trade, and governmental services are the key components in Medford's economy. Oregon's fifth largest city, Medford is also a community popular with retired people in addition to being the hub of a large marketing region. Ashland's primary businesses are education (Southern Oregon State College), tourism, retail commerce, and light industry. Educational and public sector agencies, along with tourism, provide about two-thirds of all job opportunities. Light industry, which accounts for less than 10 percent of employment, is based on wood products, and the city is eager to expand and diversify its industrial base. Both communities are organized under the council/manager form of government. Ashland has a reputation for political activism, whereas Medford tends to be more conservative. There are three major hospitals in the community, as well as numerous traditional and alternative health care providers. There are two daily county newspapers widely read in Medford/Ashland. In addition, Southern Oregon State College publishes a daily paper during the school year, and three alternative publications (two weeklies and one monthly) are also available. Three local commercial television stations and one public broadcasting system affiliate serve the Medford/Ashland area. There are 11 radio stations, 10 commercial and 1 strong public station. Community involvement was apparent in a recent air pollution controversy. The community remains split over the issue and resentful about outside interference from the Federal EPA. Local jurisdictions encourage citizen participation and rely on citizen advisory committees as one vehicle for ongoing involvement.

Project **Officer:** Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. **Identification Number:** N01-CN6-4094 **Project Period:** 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Fitchburg/Leominster and Lowell, Massachusetts

Principal Investigator: Judith K. Ockene, Ph.D. Performing Organization: University of Massachusetts Medical School

The intervention site, Fitchburg/Leominster, is a combination of two bordering towns that make up a single community. The area has a total population of about 74,000 and is located in north central Massachusetts, approximately 60 miles from Boston. A historic rivalry has given way in recent years to economic cooperation as a means of organizing a response to the difficult economic times faced by the two towns. Local companies are mostly small and are generally based on the plastics industry. The working population is primarily blue collar. As a result of the high unemployment rate (7 percent), private and public sectors have begun to cooperate more actively. A recent influx of immigrants into the area includes Puerto Ricans and Southeast Asians. Historically, Leominster was settled primarily by Italians, Fitchburg by Finns, Irish, and French. Recently, young professionals who work in Boston have begun to move into the area but are not well accepted by longtime local residents. However, the two cities still maintain a smalltown culture. Two hospitals serve the area: Burbank Hospital (Fitchburg) and Leominster Hospital. Despite an attempt to maintain an outward image of cooperation, these two hospitals compete with each other, and there is little overlap of physicians across hospitals. The broadcast media in these communities are likely to be supportive of program efforts. Of three radio stations, two have a history of supporting health and social issues. The Fitchburg **Sentinel** publishes information on community events. The area has a strong history of collaborative efforts in addressing social and health issues such as aid to the homeless, teenage pregnancy, suicide, and drug use. The community has also been fairly active in addressing the issues of smoking cessation in response to a new state law requiring smoking restrictions in all state and city buildings.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4091 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Yonkers and New Rochelle, New York

Principal Investigator: Mario A. Orlandi, Ph.D., M.P.H. **Performing Organization:** American Health Foundation

The intervention site, Yonkers, located 16 miles from the center of New York City, is the fourth largest city in New York and the largest city in the county. The population is 85 percent white, with 81 percent of the minority residents located in the Southwest quadrant. Although Yonkers comprises 38 distinct neighborhoods, all functioning autonomously, the city government operates in a more centralized capacity. Housing varies from deteriorating low-income dwellings to upper-class homes; half of all the homeless in Westchester County reside in Yonkers. The base of the Yonkers workforce is blue collar. Major employers include Loral Electronics, Refined Sugars, and the City of Yonkers; many small businesses provide employment as well. The court-imposed housing desegregation issue is a controversial area that has sent the city to the verge of bankruptcy several times due to fines levied for noncooperation. This will continue to be a controversial issue for some time. The Yonkers community is served by three hospitals offering specialized services with no overlap. An HMO provides medical services outside of survey boundaries. Although Yonkers produces its own local newspapers, cable shows, and radio programs, much of the electronic and printed media come from New York City. Local issues are covered in the daily newspaper, which has a section devoted to health topics, and a cable health program is hosted by a city councilman and COMMIT board member. The city, known for its separate "villages," nevertheless bands together when issues affecting the city's financial stability arise. In spite of the political and financial strains of the last decade, the city is dedicated to enhancing a sense of community spirit. Faced with the complexities inherent in a large city, Yonkers still upholds the values of a smalltown setting and community leaders interact regularly to share resources.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4095 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Sante Fe and Las Cruces, New Mexico

Principal Investigator: Neil1 F. Pilland, Dr.P.H. **Performing Organization:** Lovelace Medical Foundation

The intervention site, Sante Fe, is the state capital, and is the second largest city in New Mexico with a 1984 population of 52,274. Employment opportunities have been steadily expanding in Santa Fe because of growth in state government, tourism, and the arts. The population comprises an ethnic mix of Spanish, Native American, Hispanic, and Anglo groups. There are many examples of community cooperation for city-wide improvements in Santa Fe, including cleanup projects, fundraising for and construction of; u new library, and human services. Santa Fe has one short-term, not-for-profit general hospital with 212 beds; the community has access to eight health maintenance organizations, although not all eight are based in Santa Fe. There is one local television station that reaches a wide local viewing audience. There are 11 local radio stations, and the remaining television and radio stations broadcast from Albuquerque. The Santa Fe New Mexican is a daily newspaper with a large local readership and a smoke-free facility. A Friday supplement is aimed at the Hispanic community. The weekly Santa Fe Reporter reports on art and cultural events and has a small readership. The community also has several major programs that target tobacco use such as the New Mexico Committee on the Public Health Impact of Smoking, HealthNet New Mexico, and the State of New Mexico's Office of Smoking and Health.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4101 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Cedar Rapids/Marion and Davenport, Iowa

Principal **Investigator:** Paul R. Pomrehn, M.D., M.S. **Performing Organization:** University of Iowa

The intervention site, Cedar Rapids/Marion, occupies a central location in east-central Iowa. The metropolitan area's population of approximately 140,000 is relatively stable, well educated, and homogeneous (white) with a median household income of about \$20,000. The economic base of the community is agriculture and related products. A previously thriving heavy equipment industry has given way to booming high-technology, skilled, and food processing industries. Cedar Rapids has two hospitals with a combined capacity of approximately 960 beds and a large number of primary care providers. There is a full range of electronic and print media serving the area: The daily newspaper has a large circulation; there are several free special interest publications; and the community has a cable television system, 5 television stations, and 16 radio stations. Community activism and leadership reflect a smalltown style, and civic and social integration are high. Leadership is diffuse, reflecting diverse interest groups, and there is a commitment to broad-based involvement and a cooperative rather than adversarial approach to decision-making.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4092 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

Community Pair: Vallejo and Hayward, California

Principal Investigator: Lawrence Wallack, Dr.P.H. **Performing Organization:** Kaiser Foundation Research Institute

The intervention site, Vallejo, is the largest city in Solano County. This port city of about 90,000 inhabitants is located at the northeast corner of the San Francisco Bay area. In 1980, slightly less than half of the population was between the ages of 25 and 64, with more than half of the work force employed in white-collar occupations such as technical and administrative support. The economy has traditionally been dominated by the Mare Island Naval Shipyard, where 5,000 military persons are stationed and where 12,000 to 15,000 civilians are employed, many of whom are Vallejo residents. The two major health care providers in Vallejo are Kaiser Hospital and Sutter Solano Medical Center. The Kaiser-Permanente Medical Plan serves 51 percent of the population. Bay area television and radio stations provide the majority of electronic media for Vallejo; hence, the local newspaper, the Vallejo Times Herald, is the primary local media resource. The city has an active sense of community identity and purpose, yet there is also a struggle between the "old guard" and emerging influential newcomers within the city council where prodevelopment and conservationist forces maintain an uneasy balance. Community mobilization and cooperation are apparent in several social issues such as drug and alcohol abuse, cancer awareness, and smoking ordinance issues.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN6-4097 Project Period: 9/30/86-3/31/95

COMMIT Coordinating Center

Principal Investigator: Janis Beach Performing Organization: Information Management Services, Inc.

The coordinating center's primary responsibilities are data management, coordination of communication among research institutions, and administrative and logistical support to the program office. The coordinating center plays a major role in the design, implementation, and execution of the study. The staff of the coordinating center has the responsibility of collecting, editing, storing, and analyzing all data received from the research institutions. The coordinating center is represented on all major committees and subcommittees to provide input on data analysis, quality-control procedures, and data survey/collection design. Conference and logistical support is provided for all steering committee meetings. Minutes and task assignment lists from steering committee meetings are prepared by the coordinating center.

Project Officer: Terry Pechacek, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CN7-5406 Project Period: 12/24/86-06/23/95

COMMIT Survey Organization

Principal Investigator: Jay Levinson, Ph.D. Performing Organization: Research Triangle Institute

Research Triangle Institute's (RTI) role in the baseline survey was to program the sixpart survey instrument into a computer-assisted telephone interview to facilitate the actual survey interviewing process. The purposes of the survey were to determine smoking prevalence and record demographic characteristics of each community before COMMIT intervention. A quota of 500 heavy smokers was established for each community. Using telephone numbers provided for each community, RTI conducted half of the survey interviews in the 22 intervention and comparison communities, as well as in two additional test sites where Hispanic populations were present. The survey was translated into Spanish to gather information from these Hispanic communities. All survey response data were recorded on a tape database that contained two files: (1) household screening data and (2) extended interview data. RTI then provided the data tape to the coordinating center. In addition, RTI computed the sample weighting for each community.

Project Officer: Margaret Mattson, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CP7-1099 Project Period: 08/31/87-10/30/88

COMMIT Survey Organization

Principal Investigator: Mark Schulman, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Schulman, Ronca& Bucuvallas, Inc.

This project involves the conduct of worksite, religious organization, and school surveys in 1989 and 1993 to determine the type and extent of smoking control policies and smoking cessation programs available in these settings for both the intervention and comparison communities. From a listing of all worksites of 50 or more employees in the community, a stratified sample will be drawn based on number of employees (50-99; 100-249; 250+). Parallel surveys will be conducted of religious organizations to determine the proportion that have smoking restriction policies, offer cessation information or services to members, and participate in community-wide cessation campaigns such as the Great American Smoke-Out or similar quit-smoking events. All religious organizations in the yellow pages under "churches" and "synagogues" will be included in the surveys. The survey of religious organizations will serve as the objective indicator of the success and penetration of the intervention efforts into local organizations as a whole. Finally, administrations of all middle and high schools in both the intervention and comparison communities will be surveyed to assess student and employee smoking policies.

Project Officer: William Lynn Identification Number: N01-CN9-5189 Project Period: 10/1/89-6/30/90

COMMIT Survey Organization

Principal Investigator: David Macklan, Ph.D. **Performing Organization**: Westat, Inc.

Westat's role in the baseline survey was to program the six-part survey instrument into a computer-assisted telephone interview system to facilitate the actual survey interviewing process. The purposes of the survey were to determine smoking prevalence and record demographic characteristics of each community before COMMIT intervention. A quota of 500 heavy smokers was established for each community. Using telephone numbers provided for each community, Westat conducted half of the survey interviews in the 22 intervention and comparison communities, as well as in two additional test sites where Hispanic populations were present. The survey was translated into Spanish to gather information from these Hispanic communities. All survey response data were recorded on a tape data base that contained two files: (1) household screening data and (2) extended interview data. Westat then provided the data tape to the Coordinating Center. In addition, Westat provided input on the method of implementing the survey and performed quality control on results from both its own survey and on the survey results provided by RTI.

Project Officer: Margaret Mattson, Ph.D. Identification Number: N01-CP7-1098 Project Period: 08/31/87-08/30/88

COMMIT Survey Organization

Principal Investigator: David Macklan, Ph.D. **Performing Organization:** Westat, Inc.

Westat, Inc.'s role in the Evaluation Cohort Survey was to conduct a followup survey in the 22 intervention and comparison communities 1 year after the baseline survey was conducted. Westat was provided with a selection of participants from the baseline survey, as well as 100 never-smokers who had not been previously contacted. The purposes of the followup survey were to learn the current smoking status of those individuals and to survey their views, values, and awareness of smoking-related issues. The survey also collected demographic information on the never-smokers who had not been included in the baseline survey. Data collection is continuing, and Westat will provide the coordinating center with a tape database containing one file with the followup data when the survey is completed.

Project Officer: William Lynn Identification Number: N01-CN8-5 120 Project Period: 09/28/88-1 1/30/89

Appendix C: Intervention Materials

This appendix includes an annotated listing of the various intervention materials developed and/or tested for efficacy as part of the STCP intervention research initiatives. These materials are grouped according to the following categories:

- Smoking control advocacy and policy.
- Cessation manuals and guides.
- Curriculum, educational, and information products.
- Informational/motivational products.
- Media products.
- Patient tracking system.

An address list for obtaining the materials from the indicated sources appears at the end of the appendix.

Intervention Materials

Smoking Control Advocacy and Policy

Clean Air Health Care. Smoke-free hospital manual. Available from the Minnesota Smoke-Free Coalition. Cost: \$9.75 for one copy, \$8.75 each for two or more.

Major Local Smoking Ordinances in the United States: Detailed Matrix of the Provisions of Workplace, Restaurant, and Public Places Smoking Ordinances. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Media Strategies for Smoking Control. Guidelines for working with the print and broadcast media to influence their coverage of the smoking issue. The 44-page handbook is based on the results of an expert consensus workshop convened by the National Cancer Institute and the Advocacy Institute. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Smoking Policy: Questions and Answers. Ten-part series of factsheets on the establishment of worksite smoking policies. Addresses such topics as the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke, legal issues concerning policy implementation, and working with labor unions in establishing policies. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Cessation Manuals/Guides

Clearing the Air. Booklet containing methods and techniques to assist smokers in giving up cigarettes. Also includes information on fighting withdrawal symptoms and handling relapse. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Conducting a Smoking Cessation Group for Hispanics-A Leader's Guide. Guide to assist leaders who want to conduct cessation interventions with Hispanics. Available from the University of California's Hispanic Smoking Cessation Research Project. Cost: Available for cost of duplication.

Cool Turkey. Self-help smoking cessation guide. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center. Cost: \$2.

Enough Snuff. Self-help quitting manual for smokeless tobacco users. Available from the Oregon Research Institute. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Free & Clear: A Guide to Quitting Smoking on Your Own. Four-part, quit-smoking guide designed for smokers quitting on their own, with brief toll-free telephone counseling for users and a quit kit containing adherence aids. **Counselor Guide** available for group sessions. Available from the Center for Health Promotion of Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound or Health Enhancement Systems. Cost: **\$35**, with volume discounts.

Freedom From Smoking in 20 Days. Self-help guide to smoking cessation. Available from local American Lung Association offices. Cost: \$5.

Great American Smokeout (GASO) Materials. Promotional and self-help materials for the GASO. Available from local American Cancer Society offices. Cost: Varies.

Guía para Dejar de Fumar. Full-color self-help smoking cessation booklet developed specifically for Spanish-speaking Americans. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Helping Latino Smokers Quit. Guide for health care providers to help their Latino patients quit. Adapted from the Quit for Life seminars. Available from the University of California's Hispanic Smoking Cessation Research Project. Cost: Free.

Helping Smokers Quit. Smoking cessation kit for pharmacists that contains a guidebook for pharmacists, 25 sets of patient materials, and a counter card and poster to prompt interested patients to ask pharmacists about the program. Focuses on smoking and drug interactions. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

How To Help Your Patients Stop Smoking: A National Cancer Institute Manual for Physicians. Step-by-step handbook on instituting smoking cessation techniques in medical practices. The 65-page manual, with resource lists and tear-out materials, is based on the results of NCI smoking intervention trials, Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Making a Difference. Smoking intervention manual for occupational health nurses. Available from the Minnesota Smoke-Free Coalition. Cost: **\$9.25** for one copy, **\$8.25** each for two or more.

Personal Growth and Smoking Cessation. Manual that integrates personal competence or self-management skills and skills for seeking social support for use in smoking cessation clinics. Available from the Washington University. Cost: \$5 (estimate).

Physician-Delivered Smoking Intervention Program. Multifaceted program designed to provide physicians and other health care providers with the skills and tools necessary to intervene effectively with their patients who smoke. Includes facilitator's manual and teaching guide, slide package, video, participant handouts, and office procedure kit. Available from the University of Massachusetts Medical School. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Preparing To Quit With Nicotine Gum. Self-help smoking cessation guide. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center. Cost: \$2.

Promoting Worksite Smoking Control. Intervention field manual. Available from Center of Health Promotion of the Miriam Hospital. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Quit-and-Win. Self-help manual. Available from the Minnesota Smoke-Free Coalition. Cost: \$6.50 for one copy, \$5 each for two or more.

Quit for Good. Smoking cessation program for physicians, dentists, and other health professionals to use in counseling their patients. The kit contains a health professional's guide, patient stop-smoking contracts, "smoker" chart stickers, copies of the self-help booklet "Clearing the Air," and waiting room materials. Materials for 50 patients. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Quit for Life: Get the Most Out of L&-Kick the Smoking Habit. Self-help, quitsmoking kit designed especially to address the needs and concerns of black smokers. The kit includes a brief black-focused guide to using materials, a copy of the multiracial **1988** American Lung Association guide "Freedom From Smoking for You and Your Family," refrigerator tipsheets for following the program, and a package of adherence aids, Available from the North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Company. Cost: \$6.

Quit for Life Booklet. Self-help manual for smoking cessation. Available from the University of California at San Francisco Medical Center. Cost: Originals available for reproduction.

Quit for Life Training Package. Syllabus designed for two sessions with two 11-minute videos demonstrating techniques, with quit Rx pads and reminders to counsel. Available from the University of California Medical Center. Cost: Originals available for, reproduction.

The Quit Kit. Self-help smoking cessation guide. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center. Cost: \$2.95.

Quitting With the Help of Nicorette. Physician's guide for using Nicorette gum in their practices. Available from Merrell Dow Lakeside Pharmaceuticals. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Review and Evaluation of Smoking Cessation Methods: The United States and Canada, 1978-1985. 200-page monograph on smoking cessation methods, including 883 references and a comprehensive table of cessation methods that have been used over the past three decades. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Smoker's Challenge User's Guide Plus. Self-help smoking cessation guide. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center. Cost: \$24.50.

Steps to Stopping: The Script. Brochure linking nursing process with script for stop smoking counseling and followup. Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Stop for Life. Modular system for maintenance of nonsmoking suited to worksites, hospitals, and other settings where a coordinator is available to receive participants' weekly progress reports, After smokers quit, they begin with the module "How To Cope With the Urge To Smoke"; once a week for the next 7 weeks, they receive one of the modules they have selected. The modules are targeted at coping with high-risk situations without smoking. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center. Cost: Sample set of 16 with User's Guide: \$15. Cost per smoker (part of program): \$15.

Stop Smoking: A Nurse's Guide. Softcover manual that describes the health effects of smoking, steps to stopping script, and strategies for creating smoke-free environments. Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Tobacco Advice Line at Kaiser (TALK Line) TALK Line Scripts. Toll-free telephone hotline, answered by trained staff. Individuals accessing this service have the opportunity to talk with experienced cessation counselors and can request tipsheets and self-help manuals. Uses 12 most basic issues (steps to quit smoking, steps to quit chewing, coping with urges, tobacco as a drug, how to use the self-help manual, smoking cessation and weight, exercise, relaxation, low-tar/low-nicotine cigarettes, health risks of smokeless tobacco, smoking and pregnancy, and passive smoke) and tape-recorded scripts. Available from the Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

TRACC Quit Kit. Self-help kit with toothpicks, a TALK magnet with the TALK line phone number, TRACC key chain with logo, cinnamon sticks, chewing gum, calendar, project-specific tipsheets for quitting tobacco, binder clips and gadgets to play with and keep hands busy. Provides smokers with substitutes for smoking and gives them aids to quit smoking. Available from the Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Curriculum, Educational, and Information Products

Cancer Prevention Brief: Tobacco. Overview of the science relating tobacco use to cancer and other health problems. Summarizes recent trends in the use of tobacco and outlines key strategies for prevention. Includes a selected bibliography. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Chew or Snuff Is Real Bad Stuff. Brochure highlighting the adverse health and social effects of using smokeless tobacco. Designed for boys ages 10 to 13; includes a foldout poster. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Chew or Snuff Is Real Bad Stuff: A Guide To Make Young People Aware of the Dangers of Using Smokeless Tobacco. Lesson plan for teachers that contains additional facts about smokeless tobacco, suggested classroom activities, and selected education resources. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Choices. Grade 7 smoking prevention program. Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Crossroads. Grade 7 multiple component health promotion program (substance abuse prevention, diet, exercise, life skills). Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

FREEDOM LINE? Smokers' hotline, a joint project of the University of Rochester and the American Lung Association-Finger Lakes Region, Inc. Available from the University of Rochester or the American Lung Association-Finger Lakes Region, Inc. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Life Skills Training. Tobacco, alcohol, and drug abuse prevention program for seventh graders, Emphasizes resistance skills training within the context of teaching a broad range of personal and social life skills. Available from Smithfield Press. Includes teacher's manual (\$85), student guide (\$6), and audiocassette tape (\$10) for seventh grade curriculum and teacher's manuals for eighth (\$50) and ninth grade curriculums (\$35).

The Minnesota Smoking Prevention Program (MSPP). School-based program designed to reach students at the most opportune time for tobacco use prevention, ages 12 to 14. A key strategy for the success of MSPP is the involvement of peer leaders in the classroom experience; nearly half of the activities in MSPP are led by students. Available from Hazelden Health Promotion Services, Cost: Teachers' manual, 100 pages, \$24.95 plus shipping and handling.

Project 4-Health Action Team Guidebook. Booklet to organize and conduct special group projects aimed at preventing and curtailing tobacco use. Available from the University of California School of Public Health. Cost: Materials provided at cost as long as supplies last. In return, feedback and suggestions are requested. Sample provided that recipient may reproduce for mailing costs (about \$5).

Project 4-Health Tobacco Education Program-Leader's Guide. Overview of program, detailed instructions, and camera-ready materials for leading five educational sessions. Available from the University of California School of Public Health. Cost: Materials provided at cost as long as supplies last. In return, feedback and suggestions are requested. Sample provided that recipient may reproduce for mailing costs (about **\$5**).

Project 4-Health Tobacco Education Program-Member's Booklet. Activity booklet that provides individual puzzles, games, and projects to follow up on group sessions and encourage further exploration. Available from the University of California School of Public Health. Cost: Materials provided at cost as long as supplies last. In return, feedback and suggestions are requested. Sample provided that recipient may reproduce for mailing costs (about **\$5**).

Resources for Smokeless Tobacco Education. Descriptions of and ordering information for a variety of print and audiovisual materials related to smokeless tobacco that have been developed by both public and private health organizations. Available from the National Cancer Institutes's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Saying No! To Tobacco/More Saying No! To Tobacco. Student workbook and booster workbook. Available from the Columbia University School of Social Work. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Saying No! To Tobacco/More Saying No! To Tobacco. Trainer's manual and booster training manual. Available from the Columbia University School of Social Work. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

SHARP Teacher Handbook. Healthy lifestyles curriculum for students. Available from the University of Southern California's Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention. Cost: \$50.
SHOUT (Students Helping Others Understand Tobacco)-Lessons 1–9 and **Facilitator Instructions for Lessons** 1-9. Curriculum emphasizing health effects, advertising, self-esteem, decisionmaking, and refusal skills for both cigarettes and smokeless tobacco (1-6 main course, **7-9** review). Includes instructions on how to implement nine SHOUT lessons for pairs of facilitators. Available from the San Diego State University Graduate School of Public Health. Cost: Copying and mailing, \$10.

SMART Parent Program. Adult healthy lifestyles program materials. Available from the University of Southern California's Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention. cost: \$50.

Smoke-Free Class of 2000 Classroom Kit. Smoking prevention school-based curriculum. Available from Lovelace Medical Foundation. Cost: \$5.

Smoking Prevention Curriculum Grades 5-10. Media and school-based program designed to prevent the onset of regular cigarette smoking. Available from the University of Vermont's Office of Health Promotion Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

TNT (Toward No Tobacco Use) Teacher Handbook. School-based tobacco use prevention curriculum for students. Available from the University of Southern California's Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention. Cost: \$50.

Informational/Motivational Products

Challenge of Carlos (La Reta de Carlos). English and Spanish cartoon/novela in booklet form for handout or mailing. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Clean Air Health Care Poster. Poster to identify a smoke-free hospital or inform visitors hospital is smoke free. Available from the Minnesota Smoke-Free Coalition. Cost: \$7.

Cuatro Asesinos **Andan Sueltos.** Brochures on smoking cessation in English and Spanish for handout or mailing. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Give Them Breathing Room Pamphlet and Poster. One pamphlet and one poster (4-color) designed to get women smokers to call NCI's Cancer Information Service. Available from Roswell Park Memorial Institute. Cost: Printing costs.

Help Free Smokers. Poster for use in nursing schools, hospitals, and other health care settings. Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Newspaper Role Model Stories. 162 stories on smoking, fatty foods, alcohol, and medical checkups among youth and adults in English and Spanish (50 percent female). Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Nurses Thank You For Not Smoking. Cloth tote bag. Available from the American Health Foundation. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Programa A Su Salud Calendar. Six bilingual monthly calendars on the topics of smoking, avoiding drugs and alcohol, losing and maintaining weight, holiday health tips, exercising, preventive medicine and checkups, and summary of other five calendars. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Project 4-Health Tobacco Education Program—Parents' Pamphlet. Pamphlet explaining education program, inviting parent participation, and providing tips for parents if they and/or their children smoke or chew. Available from the University of California School of Public Health. Cost: Materials provided at cost as long as supplies last. In return, feedback and suggestions are requested. Sample provided that recipient may reproduce for mailing costs (about *\$5*).

Quit for Life Poster. Poster encouraging patients to ask physicians for help in quitting. Available from the University of California Medical Center. Cost: Originals available for reproduction.

Seis Asesinos Andan Sueltos. Brochures on smoking cessation in English and Spanish for handout or mailing. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

The TRACC Record. Six bimonthly newsletters that promote and tie together low-intensity services as well as serve as an intervention channel. Published in a colorful four- to six-page 8-1/2" x 11" format. Includes a question-answer column, interviews of individuals in the study, cartoons, and information items appropriate to various stages of quitting. Available from the Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Why Do You Smoke? Self-test that helps smokers determine some of the reasons they smoke and which cessation techniques may work best for them. Available from the National Cancer Institute's Office of Cancer Communications. Cost: Free.

Media Products

Calling **It Quits.** Video quitting guide for groups. Available from the Stanford Health Promotion Research Center. Cost: \$40.

Four Killers. 30-second video/audio PSA's in English and Spanish for media presentation. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Give Them Breathing Room. Three 30-second TV spots designed to motivate women smokers to call a hotline for assistance in stopping smoking. Available from Roswell Park Memorial Institute. Cost: Duplication costs only.

High Risk Assessment Battery for Early Adolescents. Measurement of risk and quantification of use rates. Available from the Columbia University School of Social Work. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

HMO Smoking Cessation Videos. Five videos that use testimonials mixed with oncamera narration to sell the concept of nonsmoking specifically in an HMO setting. Titles of the videos: Health Incentives Program, Introduction to Freedom From Cigarettes, Quitting on Your Own, Two Options for Quitting, Smokeless Tobacco Cessation, Quitting on Your Own-For Teens, and Hospital Cessation. Available for research purposes only from the Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Male Quit-Smoking Role Model. Thirty-second video/audio PSA's in English and Spanish for media presentation. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Peer Pressure Resistance Skills for Adolescents: Teacher's Guide. Participation video activity to help sixth- to eighth-grade students avoid tobacco, alcohol, and drugs. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Say No (Smoking, Fatty Foods, Alcohol). Thirty-second video/audio PSA's in English and Spanish for media presentation. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Saying No! To Tobacco. Intervention-specific videos designed to teach assertion/refusal skills to high-risk early adolescents. Available from the Columbia University School of Social Work. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Smoke and Chew-What To Do? Twelve-minute video to trigger discussion about health effects of smokeless tobacco use and cigarette smoking. Features San Francisco Giants and Mary T. Meagher (Olympic swimming champion). Available from the University of California School of Public Health. Cost: Limited copies available; seeking an independent distributor. Available for cost of reproducing and mailing (about \$12).

Spanish Public Service Announcements. Antismoking messages in Spanish (TV and radio). Available from the University of California's Hispanic Smoking Cessation Research Project. Cost: Available for cost of duplication.

Stop Before You Drop. "Trigger" rap video to motivate students in grades 1-12 to think: about stopping or not starting to smoke. The music video was made by more than 300 young people from the predominantly black community of Richmond, California, as part of a community mobilization effort supporting nonsmoking. Available from Kaiser Permanente's Division of Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Quitting Chew. Video to motivate chewers and snuffers to quit (9 minutes). Available from the Oregon Research Institute. Cost: Contact source for availability and price after research is completed.

Quitting With Nicorette. Video on the use of Nicorette for smoking cessation targeted to the physician's office. Available from Hall-Foushee Productions. Cost: \$60.

Video/Audio Role Model Segments. Twenty-four local Southwest Texas video/audio media segments appropriate for clinic waiting rooms and teaching settings. Available from the University of Texas Health Science Center. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Ya Basta. Slide, audio, or video presentation to introduce an antismoking message in Spanish at community meetings. Available from the University of California's Hispanic Smoking Cessation Research Project. Cost: Available for cost of duplication.

Patient Tracking System

Computerized Patient Tracking System (TRACK). Integrated data system to maintain demographic, event, and outcome data about participants in large clinical trials. This automated tracking system, composed of generalized data structures and cross-reference tables, also efficiently supports and oversees specific process controls for mailings, telephone contacts, appointment scheduling, and the like. Accumulates a historical record of intervention activities. Designed to run using the System 1032 relational database, a widely used system on minicomputers and mainframes. However, the "genetic code" of TRACK resides in its database structure, not in its programming code. An equally functional system could be duplicated on many other relational database systems, including products such as dBase IV. Many of these products run on personal computers such as those found in many physicians' offices. Available from the Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research. Cost: Contact source for availability and price.

Intervention Materials

Address List

American Cancer Society (Check for local listing in the white pages of your telephone directory)

American Health Foundation 320 East 43rd Street New York, NY 10017 (212) 953-1900, ext. 249

American Lung Association (See local listing)

American Lung Association-Finger Lakes Region, Inc.
1595 Elmwood Avenue Rochester, NY 14620
(716) 275-8710

The Columbia University School of Social Work 622 West 113th Street New York, NY 10025 (2 12) 854-8506

Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound Center for Health Promotion 521 Wall Street Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 448-4396

Hazelden Health Promotion Services 1400 Park Avenue South Minneapolis, MN 55404 (612) 349-4310 or (800) 257-8700

Health Enhancement Systems 9 Mercer Street Princeton, NJ 08540 1-800-437-6668

Kaiser Permanente Division of Research 3451 Piedmont Avenue Oakland, CA 94611 (415) 987-3248 Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research Kaiser Foundation Hospitals 4610 Southeast Belmont Street Portland, OR 97215-1795 (503) 239-6765

Merrell Dow Lakeside Pharmaceuticals P.O. Box 429553 Cincinnati, OH 45242-9553 (513) 948-9111

Minnesota Smoke-Free Coalition Suite 314 2221 University Avenue, S.E. Minneapolis, MN 55414 (507) 280-9444

The Miriam Hospital Center for Health Promotion Brown University 164 Summit Avenue Providence, RI 02906 (401) 274-3700 or (401) 331-8500, ext. 4315

North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Company Mutual Plaza Durham, NC 27710 (919) 6829201

Office of Cancer Communications National Cancer Institute National Institutes of Health Building 31, Room 10A-24 Bethesda, MD 20892 1-800-4-CANCER

Office of Health Promotion Research University of Vermont Division of Health Sciences 235 Rowel1 Building Burlington, VT 05405 (802) 656-4187 Oregon Research Institute Suite 2 **1899** Willamette Street Eugene, OR **97401** (503) 484-2123

Roswell Park Memorial Institute Elm and Carlton Streets Buffalo, NY **14263** (716) 845-2300

San Diego State University Graduate School of Public Health College of Health and Human Services San Diego, CA 92182-0405 (619) **594-1976**

Smithfield Press P.O. Box **856** Lenis Hill Station New York, NY 10021

Stanford Health Promotion Resource Center 1000 Welch Road Palo Alto, CA 94304 (415) 723-7049

University of California at Berkeley School of Public Health Suite 204 1919 Addison Street Berkeley, CA 94704 (415) 643-7314

University of California at San Francisco Hispanic Smoking Cessation Research Project 400 Parnassus Avenue, A-405 San Francisco, CA 94143-0320 (415) 476-4362

University of California at San Francisco Medical Center 400 Parnassus Avenue, A-405 San Francisco, CA 94143-0320 (415) 476-4362 University of Massachusetts Medical School
Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine
55 Lake Avenue North
Worcester, MA 01655
Attention: Program Director, PDSIP
(413) 545-1931

University of Rochester Smoking Research Program Meliora Hall River Station Rochester, NY 14627 (716) 275-8710 or 2080

University of Southern California Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Suite 200 35 North Lake Avenue Pasadena, CA 91101 (818) 405-0472

University of Texas Health Science Center Programa A Su Salud Center for Health Promotion University Plaza, Room 333B San Antonio, TX 78284-7979 (512) 471-5801

Washington University Second Floor 33 South Euclid St. Louis, MO 63108 (314) 361-4808

Appendix D: STCP Bibliography

This appendix includes the publications of the STCP staff and investigators that pertain to the program's intervention research efforts. It contains materials that were published or in press during the period **1985** to **1989**.

STCP Bibliography

- 1. Abrams DB: Psychophysiological reactivity, smoking and relapse. In: The Surgeon General's report: the health consequences of smoking: nicotine addiction. DHHS publication no. (CDC)88-8406. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1988.
- 2. Abrams DB: Understanding the smoking problem and how to help patients stop: current status of the field. RI Med J 1988;70:121-6.
- 3. Abrams DB, Follick MJ, Biener L, Carey KB, Hitti J: Saliva cotinine as a measure of smoking status. Am J Public Health 1989;77(7):846-8.
- 4. Abrams DB, Monti PM, Carey KB, Pinto RP, Jacobus SI: Reactivity to smoking cues and relapse: two studies of discriminant validity. Behav Res Ther 1988;26(3):225-33.
- 5. Abrams DB, Monti PM, Pinto RP, Elder JP, Brown RA, Jacobus SI: Psychosocial stress and coping in smokers who relapse or quit. Health Psychol 1987;6(4):289-303.
- 6. Abrams DB, Raciti MA, et al: Cardiovascular risk-factor reduction in the medical setting: a behavioral step-care approach. In: Stoudemire A, Fogel BS, eds. Treatment of psychiatric disorders in medical-surgical patients. New York: Grune and Stratton, 1987.
- Abrams DB, Elder JP, Carleton RA, Lasater TM, Artz LM: Social learning principles for organizational health promotion. In: Cataldo MF, Coates TJ, eds. Health and industry: a behavioral medicine perspective. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1986:28-51.
- Abrams DB, Wilson GT: Clinical advances in treatment of smoking and alcohol addiction. In: Frances AJ, Hales RE, eds. The American Psychiatric Association: annual review, psychiatric update. Vol. 5. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, 1986.
- 9. Albanes D, Jones DY, Micozzi M, Mattson ME: Associations between smoking and body weight in the U.S. Analysis of NHANES II. Am J Public Health 1987;77(4):439-44.
- Alcalay R, Sabogal F, Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ, Marin B, Otero-Sabogal R: Patterns of mass media use among Hispanic smokers. Implications for community interventions. Int Q Community Health Educ 1987;8(4):341-50.
- Amezcua C, McAlister AL, Ramirez A, Espinoza R: Health promotion in a Mexican-American border community: Programa A Su Salud in Eagle Pass, Texas. In: Bracht N, ed. Organizing for community health promotion: a handbook. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications, Inc. (in press).
- Ary DV: Use of smokeless tobacco among male adolescents: concurrent and prospective relationships. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):49-55.
- 13. Ary DV, Biglan A: Longitudinal changes in adolescent cigarette smoking behavior: onset and cessation. J Behav Med 1988;11:361-82.
- Ary DV, Lichtenstein E, Severson HH: Smokeless tobacco use among male adolescents: patterns, correlates, predictors, and the use of other drugs. Prev Med 1987;16:385-401.

- **15.** Baer JS, Kamarck T, Lichtenstein E, Ransom CC Jr: Prediction of smoking relapse: analyses of temptations and transgressions after initial cessation. J Consult Clin Psychol 1989;57(5):623-8.
- 16. Baer JS, Lichtenstein E: Cognitive assessment in smoking cessation. In: Marlatt GA, Donovan DM, eds. Assessment of addictive behaviors. New York: The Guilford Press, 1988.
- **17.** Baer JS, Holt CS, Lichtenstein E: Self-efficacy and smoking reexamined: construct validity and clinical utility. J Consult Clin Psychol 1986;54:846-52.
- 18. Bauman KE, Foshee VA, Koch GG, Haley NJ, Downton MI: Testosterone and cigarette smoking in early adolescence. J Behav Med (in press).
- Bauman KE, Koch GG, Bryan ES, Haley NJ, Downton MI, Orlandi MA: On the measurement of tobacco use by adolescents. Validity of self-reports of smokeless tobacco use and validity of cotinine as an indicator of cigarette smoking. Am J Epidemiol 1989;130(2):327-31.
- **20.** Bauman KE, Koch GG, Fisher LA, Bryan ES: Use of smokeless tobacco by age, race, and gender in ten standard metropolitan statistical areas of the southeast United States. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):35-7.
- 21. Bauman KE, Koch GG, Lentz GM: Parent characteristics, perceived health risk, and smokeless tobacco use among white adolescent males. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):43-8.
- 22. Bauman KE, Padgett CA, Koch GG: A media-based campaign to encourage personal. communication among adolescents about not smoking cigarettes: participation, selection, and consequences. Health Educ Res 1989;4(1):35-44.
- **23.** Bauman KE, Brown JD, Bryan ES, Fisher LA, Padgett CA, Sweeney JM: Three mass media campaigns to prevent adolescent cigarette smoking. Prev Med 1988;17:510-30.
- 24. Benowitz N, Biglan A, Henningfield J, Mattson ME: Nicotine exposure: pharmacokinetics, addiction, and other physiologic effects. In: The health consequences of using smokeless tobacco. A report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General. NIH publication no. 86-2874. Bethesda, Maryland, **1986.**
- **25.** Berman BA, Gritz ER: Smoking and pregnancy: present and future challenges. Wellness Perspect 1988;5(4):19-26.
- **26.** Biener L, Abrams DB, Emmons K, Follick MJ: Evaluating worksite smoking policies: methodologic issues. NY State J Med 1989;89:5-10.
- 27. Biener L, Abrams DB, Follick MJ, Dean L: A comparative evaluation of restrictive smoking policy. Am J Public Health 1989;79(2):1-4.
- 28. Biglan A, James LE, LaChance PA, Zoref L, Joffe J: Videotaped programming in a school-based smoking prevention program. Prev Med 1988;17(5):559-84.

- 29. Biglan A, Glasgow R, Ary DV, Thompson R, Severson HH, Lichtenstein E, et al: How generalizable are the effects of smoking prevention programs? Refusal skills training and parent messages in a teacher-administered program. J Behav Med 1987;10:613-28.
- 30. Biglan A, Severson HH, Ary DV, Faller CL, Gallison C, Thompson R, et al: Do smoking prevention programs really work? Attrition and the internal and external validity of an evaluation of a refusal skills training program. J Behav Med 1987;10:159-71.
- 31. Biglan A, Ary DV: Methodological issues in research on smoking prevention. In: Bell C, Battjes R, eds. Prevention research: deterring drug use among children and adolescents. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985.
- 32. Biglan A, Magis K, DiRocco A, Silverblatt A: First versus second portion of expired air and duration of breath holding in the sampling of expired air carbon monoxide. Br J Addict 1989;81:325-8.
- 33. Biglan A, Nautel CL, Ary DV, Thompson R: Expired air carbon monoxide and saliva thiocyanate: relationships to self-reports of marijuana and cigarette smoking. Addict Behav 1985;10;137-44.
- 34. Biglan A, Weissman W, Severson HH: Coping with social influences to smoke. In: Shiffman S, Wills T, eds. Coping and substance use, New York: Academic Press, 1985: 95-116.
- 35. Blackburn H, Pechacek TF: Smoking cessation and the Minnesota Heart Health Program. In: Noasbakken D ed. Proceedings of the 5th World Conference on Smoking and Health, 1986.
- 36. Blake SM, Klepp KI, Pechacek TF, Folsom AR, Luepker RV, Jacobs DR, Mittelmark MB: Differences in smoking cessation strategies between men and women. Addict Behav (in press).
- 37. Botvin GJ: The psychology of cigarette smoking: factors promoting initiation and strategies for treatment. Prim Care Cancer 1986;6(11):22-31.
- 38. Botvin GJ: The development of life skills as a health promotion strategy: theoretical issues and empirical findings. Spec Serv Sch 1985;1:9-23.
- Botvin GJ, Baker E, Tortu S, Dusenbury L, Gessula J: Smokeless tobacco use among adolescents: correlates and concurrent predictors. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1989;10(4): 181-6.
- 40. Botvin GJ, Dusenbury L, Baker E, James-Ortiz S, Kerner J: A skills training approach to smoking prevention among Hispanic youth. J Behav Med 1989;12(3):279-96.
- 41. Botvin GJ, Schinke SP, Orlandi MA: Psychosocial approaches to substance abuse prevention: theoretical foundations and empirical findings. CRISIS: International Association of Suicide Prevention and CRISIS: Intervention 1989;10(1):62-77.
- 42. Botvin GJ, Tortu S, Baker E, Dusenbury L: Preventing adolescent cigarette smoking: resistance skills training and the development of life skills. Spec Serv Sch (in press).

- 43. Botvin GJ, Tortu S: Peer relationships, social competence, and substance abuse prevention: implications for the family. J Chem Depend Treat 1988;1(2):245-73.
- 44. Bowen DJ, Dahl K, Mann SL: Descriptions of early smokers. Addict Behav (in press).
- 45. Boyd G and Associates: Use of smokeless tobacco among children and adolescents in the United States. Prev Med 1987;16(3):402-21.
- 46. Boyd GM, Darby C (eds): Smokeless tobacco use in the United States. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):
- 47. Boyd GM, Glover ED: Smokeless tobacco use by youth in the U.S. J Sch Health 1989;59(5):189-94.
- 48. Boyd GM, Cline B, Darby C, Mattson ME: Prevalence and trends of smokeless tobacco use in the United States. In: The health consequences of using smokeless tobacco. A report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General. 1986; NIH publication no. 86-2874.
- Braverman MT, Campbell DT: Facilitating the development of health behavior programs: some recommendations for researchers and funders. New Dir Program Eval (in press).
- Braverman MT, D'Onofrio CN, Moskowitz JM: Marketing smokeless tobacco in California communities: implications for health education. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):79-85.
- 51. Brown C, Shopland DR: Prevalence of cigarette smoking: 30 years of change. In: Smoking and health: a national status report. A report to Congress. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Office on Smoking and Health, DHHS publication no. (CDC)87-8396,1986:17-23.
- 52. Brown KS, Peterson AV: Statistical methods for the analysis of longitudinal data from school-based smoking prevention studies. Prev Med 1989;18;290-303.
- 53. Burton D, Sussman S, Hansen WB, Johnson CA, Flay BR: Image attributions and smoking intentions among seventh grade students. J Appl Soc Psychol 1989;17(8):656-64.
- 54. SOCA, SSCI, SPDA, SWAY: Cancer in minority ethnic/racial groups: a rejoinder to black male cancer and American urban health policy. J Urban Affairs (in press).
- 55. Carey DB, Abrams DB: Properties of saliva cotinine in young adult light smokers. Am J Public Health 1988;78(7):842-3.
- 56. Carrillo JE: Socioeconomic and psychosocial factors affecting smoking in minorities. JAMA (in press).
- 57. Cernada G, Chen T, Pastides H, Stanek E, Tuthill R, Winder A: Cancer prevention (smoking) in the black populations: a community research/intervention model. In: Jones L, ed. Cancer in minority communities. New York: Springer-Verlag New York, 1988;67:13-6

- 58. Chariin V, Sussman S, Dent CW, Stacy A, Graham J, Barovich M, Hahn G: Three methods of assessing adolescent school-level experimentation of tobacco products. Eval Rev (in press).
- **59.** Christen AG, McDonald JL, Klein JA, Guba CJ, Cohen S: Helping dental patients to quit smoking: Indiana University's effective new programs. J Indiana Dent Assoc 1988;67:13-6.
- 60. Clapper RL, Evans RI: Possible cognitive-affective correlates of some type A-B components. Cardiovasc Dis Epidemiol Newsletter 1988;43:12.
- 61. Cohen's: Role of social support in smoking cessation and relapse. Health Psychol 1986;5:95-7.
- 62. Cohen SJ, Kelly SA, Eason AA: Establishing smoking cessation programs in dental offices: practical considerations. J Am Dent Assoc (in press).
- **63.** Cohen S, Lichtenstein E, Prochaska JO, Rossi JS, Gritz ER, Carr CR, et al: Debunking myths about self-quitting: evidence from 10 prospective studies of persons who attempt to quit smoking by themselves. Am Psychol 1989;44(11):1355-65.
- **64.** Cohen SJ, Stookey GK, Katz BP, Drook CA, Christen AG: Helping smokers quit: a randomized controlled trial with private practice dentists. J Am Dent Assoc 1989;118:41-5.
- **65.** Cohen SJ, Stookey GK, Katz BP, Drook CA, Smith DM: Encouraging primary care physicians to help smokers quit: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1989;110(8):648-52.
- **66.** Cohen SJ, Katz BP, Drook CA, Christen AG, McDonald JL, Olson BL, et al: Over-reporting of smokeless tobacco use by adolescent males. J Behav Med 1988;11:383-93.
- **67.** Cohen S, Lichtenstein E, Mermelstein R, Kingsolver K, Baer JS, Kamarck TW: Social support interventions for smoking cessation. In: Gottlieb BH, ed. Marshalling social support formats, processes and effects. New York: Sage Publications, **1988:211-40**.
- 68. Cohen SJ, Christen AG, Katz BP, Drook CA, Davis BJ, Smith DM, et al: Counseling medical and dental patients about cigarette smoking: the impact of nicotine gum and chart reminders. Am J Public Health 1987;77:313-7.
- **69.** Collins LM, Sussman S, Rauch JM, Johnson CA, Hansen WB, Flay BR: Psychosocial predictors of young adolescent cigarette smoking: a sixteen-month three-wave longitudinal study. J Appl Soc Psychol 1987;17:554-73.
- 70. Cullen JW: Phases in cancer control: intervention research. In: Hakima M, Cullen JW, Beral V, Parkin DM, eds. Evaluating effectiveness of primary prevention of cancer. IARC Scientific publication no. 103. New York: Oxford University Press (in press).
- 71. Cullen JW: Strategies to stop smoking. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, eds. Prevention 1989:1-12.

- 72. CullenJW: The impact of prophylactic measures on the control of lung cancer in the U.S.A. In: Hansen HH, ed. Lung cancer IV 1989:15-33.
- 73. CullenJW: The National Cancer Institute's Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program. Chest 1989;96(1 suppl):95-135.
- 74. CullenJW: Tobacco use and cancer prevention. In: DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA, eds. Principles and practice of oncology. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott, 1989.
- 75. CullenJW: Shouldn't your office be a "smoking cessation clinic?" Prim Care Cancer 1988;8(9):18-21.
- 76. CullenJW: The National Cancer Institute's intervention trials. CA 1988;62(suppl 8): 1851-64.
- 77. Cullen JW: Lawsuits and statutes to control smoking gain momentum. Prim Care Cancer 1987;7(7):28-30.
- 78. Cullen JW: Smoking cessation-the physician's role. Four easy things you can do. Prim Care Cancer 1987;7(6):43-7.
- CullenJW: Status of behavioral research in cancer prevention. In: Holland JC, Massie MJ, Lesko LM, eds. Current concepts in psycho-oncology and aids. New York: Memorial Sloan Kettering, 1987: 117-27.
- 80. CullenJW: The National Cancer Institute's Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program. Int Cancer News 1987;(8):15-6.
- Cullen JW: The National Cancer Institute's Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program. In: Aoki M, Hisamichi S, Tominaga S, eds. Smoking and health. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1987:155-64.
- 82. CullenJW: A rationale for health promotion in cancer control. Prev Med 1986; 15:442-50.
- 83. CullenJW: Design of cancer prevention studies. Cancer Detect Prev 1986;9:125-38.
- 84. CullenJW: Tobacco use prevention and control. Isr J Med Sci 1986;22:283-300.
- Cullen JW: Cancer Prevention and the Smoking, Tobacco, and Cancer Program of the National Cancer Institute. In: Mizell M, Correa P, eds. Cancer: causes and prevention. New York: Verlag Chemie International, Inc., 1984:297-311.
- 86. CullenJW: Die gesundheitlichen Folgen des Rauchens: eine Zusammenfassung. In: Brengelmann JC, ed. Grundlagen und Praxix der Raucherentwohnung. Gerhard Rottger Verlag Munchen, 1984:5-14.
- CullenJW: Moglichkeiten der arztlichen Intervention in der Raucherentwohnung. In: Brengelmann JC, ed. Grundlagen und Praxis der Raucherentwohnung. Gerhard Rottger Verlag Munchen, 1984:177-204.

- Cullen JW: Rauchen und Krebs: die Zusammenhange. In: Brengelmann JC, ed. Grundlagen und Praxis der Raucherentwohnung. Gerhard Rottger Verlag Munchen, 1984:15-46.
- 89. Cullen JW: The organization of community disease prevention services: approaches to preventing lung cancer in Los Angeles Basin. Cancer Detect Prev 1984;7:225-35.
- 90. Cullen JW, Seites NS, Massey MM: Lifestyle and cancer prevention. In: Silberfarb PM, ed. Psychiatric aspects of neoplastic diseases: cancer care issues for the psychiatrist. Psychiatr Med 1987;5(4):361-73.
- Cullen JW, Blot W, Henningfield J, Boyd G, Mecklenburg R, Massey MM: Health consequences of using smokeless tobacco. Summary of the advisory committee's report to the Surgeon General. Public Health Rep 1986;101:355-73.
- 92. Cullen JW, Greenwald P: Prevention of cancer. In: Edelstein B, Michelson L, eds. Handbook of prevention. New York: Plenum Publishing, 1986:307-41.
- 93. Cullen JW, Iverson D (eds): Forum: health promotion sciences in the prevention of chronic disease, Prev Med 1986;15:439-560.
- Cullen JW, McKenna JW, Massey MM: International control of smoking and the US. experience. Chest 1986;89(suppl):206-18.
- 95. Cullen JW, Gritt ER: Behavior modification for cancer prevention. In: Newell GR, ed. Cancer prevention in clinical medicine. New York: Raven Press, 1983:209-29.
- Cummings KM, Emont SL, Jaen C, Sciandra R: Format and quitting instructions as factors influencing the impact of a self-administered quit smoking program. Health Educ Q 1988;15:199-216.
- 97. Cummings KM, Hellman R, Emont SL: Correlates of participation in a worksite stop smoking contest. J Behav Med 1988;11:267-77.
- 98. Cummings KM, Giovino G, Mendicino AJ: Cigarette advertising and black/white differences in brand preference. Pub Health Rep 1987;102:698-701.
- 99. Cummings KM, Giovino G, Sciandra R, Koenigsberg M, Emont SL: Physician advice to quit smoking: who gets it and who doesn't. Am J Prev Med 1987;3:69-75.
- 100. Cummings KM, Sciandra R, Markello S: Impact of a newspaper mediated quit smoking program. Am J Pub Health 1987;77:1452-3.
- 101. Cummings KM, Strecher V, Pechacek TF: Counseling patients to stop smoking: a guide for HMO clinicians. HMO Pract 1987; 1: 114-20.
- 102. Cummings KM, Giovino G, Emont SL, Sciandra R, Koenigsberg M: Factors influencing success in counseling patients to stop smoking. Pat Educ Counsel 1986;8:189-200.

- 103. Cummings SR, Coates TJ, Richard RJ, Hansen B, Zahnd EG, Vander Martin R, et al: Training physicians in counseling about smoking cessation. A randomized trial of the "Quit for Life" program. Ann Intern Med 1989;110(8):640-7.
- 104. Cummings SR, Richard RJ, Duncan CL, Hansen B, Vander Martin R, Gerbert B, et al: Training physicians about smoking cessation: a controlled trial in private practices. J Gen Int Med 1989;4(6):482-9.
- Cummings SR, Rubin SM, Oster G: The cost-effectiveness of counseling smokers to quit. JAMA 1989;261:75-9.
- 106. Cummings SR, Stein MJ, Hansen B, Richard RJ, Gerbert B, Coates TJ: Smoking counseling and preventive medicine. A survey of internists in private practices and a health maintenance organization. Arch Int Med 1989;149(2):345-9.
- Cummings SR, Hansen B, Richard RJ, Stein MJ, Coates TJ: Internists and nicotine gum. JAMA 1988;260:1565-9.
- 108. Cummings SR, Richard RJ: Optimum cutoff points for biochemical validation of smoking status. Am J Pub Health 1988;78:574-5.
- 109. Curry SJ, Peterson AV, Mann SL: Investigation of first opportunities to use cigarettes and smokeless tobacco. Health Educ Res 1989;4(1):27-34.
- 110. Curry S, Marlatt GA, Peterson A, Lutton J: Survival analysis and assessment of relapse rates in addictive behaviors. In: Donovan D, Marlatt GA, eds. Assessment of addictive behaviors: behavioral, cognitive and physiological procedures. New York: The Guilford Press, **1988**.
- 111. Davis EM, Hunkeler EM: Mass media non-smoking campaign for a black community. Presented at a meeting of the American Public Health Association, Boston, November 13-17, 1988.
- 112. Davis RM, Cullen JW, Miller LS, Titus M: Physical rehabilitation. In: Haskell CM, ed. Cancer treatment. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1985:940-5.
- 113. Dean AG, Shultz JM, Kottke TE, Gust SW, Harty KC: Minnesota plan for non-smoking and health: ideas for statewide action. Minn Med 1985;68:371-7.
- 114. DeFrank RS, Levenson PM: Ethical and philosophical issues in developing a health promotion consortium. Health Educ Q 1987;14(1):71-7.
- 115. de Moor C, Elder JP, Young RL, Wildey MB, Molgaard CA: Generic tobacco use among four ethnic groups in a school age population. J Drug Educ 1989;19(3):257-70.
- **116.** de Moor C, Elder JP, Young RL, Wildey MB, Molgaard CA: Smoking among adolescent ethic minority groups. In: Feldman R, Humphrey J, eds. Advances in health education: current research. Vol. 3. (in press).
- 117. Dent CW: Using SAS (r) linear models to assess and correct for attrition bias. International proceedings of the 13th annual conference of the SAS User's Group, 1988.

- 118. Dent CW, Palmer R, Wang E: Transitions from a mainframe to a network environment with the SAS (r) system for personal computers. International proceedings of the 13th annual conference of the SAS User's Group, 1988.
- **119.** Dent CW, Sussman SY, Johnson CA, Hansen WB, Flay BR: Adolescent smokeless tobacco incidence: relations with other drugs and psychosocial variables. Prev Med **1987**;16(3):422-31.
- 120. DiClemente C, Prochaska J: Processes and stages of change: coping and competence in smoking behavior change. In: Shiffman S, Wills T, eds. Coping and substance abuse: a conceptual framework. New York: Academic Press, 1985.
- 121, DiClemente CC, Prochaska JO, Gibertini M: Self-efficacy and the stages of selfchange of smoking. Cogn Ther Res 1985;9:181-200.
- 122. DiFranza JR, Moser BE, Ockene JK: Smoking cessation counseling by family physicians. J Fam Pract 1988;26(4):377,380-5.
- 123. D'Onofrio CN: Making the case for cancer prevention in the schools. J Sch Health 1989;59(5):225-31.
- 124. D'Onofrio CN: The use of self-reports on sensitive behaviors in health program evaluation. New Dir Program Eval (in press).
- 125. Doueck HJ, Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Snow WH: School-based tobacco use prevention. J Adolesc Health Care 1988;9(4):301-4.
- 126. Dratt LM, Evans RI: Adolescent smoking status, perceived social consequences and smoking intention, Proceedings of the Cardiovascular Behavioral Medicine, Epidemiology and Biostatistics Training Session, 1988.
- 127. Eakin E, Severson HH, Glasgow RE: Development and evaluation of a smokeless tobacco cessation program: a pilot study. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):95-100.
- 128. Elder JP, Atkins C, de Moor C, Edwards CC, Golbeck A, Hovel1 MF, et al: Prevention of tobacco use among adolescents in public schools in San Diego County, U.S.A. Soz Praventivmed 1989;34(1):24-9.
- 129. Elder JP, de Moor C, Young RL, Wildey MB, Molgaard C, Golbeck A, et al: Stages of adolescent tobacco-use acquisition, Addict Behav (in press).
- 130. Elder JP, Young RL, Wildey MB, de Moor C, Shulkin J, Edwards C, et al: Implementation strategies for school health promotion: selecting facilitators and cost-effective interventions. In: Haglund B, Nutbeam D, Tilgren P, Farley P, eds. Community-wide youth health promotion: strategies, implementation and evaluation. Forbes Publications Limited (in press).
- 131. Emster VE, Cummings SR: Smoking and cancer. In: Rubin P, Holleb AI, Fink D, eds. Textbook of clinical oncology. New York: Doubleday (in press).

- 132. Evans RI: Prevention of smoking in adolescents: conceptualization and intervention strategies of a prototypical research program. In: Maes S, ed. Progress in health psychology (in press).
- 133. Evans RI: U.S. Surgeon General reports smoking is addictive-even more reason to focus on why teenagers smoke and what can be done about it. Brown University Child Behavior and Developmental Letter (in press).
- 134. Evans RI: Health promotion-science or ideology? Health Psychol 1988; 7:203-19.
- 135. Evans RI: Life skills training: preventing social and health problems through life skills training. Contemp Psychol 1988;33:163.
- **136.** Evans RI: Mass media power: more speculative than real? Review of mass media and political thought. An information-processing approach. Contemp Psychol 1988;33:222-3.
- **137.** Evans RI: Smokeless tobacco versus cigarette use among adolescents: a cognitivepsychosocial-behavioral perspective. Cancer Bull 1988;40:355-8.
- Evans RI: Channels of smoking control: a current perspective. Perspect Lipid Disorders 1985;2(3).
- **139.** Evans RI: How can health lifestyles in adolescents be modified? An analysis of a social psychological program in smoking prevention. In: Routh D, ed. Handbook of pediatric psychology. New York: The Guilford Press, 1986:321-31.
- 140. Evans RI: Saying no may not be enough [Invited Editorial]. Houston Chronicle, October **31**, 1986.
- 141. Evans RI: What can social psychology contribute to increase the probability of adherence or behavior change through patient-physician communication? In: Wenger WK, ed. Education of patients with cardiac disease. New York: Le Jacq Publishing, 1986:46-58.
- Evans RI: Why teenagers smoke. In: Health and medical horizons. New York: Mac-Millan Publishing, 1986:223-5.
- **143.** Evans RI, Raines BE: Applying a social psychological model across health promotion interventions: cigarettes to smokeless tobacco. In: Edwards J, ed. Annu Rev Appl Psychol 1989;18:925-43.
- **144.** Evans RI, Raines BE, Owen AE: Formative evaluation. Prev Med 1989;18:229-34.
- **145.** Evans RI, Turner SH, Ghee KL, Getz JG: Is androgeneous sex-role related to smoking in adolescents? J Appl Soc Psycho1 (in press).
- 146. Evans RI, Dratt LM, Raines BE, Rosenberg SS: Social influences on smoking initiation: importance of distinguishing descriptive versus mediating variables. J Appl Soc Psychol 1988;18:925-43.

- 147. Fiore M, Novotony T, Lynn W, Maklin D, Davis R: Smoking cessation: data from the 1986 adult use of tobacco survey. In: Smoking and health 1987. Proceedings of the sixth world conference on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987:189-94.
- 148. Fisher EB Jr: Community and ethics in lifestyle changes. Proceedings of XXIst conference of the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences, Nordwijk aan Zee, The Netherlands. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1988.
- 149. Fisher EB Jr, Lichtenstein E, Ockene JK, Davis RM: Changes in knowledge about the determinants of smoking behavior, Chap. 5, part II. In: Reducing the health consequences of smoking: 25 years of progress. A report of the Surgeon General. DHHS publication no. (CDC)89-841 1. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1989.
- **150.** Fisher EB Jr, Bishop DB, Goldmuntz J, Jacobs A: Implications for the practising physician of the psychosocial dimensions of smoking. Chest 1988;93(2):69S-77S.
- **151.** Fisher EB Jr, Bishop DB, Mayer J, Brown T, White-Cook T: The physician's contribution to smoking cessation in the workplace. Chest 1988;93(2):56S-65S.
- **152.** Fisher EB Jr, Rost K: Smoking cessation: a practical guide for the physician. In: Make B, ed. Clinics in chest medicine. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1986.
- 153. Fisher LA, Bauman KE: Influence and selection in the friend-adolescent relationship: findings from studies of adolescent smoking and drinking. J Appl Soc Psychol 1988;18:289-314.
- **154.** Flay BR: Evaluation of the development, dissemination, and effectiveness of mass media health programming. Health Educ Res 1987;2(2):123-30.
- **155.** Flay BR: Mass media and smoking cessation: a critical review. Am J Public Health 1987;77(2):153-60.
- **156.** Flay BR: Efficacy and effectiveness trials (and other phases of research> in the development of health promotion programs. Prev Med 1986;15:451-74.
- **157.** Flay BR: Mass media linkages with school-based programs for drug abuse prevention J Sch Health 1986;56(9):402-6.
- 158. Flay BR: Adolescent smoking: onset and prevention. Ann Behav Med 1985;7(2):9-13.
- **159.** Flay **BR**: Psychosocial approaches to smoking prevention: a review of findings. Health Psychol 1985;4(5):449-88.
- 160. Flay BR, Gruder CL, Warnecke RB, Jason LA, Peterson P: One year follow-up of the Chicago televised smoking cessation program. Am J Public Health 1989;79(10): 1377-80.
- 161. Flay BR, Koepke D, Thomson SJ, Santi S, Best JA, Brown KS: Six-year follow-up of the first Waterloo school smoking prevention trial. Am J Public Health 1989;79(10):1371-6.

- 162. Flay BR, Hansen WB, Johnson CA, Collin LM, Dent CW, Dwyer KM, et al: Implementation effectiveness trial of a social influences smoking prevention program using schools and television. Health Educ Res 1987;2(4):385-400.
- 163. Flay BR, Pentz MA, Johnson CA, Sussman S, Mostel J, Scheier L, et al: Reaching children with mass media health promotion programs: the relative effectiveness of an advertising campaign, a community-based program, and a school-based program. In: Leather DS, Hastings GB, O'Reilly KM, Davies JK, eds. Health education and the media. New York: Pergamon Press, 1985.
- 164. Fortman SP, Killen JD, Telch MJ, Newman B: Minimal contact treatment for smoking cessation: a placebo-controlled trial of nicotine polacrilex and self directed relapse prevention. JAMA1988;260(11):1575-80.
- 165. Gerace T, Hollis J, Ockene JK, Svendsen K: Relationship of smoking cessation to diastolic blood pressure, body weight, plasma lipids. Prev Med (in press).
- 166. Gerbert B, Coates TJ, Zahnd E, Richard RJ, Cummings SR: Dentists as smoking cessation counselors. J Am Dent Assoc 1989;118:29-32.
- 167. Getz JG, Evans RI: Can psychosocial mechanisms account for ethnic differences in smoking frequency? Proceedings of the Cardiovascular Behavioral Medicine, Epidemiology and Biostatistics Training Session, 1989.
- 168. Gilbert JR, Wilson DMC, Best JA, Taylor DW, Lindsay EA, Singer J, et al: Smoking cessation in primary care: a randomized controlled trial of nicotine-bearing chewing gum. J Fam Pract 1989;28(1):49-55.
- 169. Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP, Nurius P: Reducing onset of habitual smoking among women. Prev Med 1989;18(2):235-48.
- 170. Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP, Snow WH, Schilling RF, Senechal V: The transition of junion high school: opportunities for primary prevention. J Prim Prev 1988;8:99-108.
- 171. Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP, Maxwell JS: Life skills counseling in preventing adolescence. J Soc Serv Res 1987;10:73-844.
- 172. Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP, Bobo JK, Snow WH: Self-control skills for preventing smok-. ing. Addict Behav 1986;13:23-8.
- 173. Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP: Improving smoking prevention programs. J Psychosoc Oncol 1985;3:67-78.
- 174. Gilchrist LD, Snow WH, Lodish D, Schinke SP: The relationship of cognitive and behavioral skills to adolescent tobacco smoking. J Sch Health 1985;55:132-4.
- 175. Glasgow RE: Worksite smoking cessation: current progress and future directions. Can J Public Health 1987;78(6):521-7.
- 176. Glasgow RE, Lichtenstein E: Long-term effects of behavioral smoking cessation interventions. Behav Ther 1987;18:297-324.

- 177. Glasgow RR, Klegges RC, Mitzes JS, Pechacek TF: Strategies used and variables associated with success in a stop smoking contest. J Consult Clin Psychol 1985;53:905-2.
- 178. Glynn SM, Gruder CL, Jegerski JA: Effects of biochemical validation of self-reported cigarette smoking on treatment success and on misreporting abstinence. Health Psychol 1986;5(2):125-36.
- 180. Glynn TJ: Essential elements of school-based smoking prevention programs. J Sch Health 1989;59:181-8.
- 181. Glynn TJ: Development of a national strategy for smoking prevention and cessation. In: Casas M, ed. The public health yearbook of the city of Barcelona. Barcelona, Spain: Municipal Institute of Health, 1988.
- 182. Glynn TJ: Physicians and a smoke-free society. Arch Intern Med 1988;148:1013-6.
- 183. Glynn TJ: The relative effectiveness of physician-initiated smoking cessation programs. Cancer Bull 1988;40:359-64.
- 184. Glynn TJ: Tobacco use and Hispanic youth: opportunity for disease prevention. In: Proceedings of the U.S. Public Health Service Conference on Hispanic Youth: its health and its future. Rockville, Maryland: US Public Health Service, 1988.
- 185. Glynn TJ: Smoking cessation activities and research: the NIH experience. In: Rosenberg M, ed. Smoking and reproductive health. Littleton, Massachusetts: PSG Publishing, 1987.
- 186. Glynn TJ: Smoking and cancer among Hispanic females. In: Proceedings of the U.S. Public Health Service Conference on Hispanic Women and Health Issues. Rockville, Maryland: US Public Health Service, 1985.
- 187. Glynn TJ, Boyd GM, Gruman J: Essential elements of self-help/minimal intervention strategies for smoking cessation. Health Ed Q (in press).
- 188. Glynn TJ, Cullen JW: Health promotion through smoking prevention and cessation: the need for a selective research agenda. Health Educ Res 1989;4(1):5-11.
- 189. Glynn TJ, Manley MW: How to help your patients stop smoking: a National Cancer Institute manual for physicians. NIH publication no. 3064. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1989.
- 190. Glynn TJ, Manley MW: Physicians, cancer control, and treatment of nicotine dependence: defining success. Health Educ Res 1989;4(4):479-87.
- 191. Glynn TJ, Manley M, Cullen JW, Mayer WJ: Cancer prevention through physician intervention. Semin Oncol (in press).

- 192. Glynn TJ, Manley MW, Pechacek TF: Physician-initiated smoking cessation programs: the National Cancer Institute trials. In: Engstrom P et al., eds. Advances in cancer control. New York: Alan R. Liss (in press).
- **193.** Glynn TJ, Haenlein M: Family theory and research on adolescent drug use. In: Coombs RH, Fawzy FI, eds. The family context of adolescent drug use. New York: Haworth, 1988. Reprinted in J Chem Depend Treat 1988;1:39-56.
- 194. Glynn TJ, Haenlein M: Managing adolescent behavior at school: implications for families. In: Coombs RH, Fawzy FI, eds. The family context of adolescent drug use New York: Haworth, 1988. Reprinted in J Chem Depend Treat 1988;1:225-43.
- 195. Glynn TJ, CullenJW: Smoking and women's health. In: Merritt DH, Kirschstein RL, eds. Women's health report of the Public Health Service Task Force on Women's Health Issues. 1985;2:II86-II91.
- 196. Goldstein MG, Niaura RS, Follick MJ, Abrams DB: Effects of behavioral skills training and schedule of nicotine gum administration on smoking cessation. Am J Psychiatry 1989;146:56-60.
- 197. Greene HL, Goldberg RJ, Ockene JK: Cigarette smoking: the physician's role in cessation and maintenance. J Gen Intern Med 1988;3:75-87.
- 198. Greenwald P, CullenJW, Kelloff G, Pierson HF: Chemoprevention of lung cancer. Problems and progress. Chest 1989;96(1suppl):14S-7S.
- 199. Greenwald P, Weed D, Cullen JW (eds): Cancer prevention and control. Semin Oncol (in press).
- 200. Greenwald P, CullenJW: The scientific basis for cancer prevention. Cancer Bull 1988;40(6):330-3.
- 201. Greenwald PG, Cullen JW, McKenna JW: Cancer prevention and control: from research through applications. JNCI 1987;79:389-400.
- 202. Greenwald P, CullenJW: The new emphasis in cancer control. JNCI 1985;74:543-51
- 203. Greenwald P, Cullen JW: The scientific approach to cancer control. CA 1984;34:328-32.
- 204. Gritz ER: Behaviors and psychosocial factors which contribute to cancer risk: cigarette smoking. CA 1988;38(4):194-212.
- 205. Gritz ER: Which women smoke and why: Cigarette smoking as a women's issue. In: Not far enough: women vs. smoking. Proceedings of the Workshop for Women's Group and Women's Health Leaders. Convened by the Advocacy Institute in cooperation with the National Cancer Institute and the Harvard University Institute for the Study of Smoking Behavior and Policy. Washington, DC, February 4, 1987.

- 206. Gritz ER: Gender and the teenage smoker. In: Ray BM, ed. Women and drugs: a new era for research. National Institute on Drug Abuse Monograph 65. Rockville, Maryland: US Department of Health and Human Services; Public Health Service; Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration, 1986:70-9.
- 207. Gritz ER: Overview: smoking behavior and tobacco dependence. In: Ockene JK, ed. The pharmacologic treatment of tobacco dependence. Proceedings of the world congress. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Institute for the Study of Smoking Behavior and Policy, 1986:12-8.
- 208. Gritz ER, Berman BA, Marcus AC, Read LL, Kanim LEA, Reeder S: Ethnic variations in the prevalence of smoking among registered nurses. Cancer Nurs 1989;12(1):16-20.
- 209. Gritz ER, DiMatteo MR, Hays RD: Methodological issues in adherence to cancer control regimens. Prev Med (in press).
- 210. Gritz ER, Berman BA, Read LL, Marcus AC: A self-help smoking cessation program for registered nurses. In: Aoki M, Hisamichi S, Tominaga S, eds. Smoking and health 1987. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishing, 1988:501-3.
- 211. Gritz ER, Marcus AC, Berman BA, Read LL, Kanim LEA, Reeder S: Evaluation of a worksite self-help smoking cessation program for registered nurses. Am J Health Promo 1988;3(2):26-35.
- 212. Gritz ER, Kanim AC: Nurses and cigarette smoking: do fewer oncology nurses smoke? Oncol Nurs Forum 1986;13(3):61-4.
- 213. Gruder CL, Warnecke RB, Jason LJ, Flay BR, Peterson P: A televised, self-help, cigarette smoking cessation intervention. Addict Behav (in press).
- 214. Hahn G, Charlin VL, Sussman S, Craig S, Dent CW, Stacy A, et al: Adolescents' first and last use situations of smokeless tobacco and cigarettes: similarities and differences. Addict Behav (in press).
- 215. Hakima M, Cullen JW, Beral V, Parkin DM (eds): Evaluating effectiveness of primary prevention of cancer. IARC Scientific publication no. 103. New York: Oxford University Press (in press).
- 216. Holtzman WH, Evans RI, Kennedy S, Iscoe I: Psychology and health: contributions of psychology to the improvement of health and health care. Int J Psychol 1987;22:221-67.
- 217. Hops HH, Weissman W, Biglan A, Thompson R, Faller C, Severson HH: A taped situations test of cigarette refusal skill acquisition. Behav Assess 1986;8:145-54.
- 218. Hughes JR, Kottke TE: Doctors helping smokers. Real world tactics. Minn Med 1986;69:293-5.
- Hughes JR, Gust SW, Pechacek TF: Prevalence of tobacco dependence and withdrawal. Am J Psych 1987;144:205-8.

- 220. Jacobs DR, Luepker RV, Mittelmark MB, et al: Community-wide prevention strategies: evaluation design of the Minnesota Heart Health Program. J Chron Dis 1986;39: 775-88.
- 221. Jaen CR, Cummings KM, Emont SL, Sciandra R: Promotion of a stop smoking telephone information and referral service. Adv Health Educ (in press).
- 222. Jansen L, Tait E, Goalman D, Buckenburger L, Guder CL: Effects of a televised smoking cessation intervention among low-income and minority smokers. Am J Community Psychol 1988;16:867-78.
- 223. Jason L, Gruder CL, Buckenberger L, Lesowitz T, Belgredan J, Flay BR, et al: A 12month follow-up of a worksite smoking cessation intervention. Health Educ Res 1987;2(3):184-95.
- 224. Jason LA, Gruder CL, Martino S, Flay BR, Warnecke R, Thomas N: Worksite group meetings and the effectiveness of a televised smoking cessation intervention. Am J Community Psychol 1987;15(1):57-72.
- 225. Kamarck TW, Lichtenstein E: Program adherence and coping strategies as predictors of success in a stop smoking treatment program. Health Psychol 1988;7:557-74.
- 226. Killen JD, Fortmann SP, Newman B: Weight change among participants in a large sample minimal contact relapse prevention trial. Addict Behav (in press).
- 227. Killen JD, Fortmann SP, Newman B, Varady A: Evaluation of a treatment approach combining nicotine gum with self-guided behavioral treatments for smoking relapse prevention. J Clin Consult Psycho1 (in press).
- 228. Killen JD, Fortmann SP, Teich MJ, Newman B: Are heavy smokers different from light smokers? A comparison after 48 hours without cigarettes. JAMA 1988;260(11):1581-5.
- 229. Klein JA, Christen AG, McDonald JL, Cohen SJ: A smoking cessation program that really works. Dent Teamwork 1989;2:9-14.
- 230. Kottke TE: The smoke-free hospital: a smoke-free work site. NY State J Med 1989;89:38-42.
- 231. Kottke TE: Reducing community risk of heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988;12: 1113-6.
- 232. Kottke TE: There must be no poison. Minn Med 1987;70:377.
- 233. Kottke TE: Hiring only non-smokers: an employer's legal right. Minn Med 1986;69-371
- 234. Kottke TE: Risk factor control in coronary heart disease. Who needs it? Postgrad Med 1985;78:233-45.
- 235. Kottke TE, Brekke ML, Solberg LI, Hughes JR: A randomized trial to increase smoking intervention by physicians: Doctors Helping Smokers, Round 1. JAMA 1989;261(14):2101-6.

- 236. Kottke TE, Battista RN, DeFriese GH, Brekke ML: Attributes of successful smoking cessation interventions in medical practice: a meta-analysis of 39 controlled trials. JAMA 1988;259:2282-9.
- 237. Kottke TE, Gatewood LC, Wu S-C, Park H-A: Preventing heart disease: is treating the high risk sufficient? J Clin Epidemiol 1988;41:1083-93.
- 238. Kottke TE, Solberg LI, Brekke ML, Maxwell P: Smoking cessation strategies and evaluation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988;12:1105-10.
- Kottke TE, Blackburn H, Brekke ML, Solberg LI: The systematic practice of preventive cardiology. Am J Cardiol 1987;59:690-4.
- 240. Kottke TE, Arneson S: Smoker's wording preference for hospital no-smoking signs. Minn Med 1986;69:531-3.
- 241. Kottke TE, Hill CS, Heitzig C, Brekke M, Blake S, Arneson S, et al.: Smoke-free hospitals. Attitudes of patients, employees, and faculty. Minn Med 1985;68:53-5.
- 242. Kottke TE, Puska P, Salonen J, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A: Projected effects of highrisk versus population-based prevention strategies in coronal heart disease. Am J Epidemiol 1985;121:697-704.
- 243. Landers C, Orlandi MA: Smokeless tobacco: a growing problem. Teen Health 1987;65(3):135.
- 244. Landers C, Orlandi MA: Why do teenagers smoke? Teen Health 1987:65(3):133.
- 245. Levenson PM, Morrow JR: Learner characteristics associated with responses to film in interactive video lessons in smokeless tobacco. Prev Med 1987;16:52-62.
- 246. Levenson PM, Pfferbaum BJ, Morrow JR: Disparities in adolescent-physician views of teen health information concerns. J Adolesc Health Care 1987;8:171-6.
- 247. Lichtenstein E: Clinic based cessation strategies. In: Ockene JK, ed. The pharmacologic treatment of tobacco dependence. Proceedings of the world congress. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Institute for the Study of Smoking Behavior and Policy, 1986;205-17.
- 248. Lichtenstein E, Glasgow RE, Abrams DB: Social support in smoking cessation: in search of effective interventions. Behav Ther 1986;17:607-19.
- Lichtenstein E, Weiss S, Hitchcock J, Levieton L, O'Connell K, Prochaska J: Patterns of smoking relapse. Health Psychol 1986;56:29-40.
- 250. Liebermann LR, Orlandi MA: Alcohol advertising and adolescent drinking. Alcohol Health Res World 1987;43:30-3.
- 251. Lindsay EA, Wilson DMC, Best JA, et al: A randomized trial of physician training for smoking cessation, Am J Health Promo 1989;3(3):11-8.

- 252. Lindsay-McIntyre L, Wilson D, Best JA, et al: The impact of a continuing education package for smoking cessation on physicians' clinical behavior and patient smoking. Proceedings of the twenty-sixth annual conference on research in medical education. Washington, DC, November 6-12, 1987:14-9.
- 253. Luepker RV, Pallonen UE, Murray DM, Pirie PL: Validity of telephone surveys in assessing cigarette smoking in young adults. Am J Public Health 1989;79(2):202-4.
- 254. Lynn WR (ed): 1987 bibliography on smoking and health. PHS bibliography series no. 45. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, Centers for Health Promotion and Education, Office on Smoking and Health, 1988.
- 255. Lynn WR (man. ed.): The health consequences of smoking: nicotine addiction. A report of the Surgeon General. DHHS publication no. (CDC)88-8406. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1988.
- 256. Lynn WR (ed): 1986 bibliography on smoking and health. PHS bibliography series no. 45. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, Centers for Health Promotion and Education, Office on Smoking and Health, 1987.
- 257. Lynn WR (ed): Smoking and health bulletin. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, Center for Health Promotion and Education, Office on Smoking and Health, 1987.
- 258. Lynn WR (ed): 1985 bibliography on smoking and health. PHS bibliography series no. 45. DHHS publication no. (PHS)50196. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1986.
- 259. Lynn WR (ed): Smoking and health bulletin. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, Center for Health Promotion and Education, Office on Smoking and Health, 1986.
- 260. Lynn WR (man. ed.): The health consequences of involuntary smoking. A report of the Surgeon General. DHHS publication no. (CDC)87-8398. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1986.
- 261 Lynn WR (ed): Smoking and health bulletin. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, Office on Smoking and Health, 1985.
- 262. Lynn WR (ed): The health consequences of smoking: cancer and chronic lung disease in the workplace. A report of the Surgeon General. PHS publication no. 85-50207. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985.
- 263. Lyvers M, Boyd GM, Maltzman I: Smoking, personality and imagery preference in relation to spontaneous bilateral electrodermal activity. Pavlov J Biol Sci 1987;22(1): 7-15.

- 264. Marcus AC, Crane L, Shopland DR, Lynn WR: Use of smokeless tobacco in the U.S. Findings from the 1985 Current Population Survey. National, regional, and state estimates. NCI Monogr 1989;17-23.
- 265. Marcus AC, Shopland DR, Crane LA, Lynn WR: Prevalence of cigarette smoking in the United States. Estimates from the 1985 Current Population Survey. JNCI 1989;81(6):409-14.
- 266. Marcus AC, Wheeler RC, Cullen JW, Crane L: Quasi experimental evaluation of the Los Angeles "Know Your Body" program. Knowledge, beliefs, and self-reported behaviors. Prev Med 1987;16:803-25.
- 267. Marin B, Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ, Otero-Sabogal R, Sabogal F: Cultural differences in attitudes toward smoking. Developing messages using the theory of reasoned action. J Appl Soc Psycho1 (in press).
- 268. Marin B, Perez-Stable EJ, Marin G, Sabogal F, Otero-Sabogal R: Attitudes and beliefs of Hispanic smokers and implications for cessation intervention. Health Educ Q (in press).
- 269. Marin G, Marin B, Otero-Sabogal R, Sabogal F, Perez-Stable EJ: The role of acculturation on the attitudes, norms and expectations of Hispanic smokers. J Cross-Cultural Psycho1 (in press).
- 270. Marin G, Marin B, Perez-Stable EJ: Feasibility of a phone survey to study a minority community: Hispanics in San Francisco. AJPH (in press).
- 271. Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ, Marin B: Cigarette smoking among San Francisco Hispanics. The role of acculturation and gender. Am J Public Health 1989;79(2): 196-8.
- 272. Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ, Otero-Sabogal R, Sabogal F, Marin B: Stereotypes of smokers held by Hispanic and white non-Hispanic smokers. Int J Addict 1989;24(3):203-13.
- 273. Marin G, Ruiz E: Cancer among Hispanics. An overview of incidence rates and contributing factors. J Nat Med Assoc (in press).
- 274. Marin G, Sabogal F, Marin B, Otero-Sabogal R, Perez-Stable EJ: Development of a short acculturation scale for Hispanics. Hispanic J Behav Sci 1987;9:183-205.
- 275. Massey M, Boyd GM, Mattson M, Feinleib M: Inventory of surveys on smoking. Public Health Rep 1987;102(4):430-8.
- 276. Mattson M, Byar D, Cullen JW, et al: Passive smoking on commercial airline flights. JAMA 1989;216(6):867-72.
- 277. Mattson ME, Winn D: Smokeless tobacco: association with increased cancer risk. NCI Monogr 1989;8:13-6.
- 278. Mattson ME, Kessler L: The use of time related epidemiologic data in smoking for planning cancer control programs. J Chronic Dis 1987;40(suppl 2):25S-37S.

- 279. Mattson ME, Pollack ES, Cullen JW: What are the odds that smoking will kill you? Am J Public Health 1987;77:425-31.
- Maynard L, Goldberg R, Ockene J, Levy B, Howe J, Dalen J: Cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption behaviors and attitudes among medical students. J Med Educ 1987;61:337-40.
- 281. McAlister A, Orlandi M, Puska P, Zbylot P, Bye L: Behavior modification in public health: principles and illustrations. In: Holland WW, Detels R, Knox EG, eds. Oxford textbook of public health. London: Oxford University Press, 1984.
- 282. McAlister AL, Ramirez A, Galavotti C, Gallion K: Anti-smoking campaigns: progress in the application of social learning theory. In: Rice RE, Atkins C, eds. Public communication campaigns, 2nd ed. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications, 1989.
- 283. McAlister AL, Nixon S, Dickson D: Cigarette tax hike may reduce the number of smokers in Texas. Tex Med 1987;83(10):6.
- 284. McGinnis JM, Shopland DR, Brown C: Tobacco and health: trends in smoking and smokeless tobacco consumption in the U.S. In: Breslow L, ed. Ann Rev Public Health 1987;8:441-67.
- 285. Mermelstein R, Cohen S, Lichtenstein E, Daer J, Kamark T: Social support and smoking cessation and maintenance. J Consult Clin Psychol 1986;1:447-53.
- 286. Miller WR, Pechacek TF: New roads: assessing and treating psychological dependence. J Subst Abuse Treat 4 (in press).
- 287. Mintz J, Boyd GM, Rose JE, Charuvastra VC, Jarvik ME: Alcohol increases cigarette smoking. A lab demonstration. J Addict Behav 1985;10:203-7.
- 288. Mittelmark MB, Luepker RV, Pechacek TF, Pirie PL, Pallonen UE: Predicting experimentation with cigarettes: The childhood antecedents of smoking study (CASS). Am J Public Health 1987;77 206-8.
- Mittelmark MB, Pallonen UE, Murray DM, Luepker RV, Pechacek TF: Predictors of non-adoption of cigarette smoking following experimentation. Scand J Prim Health Care 1988;6(3):131-5.
- 290. Moncher MS, Holden GW, Schinke SP: Primary prevention. In: Hersen M, ed. Innovation in child behavior therapy. New York: Springer-Verlag New York, 1989.
- 291. Moncher MS, Parms CA, Orlandi MA, Schinke SP, Miller SO, Palleja J, et al: Microcomputer-based interventions with black adolescents from disadvantaged backgrounds, Comput Hum Behav (in press).
- 292. Morgan GD, Ashenberg ZS, Fisher EB Jr: Abstinence from smoking and the social environment. J Consult Clin Psychol 1988;56(2):298-301.
- 293. Moskowitz JM: Preliminary guidelines for reporting outcome evaluation studies of health promotion and disease prevention programs. New Dir Program Eval (in press).

- 294. Murray DM, Hannan PJ, Zucker DM: Analysis issues in school-based health promotion studies, Health Educ Q 1989:16(2):315-20.
- 295. Murray DM, Pirie P, Luepker RV, Pallonen U: Five- and six-year follow-up results from four seventh-grade smoking prevention strategies. J Behav Med 1989;12(2): 207-18.
- 296. Murray DM, Davis-Hearn M, Goldman AL, Pirie P, Luepker RV: Four and five-year followup results from four seventh-grade smoking prevention strategies. J Behav Med 1988;1(4):395-405.
- 297. Murray DM, Jacobs DR, Perry CL, Pallonen UE, Harty KC, Griffin G, et al: A statewide approach to adolescent tobacco-use prevention: the Minnesota-Wisconsin adolescent tobacco-use research project. Prev Med 1988;17:461-74.
- 298, Murray DM, Roche LM, Goldman AL, Whitbeck J: Smokeless tobacco use among ninth graders in a north-central metropolitan population: cross-sectional and prospective associations with age, gender, race, family structure and drug use. Prev Med 1988;17:449-6O.
- 299. Murray DM, O'Connell CM, Schmid LA, Perry CL: The validity of smoking self-reports by adolescents: a reexamination of the bogus pipeline procedure. Addict Behav 1987;12:7-15.
- 300. Murray DM, Perry CL: The measurement of substance use among adolescents: when is the "bogus pipeline" method needed? Addict Behav 1987;123:225-33.
- 301. Murray DM, Richards PS, Luepker RV, Johnson CA: The prevention of cigarette smoking in children: two- and three-year followup comparison of four prevention strategies. J Behav Med 1987;10:595-611.
- 302. Niaura RS, Abrams DB, Monti PM, Pedraza M: Reactivity to high risk situations and smoking cessation outcome. J Subst Abuse Treat (in press).
- 303. Niaura RS, Goldstein MG, Ward K, Abrams DB: Reasons for smoking and severity of nicotine withdrawal symptoms when chewing nicotine gum. Br J Addict (in press).
- Niaura RS, Rohsenow DJ, Binkoff JA, Padraza M, Abrams DB: Relevance of cue reactivity to understanding alcohol and smoking relapse. J Abnorm Psychol 1988;97(2):133-52.
- 305. Novotony T, Lynn WR, Maklan D: Smokeless tobacco use in the United States, 1986: what have we learned. In: Smoking and health 1987. Proceedings of the sixth world conference on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987:879-81.
- 306. Novotony T, Lynn WR, Maklan D, Davis RM: Passive smoking: attitudes and exposures in the United States. In: Smoking and health 1987. Proceedings of the sixth world conference on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987;259-61.
- 307. Ockene JK: Physician delivered interventions for smoking cessation: strategies for increasing effectiveness. Prev Med 1987;16:723-37.

- Ockene JK: Smoking intervention: the expanding role of the physician. Am J Public Health 1987;77:782-3.
- Ockene JK, Aney J, Goldberg RJ, Klar JM, Williams JW: A survey of Massachusetts physicians, smoking intervention practices. Am J Prev Med 1988;4(1):14-20.
- Ockene JK, Quirk ME, Goldberg RJ, Kristeller JL, Donnelly G, Kalan KL, et al: A resident's training program for the development of smoking intervention skills. Arch Intern Med 1988;148:1039-45.
- **311.** Ockene JK, Sorenson G, Kabat-Zinn J, Ockene IS, Donnelly G: Benefits and costs of lifestyle changes to reduce risk of chronic disease. Prev Med 1988;17:224-34.
- 312. Ockene JK, Hosmer DW, Williams J, Goldberg RJ, Ockene IS, Biliouris T, et al: The relationship of patient characteristics to physician delivery of advice to stop smoking. J Gen Intern Med 1987;9(5):337-40.
- Ockene JK, Hosmer DW, Williams J, Goldberg RJ, Ockene IS, Raia R: Factors related to patient smoking status. Am J Public Health 1987;77(3):356-7.
- 314. Ockene JK, Pechacek TF, Vogt T, Svendsen K: Does switching from cigarettes to pipes or cigars reduce tobacco smoke exposure? Am J Public Health 1987;77(11):1412-6.
- 315. Orlandi MA: Promoting health and preventing disease in health care settings: an analysis of barriers. Prev Med 1987;16:119-30.
- 316. Orlandi MA: Community-based substance abuse prevention: a multicultural perspective. J Sch Health 1986;56(9):394-401.
- 317. Orlandi MA: The diffusion and adoption of worksite health promotion innovations: an analysis of the barriers. Prev Med 1986;15(3):522-36.
- 318. Orlandi MA: Gender differences in smoking cessation. Women Health 1986;11(3/4):237-51.
- Orlandi MA: Strategic planning for school-based tobacco control initiatives: an analysis of opportunities and barriers. In: The Pennsylvania Planning Conference on Tobacco and Health Priorities. Indiana, Pennsylvania: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1986:19-33.
- 320. Orlandi MA, Boyd G: Smokeless tobacco use among adolescents: a theoretical overview. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):5-12.
- 321. Orlandi MA, Lieberman LR. The future direction of smoking prevention in Japan: cross-cultural applications of the "Know Your Body Program." Jpn J Sch Health 1989;31(8):368-76.
- 322. Orlandi MA, Lieberman LR, Schinke SP: The effects of alcohol and tobacco advertising on adolescents. Drugs and Society ;3(1/2):77-9.

- 323. Orlandi MA, Landers C, Weston R, Haley N. Diffusion of health promotion innovations. In: Glanz K, Lewis FM, Rimer BK, eds. Health behavior and health education: theory, research and practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, Inc., (in press).
- 324. Orlandi MA, Prue DM (eds.): The encyclopedia of good health: a guide for adolescents. New York: Michael Friedman Group, 1989.
- 325. Orlandi MA, McAlister AL: Defining the scope of action, In: Aoki M, Hisamichi S, Tominagas S, eds. Smoking and health. New York: Excerpta Medica, 1987.
- 326. Orlandi MA, McAlister AL., Wynder EL: Smoking control interventions within the broader context of health promotion. In: Proceedings of the sixth world congress on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987.
- 327. Orleans CT, Rimer BK, Salmon MA, DiClemente C: Long-term psychological and behavioral consequences of smoking cessation. In: Health consequences of smoking: a report of the Surgeon General, Rockville, Maryland: USDHHS, 1990.
- 328. Orleans CT, Rotberg H, Quade D, Lees P: A hospital quit-smoking consult service: clinical report and intervention model. Prev Med (in press).
- 329. Orleans CT, Schoenbach VJ, Salmon MA, Strecher VJ, Kalsbeek W, Quade D, et al: A survey of smoking and quitting patterns among black Americans. Am J Public Health 1989;79:176-81.
- 330. Orleans CT, Strecher VJ, Schoenbach VJ, Salmon MA, Blackmon C: Smoking cessation initiatives for Black Americans: recommendations for research and intervention. Health Edac Res 1989;4:13-25.
- 331. Orleans CT, Strecher VJ, Schoenbach VJ, Salmon MA: Smoking cessation initiatives for black Americans. In: The health consequences of smoking, nicotine addiction: a report of the Surgeon General. Rockville, Maryland: US Department of Health and Human Services, 1988.
- 332. Pallonen U, Pechacek T: Smoking and ischemic heart disease: facts and controversies. Ann Clin Res 1988;20:121-8.
- 333. Palmer R, Wang E, Dent CW: A statistical expert system using SAS/AF. SAS User's Group international proceedings of the 14th annual conference, 1989.
- 334. Pechacek TF for the COMMIT Research Group: A randomized trial for smoking cessation. Smoking and health 1987. Proceedings of the 6th World Conference on Smoking and Health, 1988:241-3.
- 335. Pechacek TF, Folsom AR, deGaudermaris R, Jacobs DR, Luepker RV, Gillum RF, Blackburn H: Smoke exposure in pipe and cigar smokers, serum thiocyanate measures. JAMA 1985;254:3330-2.
- 336. Perez-Stable EJ: Issues in Latino health care. West J Med 1987;146:213-8.

- 337. Pertschuk M, Shopland DR (eds). Major local smoking ordinances in the United States. A detailed matrix of the provisions of workplace, restaurant, and public places smoking ordinances. NIH publication no. 90-479. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1989.
- 338. Peterson AV, Marek PM, Mann SL: Initiation and use of smokeless tobacco in relation to smoking. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):63-9.
- 339. Pierce JP, Giovino G, Hatziandreu E, Shopland DR. National age and sex differences in quitting smoking. J Psychoactive Drugs 1989;21(3):293-8.
- 340. Pinto RP, Abrams DB, Monti PM, Jacobus SI: Nicotine dependence and likelihood of quitting smoking. Addict Behav 1987;12:371-4.
- 341. Pirie PL, Thomson SJ, Mann SL, Peterson AV Jr, Murray DM, Flay BR, et al: Tracking and attrition in longitudinal school-based smoking prevention research. Prev Med 1989;18(2):249-56.
- 342. Pirie PL, Murray DM, Luepker RV: Smoking prevalence in a cohort of adolescents including absentees, dropouts, and transfers. Am J Public Health 1988;78(2):176-8.
- 343. Prentice R: Correlated binary regression with covariates specific to each binary observation. Biometrics 1988;44:1033-48.
- 344. Prochaska J: Patterns of change in smoking behavior. Health Psychol 1986;5:97-8.
- 345. Prochaska J, Velicer W, DiClemente C, Guadagnoli E, Rossi J: Patterns of change: dynamic typology applied to smoking cessation. Multivariate behavioral research (in press).
- 346. Prochaska J, Velicer WF, DiClemente CC, Fava J: Measuring processes of change: applications to the cessation of smoking. J Consult Clin Psychol 1988;56(4):520-8.
- 347. Prochaska J, DiClemente C: Common processes of change in smoking, weight control and psychological distress. In: Shiffman S, Wills T, eds. Coping and substance use: a conceptual framework. New York: Academic Press, 1986.
- 348. Prochaska J, DiClemente C: Toward a comprehensive model of change. In: Miller W, Heather N, eds. Treating addictive behaviors. New York: Academic Press, 1986.
- 349. Prochaska J, DiClemente C, Velicer W, Ginpil S, Norcross J: Predicting change in smoking status for self-changers. Addict Behav 1985;10:407-12.
- 350. Ramirez A, McAlister AL: Mass media campaign: a su salud. Prev Med 1988;17:608-21.
- 351. Reardon KR, Sussman S, Flay BR: Are we marketing the right message: can kids "just say 'no"' to smoking? Comm mono (in press).
- 352. Renick NL, Botvin GJ: Enhancing junior high school students' life skills as a smoking prevention strategy. Health Educ Q 1985;June-July:45-9.

- 353. Resnicow KA, Orlandi MA, Wynder EL: Toward an effective school health education policy: a call for legislative and educational reform. Prev Med 1989;18(1):147-55.
- 354. Richardson JL, Cullen JW: Compliance issues in the management of patients with head and neck cancer. In: Kagan AR, Miles J, eds. Head and neck oncology: clinical management (in press).
- 355. Rohrbach LA, Pallonen U, Hansen WB, Flay BR, Johnson CA: Project SHARP: a school-based social influences approach to adolescent drug abuse prevention and healthy lifestyle promotion. In: Tamir D, ed. Health education in schools. London: Publishing Clearing House, 1988.
- 356. Rohrbach LA, Graham JW, Hansen WB, Flay BR, Johnson CA: Evaluation of resistance skills training using multitrait-multimethod role play skill assessments. Health Educ Res 1987;2:401-7.
- 357. Rossi J, Prochaska J, DiClemente C: Processes of change in heavy and light smokers. J Subst Abuse 1988;1:1-9.
- 358. Sabogal F, Otero-Sabogal R, Marin G, Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ: Medición de la dependencia al cigarrillo. (Measurement of addiction to cigarettes.) Validación de una escala corta para Latinos. Rev Latinoam Psicol 1989;7:89-104.
- 359. Sabogal F, Otero-Sabogal R, Marin B, Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ: Perceived selfefficacy to avoid smoking among Hispanic and white non-Hispanic smokers. Hispanic J Behav Sci 1989;11:136-147.
- 360. Sabogal F, Marin G, Otero-Sabogal R, Marin B, Perez-Stable EJ: Familism and acculturation. What changes and what doesn't. Hispanic J Behav Sci 1987;9:397-412.
- 361. Sabogal F, Marin B, Otero-Sabogal R, Marin G, Perez-Stable EJ: Guia para dejar de fumar. Quit smoking guide. NIH publication no. 88-3001. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1987.
- 362. Schilling RF, Schinke SP, Nichols SE, Zayas LH, Miller SO, Orlandi MA, et al: Developing strategies for aids prevention research with black and hispanic drug users. Public Health Rep 1989;104(1):2-11.
- 363. Schilling RF, Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP: Smoking in the workplace: review of critical issues. Public Health Rep 1985;100:473-9.
- 364. Schinke SP, Botvin GJ, Orlandi MA, Gilchrist LD, Schilling RF, Landers C: Tobacco use by American Indian and Alaska Native people: risks, psychosocial factors, and preventive intervention. J Alcohol Drug Educ (in press).
- 365. Schinke SP, Moncher MA, Botvin GJ, Orlandi MA: Substance abuse. In: Bellack AS, Hersen M, Kazdin AE, eds. International handbook of behavior modification and therapy. 2nd ed. New York: Plenum Publishing, 1989.

- 366. Schinke SP, Moncher MS, Holden GW, Orlandi MA, Botvin GJ: Preventing tobacco use among high-risk young. In: LeCroy CW, ed. Casebook in behavioral social work methods. Homewood, Illinois: The Dorsey Press (in press).
- 367. Schinke SP, Orlandi MA, Botvin GJ, Moncher MA: Primary and secondary prevention. In: Hersen M, ed. Innovation in child behavior therapy. New York: Springer-Verlag New York, 1989.
- 368. Schinke SP, Schilling RF II, Gilchrist LD, Ashby MR, Kitajima E: Native youth and smokeless tobacco: prevalence rates, gender differences, and descriptive characteristics. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):39-42.
- 369. Schinke SP, Bebel MY, Orlandi MA, Botvin GJ: Prevention strategies for vulnerable pupils. Urban Educ 1988;22:510-9.
- 370. Schinke SP, Botvin GJ, Orlandi MA, Schilling RF, Gilchrist LD, Trimble JE, et al: Preventing substance abuse among American Indian adolescents: a bicultural competence skills approach. J Counsel Psychol 1988;35:87-90.
- 371. Schinke SP, Palleja J, Schilling RF, Moncher MS, Orlandi MA, Botvin GJ: Preventing substance abuse among minority group adolescents: applications of risk-based interventions. Pract Applic 1988;4(4):1-16.
- 372. Schinke SP, Schilling RF, Krauskopf MS, Botvin GJ, Orlandi MA: AIDS and social work: sociopsychological training curriculum for human sexuality and related fields of professional practice. J Soc Work Hum Sex 1988;6(2):105-19.
- 373. Schinke SP, Schilling RF, Gilchrist LD, Ashby MR, Kitajima E: Pacific Northwest Native American youth and smokeless tobacco use. Int J Addict 1987;9:881-4.
- Schinke SP, Schilling RF, Gilchrist LD, Ashby M, Senechal VA: Health effects of smokeless tobacco. JAMA 1987;257:781.
- 375. Schinke SP, Schilling RF, Palleja J, Zayas LH: Prevention research among ethnic-racial minority group adolescents. Behav Ther 1987;10:151-5.
- 376. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD: Preventing tobacco use among young people. Health Soc Work 1986;11:59-65.
- 377. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Schilling RF, Senechal VA: Smoking and smokeless tobacco use among adolescents: trends and intervention results. Public Health Rep 1986;101:373-8.
- 378. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Schilling RF, Snow WH, Bobo JK: Skills methods to prevent smoking. Health Educ Q 1986;13:23-8.
- 379. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Schilling RF, Walker RD, Locklear VS, Kitajima E: Smokeless tobacco use among Native American adolescents. N Engl J Med 1986;314:1051-2.

- 380. Schinke SP, Schilling RF, Gilchrist LD, Whittaker JK, Kirkham MA, Senechal VA, et al: Definitions and methods for prevention research with youth and families. Child Youth Serv Rev 1986;8:257-66.
- 381. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD: Preventing substance abuse with children and adolescents. J Consult Clin Psychol 1985;53:596-602.
- Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Snow WH: Skills intervention to prevent cigarette smoking among adolescents. Am J Public Health 1985;75:665-6.
- 383. Schinke SP, Gilchrist LD, Snow WH, Schilling RF: Skills-building methods to prevent smoking by adolescents. J Adolesc Health Care 1985;6:439-44.
- 384. Schlackman N, Glynn TJ, Manley MW: An office-based smoking cessation program for physicians. Bluebell, Pennsylvania: US Healthcare, 1988.
- 385. Schoenborn CA, Boyd GM: Smoking and other tobacco use: United States, 1987. NCHS series report, series 10, no. 169 (in press).
- 386. Schultz JM, Moen ME, Pechacek TF, Harty KC, Skubic MA, Gust SW, Dean AG: The Minnesota plan for nonsmoking and health: the legislative experience. J Public Health Policy, 1986;7:300-13.
- 387. Severson HH, Biglan A: Rationale for the use of passive consent in smoking research: politics, policy and pragmatics. Prev Med 1989;18(2):267-86.
- 388. Severson HH, Eakin E, Lichtenstein E, Stevens V: The inside scoop on the stuff called snuff: an interview study of 94 adult male smokeless tobacco users. J Subst Abuse (in press).
- 389. Severson HH, Eakin E, Stevens V, Lichtenstein E: Dental office practices for tobacco users: independent practice and HMO clinics. Am J Public Health (in press).
- 390. Severson HH, Eakin EG, Lichtenstein E: Interview study with adult smokeless tobacco users. In: Proceedings of the sixth world conference on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987.
- 391. Severson HH, Glasgow RE, Wirt R, Brozofsky P, Eakin E: Evaluation of a schoolbased prevention program to reduce smokeless tobacco use by teen males. In: Proceedings of the sixth world conference on smoking and health. Tokyo: Oxford Press, 1987.
- 392. Severson HH, LaChance PA, Eakin E, James LE: Smokeless tobacco use by adolescent males in Oregon: prevalence, patterns of use, and cessation. J Oregon Dent Assoc 1986;56:28-35.
- 393. Severson HH, Lichtenstein E: Smoking prevention programs for adolescents: rationale and review. In: Krasnegor N, Cataldo M, eds. Child health behavior. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1986:281-309.

- 394. Shiffman S, Shumaker S, Abrams D, Cohen S, Garvey A, Grunberg N, et al: Models of smoking relapse. Health Psychol 1986;5:13-27.
- **395.** Shopland DR. Changes in tobacco consumption and lung cancer risk: Evidence from studies of individuals. In: Hakima M, Beral V, Cullen J, Parkin M, eds. Evaluating effectiveness of primary prevention for cancer. IARC Scientific publication no. 103. New York: Oxford University Press (in press).
- 396. Shopland DR: Smoking and health: a national status report. JAMA 1987;257(1):17-9.
- **397.** Shopland DR: Smoking and health: a twenty year reflection. In: Rosenberg MJ, ed. Smoking and reproductive health. Littleton, Massachusetts: PSG Publishing 1987:4-8
- 398. Shopland DR (editor): The health consequences of involuntary smoking: a report of the Surgeon General. DHHS publication no. (CDC)87-8398. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, **1986.**
- **399.** Shopland DR: 1986 Surgeon General's report: the health consequences of involuntary smoking. MMWR 1986;35(50):769-70.
- 400. Shopland DR: Smoking. In: Bernstein E, ed. 1987 medical and health annual. Chicago: Encyclopaedia Britannica, 1986:420-4.
- 401. Shopland DR: Smoking and health: a national status report. MMWR 1986;35(46):709-11.
- 402. Shopland DR (editor): Smoking and health: a national status report. A report to Congress. DHHS publication no. (CDC)87-8396. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1986.
- 403. Shopland DR (editor): State and local programs on smoking and health. DHHS publication no. (PHS)86-50190. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1986.
- **404.** Shopland DR (editor): Bibliography on smoking and health. Office on Smoking and Health, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health. PHS bibliography series no. 45. DHHS publication no. (PHS)85-50196. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985.
- **405.** Shopland DR (editor): The health consequences of smoking: cancer and chronic lung disease in the workplace. A report of the Surgeon General. DHHS publication no. (PHS)85-50207. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985.
- **406.** Shopland DR (editor): 1984-1985 directory of ongoing research in smoking and health. DHHS publication no. (PHS)86-50208. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1985.
- 407. Shopland DR: Passive tobacco smoking policies indoors in various U.S. states. In: Walkinshaw DS, ed. Indoor air quality in cold climates. Hazards and abatement measures. Proceedings of the Air Pollution Control Association, April 1985:504-22.

- 408. Shopland DR, Cullen JW, Pechacek T: Toward a tobacco-free society. Semin Oncol (in press).
- 409. Shopland DR, Brown C: Current trends in smoking control. Changes in cigarette smoking prevalence in the U.S.: 1955 to 1983. Ann Behav Med 1985;7(2):5-8.
- 410. Shopland DR, Brown C: Toward the 1990 objectives for smoking: measuring the progress with 1985 NHIS data. Public Health Rep 1987;102(1):68-73.
- 411. Shopland DR, Brown C: Smokeless tobacco use. 1970 National Health Interview Survey estimates compared to 1985 current population survey estimates. In: The health consequences of using smokeless tobacco. A report of the Advisory Committee to the Surgeon General. NIH publication no. 86-2874. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, 1986.
- 412. Silvestri-Dore B, Flay BR: Smoking education: comparison of practice and state-of-the-art. Prev Med 1989;18(2):257-66.
- 413. Snow WH, Gilchrist LD, Schinke SP: A critique of progress in adolescent smoking prevention. Child Youth Serv Rev 1985;7:1-19.
- 414. Sorensen G, Goldberg R, Ockene JK, Klar J, Lemeshow S: Heavy smoking among a sample of employed women. Health Psycho1 (in press).
- 415. Sorensen G, Pechacek TF: Implementing nonsmoking policies in the private sector and assessing their effects. NY State J Med 1989;89(1):11-5.
- 416. Sorensen G, Pechacek TF: Attitudes toward smoking cessation among men and women. J Behav Med 1987;10:129-37.
- 417. Sorensen G, Pechacek TF: Occupational and sex differences in smoking and smoking cessation. J Occup Med 1986;28:360-4.
- 418. Stacy AW, Dent CW, Sussman S, Raynor A, Burton D, Flay BR: Expectancy accessibility and the influence of outcome expectancies on adolescent smokeless tobacco use. J Appl Soc Psycho1 (in press).
- 419. Stacy AW, Flay-BR, Brown KS, Santi S, Best JA: Validity of alternative self-report indices of smoking among adolescents. Psycho1 Assessment: J Consult Clin Psycho1 (in press).
- 420. Stern R, Prochaska J, Velicer W, Elder J: Stages of adolescent cigarette smoking acquisition: measurement and sample profiles. Addict Behav 1987;12:319-29.
- 421. Stookey GK, Katz BP, Olson BL, Drook CA, Cohen SJ: Evaluation of biochemical validation measures in determination of smoking status. J Dent Res 1987;12:319-29.
- 422. Sussman S: Two social influence perspectives of tobacco use development and prevention. Health Educ Res 1989;4(a):213-23.
- 423. Sussman S: Project TNT. The Cal Psych 1988;22(3):5.
- 424. Sussman S, Barovich M: Smokeless tobacco: less seen at 1988 World Series. Am J Public Health 1989;79(4):521-2.
- 425. Sussman S, Charlin VL, Marks G, Freeland J, Harris JK, Vernan S, et al: Physical features, physical attractiveness and psychological adjustment among alcohol abuse inpatients. Int J Addict (in press).
- 426. Sussman S, Dent CW, Flay BR, Burton D, Craig S, Holden S, et al: Media manipulation of adolescents' personal level judgments regarding consequences of smokeless tobacco use. J Drug Educ 1989;19(1):43-57.
- 427. Sussman S, Hahn G: Employee smoking behavior and attitudes as a function of worksite policy [Abstract]. Proceedings of the 15th annual meeting of the Association of Community Cancer Centers, March 29-April 1, 1989. Washington, DC: 1989;29.
- 428. Sussman S, Holt L, Dent CW, Flay BR, Graham JW, Hansen WB, Johnson CA: Activity involvement, risk-taking, demographic variables, and other drug use:. prediction of trying smokeless tobacco. NCI Monogr 1989;(8):57-62.
- 429. Sussman S, Horn JL, Gilewski M: Cue-exposure interventions for alcohol relapse prevention: need for a memory modification component. Int J Addict (in press).
- 430. Sussman S, Pentz M, Hahn G: The relationship of a worksite nonsmoking policy to employee smoking behavior and attitudes. Advances in cancer control VII. Section 1: smoking cessation research. New York: Alan R. Liss, Inc. (in press).
- 431. Sussman S, Dent CW, Flay BR, Hansen WB, Johnson CA: Psychosocial predictors of cigarette smoking onset by white, black, Hispanic, and Asian adolescents in Southern California. MMWR 1987;36(4S):11-6.
- 432. Sussman S, Dent CW, Rauch J, Johnson CA, Hansen WB, Flay BR: Adolescent nonsmokers, triers, and regular smokers' estimates of cigarette smoking prevalence: when do overestimates occur and by whom? J Appl Soc Psychol 1987;18(7):537-51.
- 433. Sussman S, Flay BR, Sobel JL, Rauch JM, Hansen WB, Johnson CA: Viewing and evaluation of a televised drug education program by students previously or concurrently exposed to school-based substance abuse prevention programming. Health Educ Res 1987;2:373-83.
- 434. Sussman S, Brannon BR, Flay BR, Gleason L, Senor S, Sobol DF, et al: The television, school and family smoking prevention/cessation project: II. Formative evaluation of television segments by teenagers and parents-implications for parental involvement in drug education. Health Educ Res 1986;1(3):185-94.
- 435. Tortu S, Botvin GJ: School-based smoking prevention: the teacher training process. Prev Med 1989;18(2)280-9.
- 436. Vander Martin R, Cummings SR, Coates TJ: Ethnicity and smoking. Differences in white, black, Hispanic, and Asian medical patients who smoke. Am J Prev Med (in press).

- Velicer WF, DiClemente CC, Prochaska JO, Brandenburg N: A decisional balance measure for assessing and predicting smoking status. J Pers Soc Psychol 1985;48:1279-89.
- 438. Venters MH, Solberg LI, Kottke TE, Brekke M, Pechacek TF, Grimm RI-I: Smoking patterns among social contacts of smokers, ex-smokers, and never smokers: the Doctors Helping Smokers Study. Prev Med 1987;16:626-35.
- 439. Vogt TM, Lichtenstein E, Ary D, Biglan A, Danielson R, Glasgow RE, et al: Integrating tobacco intervention into a health maintenance organization: the TRACC program. Health Educ Res 1989:4(1):125-36.
- 440. Weber MD, Graham JW, Hansen WB, Flay BR, Johnson CA: Evidence for two paths of alcohol use onset in adolescents. Addict Behav 1989;14(4): 399-408.
- 441. Weber MD, Johnson CA, Carter S, Dietsch B, Caldwell-Stacy L, Palmer R, et al: Project SMART parent program: preliminary results of a chronic disease risk reduction trial. Ann Med 1989;21(3):231-3.
- 442. Wilcox N, Prochaska J, Velicer W, DiClemente C: Subject characteristics as predictors of self-change of smoking. Addict Behav 1985;10:395-406.
- 443. Willms DG, Best JA, Taylor DW, Gilbert JR, Wilson DMC, et al: Patients' perspectives of physician delivered smoking cessation interventions. Am J Prev Med (in press).
- 444. Wilson DMC, Taylor DW, Gilbert JR, Best JA, Lindsay EA, Willms DG, et al: A randomized trial of a family physician intervention for smoking cessation. JAMA 1988;260(11):1570-4.
- 445. Wilson DMC, Lindsay EA, Best JA, Gilbert JR, Willms DG, Singer J: A smoking cessation intervention for family physicians. Can Med Assoc J 1987;137(7):613-9.
- 446. Wilson DMC, Best JA, McIntyre L, Gilbert JR, Taylor DW, Singer J, et al: Can training family physicians improve compliance with nicotine gum use? In: Ockene JK, ed. Pharmacological treatment of tobacco dependence. Proceedings of the world congress. November 3-5, 1985. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Institute for the Study of Smoking Behavior and Policy.
- 447. Windsor RA, Dalmat M, Gritz ER, Orleans CT: A handbook to plan, implement and evaluate smoking cessation programs for pregnant women. Centers for Disease Control, University of Alabama at Birmingham School of Public Health, March of Dimes (in press).
- 448. Worden JK, Flynn BS, Geller BM, Chen M, Shelton LG, Seeker-Walker RH, et al: Development of a smoking prevention mass media program using diagnostic and formative research. Prev Med 1988;17:531-58.
- 449. Wynder EL, Orlandi MA: Clinical perspectives [Editorial]. Prev Med 1987;16:131-3.

- 450. Wynder EL, Orlandi MA: Primary prevention of tobacco related cancer. In: Bannasch P, ed. Cancer risks: strategies for elimination. New York: Springer-Verlag New York, 1987.
- 451. Young RL, Elder JP, Green M, de Moor C, Wildey MB: Tobacco use prevention and health facilitator effectiveness. J Sch Health 1988;58(9):370-3.
- 452. Yu JJ, Shopland DR: Smoking behavior and consumption characteristics in the Asian Pacific region. World Smoking and Health 1989;14(3):7-9.
- 453. Zahnd EG, Coates TJ, Richard RJ, Cummings SR: Counseling medical patients about cigarette smoking: a comparison of the impact of training on nurse practitioners and physicians. Nurse **Pract** (in press).